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DEFINITIONS
 

The following terms as defined are used in this document:
Defined Term Definition
/d Per day.
2014 Plan ENLC’s 2014 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
Adjusted gross margin Revenue less cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted gross margin is a non-GAAP financial

measure. See “Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” for additional information.

Amarillo Rattler Acquisition On April 30, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Amarillo Rattler, LLC, the owner of a gathering and processing system located in the Midland
Basin.

AR Facility An accounts receivable securitization facility of up to $500 million entered into by EnLink Midstream Funding, LLC, a bankruptcy-remote
special purpose entity and our indirect subsidiary, with PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent and lender, and PNC Capital
Markets, LLC, as structuring agent and sustainability agent.

ASC The Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification.
ASC 718 ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation.
ASC 815 ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging.
ASC 820 ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements.
Ascension JV Ascension Pipeline Company, LLC, a joint venture between a subsidiary of ENLK and a subsidiary of Marathon Petroleum Corporation in which

ENLK owns a 50% interest and Marathon Petroleum Corporation owns a 50% interest. The Ascension JV, which began operations in April 2017,
owns an NGL pipeline that connects ENLK’s Riverside fractionator to Marathon Petroleum Corporation’s Garyville refinery.

Barnett Shale A natural gas producing shale reservoir located in North Texas.
Barnett Shale Acquisition On July 1, 2022, we acquired all of the equity interest in the gathering and processing assets of Crestwood Equity Partners LP located in the

Barnett Shale.
Bbl Barrel.
Bbtu Billion British thermal units.
Bcf Billion cubic feet.
Beginning TSR Price The beginning total shareholder return (“TSR”) price, which is the closing unit price of ENLC on the grant date of the performance award

agreement or the previous trading day if the grant date was not a trading day, is one of the assumptions used to calculate the grant-date fair value
of performance award agreements.

CCS Carbon capture, transportation, and sequestration.
Cedar Cove JV Cedar Cove Midstream LLC, a joint venture between a subsidiary of ENLK and a subsidiary of Kinder Morgan, Inc. in which ENLK owns a 30%

interest and Kinder Morgan, Inc. owns a 70% interest. The Cedar Cove JV, which was formed in November 2016, owns gathering and
compression assets in Blaine County, Oklahoma, located in the STACK play.

Central Oklahoma Acquisition On December 19, 2022, we acquired gathering and processing assets located in Central Oklahoma, including approximately 900 miles of lean
and rich gas gathering pipeline and two processing plants with 280 MMcf/d of total processing capacity.

CFTC U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission.
CO Carbon dioxide.
Commission U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
Delaware Basin A large sedimentary basin in West Texas and New Mexico.
Delaware Basin JV Delaware G&P LLC, a joint venture between a subsidiary of ENLK and an affiliate of NGP in which ENLK owns a 50.1% interest and NGP owns

a 49.9% interest. The Delaware Basin JV, which was formed in August 2016, owns the Lobo processing facilities and the Tiger processing plant
located in the Delaware Basin in Texas.

ENLC EnLink Midstream, LLC together with its consolidated subsidiaries.
ENLC Class C Common Units A class of non-economic ENLC common units equal to the number of Series B Preferred Units in order to provide certain voting rights with

respect to ENLC to the holders of such Series B Preferred Units.
ENLK EnLink Midstream Partners, LP or, when applicable, EnLink Midstream Partners, LP together with its consolidated subsidiaries.
Exchange Act The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
FCDTCs Futures and Cleared Derivatives Transactions Customer Agreements.
Federal Reserve The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States.
GAAP Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.
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Gal Gallon.
GCF Gulf Coast Fractionators, which owns an NGL fractionator in Mont Belvieu, Texas. We own 38.75% of GCF. The GCF assets were temporarily

idled to reduce operating expenses in 2021 but are expected to resume operations in 2024.
General Partner EnLink Midstream GP, LLC, the general partner of ENLK.
GIP Global Infrastructure Management, LLC, an independent infrastructure fund manager, itself, its affiliates, or managed fund vehicles, including GIP

III Stetson I, L.P., GIP III Stetson II, L.P., and their affiliates.
ISDAs International Swaps and Derivatives Association Agreements.
LIBOR U.S. Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate.
Managing Member EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC, the managing member of ENLC.
Matterhorn JV A joint venture with WhiteWater Midstream, LLC, Devon Energy Corporation, and MPLX LP. The Matterhorn JV is expected to construct a

pipeline designed to transport up to 2.5 Bcf/d of natural gas through approximately 490 miles of 42-inch pipeline from the Waha Hub in West
Texas to Katy, Texas.

Midland Basin A large sedimentary basin in West Texas.
MMbbls Million barrels.
MMbtu Million British thermal units.
MMcf Million cubic feet.
MMgals Million gallons.
MVC Minimum volume commitment.
NGL Natural gas liquid.
NGP NGP Natural Resources XI, LP.
NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange.
Operating Partnership EnLink Midstream Operating, LP, a Delaware limited partnership and wholly owned subsidiary of ENLK.
OPIS Oil Price Information Service.
ORV ENLK’s Ohio River Valley crude oil, condensate stabilization, natural gas compression, and brine disposal assets in the Utica and Marcellus

shales.
OTC Over-the-counter.
Permian Basin A large sedimentary basin that includes the Midland and Delaware Basins primarily in West Texas and New Mexico.
POL contracts Percentage-of-liquids contracts.
POP contracts Percentage-of-proceeds contracts.
Revolving Credit Facility A $1.40 billion unsecured revolving credit facility entered into by ENLC, which includes a $500.0 million letter of credit subfacility. The

Revolving Credit Facility is guaranteed by ENLK.
Series B Preferred Unit ENLK’s Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Unit.
Series C Preferred Unit ENLK’s Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Unit.
SOFR Secured overnight financing rate.
SPV EnLink Midstream Funding, LLC, a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity that is an indirect subsidiary of ENLC.
STACK Sooner Trend Anadarko Basin Canadian and Kingfisher Counties in Oklahoma.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except unit data)

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 48.1 $ 22.6 
Accounts receivable:
Trade receivables (1) 108.6 89.2 
Accrued revenue and other 583.5 636.0 

Fair value of derivative assets 68.0 68.4 
Other current assets 114.2 166.6 
Total current assets 922.4 982.8 

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $5,154.8 and $4,774.5, respectively 6,486.6 6,556.0 
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,019.3 and $923.6, respectively 825.5 921.2 
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates 144.6 90.2 
Fair value of derivative assets 13.8 2.9 
Other assets, net 97.6 97.9 

Total assets $ 8,490.5 $ 8,651.0 
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and drafts payable $ 121.9 $ 126.9 
Accrued gas, NGLs, condensate, and crude oil purchases 436.8 476.0 
Fair value of derivative liabilities 54.8 42.9 
Current maturities of long-term debt 97.9 — 
Other current liabilities 256.5 229.6 
Total current liabilities 967.9 875.4 

Long-term debt, net of unamortized issuance cost 4,621.4 4,723.5 
Other long-term liabilities 90.3 94.0 
Deferred tax liability, net 82.8 42.7 
Fair value of derivative liabilities 12.2 2.7 

Members’ equity:
Members’ equity (457,334,550 and 468,980,630 units issued and outstanding, respectively) 1,080.1 1,306.4 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 6.2 — 
Non-controlling interest 1,629.6 1,606.3 
Total members’ equity 2,715.9 2,912.7 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)

Total liabilities and members’ equity $ 8,490.5 $ 8,651.0 

____________________________
(1) There was no allowance for bad debt at September 30, 2023. Includes allowance for bad debt of $ 0.1 million at December 31, 2022.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In millions, except per unit data)
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

(Unaudited)
Revenues:

Product sales $ 1,488.1 $ 2,384.4 $ 4,203.7 $ 6,798.8 
Midstream services 280.1 258.6 838.9 699.2 
Gain (loss) on derivative activity (22.0) 20.5 1.2 (6.2)
Total revenues 1,746.2 2,663.5 5,043.8 7,491.8 

Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization 1,244.7 2,131.1 3,535.6 6,030.7 
Operating expenses 143.3 136.8 412.5 386.6 
Depreciation and amortization 163.8 162.6 489.5 474.5 
Impairments 20.7 — 20.7 — 
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets (0.6) (0.8) (1.8) 3.9 
General and administrative 30.4 34.5 87.8 91.9 
Total operating costs and expenses 1,602.3 2,464.2 4,544.3 6,987.6 

Operating income 143.9 199.3 499.5 504.2 
Other income (expense):

Interest expense, net of interest income (67.9) (60.4) (205.2) (171.0)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (5.7) — (6.2)
Income (loss) from unconsolidated affiliate investments 1.0 (1.7) (3.7) (4.0)
Other income (expense) (0.6) 0.3 (0.2) 0.6 
Total other expense (67.5) (67.5) (209.1) (180.6)

Income before non-controlling interest and income taxes 76.4 131.8 290.4 323.6 
Income tax expense (10.6) (15.2) (40.5) (17.1)

Net income 65.8 116.6 249.9 306.5 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest 36.3 35.8 107.9 105.2 

Net income attributable to ENLC $ 29.5 $ 80.8 $ 142.0 $ 201.3 
Net income attributable to ENLC per unit:

Basic common unit $ 0.06 $ 0.17 $ 0.31 $ 0.42 

Diluted common unit $ 0.06 $ 0.17 $ 0.30 $ 0.41 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In millions)
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

(Unaudited)
Net income $ 65.8 $ 116.6 $ 249.9 $ 306.5 
Unrealized gain on designated cash flow hedge (1) 1.7 — 6.2 0.1 

Comprehensive income 67.5 116.6 256.1 306.6 
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest 36.3 35.8 107.9 105.2 

Comprehensive income attributable to ENLC $ 31.2 $ 80.8 $ 148.2 $ 201.4 

____________________________
(1) Includes tax expense of $0.5 million and $1.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, respectively.

    

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity

(In millions)

Common Units

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Non-
Controlling

Interest Total
$ Units $ $ $

(Unaudited)
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 1,306.4 469.0 $ — $ 1,606.3 $ 2,912.7 

Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for
taxes (16.8) 2.5 — — (16.8)
Unit-based compensation 4.0 — — — 4.0 
Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — 8.4 8.4 
Distributions (61.7) — — (42.4) (104.1)
Unrealized loss on designated cash flow hedge (1) — — (1.2) — (1.2)
Repurchase of Series C Preferred Units — — — (3.9) (3.9)
Common units repurchased (51.4) (4.4) — — (51.4)
Net income 58.2 — — 36.0 94.2 

Balance, March 31, 2023 1,238.7 467.1 (1.2) 1,604.4 2,841.9 
Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for
taxes (0.1) 0.1 — — (0.1)
Unit-based compensation 4.5 — — — 4.5 
Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — 13.7 13.7 
Distributions (58.5) — — (40.1) (98.6)
Unrealized gain on designated cash flow hedge (1) — — 5.7 — 5.7 
Adjustment related to the redemption of the mandatorily redeemable non-
controlling interest (2) 0.8 — — — 0.8 
Common units repurchased (56.1) (5.2) — — (56.1)
Accrued common unit repurchase (3) (27.5) — — — (27.5)
Net income 54.3 — — 35.6 89.9 

Balance, June 30, 2023 1,156.1 462.0 4.5 1,613.6 2,774.2 
Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for
taxes (2.4) 0.3 — — (2.4)
Unit-based compensation 5.7 — — — 5.7 
Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — 29.4 29.4 
Distributions (58.4) — — (49.7) (108.1)
Unrealized gain on designated cash flow hedge (1) — — 1.7 — 1.7 
Common units repurchased (54.9) (5.0) — — (54.9)
Accrued common unit repurchase (3) 4.5 — — — 4.5 
Net income 29.5 — — 36.3 65.8 

Balance, September 30, 2023 $ 1,080.1 457.3 $ 6.2 $ 1,629.6 $ 2,715.9 

____________________________
(1) Includes tax benefit of $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023, tax expense of $1.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and tax expense of $0.5

million for the three months ended September 30, 2023.
(2) Relates to book-to-tax differences recorded upon the settlement of the mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest.
(3) Relates to the repurchase of ENLC common units held by GIP, which are contractually subject to repurchase by ENLC at the end of each quarter and settled in the subsequent quarter. As

of September 30, 2023, we accrued $23.0 million in connection with the repurchase of ENLC common units held by GIP. For additional information, see “Note 9—Members’
Equity.”

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity (Continued)

(In millions)

Common Units

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Non-
Controlling

Interest Total
$ Units $ $ $

(Unaudited)
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 1,325.8 484.3 $ (1.4) $ 1,662.6 $ 2,987.0 

Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for
taxes (4.2) 1.2 — — (4.2)
Unit-based compensation 8.1 — — — 8.1 
Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — 7.3 7.3 
Distributions (56.4) — — (34.6) (91.0)
Unrealized gain on designated cash flow hedge — — 0.1 — 0.1 
Redemption of Series B Preferred Units — — — (50.5) (50.5)
Common units repurchased (17.0) (2.1) — — (17.0)
Net income 35.2 — — 30.8 66.0 

Balance, March 31, 2022 1,291.5 483.4 (1.3) 1,615.6 2,905.8 
Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for
taxes (0.2) — — — (0.2)
Unit-based compensation 5.7 — — — 5.7 
Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — 2.0 2.0 
Distributions (55.3) — — (42.2) (97.5)
Common units repurchased (33.7) (3.6) — — (33.7)
Net income 85.3 — — 38.6 123.9 

Balance, June 30, 2022 1,293.3 479.8 (1.3) 1,614.0 2,906.0 
Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for
taxes (8.1) 1.4 — — (8.1)
Unit-based compensation 11.4 — — — 11.4 
Contributions from non-controlling interests — — — 4.9 4.9 
Distributions (55.7) — — (38.6) (94.3)
Common units repurchased (62.5) (6.6) — — (62.5)
Net income 80.8 — — 35.8 116.6 

Balance, September 30, 2022 $ 1,259.2 474.6 $ (1.3) $ 1,616.1 $ 2,874.0 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In millions)
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022

(Unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 249.9 $ 306.5 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 489.5 474.5 
Utility credits redeemed 1.5 27.9 
Deferred income tax expense 39.0 16.1 
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets (1.8) 3.9 
Non-cash unit-based compensation 14.2 23.7 
Non-cash (gain) loss on derivatives recognized in net income 19.0 (36.5)
Amortization of debt issuance costs and net discount of senior unsecured notes 4.9 3.7 
Loss from unconsolidated affiliate investments 3.7 4.0 
Impairments 20.7 — 
Other operating activities 1.3 1.6 
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, accrued revenue, and other 33.3 (142.7)
Natural gas, NGLs, condensate, and crude oil inventory, prepaid expenses, and other 59.5 (112.9)
Accounts payable, accrued product purchases, and other accrued liabilities (72.7) 256.1 

Net cash provided by operating activities 862.0 825.9 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Additions to property and equipment (320.9) (213.2)
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliate investments (58.4) (46.3)
Acquisition, net of cash acquired — (289.5)
Other investing activities 5.9 2.0 

Net cash used in investing activities (373.4) (547.0)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings 2,538.4 3,431.5 
Repayments on borrowings (2,544.4) (3,265.0)
Payment of installment payable for the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition — (10.0)
Payment of inactive easement commitment — (10.0)
Distributions to members (178.6) (167.4)
Distributions to non-controlling interests (132.2) (115.4)
Payment to redeem mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest (10.5) — 
Redemption of Series B Preferred Units — (50.5)
Repurchase of Series C Preferred Units (3.9) — 
Contributions from non-controlling interests 51.5 14.2 
Common unit repurchases (162.4) (113.2)
Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for taxes (19.3) (12.5)
Other financing activities (1.7) (6.8)

Net cash used in financing activities (463.1) (305.1)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 25.5 (26.2)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 22.6 26.2 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 48.1 $ — 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 222.8 $ 152.4 
Cash paid for income taxes $ 1.5 $ 0.7 

Non-cash investing activities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 13.3 $ 22.0 
Non-cash accrual of property and equipment $ 34.4 $ 2.5 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2023
(Unaudited)

(1) General

In this report, the terms “Company” or “Registrant,” as well as the terms “ENLC,” “our,” “we,” “us,” or like terms, are sometimes used as abbreviated references to
EnLink Midstream, LLC itself or EnLink Midstream, LLC together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including ENLK and its consolidated subsidiaries. References in this
report to “EnLink Midstream Partners, LP,” the “Partnership,” “ENLK,” or like terms refer to EnLink Midstream Partners, LP itself or EnLink Midstream Partners, LP
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership.

Please read the notes to the consolidated financial statements in conjunction with the Definitions page set forth in this report prior to Part I—Financial Information.

a. Organization of Business

ENLC is a Delaware limited liability company formed in October 2013. The Company’s common units are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
“ENLC.” As of September 30, 2023, GIP, through GIP III Stetson I, L.P. and GIP III Stetson II, L.P, owns 46.1% of the outstanding limited liability company interests in
ENLC. In addition to GIP’s equity interests in ENLC, GIP III Stetson I, L.P. maintains control over the Managing Member through its ownership of all of the equity interests in
the Managing Member. ENLC owns all of ENLK’s common units and also owns all of the membership interests of the General Partner. The General Partner manages ENLK’s
operations and activities.

b. Nature of Business

We primarily focus on providing midstream energy services, including:

• gathering, compressing, treating, processing, transporting, storing, and selling natural gas;
• fractionating, transporting, storing, and selling NGLs; and
• gathering, transporting, stabilizing, storing, trans-loading, and selling crude oil and condensate, in addition to brine disposal services.

As of September 30, 2023, our midstream energy asset network includes approximately 13,600 miles of pipelines, 26 natural gas processing plants with approximately 6.0
Bcf/d of processing capacity, seven fractionators with approximately 320,000 Bbls/d of fractionation capacity, barge and rail terminals, product storage facilities, purchasing
and marketing capabilities, brine disposal wells, a crude oil trucking fleet, and equity investments in certain joint ventures. Our operations are based in the United States, and
our sales are derived primarily from domestic customers.

Our natural gas business includes connecting the wells of producers in our market areas to our gathering systems. Our gathering systems consist of networks of pipelines
that collect natural gas from points at or near producing wells and transport it to our processing plants or to larger pipelines for further transmission. We operate processing
plants that remove NGLs from the natural gas stream that is transported to the processing plants by our own gathering systems or by third-party pipelines. In conjunction with
our gathering and processing business, we may purchase natural gas and NGLs from producers and other supply sources and sell that natural gas or NGLs to utilities, industrial
consumers, marketers, and pipelines. Our transmission pipelines receive natural gas from our gathering systems and from third-party gathering and transmission systems and
deliver natural gas to industrial end-users, utilities, and other pipelines.

Our fractionators separate NGLs into separate purity products, including ethane, propane, iso-butane, normal butane, and natural gasoline. Our fractionators receive NGLs
primarily through our transmission lines that transport NGLs from East Texas and from our South Louisiana processing plants. Our fractionators also have the capability to
receive NGLs by truck or rail terminals. We also have agreements pursuant to which third parties transport NGLs from our West Texas and Central Oklahoma operations to our
NGL transmission lines that then transport the NGLs to our fractionators. In addition, we have NGL storage capacity to provide storage for customers.

11
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ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

Our crude oil and condensate business includes the gathering and transmission of crude oil and condensate via pipelines, barges, rail, and trucks, in addition to condensate
stabilization and brine disposal. We also purchase crude oil and condensate from producers and other supply sources and sell that crude oil and condensate through our terminal
facilities to various markets.

Across our businesses, we primarily earn our fees through various fee-based contractual arrangements, which include stated fee-only contract arrangements or
arrangements with fee-based components where we purchase and resell commodities in connection with providing the related service and earn a net margin as our fee. We earn
our net margin under our purchase and resell contract arrangements primarily as a result of stated service-related fees that are deducted from the price of the commodities
purchased.

(2) Significant Accounting Policies

a. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q, are unaudited, and do not include all the
information and disclosures required by GAAP for complete financial statements. All adjustments that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair presentation of the
results of operations for the interim periods have been made and are of a recurring nature unless otherwise disclosed herein. The results of operations for such interim periods
are not necessarily indicative of results of operations for a full year. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.
Certain reclassifications were made to the financial statements for the prior period to conform to current period presentation. The effect of these reclassifications had no impact
on previously reported members’ equity or net income. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

b. Revenue Recognition

The following table summarizes the contractually committed fees (in millions) that we expect to recognize in our consolidated statements of operations, in either revenue or
reductions to cost of sales, from MVC and firm transportation contractual provisions. Under these agreements, our customers or suppliers agree to transport or process a
minimum volume of commodities on our system over an agreed period. If a customer or supplier fails to meet the minimum volume specified in such agreement, the customer
or supplier is obligated to pay a contractually determined fee based upon the shortfall between actual volumes and the contractually stated volumes. All amounts in the table
below are determined using the contractually-stated MVC or firm transportation volumes specified for each period multiplied by the relevant deficiency or reservation fee.
Actual amounts could differ due to the timing of revenue recognition or reductions to cost of sales resulting from make-up right provisions included in our agreements, as well
as due to nonpayment or nonperformance by our customers. We record revenue under MVC and firm transportation contracts during periods of shortfall when it is known that
the customer cannot, or will not, make up the deficiency. These fees do not represent the shortfall amounts we expect to collect under our MVC and firm transportation
contracts, as we generally do not expect volume shortfalls to equal the full amount of the contractual MVCs and firm transportation contracts during these periods.

Contractually Committed Fees Commitments
2023 (remaining) $ 40.6 
2024 137.4 
2025 117.3 
2026 118.0 
2027 100.4 
Thereafter 1,121.2 

Total $ 1,634.9 
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c. Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest

During the first quarter of 2020, the non-controlling interest holder in one of our non-wholly owned subsidiaries exercised its option to require us to purchase its remaining
interest. At the time of the exercise, we and the interest holder did not agree on the value of the interest and a lawsuit was filed by the interest holder. As part of a settlement
effected with the interest holder in January 2023, we settled the redemption of the mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest for $10.5 million.

d. Property and Equipment

In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we evaluate long-lived assets of identifiable business activities for potential impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances, or triggering events, indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. Triggering events include, but are not limited to, significant changes in
the use of the asset group, current operating results that are significantly less than forecasted results, and negative industry or economic trends, including changes in commodity
prices, significant adverse changes in legal or regulatory factors, or an expectation that it is more likely than not that an asset group will be sold before the end of its useful life.
The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable when it exceeds the undiscounted sum of the future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset. Estimates of expected future cash flows represent management’s best estimate based on reasonable and supportable assumptions. When the carrying
amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable, an impairment is recognized equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value, which is based on inputs that are
not observable in the market, and thus represent Level 3 inputs.

During the third quarter of 2023, we identified changes in our outlook for future cash flows and the anticipated use of certain ORV crude assets in our Louisiana segment,
which warranted an interim impairment test. We determined that the carrying amounts of these assets exceeded their fair values, based on market inputs and certain
assumptions, and recorded an impairment expense of $20.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023.

(3) Acquisition

Central Oklahoma Acquisition

On December 19, 2022, we completed the Central Oklahoma Acquisition. The acquired assets include approximately 900 miles of lean and rich gas gathering pipeline and
two processing plants with 280 MMcf/d of total processing capacity. We completed this acquisition to increase the scale and efficiency of our Central Oklahoma assets.

The following table presents the fair value of the identified assets received and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date (in millions):
Consideration

Cash (including working capital payment) $ 100.9 
Contingent consideration 1.3 

Total consideration $ 102.2 

Purchase price allocation
Assets acquired:

Current assets $ 6.0 
Property and equipment 97.1 
Other assets, net (1) 0.9 

Liabilities assumed:
Current liabilities (1.4)
Other long-term liabilities (1) (0.4)

Net assets acquired $ 102.2 

____________________________
(1) “Other assets, net” and “Other long-term liabilities” consist of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, respectively, obtained through the Central Oklahoma Acquisition.
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Contingent Consideration. The following table represents our change in carrying value of the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition and Central Oklahoma Acquisition contingent
consideration liabilities for the periods presented (in millions):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Amarillo Rattler Acquisition contingent consideration
Contingent consideration liability, beginning of period (1) $ 4.6 $ 7.2 $ 4.2 $ 6.9 

Change in fair value 0.4 (2.8) 0.8 (2.5)
Contingent consideration liability, end of period $ 5.0 $ 4.4 $ 5.0 $ 4.4 

Central Oklahoma Acquisition contingent consideration
Contingent consideration liability, beginning of period (2) $ 1.8 $ — $ 1.3 $ — 

Change in fair value (0.1) — 0.4 — 
Contingent consideration liability, end of period $ 1.7 $ — $ 1.7 $ — 

Total contingent consideration
Contingent consideration liability, beginning of period (1)(2) $ 6.4 $ 7.2 $ 5.5 $ 6.9 

Change in fair value 0.3 (2.8) 1.2 (2.5)
Contingent consideration liability, end of period $ 6.7 $ 4.4 $ 6.7 $ 4.4 

____________________________
(1) The contingent consideration for the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition was recorded on April 30, 2021.
(2) The contingent consideration for the Central Oklahoma Acquisition was recorded on December 19, 2022.

Pro Forma of Acquisitions for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information (in millions) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 gives effect to the
Barnett Shale Acquisition on July 1, 2022 and the Central Oklahoma Acquisition on December 19, 2022 as if each of the acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2022.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information has been included for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the results that
might have occurred had the transactions taken place on the dates indicated and is not intended to be a projection of future results. 

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2022

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2022

Pro forma total revenues $ 2,677.2 $ 7,569.6 
Pro forma net income $ 121.8 $ 336.2 

(4) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets associated with customer relationships are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected period of benefits of the customer relationships, which
ranged from 10 to 20 years at the time the intangible assets were originally recorded. The weighted average amortization period for intangible assets is 14.9 years.

The following table represents our change in carrying value of intangible assets (in millions): 

Gross Carrying Amount
Accumulated

Amortization Net Carrying Amount
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
Customer relationships, beginning of period $ 1,844.8 $ (923.6) $ 921.2 
Amortization expense — (95.7) (95.7)

Customer relationships, end of period $ 1,844.8 $ (1,019.3) $ 825.5 
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Amortization expense was $31.9 million for each of the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $95.7 million and $96.6 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The following table summarizes our estimated aggregate amortization expense for the next five years and thereafter (in millions):

2023 (remaining) $ 31.9 
2024 127.6 
2025 110.2 
2026 106.3 
2027 106.3 
Thereafter 343.2 

Total $ 825.5 

(5) Related Party Transactions

(a)    Transactions with the Cedar Cove JV

We process gas and purchase the related residue gas and NGLs from the Cedar Cove JV. We recorded the following amounts (in millions) on our consolidated balance
sheets related to our transactions with the Cedar Cove JV:

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Accrued gas, NGLs, condensate, and crude oil purchases $ 0.5 $ 2.5 

We recorded the following amounts (in millions) on our consolidated statements of operations related to our transactions with the Cedar Cove JV:

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Midstream services revenue $ 0.7 $ 1.4 $ 2.0 $ 1.4 
Cost of sales (1.8) (5.6) (5.8) (25.3)

(b)    Transactions with GIP

GIP Repurchase Agreement. On February 15, 2022, we entered into an agreement with GIP pursuant to which we agreed to repurchase, on a quarterly basis, a pro rata
portion of the ENLC common units held by GIP, based upon the number of common units purchased by us during the applicable quarter from public unitholders under our
common unit repurchase program. The number of ENLC common units held by GIP that we repurchase in any quarter is calculated such that GIP’s then-existing economic
ownership percentage of our outstanding common units is maintained after our repurchases of common units from public unitholders are taken into account, and the per unit
price we pay to GIP is the average per unit price paid by us for the common units repurchased from public unitholders, less broker commissions, which are not paid with respect
to the GIP units. See “Note 9—Members’ Equity” for additional information on the activity relating to the GIP repurchase agreement.

Management believes the foregoing transactions with related parties were executed on terms that are fair and reasonable to us. The amounts related to related party
transactions are specified in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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(6) Long-Term Debt

As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, long-term debt consisted of the following (in millions):
September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Outstanding
Principal

Premium
(Discount)

Long-Term
Debt

Outstanding
Principal

Premium
(Discount)

Long-Term
Debt

Revolving Credit Facility due 2027 (1) $ 160.0 $ — $ 160.0 $ 255.0 $ — $ 255.0 
AR Facility due 2025 (2) 292.0 — 292.0 500.0 — 500.0 
ENLK’s 4.40% Senior unsecured notes due 2024 97.9 — 97.9 97.9 — 97.9 
ENLK’s 4.15% Senior unsecured notes due 2025 421.6 — 421.6 421.6 (0.1) 421.5 
ENLK’s 4.85% Senior unsecured notes due 2026 491.0 (0.2) 490.8 491.0 (0.2) 490.8 
ENLC’s 5.625% Senior unsecured notes due 2028 500.0 — 500.0 500.0 — 500.0 
ENLC’s 5.375% Senior unsecured notes due 2029 498.7 — 498.7 498.7 — 498.7 
ENLC’s 6.50% Senior unsecured notes due 2030 1,000.0 (2.8) 997.2 700.0 — 700.0 
ENLK’s 5.60% Senior unsecured notes due 2044 350.0 (0.2) 349.8 350.0 (0.2) 349.8 
ENLK’s 5.05% Senior unsecured notes due 2045 450.0 (5.1) 444.9 450.0 (5.2) 444.8 
ENLK’s 5.45% Senior unsecured notes due 2047 500.0 (0.1) 499.9 500.0 (0.1) 499.9 

Debt classified as long-term, including current maturities of long-term
debt $ 4,761.2 $ (8.4) 4,752.8 $ 4,764.2 $ (5.8) 4,758.4 

Debt issuance cost (3) (33.5) (34.9)
Less: Current maturities of long-term debt (4) (97.9) — 

Long-term debt, net of unamortized issuance cost $ 4,621.4 $ 4,723.5 

____________________________
(1) The effective interest rate was 7.0% and 6.5% at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.
(2) The effective interest rate was 6.3% and 5.3% at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.
(3) Net of accumulated amortization of $18.7 million and $15.1 million at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.
(4) The outstanding balance, net of debt issuance costs, of ENLK’s 4.40% senior unsecured notes as of September 30, 2023 are classified as “Current maturities of long-term debt” on the

consolidated balance sheet as these notes mature on April 1, 2024.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Revolving Credit Facility permits ENLC to borrow up to $1.40 billion on a revolving credit basis and includes a $500.0 million letter of credit subfacility. There were
$160.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and $29.6 million in outstanding letters of credit as of September 30, 2023.

At September 30, 2023, we were in compliance with and expect to be in compliance with the financial covenants of the Revolving Credit Facility for at least the next twelve
months.

AR Facility

On October 21, 2020, the SPV entered into the AR Facility. We are the primary beneficiary of the SPV, and we consolidate its assets and liabilities, which consist primarily
of billed and unbilled accounts receivable of $652.9 million as of September 30, 2023. As of September 30, 2023, the AR Facility had a borrowing base of $443.4 million and
there were $292.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the AR Facility.

At September 30, 2023, we were in compliance with and expect to be in compliance with the financial covenants of the AR Facility for at least the next twelve months.
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Senior Unsecured Notes

On April 3, 2023, we completed the sale of an additional $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% senior unsecured notes due 2030 (the “Additional Notes”) at
99% of their face value. The Additional Notes were offered as an additional issuance of our existing 6.50% senior unsecured notes due 2030 that we issued on August 31, 2022
in an aggregate principal amount of $700.0 million. Net proceeds of approximately $294.5 million were used to repay a portion of the borrowings under the Revolving Credit
Facility. The Additional Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by ENLK.

(7) Income Taxes

The components of our income tax expense are as follows (in millions): 
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Current income tax expense $ (1.2) $ (0.3) $ (1.5) $ (1.0)
Deferred income tax expense (9.4) (14.9) (39.0) (16.1)

Income tax expense $ (10.6) $ (15.2) $ (40.5) $ (17.1)

The following schedule reconciles income tax expense and the amount calculated by applying the statutory U.S. federal tax rate to income before non-controlling interest
and income taxes (in millions): 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Expected income tax expense based on federal statutory rate $ (8.4) $ (20.0) $ (38.3) $ (45.9)
State income tax expense, net of federal benefit (1.1) (2.6) (4.9) (6.2)
Unit-based compensation (1) 0.9 1.4 7.5 (0.6)
Change in valuation allowance — 10.9 — 39.0 
Other (2.0) (4.9) (4.8) (3.4)

Income tax expense $ (10.6) $ (15.2) $ (40.5) $ (17.1)

____________________________
(1) Related to book-to-tax differences recorded upon the vesting of unit-based awards.

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes. The deferred tax liabilities, net of deferred tax assets, are included in “Deferred tax liability, net” in the consolidated balance sheets. As
of September 30, 2023, we had $774.1 million of deferred tax assets and $856.9 million of deferred tax liabilities for net deferred tax liabilities of $82.8 million. As of
December 31, 2022, we had $714.1 million of deferred tax assets and $756.8 million of deferred tax liabilities for net deferred tax liabilities of $42.7 million.

We provide a valuation allowance, if necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets, if all, or some portion, of such assets will more than likely not be realized. As of
September 30, 2023, we did not record a valuation allowance and management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of the deferred tax
assets.

Excise Tax on Common Unit Repurchases

In August 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 was signed into law, which, among other things, imposed a 1.0% excise tax on net common unit repurchases made
after December 31, 2022. As a result, we accrued $0.5 million and $1.2 million of excise tax in connection with our net common unit repurchases for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2023, respectively, which was recorded as an adjustment to the cost basis of common units repurchased in “Members’ equity” and “Other current
liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2023.
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(8) Certain Provisions of the ENLK Partnership Agreement

a. Series B Preferred Units

As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 54,439,539 and 54,168,359 Series B Preferred Units issued and outstanding, respectively.

Redemption

In January 2022, we redeemed 3,333,334 Series B Preferred Units for total consideration of $50.5 million plus accrued distributions. In addition, upon such redemption, a
corresponding number of ENLC Class C Common Units were automatically cancelled. The redemption price represented 101% of the preferred units’ par value. In connection
with the Series B Preferred Unit redemption, we agreed with the holders of the Series B Preferred Units to pay cash in lieu of making a quarterly distribution in-kind of
additional Series B Preferred Units (the “PIK Distribution”) through the distribution declared for the fourth quarter of 2022.

Distributions

Income is allocated to the Series B Preferred Units in an amount equal to the quarterly distribution with respect to the period earned. A summary of the distribution activity
relating to the Series B Preferred Units during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is provided below: 

Declaration period PIK Distribution
Cash distribution (in

millions) Date paid/payable
2023
Fourth Quarter of 2022 — $ 17.3 February 13, 2023
First Quarter of 2023 135,421 $ 15.2 May 12, 2023
Second Quarter of 2023 135,759 $ 15.3 August 11, 2023
Third Quarter of 2023 136,099 $ 15.3 November 10, 2023

2022
Fourth Quarter of 2021 — $ 19.2 February 11, 2022 (1)
First Quarter of 2022 — $ 17.5 May 13, 2022 (2)
Second Quarter of 2022 — $ 17.3 August 12, 2022
Third Quarter of 2022 — $ 17.3 November 14, 2022

____________________________
(1) In December 2021 and January 2022, we paid $0.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of accrued distributions related to the fourth quarter of 2021 on redeemed Series B Preferred

Units. The remaining distribution of $17.3 million related to the fourth quarter of 2021 was paid on February 11, 2022.
(2) In January 2022, we paid $0.3 million of accrued distributions related to the first quarter of 2022 on redeemed Series B Preferred Units. The remaining distribution of $ 17.2 million related

to the first quarter of 2022 was paid on May 13, 2022.

ENLK’s Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership

On September 8, 2023, in connection with ENLK’s qualification of the Series B Preferred Units to be eligible to be deposited through the Depository Trust Company, we
amended and restated the limited partnership agreement of ENLK to, among other things, (i) reflect the cancellation of all outstanding ENLC Class C Common Units, which
were non-economic equity interests previously held by the holders of the Series B Preferred Units and permitted such holders to participate in any vote of the holders of ENLC
common units, (ii) provide for the termination of any rights of the holders of the Series B Preferred Units to PIK Distributions with respect to, and following, the earlier to occur
of (x) any quarter in which the holders of the Series B Preferred Units give notice to the General Partner of its election to terminate such PIK Distribution right and (y) the
quarter ending June 30, 2024, and (iii) in connection with such termination of PIK Distributions, increase the cash distribution per Series B Preferred Unit from $0.28125 to
$0.31875, in addition to the continued payment of the Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount (as defined in ENLK’s limited partnership agreement).
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Taxable Income

For tax purposes, holders of Series B Preferred Units are allocated items of gross income from ENLK in respect of each Series B Preferred Unit until the cumulative
amount of gross income so allocated equals the cumulative amount of distributions made in respect of such Series B Preferred Unit, but not in excess of such Series B Preferred
Unit’s pro rata share of the net income of ENLK for the allocation year (the “Allocation Cap”). As of September 30, 2023, due to the application of the Allocation Cap, the
cumulative amount of distributions made in respect of each Series B Preferred Unit exceeded the cumulative amount of gross income allocated to each Series B Preferred Unit
by $6.52 per Series B Preferred Unit (the “Catch-Up Taxable Income Allocation”). As a result, holders of Series B Preferred Units will ultimately be allocated taxable income
during future periods equal to the Catch-Up Taxable Income Allocation plus the amount of distributions received in respect of Series B Preferred Units, if ENLK generates
positive net income.

a. Series C Preferred Units

As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were 376,500 and 381,000 Series C Preferred Units issued and outstanding, respectively.

Repurchase

In February 2023, we repurchased 4,500 Series C Preferred Units for total consideration of $3.9 million. The repurchase price represented 87% of the preferred units’ par
value.

Distributions

Income is allocated to the Series C Preferred Units in an amount equal to the earned distribution for the respective reporting period. A summary of the distribution activity
relating to the Series C Preferred Units during the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is provided below:

Declaration period (1) Distribution rate (2)
Cash distribution (in

millions) Date paid/payable
2023
December 15, 2022 – March 14, 2023 8.846 % $ 8.4 March 15, 2023
March 15, 2023 – June 14, 2023 9.051 % $ 8.7 June 15, 2023
June 15, 2023 – September 14, 2023 9.618 % $ 9.3 September 15, 2023
September 15, 2023 - December 14, 2023 9.782 % $ 9.3 December 15, 2023

2022
December 15, 2021 – June 14, 2022 6.000 % $ 12.0 June 15, 2022
June 15, 2022 – December 14, 2022 6.000 % $ 11.4 December 15, 2022

____________________________
(1) Distributions on the Series C Preferred Units accrued and were cumulative from the date of original issue and payable semi-annually in arrears on the 15th day of June and December of

each year through and including December 15, 2022 and, thereafter, accrue quarterly in arrears on the 15th day of March, June, September, and December of each year, in each case, if and
when declared by the General Partner out of legally available funds for such purpose.

(2) The initial distribution rate for the Series C Preferred Units from the date of original issue through December 14, 2022 was 6.0% per year. Starting on December 15, 2022, distributions on
the Series C Preferred Units accumulate for each distribution period at a percentage of the $1,000 liquidation preference per unit equal to the floating rate of the three-month LIBOR plus a
spread of 4.11%. Starting on September 15, 2023, distributions on the Series C Preferred Units are based on the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR (“Term SOFR”), plus a Term
SOFR spread adjustment of 0.26161%, plus a spread of 4.11%.

19



Table of Contents    
ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

(9) Members’ Equity

a. Common Unit Repurchase Program

In December 2022, the board of directors of the Managing Member (the “Board”) reauthorized our common unit repurchase program for 2023 and set the amount available
for repurchases of outstanding common units during 2023 at up to $200.0 million, including repurchases of common units held by GIP. Repurchases under the common unit
repurchase program will be made, in accordance with applicable securities laws, from time to time in open market or private transactions and may be made pursuant to a trading
plan meeting the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act. The repurchases will depend on market conditions and may be discontinued at any time.

The following table summarizes our ENLC common unit repurchase activity for the periods presented (in millions, except for unit amounts):
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Publicly held ENLC common units 2,253,012 4,051,626 7,690,821 9,066,838 
ENLC common units held by GIP (1) 2,763,581 2,530,507 6,911,568 3,205,602 

Total ENLC common units 5,016,593 6,582,133 14,602,389 12,272,440 

Aggregate cost for publicly held ENLC common units $ 26.9 $ 38.5 $ 85.9 $ 83.2 
Aggregate cost for ENLC common units held by GIP 27.5 24.0 75.3 30.0 
Excise tax on common unit repurchases 0.5 — 1.2 — 

Total aggregate cost for ENLC common units $ 54.9 $ 62.5 $ 162.4 $ 113.2 

Average price paid per publicly held ENLC common unit (2) $ 11.93 $ 9.49 $ 11.16 $ 9.18 
Average price paid per ENLC common unit held by GIP (2)(3) $ 9.94 $ 9.47 $ 10.89 $ 9.35 
____________________________
(1) The units repurchased in each quarter represent GIP’s pro rata share of the aggregate number of common units repurchased by us under our common unit repurchase program during the

prior quarter.
(2) The average price paid per common unit excludes excise tax on common unit repurchases.
(3) The per unit price we paid to GIP in each quarter was the average per unit price paid by us for publicly held ENLC common units repurchased in the prior quarter, less broker commissions.

Additionally, on October 30, 2023, we repurchased 1,934,877 ENLC common units held by GIP at an aggregate cost of $23.0 million, or an average of $11.91 per
common unit. These units represent GIP’s pro rata share of the aggregate number of common units repurchased by us during the three months ended September 30, 2023. The
per unit price we paid to GIP was the same as the average per unit price paid by us for publicly held ENLC common units repurchased during the same period, less broker
commissions, which were not paid with respect to the GIP units. As of September 30, 2023, $23.0 million is classified as “Other current liabilities” on the consolidated balance
sheets related to our obligation to repurchase our common units from GIP. See “Note 5—Related Party Transactions” for additional information relating to the GIP repurchase
agreement.
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b. Earnings Per Unit and Dilution Computations

As required under ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, unvested share-based payments that entitle employees to receive non-forfeitable distributions are considered participating
securities for earnings per unit calculations. The following table reflects the computation of basic and diluted earnings per unit for the periods presented (in millions, except per
unit amounts): 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Distributed earnings allocated to:

Common units (1) $ 57.6 $ 53.7 $ 174.0 $ 162.4 
Unvested unit-based awards (1) 1.0 1.4 2.9 3.9 

Total distributed earnings $ 58.6 $ 55.1 $ 176.9 $ 166.3 
Undistributed loss allocated to:

Common units $ (28.6) $ 25.1 $ (34.3) $ 34.2 
Unvested unit-based awards (0.5) 0.6 (0.6) 0.8 

Total undistributed loss $ (29.1) $ 25.7 $ (34.9) $ 35.0 
Net income attributable to ENLC allocated to:

Common units $ 29.0 $ 78.8 $ 139.7 $ 196.6 
Unvested unit-based awards 0.5 2.0 2.3 4.7 

Total net income attributable to ENLC $ 29.5 $ 80.8 $ 142.0 $ 201.3 
Net income attributable to ENLC per unit:

Basic $ 0.06 $ 0.17 $ 0.31 $ 0.42 

Diluted $ 0.06 $ 0.17 $ 0.30 $ 0.41 

____________________________
(1) Represents distribution activity consistent with the distribution activity table below.

The following are the unit amounts used to compute the basic and diluted earnings per unit for the periods presented (in millions): 
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Basic weighted average units outstanding:

Weighted average common units outstanding 459.3 477.2 464.1 481.0 

Diluted weighted average units outstanding:
Weighted average basic common units outstanding 459.3 477.2 464.1 481.0 
Dilutive effect of unvested unit-based awards 4.6 7.2 4.3 6.9 
Total weighted average diluted common units outstanding 463.9 484.4 468.4 487.9 

All outstanding units were included in the computation of diluted earnings per unit and weighted based on the number of days such units were outstanding during the period
presented.
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c. Distributions

A summary of our distribution activity related to the ENLC common units for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is provided below: 
Declaration period Distribution/unit Date paid/payable
2023

Fourth Quarter of 2022 $ 0.12500 February 13, 2023
First Quarter of 2023 $ 0.12500 May 12, 2023
Second Quarter of 2023 $ 0.12500 August 11, 2023
Third Quarter of 2023 $ 0.12500 November 10, 2023

2022
Fourth Quarter of 2021 $ 0.11250 February 11, 2022
First Quarter of 2022 $ 0.11250 May 13, 2022
Second Quarter of 2022 $ 0.11250 August 12, 2022
Third Quarter of 2022 $ 0.11250 November 14, 2022
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(10) Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates

As of September 30, 2023, our unconsolidated investments consisted of a 38.75% ownership in GCF, a 30% ownership in the Cedar Cove JV, and a 15% ownership in the
Matterhorn JV. The following table shows the activity related to our investment in unconsolidated affiliates for the periods indicated (in millions):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
GCF
Contributions $ 8.7 $ 0.9 $ 14.9 $ 1.4 
Distributions $ — $ — $ (2.0) $ — 
Equity in income (loss) $ 0.3 $ (0.8) $ (2.5) $ (2.4)

Cedar Cove JV
Distributions $ (0.1) $ (0.2) $ (0.4) $ (0.6)
Equity in loss $ (0.6) $ (0.6) $ (1.7) $ (1.3)

Matterhorn JV
Contributions $ — $ 18.8 $ 43.5 $ 44.9 
Equity in income (loss) $ 1.3 $ (0.3) $ 0.5 $ (0.3)

Total
Contributions $ 8.7 $ 19.7 $ 58.4 $ 46.3 
Distributions $ (0.1) $ (0.2) $ (2.4) $ (0.6)
Equity in income (loss) $ 1.0 $ (1.7) $ (3.7) $ (4.0)

The following table shows the balances related to our investment in unconsolidated affiliates as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 (in millions): 
September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

GCF $ 36.7 $ 26.3 
Cedar Cove JV (1) (6.5) (4.4)
Matterhorn JV 107.9 63.9 

Total investment in unconsolidated affiliates $ 138.1 $ 85.8 

____________________________
(1) As of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, our investment in the Cedar Cove JV is classified as “Other long-term liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets.
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(11) Employee Incentive Plans

a.  Long-Term Incentive Plans

We account for unit-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, which requires that compensation related to all unit-based awards be recognized in the consolidated
financial statements. Unit-based compensation cost is valued at fair value at the date of grant, and that grant date fair value is recognized as expense over each award’s requisite
service period with a corresponding increase to equity or liability based on the terms of each award and the appropriate accounting treatment under ASC 718.

Amounts recognized on the consolidated financial statements with respect to these plans are as follows (in millions): 
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Cost of unit-based compensation charged to operating expense $ 1.1 $ 1.3 $ 2.7 $ 4.1 
Cost of unit-based compensation charged to general and administrative

expense 4.6 10.1 11.5 19.6 
Total unit-based compensation expense $ 5.7 $ 11.4 $ 14.2 $ 23.7 

Amount of related income tax benefit recognized in net income (1) $ 1.3 $ 2.7 $ 3.3 $ 5.6 

____________________________
(1) The amount of related income tax benefit recognized in net income excluded book-to-tax differences recorded upon the vesting of unit-based awards. For additional information, see “Note

7—Income Taxes.”

b. Restricted Incentive Units

The restricted incentive units were valued at their fair value at the date of grant, which is equal to the market value of ENLC common units on such date. A summary of the
restricted incentive unit activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 is provided below: 

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2023

Restricted Incentive Units: Number of Units
Weighted Average

Grant-Date Fair Value
Unvested, beginning of period 6,775,186 $ 5.89 

Granted 1,575,905 11.02 
Vested (1) (2,413,511) 6.00 
Forfeited (333,050) 6.91 

Unvested, end of period 5,604,530 $ 7.22 
Aggregate intrinsic value, end of period (in millions) $ 68.5  

____________________________
(1) Vested units included 735,018 ENLC common units withheld for payroll taxes paid on behalf of employees.

A summary of the restricted incentive units’ aggregate intrinsic value (market value at vesting date) and fair value of units vested (market value at date of grant) for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is provided below (in millions): 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Restricted Incentive Units: 2023 2022 2023 2022
Aggregate intrinsic value of units vested $ 2.1 $ 11.1 $ 29.6 $ 19.3 
Fair value of units vested $ 1.0 $ 6.1 $ 14.5 $ 17.3 

As of September 30, 2023, there were $20.8 million of unrecognized compensation costs that related to non-vested ENLC restricted incentive units. These costs are
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years.
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c. Performance Units

We grant performance awards under the 2014 Plan. The performance award agreements provide that the vesting of performance units (i.e., performance-based restricted
incentive units) granted thereunder is dependent on the achievement of certain performance goals over the applicable performance period. At the end of the vesting period,
recipients receive distribution equivalents, if any, with respect to the number of performance units vested. The vesting of such units ranges from zero to 200% of the units
granted depending on the extent to which the related performance goals are achieved over the relevant performance period.

The following table presents a summary of the performance units: 
Nine Months Ended

September 30, 2023

Performance Units: Number of Units
Weighted Average

Grant-Date Fair Value
Non-vested, beginning of period 2,979,154 $ 6.44 

Granted 420,128 11.67 
Vested (1) (1,091,523) 8.30 
Forfeited (81,827) 11.06 

Non-vested, end of period 2,225,932 $ 6.35 
Aggregate intrinsic value, end of period (in millions) $ 27.2 

____________________________
(1) Vested units included 811,114 ENLC common units withheld for payroll taxes paid on behalf of employees.

A summary of the performance units’ aggregate intrinsic value (market value at vesting date) and fair value of units vested (market value at date of grant) for the nine
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is provided below (in millions).

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
Performance Units: 2023 2022 2023 2022
Aggregate intrinsic value of units vested $ 4.1 $ 10.2 $ 26.1 $ 15.8 
Fair value of units vested $ 1.0 $ 4.5 $ 9.1 $ 15.5 

As of September 30, 2023, there were $10.0 million of unrecognized compensation costs that related to non-vested ENLC performance units. These costs are expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

The following table presents a summary of the grant-date fair value assumptions by performance unit grant date: 
Performance Units: March 2023
Grant-date fair value $ 11.67 
Beginning TSR Price $ 10.40 
Risk-free interest rate 3.76 %
Volatility factor 64.00 %
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(12) Derivatives

Interest Rate Swaps

In January 2023, we entered into a $400.0 million interest rate swap to manage the interest rate risk associated with our floating-rate, SOFR-based borrowings. Under this
arrangement, we pay a fixed interest rate of 3.8565% in exchange for SOFR-based variable interest through February 2026. Assets or liabilities related to this interest rate swap
contract are included in the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, and the change in fair value of this contract is recorded net as a gain
or loss on designated cash flow hedges on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Monthly, upon settlement, we reclassify the gain or loss associated with the
interest rate swap into interest expense from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). We designated this interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge in accordance with
ASC 815. There is no ineffectiveness related to this hedge.

The components of the unrealized gain on designated cash flow hedge related to changes in the fair value of our interest rate swaps are as follows (in millions):
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Change in fair value of interest rate swaps $ 2.2 $ — $ 8.1 $ 0.1 
Tax expense (0.5) — (1.9) — 

Unrealized gain on designated cash flow hedge $ 1.7 $ — $ 6.2 $ 0.1 

The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities related to the interest rate swaps are as follows (in millions):

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair value of derivative assets—current $ 5.7 $ — 
Fair value of derivative assets—long-term 2.4 — 

Net fair value of interest rate swaps $ 8.1 $ — 

Interest expense (income) is recognized from accumulated other comprehensive income from the monthly settlement of our interest rate swaps and was included in our
consolidated statements of operations as follows (in millions):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Interest expense, net of interest income $ (1.4) $ — $ (3.0) $ 0.1 

We expect to recognize an additional $5.7 million of interest income out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) over the next twelve months.

Commodity Derivatives

The components of gain (loss) on derivative activity in the consolidated statements of operations related to commodity derivatives are as follows (in millions):
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Change in fair value of derivatives $ (22.9) $ 18.2 $ (19.0) $ 38.4 
Realized gain (loss) on derivatives 0.9 2.3 20.2 (44.6)

Gain (loss) on derivative activity $ (22.0) $ 20.5 $ 1.2 $ (6.2)
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The fair value of derivative assets and liabilities related to commodity derivatives are as follows (in millions): 
September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Fair value of derivative assets—current $ 62.3 $ 68.4 
Fair value of derivative assets—long-term 11.4 2.9 
Fair value of derivative liabilities—current (54.8) (42.9)
Fair value of derivative liabilities—long-term (12.2) (2.7)

Net fair value of commodity derivatives $ 6.7 $ 25.7 

Set forth below are the summarized notional volumes and fair values of all instruments related to commodity derivatives that we held for price risk management purposes
and the related physical offsets at September 30, 2023 (in millions, except volumes). The remaining term of the contracts extend no later than January 2028. 

Commodity Instruments Unit Volume Net Fair Value
NGL (short contracts) Swaps MMgals (114.5) $ 3.0 
NGL (long contracts) Swaps MMgals 71.2 (5.8)
Natural gas (short contracts) Swaps and futures Bbtu (124.6) 28.8 
Natural gas (long contracts) Swaps and futures Bbtu 111.8 (18.7)
Crude and condensate (short contracts) Swaps and futures MMbbls (8.5) (8.5)
Crude and condensate (long contracts) Swaps and futures MMbbls 0.7 7.9 

Total fair value of commodity derivatives $ 6.7 

On all transactions where we are exposed to counterparty risk, we analyze the counterparty’s financial condition prior to entering into an agreement, establish limits, and
monitor the appropriateness of these limits on an ongoing basis. We primarily deal with financial institutions when entering into financial derivatives on commodities. We have
entered into Master ISDAs that allow for netting of swap contract receivables and payables in the event of default by either party. Additionally, we have entered into FCDTCs
that allow for netting of futures contract receivables and payables in the event of default by either party. If our counterparties failed to perform under existing commodity swap
and futures contracts, the maximum loss on our gross receivable position of $73.7 million as of September 30, 2023 would be reduced to $10.5 million due to the offsetting of
gross fair value payables against gross fair value receivables as allowed by the ISDAs and the FCDTCs.
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(13) Fair Value Measurements

Derivative assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below (in millions):
Level 2

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Interest rate swaps (1) $ 8.1 $ — 
Commodity derivatives (2) $ 6.7 $ 25.7 

____________________________
(1) The fair values of the interest rate swaps are estimated based on the difference between expected cash flows calculated at the contracted interest rates and the expected cash flows using

observable benchmarks for the variable interest rates.
(2) The fair values of commodity derivatives represent the amount at which the instruments could be exchanged in a current arms-length transaction adjusted for our credit risk and/or the

counterparty credit risk as required under ASC 820.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of our financial instruments has been determined using available market information and valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is
required to develop the estimates of fair value; thus, the estimates provided below are not necessarily indicative of the amount we could realize upon the sale or refinancing of
such financial instruments (in millions): 

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

Carrying Value
Fair

Value Carrying Value
Fair

Value
Long-term debt, including current maturities of long-term debt (1) $ 4,719.3 $ 4,331.2 $ 4,723.5 $ 4,385.9 
Contingent consideration (2)(3) $ 6.7 $ 6.7 $ 5.5 $ 5.5 

____________________________
(1) The carrying value of long-term debt, including current maturities of long-term debt, is reduced by debt issuance cost, net of accumulated amortization, of $ 33.5 million and $34.9 million

as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The respective fair values do not factor in debt issuance costs.
(2) Consideration for the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition included a contingent component capped at $15.0 million and payable, if at all, between 2024 and 2026 based on Diamondback E&P

LLC’s drilling activity above historical levels. Estimated fair values were calculated using a discounted cash flow analysis that utilized Level 3 inputs.
(3) Consideration for the Central Oklahoma Acquisition included a contingent component, which is payable, if at all, between 2024 and 2027 based on fee revenue earned on certain

contractually specified volumes for the annual periods beginning January 1, 2023 through December 31, 2026. Estimated fair values were calculated using a discounted cash flow analysis
that utilized Level 3 inputs.

The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets
and liabilities.

The fair values of all senior unsecured notes as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were based on Level 2 inputs from third-party market quotations.

28



Table of Contents    
ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Unaudited)

(14) Segment Information

We manage and report our activities primarily according to the geography and nature of activity. We have five reportable segments:

• Permian Segment. The Permian segment includes our natural gas gathering, processing, and transmission activities and our crude oil operations in the Midland and
Delaware Basins in West Texas and Eastern New Mexico;

• Louisiana Segment. The Louisiana segment includes our natural gas and NGL pipelines, natural gas processing plants, natural gas and NGL storage facilities, and
fractionation facilities located in Louisiana and our crude oil operations in ORV;

• Oklahoma Segment. The Oklahoma segment includes our natural gas gathering, processing, and transmission activities, and our crude oil operations in Cana-Woodford,
Arkoma-Woodford, northern Oklahoma Woodford, STACK, and adjacent areas;

• North Texas Segment. The North Texas segment includes our natural gas gathering, processing, fractionation, and transmission activities in North Texas; and

• Corporate Segment. The Corporate segment includes our unconsolidated affiliate investments in the Cedar Cove JV in Oklahoma, GCF in South Texas, and the
Matterhorn JV in West Texas, as well as our corporate assets and expenses.
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We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on segment profit and adjusted gross margin. Adjusted gross margin is a non-GAAP financial measure. See
“Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information. Summarized
financial information for our reportable segments is shown in the following tables (in millions):

Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Three Months Ended September 30, 2023
Natural gas sales $ 132.9 $ 101.8 $ 42.3 $ 22.7 $ — $ 299.7 
NGL sales (4.8) 746.6 (2.0) 0.7 — 740.5 
Crude oil and condensate sales 345.2 78.0 24.7 — — 447.9 

Product sales 473.3 926.4 65.0 23.4 — 1,488.1 
NGL sales—related parties 247.4 5.3 126.0 78.7 (457.4) — 
Crude oil and condensate sales—related parties — — — 2.3 (2.3) — 

Product sales—related parties 247.4 5.3 126.0 81.0 (459.7) — 
Gathering and transportation 30.5 19.5 60.5 49.8 — 160.3 
Processing 15.3 0.5 36.2 29.9 — 81.9 
NGL services — 20.5 — 0.1 — 20.6 
Crude services 5.6 5.7 3.7 0.1 — 15.1 
Other services 1.7 0.2 0.1 0.2 — 2.2 

Midstream services 53.1 46.4 100.5 80.1 — 280.1 
NGL services—related parties — — — 1.2 (1.2) — 

Midstream services—related parties — — — 1.2 (1.2) — 
Revenue from contracts with customers 773.8 978.1 291.5 185.7 (460.9) 1,768.2 
Realized gain (loss) on derivatives (4.4) — 0.9 4.4 — 0.9 
Change in fair value of derivatives (7.4) (6.0) (4.1) (5.4) — (22.9)

Total revenues 762.0 972.1 288.3 184.7 (460.9) 1,746.2 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (604.3) (850.0) (157.1) (94.2) 460.9 (1,244.7)

Adjusted gross margin 157.7 122.1 131.2 90.5 — 501.5 
Operating expenses (55.0) (35.0) (26.6) (26.7) — (143.3)

Segment profit 102.7 87.1 104.6 63.8 — 358.2 
Depreciation and amortization (42.1) (36.3) (54.6) (29.3) (1.5) (163.8)

Gross margin 60.6 50.8 50.0 34.5 (1.5) 194.4 
Impairments — (20.7) — — — (20.7)
Gain on disposition of assets — — 0.5 0.1 — 0.6 
General and administrative — — — — (30.4) (30.4)
Interest expense, net of interest income — — — — (67.9) (67.9)
Income from unconsolidated affiliate investments — — — — 1.0 1.0 
Other expense — — — — (0.6) (0.6)

Income (loss) before non-controlling interest and income taxes $ 60.6 $ 30.1 $ 50.5 $ 34.6 $ (99.4) $ 76.4 
Capital expenditures $ 82.9 $ 23.1 $ 11.5 $ 17.0 $ 2.0 $ 136.5 
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Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Three Months Ended September 30, 2022
Natural gas sales $ 361.6 $ 383.8 $ 114.5 $ 42.8 $ — $ 902.7 
NGL sales 0.2 1,067.4 1.7 1.4 — 1,070.7 
Crude oil and condensate sales 280.7 97.0 33.3 — — 411.0 

Product sales 642.5 1,548.2 149.5 44.2 — 2,384.4 
NGL sales—related parties 380.3 46.3 203.2 139.7 (769.5) — 
Crude oil and condensate sales—related parties — — — 2.6 (2.6) — 

Product sales—related parties 380.3 46.3 203.2 142.3 (772.1) — 
Gathering and transportation 20.9 22.1 45.9 49.9 — 138.8 
Processing 11.1 0.4 31.4 39.5 — 82.4 
NGL services — 19.5 — 0.1 — 19.6 
Crude services 5.7 8.1 3.0 0.1 — 16.9 
Other services 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.1 — 0.9 

Midstream services 37.9 50.5 80.5 89.7 — 258.6 
Other services—related parties — 0.1 — — (0.1) — 

Midstream services—related parties — 0.1 — — (0.1) — 
Revenue from contracts with customers 1,060.7 1,645.1 433.2 276.2 (772.2) 2,643.0 
Realized gain (loss) on derivatives 1.3 3.3 0.6 (2.9) — 2.3 
Change in fair value of derivatives 2.4 4.0 9.5 2.3 — 18.2 

Total revenues 1,064.4 1,652.4 443.3 275.6 (772.2) 2,663.5 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (903.3) (1,517.8) (315.3) (166.9) 772.2 (2,131.1)

Adjusted gross margin 161.1 134.6 128.0 108.7 — 532.4 
Operating expenses (49.7) (37.6) (23.5) (26.0) — (136.8)

Segment profit 111.4 97.0 104.5 82.7 — 395.6 
Depreciation and amortization (36.8) (39.7) (51.5) (33.4) (1.2) (162.6)

Gross margin 74.6 57.3 53.0 49.3 (1.2) 233.0 
Gain on disposition of assets — 0.1 0.1 0.6 — 0.8 
General and administrative — — — — (34.5) (34.5)
Interest expense, net of interest income — — — — (60.4) (60.4)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — — — (5.7) (5.7)
Loss from unconsolidated affiliate investments — — — — (1.7) (1.7)
Other income — — — — 0.3 0.3 

Income (loss) before non-controlling interest and income taxes $ 74.6 $ 57.4 $ 53.1 $ 49.9 $ (103.2) $ 131.8 
Capital expenditures $ 61.7 $ 6.5 $ 18.2 $ 6.5 $ 1.6 $ 94.5 
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Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
Natural gas sales $ 338.6 $ 326.1 $ 142.0 $ 53.9 $ — $ 860.6 
NGL sales (4.4) 2,253.1 7.0 (2.2) — 2,253.5 
Crude oil and condensate sales 826.3 187.2 76.1 — — 1,089.6 

Product sales 1,160.5 2,766.4 225.1 51.7 — 4,203.7 
NGL sales—related parties 689.0 15.0 346.3 224.4 (1,274.7) — 
Crude oil and condensate sales—related parties — — — 7.8 (7.8) — 

Product sales—related parties 689.0 15.0 346.3 232.2 (1,282.5) — 
Gathering and transportation 83.1 58.2 175.8 153.8 — 470.9 
Processing 43.8 0.9 107.9 92.5 — 245.1 
NGL services — 65.7 — 0.2 — 65.9 
Crude services 18.6 17.8 13.1 0.5 — 50.0 
Other services 5.0 0.9 0.4 0.7 — 7.0 

Midstream services 150.5 143.5 297.2 247.7 — 838.9 
NGL services—related parties — — — 2.6 (2.6) — 

Midstream services—related parties — — — 2.6 (2.6) — 
Revenue from contracts with customers 2,000.0 2,924.9 868.6 534.2 (1,285.1) 5,042.6 
Realized gain (loss) on derivatives (3.0) (0.6) 4.8 19.0 — 20.2 
Change in fair value of derivatives (9.0) 3.2 (3.5) (9.7) — (19.0)

Total revenues 1,988.0 2,927.5 869.9 543.5 (1,285.1) 5,043.8 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (1,541.3) (2,538.9) (481.6) (258.9) 1,285.1 (3,535.6)

Adjusted gross margin 446.7 388.6 388.3 284.6 — 1,508.2 
Operating expenses (156.2) (100.6) (78.3) (77.4) — (412.5)

Segment profit 290.5 288.0 310.0 207.2 — 1,095.7 
Depreciation and amortization (123.6) (111.5) (163.1) (87.1) (4.2) (489.5)

Gross margin 166.9 176.5 146.9 120.1 (4.2) 606.2 
Impairments — (20.7) — — — (20.7)
Gain on disposition of assets 0.1 0.2 0.8 0.7 — 1.8 
General and administrative — — — — (87.8) (87.8)
Interest expense, net of interest income — — — — (205.2) (205.2)
Loss from unconsolidated affiliate investments — — — — (3.7) (3.7)
Other expense — — — — (0.2) (0.2)

Income (loss) before non-controlling interest and income taxes $ 167.0 $ 156.0 $ 147.7 $ 120.8 $ (301.1) $ 290.4 
Capital expenditures $ 191.2 $ 53.1 $ 59.3 $ 46.9 $ 4.8 $ 355.3 
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Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022
Natural gas sales $ 880.2 $ 868.2 $ 277.9 $ 106.1 $ — $ 2,132.4 
NGL sales 0.2 3,382.6 8.4 1.4 — 3,392.6 
Crude oil and condensate sales 884.3 280.9 108.6 — — 1,273.8 

Product sales 1,764.7 4,531.7 394.9 107.5 — 6,798.8 
NGL sales—related parties 1,207.6 126.3 653.9 452.4 (2,440.2) — 
Crude oil and condensate sales—related parties — — 0.3 9.6 (9.9) — 

Product sales—related parties 1,207.6 126.3 654.2 462.0 (2,450.1) — 
Gathering and transportation 54.4 54.1 133.3 129.3 — 371.1 
Processing 28.8 1.2 85.4 95.0 — 210.4 
NGL services — 61.8 — 0.2 — 62.0 
Crude services 16.0 26.7 9.9 0.5 — 53.1 
Other services 0.6 1.2 0.4 0.4 — 2.6 

Midstream services 99.8 145.0 229.0 225.4 — 699.2 
Crude services—related parties — — 0.1 — (0.1) — 
Other services—related parties — 0.2 — — (0.2) — 

Midstream services—related parties — 0.2 0.1 — (0.3) — 
Revenue from contracts with customers 3,072.1 4,803.2 1,278.2 794.9 (2,450.4) 7,498.0 
Realized loss on derivatives (11.3) (5.8) (18.9) (8.6) — (44.6)
Change in fair value of derivatives 9.0 10.2 10.6 8.6 — 38.4 

Total revenues 3,069.8 4,807.6 1,269.9 794.9 (2,450.4) 7,491.8 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (2,628.0) (4,425.7) (913.4) (514.0) 2,450.4 (6,030.7)

Adjusted gross margin 441.8 381.9 356.5 280.9 — 1,461.1 
Operating expenses (145.3) (105.4) (67.6) (68.3) — (386.6)

Segment profit 296.5 276.5 288.9 212.6 — 1,074.5 
Depreciation and amortization (110.6) (114.6) (154.7) (90.5) (4.1) (474.5)

Gross margin 185.9 161.9 134.2 122.1 (4.1) 600.0 
Gain (loss) on disposition of assets — 0.3 0.5 (4.7) — (3.9)
General and administrative — — — — (91.9) (91.9)
Interest expense, net of interest income — — — — (171.0) (171.0)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — — — (6.2) (6.2)
Loss from unconsolidated affiliate investments — — — — (4.0) (4.0)
Other income — — — — 0.6 0.6 

Income (loss) before non-controlling interest and income taxes $ 185.9 $ 162.2 $ 134.7 $ 117.4 $ (276.6) $ 323.6 
Capital expenditures $ 130.6 $ 18.5 $ 45.1 $ 17.7 $ 5.1 $ 217.0 
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The table below represents information about segment assets as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 (in millions):
Segment Identifiable Assets: September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Permian $ 2,771.5 $ 2,661.4 
Louisiana 2,164.0 2,310.7 
Oklahoma 2,330.3 2,420.4 
North Texas 1,025.5 1,094.6 
Corporate (1) 199.2 163.9 

Total identifiable assets $ 8,490.5 $ 8,651.0 

____________________________
(1) Accounts receivable and accrued revenue sold to the SPV for collateral under the AR Facility are included within the Permian, Louisiana, Oklahoma, and North Texas segments.

(15) Other Information

The following tables present additional detail for other current assets and other current liabilities, which consists of the following (in millions):
Other current assets: September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Natural gas, NGLs, condensate, and crude oil inventory $ 91.2 $ 147.1 
Prepaid expenses and other 23.0 19.5 

Other current assets $ 114.2 $ 166.6 

Other current liabilities: September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022
Accrued interest $ 40.6 $ 57.6 
Accrued wages and benefits, including taxes 23.6 38.1 
Accrued ad valorem taxes 37.9 32.0 
Accrued settlement of mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest (1) — 10.5 
Capital expenditure accruals 59.8 23.4 
Short-term lease liability 24.2 26.2 
Operating expense accruals 25.1 18.5 
Other 45.3 23.3 

Other current liabilities $ 256.5 $ 229.6 

____________________________
(1) In January 2023, we settled the redemption of the mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest in one of our non-wholly owned subsidiaries.
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(16) Commitments and Contingencies

In February 2021, the areas in which we operate experienced a severe winter storm, with extreme cold, ice, and snow occurring over an unprecedented period of
approximately 10 days (“Winter Storm Uri”). As a result of Winter Storm Uri, we have encountered customer billing disputes related to the delivery of gas during the storm,
including one that resulted in litigation. The litigation is between one of our subsidiaries, EnLink Gas Marketing, LP (“EnLink Gas”), and Koch Energy Services, LLC (“Koch”)
in the 162nd District Court in Dallas County, Texas. The dispute centers on whether EnLink Gas was excused from delivering gas or performing under certain delivery or
purchase obligations during Winter Storm Uri, given our declaration of force majeure during the storm. Koch has invoiced us approximately $53.9 million (after subtracting
amounts owed to EnLink Gas) and does not recognize the declaration of force majeure. We believe the declaration of force majeure was valid and appropriate and we intend to
vigorously defend against Koch’s claims.

One of our subsidiaries, EnLink Energy GP, LLC (“EnLink Energy”), was involved in industry-wide multi-district litigation arising out of Winter Storm Uri, pending in
Harris County, Texas, in which multiple individual plaintiffs asserted personal injury and property damage claims arising out of Winter Storm Uri against an aggregate of over
350 power generators, transmission/distribution utility, retail electric provider, and natural gas defendants across over 150 filed cases. On January 26, 2023, the court dismissed
the claims against the pipeline and other natural gas-related defendants in the multi-district litigation, including EnLink Energy. The court’s order was not appealed and the case
is continuing without EnLink Energy and the other natural gas-related defendants. Subsequently, several suits were filed in February 2023 by individual plaintiffs (including one
matter in which the plaintiffs seek to certify a class of Texas residents affected by Winter Storm Uri) and the alleged assignee of the claims of individual plaintiffs against
approximately 90 natural gas producers, pipelines, marketers, sellers, and traders, including EnLink Gas. EnLink Gas believes it has substantial defenses to these claims and
intends to vigorously dispute these allegations and defend against such claims.

In addition, we are involved in various litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, any liabilities that
may result from these claims would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. We may
also be involved from time to time in the future in various proceedings in the normal course of business, including litigation on disputes related to contracts, property rights,
property use or damage (including nuisance claims), personal injury, or the value of pipeline easements or other rights obtained through the exercise of eminent domain or
common carrier rights.

(17) Subsequent Event

Divestitures. On November 1, 2023, we sold certain ORV crude assets in our Louisiana segment to a subsidiary of Ergon, Inc. in exchange for cash consideration of
approximately $59.2 million, subject to post-closing purchase price adjustments, and a contingent payment of an additional $0.5 million subject to the buyer’s pursuit of certain
commercial opportunities within three years after the acquisition date. For a further description of our ORV assets, see our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Please read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere
in this report. In addition, please refer to the Definitions page set forth in this report prior to Part I—Financial Information.

In this report, the terms “Company” or “Registrant,” as well as the terms “ENLC,” “our,” “we,” “us,” or like terms, are sometimes used as abbreviated references to
EnLink Midstream, LLC itself or EnLink Midstream, LLC together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including ENLK and its consolidated subsidiaries. References in this
report to “EnLink Midstream Partners, LP,” the “Partnership,” “ENLK,” or like terms refer to EnLink Midstream Partners, LP itself or EnLink Midstream Partners, LP
together with its consolidated subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership.

Overview

ENLC is a Delaware limited liability company formed in October 2013. ENLC’s assets consist of all of the outstanding common units of ENLK and all of the membership
interests of the General Partner. All of our midstream energy assets are owned and operated by ENLK and its subsidiaries. We primarily focus on providing midstream energy
services, including:

• gathering, compressing, treating, processing, transporting, storing, and selling natural gas;
• fractionating, transporting, storing, and selling NGLs; and
• gathering, transporting, stabilizing, storing, trans-loading, and selling crude oil and condensate, in addition to brine disposal services.

As of September 30, 2023, our midstream energy asset network includes approximately 13,600 miles of pipelines, 26 natural gas processing plants with approximately 6.0
Bcf/d of processing capacity, seven fractionators with approximately 320,000 Bbls/d of fractionation capacity, barge and rail terminals, product storage facilities, purchasing
and marketing capabilities, brine disposal wells, a crude oil trucking fleet, and equity investments in certain joint ventures. We manage and report our activities primarily
according to the geography and nature of activity. We have five reportable segments:

• Permian Segment. The Permian segment includes our natural gas gathering, processing, and transmission activities and our crude oil operations in the Midland and
Delaware Basins in West Texas and Eastern New Mexico;

• Louisiana Segment. The Louisiana segment includes our natural gas and NGL pipelines, natural gas processing plants, natural gas and NGL storage facilities, and
fractionation facilities located in Louisiana and our crude oil operations in ORV;

• Oklahoma Segment. The Oklahoma segment includes our natural gas gathering, processing, and transmission activities, and our crude oil operations in Cana-Woodford,
Arkoma-Woodford, northern Oklahoma Woodford, STACK, and adjacent areas;

• North Texas Segment. The North Texas segment includes our natural gas gathering, processing, fractionation, and transmission activities in North Texas; and

• Corporate Segment. The Corporate segment includes our unconsolidated affiliate investments in the Cedar Cove JV in Oklahoma, GCF in South Texas, and the
Matterhorn JV in West Texas, as well as our corporate assets and expenses.

We manage our consolidated operations by focusing on adjusted gross margin because our business is generally to gather, process, transport, or market natural gas, NGLs,
crude oil, and condensate using our assets for a fee. We earn our fees through various fee-based contractual arrangements, which include stated fee-only contract arrangements
or arrangements with fee-based components where we purchase and resell commodities in connection with providing the related service and earn a net margin as our fee. We
earn our net margin under our purchase and resell contract arrangements primarily as a result of stated service-related fees that are deducted from the price of the commodity
purchase. While our transactions vary in form, the essential element of most of our transactions is the use of our assets to transport a product or provide a processed product to
an end-user or marketer at the tailgate of the plant, pipeline, or barge, truck, or rail terminal. Adjusted gross margin is a non-GAAP financial measure and is explained in greater
detail under “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below. Approximately 90% of our adjusted gross margin was derived from fee-based contractual arrangements with minimal
direct commodity price exposure for the nine months ended September 30, 2023.
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Our revenues and adjusted gross margins are generated from eight primary sources:

• gathering and transporting natural gas, NGLs, and crude oil on the pipeline systems we own;
• processing natural gas at our processing plants;
• fractionating and marketing recovered NGLs;
• providing compression services;
• providing crude oil and condensate transportation and terminal services;
• providing condensate stabilization services;
• providing brine disposal services; and
• providing natural gas, crude oil, and NGL storage.

The following customers individually represented greater than 10% of our consolidated revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. No
other customers represented greater than 10% of our consolidated revenues during the periods presented.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Dow Hydrocarbons and Resources LLC 9.3 % 14.5 % 10.7 % 14.4 %
Marathon Petroleum Corporation 15.5 % 11.8 % 18.3 % 14.4 %

We gather, transport, or store gas owned by others under fee-only contract arrangements based either on the volume of gas gathered, transported, or stored or, for firm
transportation arrangements, a stated monthly fee for a specified monthly quantity with an additional fee based on actual volumes. We also buy natural gas from producers or
shippers at a market index less a fee-based deduction subtracted from the purchase price of the natural gas. We then gather or transport the natural gas and sell the natural gas at
a market index, thereby earning a margin through the fee-based deduction. We attempt to execute substantially all purchases and sales concurrently, or we enter into a future
delivery obligation, thereby establishing the basis for the fee we will receive for each natural gas transaction. We are also party to certain long-term gas sales commitments that
we satisfy through supplies purchased under long-term gas purchase agreements. When we enter into those arrangements, our sales obligations generally match our purchase
obligations. However, over time, the supplies that we have under contract may decline due to reduced drilling or other causes, and we may be required to satisfy the sales
obligations by buying additional gas at prices that may exceed the prices received under the sales commitments. In our purchase/sale transactions, the resale price is generally
based on the same index at which the gas was purchased.

 
We typically buy mixed NGLs from our suppliers to our gas processing plants at a fixed discount to market indices for the component NGLs with a deduction for our

fractionation fee. We subsequently sell the fractionated NGL products based on the same index-based prices. To a lesser extent, we transport and fractionate or store NGLs
owned by others for a fee based on the volume of NGLs transported and fractionated or stored. The operating results of our NGL fractionation business are largely dependent
upon the volume of mixed NGLs fractionated and the level of fractionation fees charged. With our fractionation business, we also have the opportunity for product upgrades for
each of the discrete NGL products. We realize higher adjusted gross margins from product upgrades during periods with higher NGL prices.

 
We gather or transport crude oil and condensate owned by others by rail, truck, pipeline, and barge facilities under fee-only contract arrangements based on volumes

gathered or transported. We also buy crude oil and condensate on our own gathering systems, third-party systems, and trucked from producers at a market index less a stated
transportation deduction. We then transport and resell the crude oil and condensate through a process of basis and fixed price trades. We execute substantially all purchases and
sales concurrently, thereby establishing the net margin we will receive for each crude oil and condensate transaction.

We realize adjusted gross margins from our gathering and processing services primarily through different contractual arrangements: processing margin (“margin”)
contracts, POL contracts, POP contracts, fixed-fee based contracts, or a combination of these contractual arrangements. Under any of these gathering and processing
arrangements, we may earn a fee for the services performed, or we may buy and resell the gas and/or NGLs as part of the processing arrangement and realize a net margin as our
fee. Under margin contract arrangements, our adjusted gross margins are higher during periods of high NGL prices relative to natural gas prices. Adjusted gross margin results
under POL contracts are impacted only by the value of the liquids produced with margins higher during periods of higher liquids prices. Adjusted gross margin results under
POP contracts are impacted only by the value of the natural gas and liquids produced with margins higher during periods of higher natural gas and liquids prices. Under fixed-
fee based contracts, our adjusted gross margins are driven by throughput volume.
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Operating expenses are costs directly associated with the operations of a particular asset. Among the most significant of these costs are those associated with direct labor
and supervision, property insurance, property taxes, repair and maintenance expenses, contract services, and utilities. These costs are normally fairly stable across broad volume
ranges and therefore do not normally increase or decrease significantly in the short term with increases or decreases in the volume of gas, liquids, crude oil, and condensate
moved through or by our assets.

CCS Business

We are building a carbon transportation business in support of CCS activity along the Mississippi River corridor in Louisiana, one of the highest CO emitting regions in
the United States. We believe our existing asset footprint, including our extensive network of natural gas pipelines in Louisiana, our operating expertise and our customer
relationships, provide us with an advantage in building a carbon transportation business and becoming the transporter of choice in the region.

Recent Developments Affecting Industry Conditions and Our Business

Current Market Environment

The midstream energy business environment and our business are affected by the level of production of natural gas and oil in the areas in which we operate and the various
factors that affect this production, including commodity prices, capital markets trends, competition, and regulatory changes. We believe these factors will continue to affect
production and therefore the demand for midstream services and our business in the future. To the extent these factors vary from our underlying assumptions, our business and
actual results could vary materially from market expectations and from the assumptions discussed in this section.

Production levels by our exploration and production customers are driven in large part by the level of oil and natural gas prices. New drilling activity is necessary to
maintain or increase production levels as oil and natural gas wells experience production declines over time. New drilling activity generally moves in the same direction as
crude oil and natural gas prices as those prices drive investment returns and cash flow available for reinvestment by exploration and production companies. Accordingly, our
operations are affected by the level of crude, natural gas, and NGL prices, the relationship among these prices, and related activity levels from our customers. Low prices for
these commodities could reduce the demand for our services and the volumes in our systems.

There has been, and we believe there will continue to be, volatility in commodity prices and in the relationships among NGL, crude oil, and natural gas prices. Oil and
natural gas prices rose during 2021 and rose especially rapidly in the first half of 2022 due to various factors, including a rebound in demand from economic activity after
COVID-19 shutdowns, supply issues, and geopolitical events, including Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Since that time, both oil and natural gas prices have remained volatile,
with natural gas prices declining significantly since the beginning of 2023.

2
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The table below presents selected average index prices for crude oil, NGL, and natural gas for the periods indicated.
Crude oil NGL Natural gas

$/Bbl (1)(2) $/Gal (1)(3) $/MMbtu (1)(4)
2023 by quarter:
1st Quarter $ 75.99 $ 0.61 $ 2.74 
2nd Quarter $ 73.56 $ 0.43 $ 2.33 
3rd Quarter $ 82.22 $ 0.50 $ 2.66 
2023 Averages $ 77.28 $ 0.51 $ 2.58 

2022 by quarter:
1st Quarter $ 95.01 $ 0.92 $ 4.56 
2nd Quarter $ 108.52 $ 0.97 $ 7.50 
3rd Quarter $ 91.43 $ 0.82 $ 7.95 
2022 Averages $ 98.25 $ 0.90 $ 6.68 

____________________________
(1) The average closing price was computed by taking the sum of the closing prices of each trading day divided by the number of trading days during the period presented.
(2) Crude oil closing prices based on the NYMEX futures daily close prices.
(3) Weighted average NGL gas closing prices based on the OPIS Napoleonville daily average spot liquids prices.
(4) Natural gas closing prices based on Henry Hub Gas Daily closing prices.

The volatility in commodity prices may cause the adjusted gross margin and cash flows in certain areas of our business to vary from period to period. Our hedging strategies
may not be sufficient to offset price volatility risk and, in any event, do not cover all of our throughput volumes.

Capital markets and the demands of public investors also affect producer behavior, production levels, and our business. Over the last several years, public investors have
exerted pressure on oil and natural gas producers to increase capital discipline and focus on higher investment returns even if it means lower growth. This demand by investors
for increased capital discipline from energy companies led to more modest capital investment by producers, curtailed drilling and production activity, and, accordingly, slower
growth for us and other midstream companies during the past few years. However, in response to the rise of oil and natural gas prices during 2021 and 2022, capital investments
by United States oil and natural gas producers have risen, although global capital investments by oil and natural gas producers remain below historical levels and producers
continue to remain cautious.

Producers generally focus their drilling activity on certain producing basins depending on commodity price fundamentals and favorable drilling economics. In the last few
years, many producers have increasingly focused their activities in the Permian Basin, because of the availability of higher investment returns. Currently, a large percentage of
all drilling rigs operating in the United States are operating in the Permian Basin. We continue to experience a robust increase in volumes in our Permian segment as our
operations in that basin are in a favorable position relative to producer activity. As a result of this concentration of drilling activity in the Permian Basin, other basins, including
those in which we operate in Oklahoma and North Texas, experienced reduced investment and declines in volumes produced. However, the rise in commodity prices during
2022 led to renewed producer interest in Oklahoma and North Texas which has continued into 2023. We expect the decline in natural gas prices since the beginning of the year
will dampen producer activity in these areas during the remainder of 2023.

Our Louisiana segment, while subject to commodity price trends, is less dependent on gathering and processing activities and more affected by industrial demand for the
natural gas and NGLs that we supply. Industrial demand along the Gulf Coast region has remained strong throughout 2022 and has continued into 2023, supported by regional
industrial activity and export markets. Our activities and, in turn, our financial performance in the Louisiana segment are highly dependent on the availability of natural gas and
NGLs produced by our upstream gathering and processing business and by other market participants. To date, the supply of natural gas and NGLs has remained at levels
sufficient for us to supply our customers, and maintaining such supply is a key business focus.

For additional discussion regarding these factors, see “Item 1A—Risk Factors—Business and Industry Risks” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.
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Inflation

Inflation in the United States increased significantly in 2022 and has continued to increase at a more modest pace through the third quarter of 2023. In addition, in order to
reduce the inflation rate, the Federal Reserve increased its target for the federal funds rate (the benchmark for most interest rates) several times in 2022 and 2023. This trend may
continue during the remainder of 2023.

To the extent that a rising cost environment impacts our results, there are typically offsetting benefits either inherent in our business or that result from other steps we take
proactively to reduce the impact of inflation on our net operating results. These benefits include: (1) provisions included in our long-term fee-based revenue contracts that offset
cost increases in the form of rate escalations based on positive changes in the U.S. Consumer Price Index, Producer Price Index for Finished Goods, or other factors; (2)
provisions in our contracts that enable us to pass through higher costs to customers; and (3) higher commodity prices, which generally enhance our results in the form of
increased volumetric throughput and demand for our services. For these reasons, the increased cost environment, caused in part by inflation, has not had a material impact on
our historical results of operations for the periods presented in this report. However, a significant or prolonged period of high inflation could adversely impact our results if costs
were to increase at a rate greater than the increase in the revenues we receive.

Regulatory Developments

Any regulatory changes could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, including our ability to make cash distributions to our
unitholders. For more information, see our risk factors under Item 1A—Risk Factors—“Environmental, Legal Compliance, and Regulatory Risk” in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.

Other Recent Developments

Organic Growth

Tiger II Processing Plant. In April 2023, we began moving equipment and facilities associated with the non-operational Cowtown processing plant in North Texas to our
Delaware Basin JV operations in the Permian. The relocation is expected to increase the processing capacity of our Permian Basin processing facilities by approximately 150
MMcf/d. We expect to complete the relocation in the second quarter of 2024.

GCF Operations. In January 2023, we began the process to restart the GCF assets and expect operations to begin in the first half of 2024. We will continue to make capital
contributions during 2023 associated with the restart of these assets.

Equity

Common Unit Repurchase Program. For the three months ended September 30, 2023, we repurchased 2,253,012 outstanding common units in open market purchases, for
an aggregate cost, including commissions, of $26.9 million, or an average of $11.93 per common unit. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we repurchased
7,690,821 outstanding common units in open market purchases, for an aggregate cost, including commissions, of $85.9 million, or an average of $11.16 per common unit.

GIP Repurchase Agreement. For the three months ended September 30, 2023, we repurchased 2,763,581 ENLC common units held by GIP for an aggregate cost of
$27.5 million, or an average of $9.94 per common unit. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we repurchased 6,911,568 ENLC common units held by GIP for an
aggregate cost of $75.3 million, or an average of $10.89 per common unit.

Additionally, on October 30, 2023, we repurchased 1,934,877 ENLC common units held by GIP at an aggregate cost of $23.0 million, or an average of $11.91 per
common unit. These units represent GIP’s pro rata share of the aggregate number of common units repurchased by us during the three months ended September 30, 2023. The
per unit price we paid to GIP was the same as the average per unit price paid by us for publicly held ENLC common units repurchased during the same period, less broker
commissions, which were not paid with respect to the GIP units. As of September 30, 2023, $23.0 million is classified as “Other current liabilities” on the consolidated balance
sheets related to our obligation to repurchase our common units from GIP.

See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 9” for more information regarding our common unit repurchases.

ENLK’s Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership. On September 8, 2023, in connection with ENLK’s qualification of the Series B Preferred
Units to be eligible to be deposited through the Depository Trust Company, we amended and restated the limited partnership agreement of ENLK to, among other things, (i)
reflect the cancellation of all
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outstanding ENLC Class C Common Units, which were non-economic equity interests previously held by the holders of the Series B Preferred Units and permitted such
holders to participate in any vote of the holders of ENLC common units, (ii) provide for the termination of any rights of the holders of the Series B Preferred Units to PIK
Distributions with respect to, and following, the earlier to occur of (x) any quarter in which the holders of the Series B Preferred Units give notice to the General Partner of its
election to terminate such PIK Distribution right and (y) the quarter ending June 30, 2024, and (iii) in connection with such termination of PIK Distributions, increase the cash
distribution per Series B Preferred Unit from $0.28125 to $0.31875, in addition to the continued payment of the Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount (as defined in ENLK’s
limited partnership agreement).

Repurchase of Series C Preferred Units. In February 2023, we repurchased 4,500 Series C Preferred Units for total consideration of $3.9 million. The repurchase price
represented 87% of the preferred units’ par value.

See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 8” for more information regarding the Series B Preferred Units and the Series C Preferred Units.

Debt

Senior Unsecured Notes Issuance. On April 3, 2023, we completed the sale of an additional $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% senior unsecured notes
due 2030 (the “Additional Notes”) at 99% of their face value. The Additional Notes were offered as an additional issuance of our existing 6.50% senior unsecured notes due
2030 that we issued on August 31, 2022 in an aggregate principal amount of $700.0 million. Net proceeds of approximately $294.5 million were used to repay a portion of the
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Additional Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by ENLK.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To assist management in assessing our business, we use the following non-GAAP financial measures: adjusted gross margin; adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, and
depreciation and amortization (“adjusted EBITDA”); and free cash flow after distributions.

Adjusted Gross Margin

We define adjusted gross margin as revenues less cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization. We present adjusted gross margin by
segment in “Results of Operations.” We disclose adjusted gross margin in addition to gross margin as defined by GAAP because it is the primary performance measure used by
our management to evaluate consolidated operations. We believe adjusted gross margin is an important measure because, in general, our business is to gather, process,
transport, or market natural gas, NGLs, condensate, and crude oil for a fee or to purchase and resell natural gas, NGLs, condensate, and crude oil for a margin. Operating expense
is a separate measure used by our management to evaluate the operating performance of field operations. Direct labor and supervision, property insurance, property taxes, repair
and maintenance, utilities, and contract services comprise the most significant portion of our operating expenses. We exclude all operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization from adjusted gross margin because these expenses are largely independent of the volumes we transport or process and fluctuate depending on the activities
performed during a specific period. The GAAP measure most directly comparable to adjusted gross margin is gross margin. Adjusted gross margin should not be considered an
alternative to, or more meaningful than, gross margin as determined in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted gross margin has important limitations because it excludes all
operating expenses and depreciation and amortization that affect gross margin. Our adjusted gross margin may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies because other entities may not calculate these amounts in the same manner.
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The following table reconciles total revenues and gross margin to adjusted gross margin (in millions):

 
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 2023 2022 2023 2022
Total revenues $ 1,746.2 $ 2,663.5 $ 5,043.8 $ 7,491.8 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and

amortization (1,244.7) (2,131.1) (3,535.6) (6,030.7)
Operating expenses (143.3) (136.8) (412.5) (386.6)
Depreciation and amortization (163.8) (162.6) (489.5) (474.5)

Gross margin 194.4 233.0 606.2 600.0 
Operating expenses 143.3 136.8 412.5 386.6 
Depreciation and amortization 163.8 162.6 489.5 474.5 

Adjusted gross margin $ 501.5 $ 532.4 $ 1,508.2 $ 1,461.1 
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Adjusted EBITDA

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) plus (less) interest expense, net of interest income; depreciation and amortization; impairments; (income) loss from
unconsolidated affiliate investments; distributions from unconsolidated affiliate investments; (gain) loss on disposition of assets; (gain) loss on extinguishment of debt; unit-
based compensation; income tax expense (benefit); unrealized (gain) loss on commodity derivatives; costs associated with the relocation of processing facilities; accretion
expense associated with asset retirement obligations; transaction costs; non-cash expense related to changes in the fair value of contingent consideration; (non-cash rent); and
(non-controlling interest share of adjusted EBITDA from joint ventures). Adjusted EBITDA is one of the primary metrics used in our short-term incentive program for
compensating employees. In addition, adjusted EBITDA is used as a supplemental liquidity and performance measure by our management and by external users of our financial
statements, such as investors, commercial banks, research analysts, and others, to assess:

• the financial performance of our assets without regard to financing methods, capital structure, or historical cost basis;
• the ability of our assets to generate cash sufficient to pay interest costs, support our indebtedness, and make cash distributions to our unitholders;
• our operating performance and return on capital as compared to those of other companies in the midstream energy sector, without regard to financing methods or capital

structure; and
• the viability of acquisitions and capital expenditure projects and the overall rates of return on alternative investment opportunities.

The GAAP measures most directly comparable to adjusted EBITDA are net income (loss) and net cash provided by operating activities. Adjusted EBITDA should not be
considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, net income (loss), operating income (loss), net cash provided by operating activities, or any other measure of financial
performance presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies because other companies may not
calculate adjusted EBITDA in the same manner.

Adjusted EBITDA does not include interest expense, net of interest income; income tax expense (benefit); and depreciation and amortization. Because we have borrowed
money to finance our operations, interest expense is a necessary element of our costs and our ability to generate cash available for distribution. Because we have capital assets,
depreciation and amortization are also necessary elements of our costs. Therefore, any measures that exclude these elements have material limitations. To compensate for these
limitations, we believe that it is important to consider net income (loss) and net cash provided by operating activities as determined under GAAP, as well as adjusted EBITDA,
to evaluate our overall performance.
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The following table reconciles net income to adjusted EBITDA (in millions):

 
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net income $ 65.8 $ 116.6 $ 249.9 $ 306.5 
Interest expense, net of interest income 67.9 60.4 205.2 171.0 
Depreciation and amortization 163.8 162.6 489.5 474.5 
Impairments 20.7 — 20.7 — 
(Income) loss from unconsolidated affiliate investments (1.0) 1.7 3.7 4.0 
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliate investments 0.1 0.2 2.4 0.6 
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets (0.6) (0.8) (1.8) 3.9 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 5.7 — 6.2 
Unit-based compensation 5.7 11.4 14.2 23.7 
Income tax expense 10.6 15.2 40.5 17.1 
Unrealized (gain) loss on commodity derivatives 22.9 (18.2) 19.0 (38.4)
Costs associated with the relocation of processing facilities (1) 2.9 9.7 5.0 32.1 
Other (2) 0.1 (3.1) 0.6 (2.4)

Adjusted EBITDA before non-controlling interest 358.9 361.4 1,048.9 998.8 
Non-controlling interest share of adjusted EBITDA from joint ventures

(3) (17.0) (18.0) (49.7) (51.4)
Adjusted EBITDA, net to ENLC $ 341.9 $ 343.4 $ 999.2 $ 947.4 

____________________________
(1) Represents cost incurred to execute discrete, project-based strategic initiatives aimed at realigning available processing capacity from our Oklahoma and North Texas segments to the

Permian segment. These costs are not part of our ongoing operations.
(2) Includes transaction costs, non-cash expense related to changes in the fair value of contingent consideration, accretion expense associated with asset retirement obligations, and non-cash

rent, which relates to lease incentives pro-rated over the lease term.
(3) Non-controlling interest share of adjusted EBITDA from joint ventures includes NGP’s 49.9% share of adjusted EBITDA from the Delaware Basin JV and Marathon Petroleum

Corporation’s 50% share of adjusted EBITDA from the Ascension JV.
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Free Cash Flow After Distributions

We define free cash flow after distributions as adjusted EBITDA, net to ENLC, plus (less) (growth and maintenance capital expenditures, excluding capital expenditures
that were contributed by other entities and relate to the non-controlling interest share of our consolidated entities); (interest expense, net of interest income); (distributions
declared on common units); (cash distributions earned by the Series B Preferred Units and the Series C Preferred Units); (payment to redeem mandatorily redeemable non-
controlling interest); (costs associated with the relocation of processing facilities, excluding costs that were contributed by other entities and relate to the non-controlling interest
share of our consolidated entities); non-cash interest (income)/expense; (contributions to investment in unconsolidated affiliates); (payments to terminate interest rate swaps);
(current income taxes); and proceeds from the sale of equipment and land.

Free cash flow after distributions is the principal cash flow metric used by the Company. It is also used as a supplemental liquidity measure by our management and by
external users of our financial statements, such as investors, commercial banks, research analysts, and others, to assess the ability of our assets to generate cash sufficient to pay
interest costs, pay back our indebtedness, make cash distributions, and make capital expenditures.

Growth capital expenditures generally include capital expenditures made for acquisitions or capital improvements that we expect will increase our asset base, operating
income, or operating capacity over the long term. Examples of growth capital expenditures include the acquisition of assets and the construction or development of additional
pipeline, storage, well connections, gathering, or processing assets, in each case, to the extent such capital expenditures are expected to expand our asset base, operating
capacity, or our operating income.

Maintenance capital expenditures include capital expenditures made to replace partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the existing operating capacity of
the assets and to extend their useful lives. Examples of maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures to refurbish and replace pipelines, gathering assets, well connections,
compression assets, and processing assets up to their original operating capacity, to maintain pipeline and equipment reliability, integrity, and safety, and to address
environmental laws and regulations.

The GAAP measure most directly comparable to free cash flow after distributions is net cash provided by operating activities. Free cash flow after distributions should not
be considered an alternative to, or more meaningful than, net income (loss), operating income (loss), net cash provided by operating activities, or any other measure of liquidity
presented in accordance with GAAP. Free cash flow after distributions has important limitations because it excludes some items that affect net income (loss), operating income
(loss), and net cash provided by operating activities. Free cash flow after distributions may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies because other
companies may not calculate this non-GAAP metric in the same manner. To compensate for these limitations, we believe that it is important to consider net cash provided by
operating activities determined under GAAP, as well as free cash flow after distributions, to evaluate our overall liquidity.

45



Table of Contents

The following table reconciles net cash provided by operating activities to adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow after distributions (in millions):
Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 274.2 $ 343.3 $ 862.0 $ 825.9 
Interest expense (1) 66.3 59.3 200.3 167.2 
Utility credits redeemed (2) — (16.3) (1.5) (27.9)
Accruals for settled commodity derivative transactions — (0.3) — (1.9)
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliate investment in excess of earnings 0.1 0.2 2.4 0.6 
Costs associated with the relocation of processing facilities (3) 2.9 9.7 5.0 32.1 
Other (4) 0.8 (0.1) 0.8 3.3 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities which (provided) used cash:

Accounts receivable, accrued revenues, inventories, and other 156.9 (54.3) (92.8) 255.6 
Accounts payable, accrued product purchases, and other accrued liabilities (142.3) 19.9 72.7 (256.1)

Adjusted EBITDA before non-controlling interest 358.9 361.4 1,048.9 998.8 
Non-controlling interest share of adjusted EBITDA from joint ventures (5) (17.0) (18.0) (49.7) (51.4)

Adjusted EBITDA, net to ENLC 341.9 343.4 999.2 947.4 
Growth capital expenditures, net to ENLC (6) (97.4) (82.7) (264.7) (173.1)
Maintenance capital expenditures, net to ENLC (6) (18.3) (8.7) (52.5) (33.7)
Interest expense, net of interest income (67.9) (60.4) (205.2) (171.0)
Distributions declared on common units (57.5) (54.8) (174.3) (164.9)
ENLK preferred unit cash distributions earned (7) (24.6) (23.3) (72.2) (70.1)
Payment to redeem mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest (8) — — (10.5) — 
Costs associated with the relocation of processing facilities, net to ENLC (3)

(6)(9) (1.7) (9.7) 5.0 (32.1)
Contributions to investment in unconsolidated affiliates (8.7) (19.7) (58.4) (46.3)
Other (10) 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.1 

Free cash flow after distributions $ 66.2 $ 84.9 $ 167.6 $ 257.3 

____________________________
(1) Net of amortization of debt issuance costs, net discount of senior unsecured notes, and designated cash flow hedge, which are included in interest expense but not included in net cash provided by operating

activities, and non-cash interest income, which is netted against interest expense but not included in adjusted EBITDA.
(2) Under our utility agreements, we are entitled to a base load of electricity and pay or receive credits, based on market pricing, when we exceed or do not use the base load amounts. Due to Winter Storm Uri,

we received credits from our utility providers based on market rates for our unused electricity.
(3) Represents cost incurred to execute discrete, project-based strategic initiatives aimed at realigning available processing capacity from our Oklahoma and North Texas segments to the Permian segment.

These costs are not part of our ongoing operations.
(4) Includes transaction costs, current income tax expense, and non-cash rent, which relates to lease incentives pro-rated over the lease term.
(5) Non-controlling interest share of adjusted EBITDA from joint ventures includes NGP’s 49.9% share of adjusted EBITDA from the Delaware Basin JV and Marathon Petroleum Corporation’s 50% share of

adjusted EBITDA from the Ascension JV.
(6) Excludes capital expenditures and costs associated with the relocation of processing facilities that were contributed by other entities and relate to the non-controlling interest share of our consolidated

entities.
(7) Represents the cash distributions earned by the Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 8 ” for information on the cash distributions earned by

holders of the Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units. Cash distributions to be paid to holders of the Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units are not available to common
unitholders.

(8) In January 2023, we settled the redemption of the mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest in one of our non-wholly owned subsidiaries. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 2” for more
information regarding the redemption.

(9) Includes a one-time $8.0 million contribution from an affiliate of NGP in May 2023 in connection with the Delaware Basin JV’s purchase of the Cowtown processing plant.
(10) Includes current income tax expense and proceeds from the sale of surplus or unused equipment and land, which occurred in the normal operation of our business.
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Results of Operations
 

The tables below set forth certain financial and operating data for the periods indicated. We evaluate the performance of our consolidated operations by focusing on
adjusted gross margin, while we evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on segment profit and adjusted gross margin, as reflected in the tables below (in
millions, except volumes):

Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Three Months Ended September 30, 2023
Total revenues $ 762.0 $ 972.1 $ 288.3 $ 184.7 $ (460.9) $ 1,746.2 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (604.3) (850.0) (157.1) (94.2) 460.9 (1,244.7)

Adjusted gross margin 157.7 122.1 131.2 90.5 — 501.5 
Operating expenses (55.0) (35.0) (26.6) (26.7) — (143.3)

Segment profit 102.7 87.1 104.6 63.8 — 358.2 
Depreciation and amortization (42.1) (36.3) (54.6) (29.3) (1.5) (163.8)

Gross margin $ 60.6 $ 50.8 $ 50.0 $ 34.5 $ (1.5) $ 194.4 

Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Three Months Ended September 30, 2022
Total revenues $ 1,064.4 $ 1,652.4 $ 443.3 $ 275.6 $ (772.2) $ 2,663.5 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (903.3) (1,517.8) (315.3) (166.9) 772.2 (2,131.1)

Adjusted gross margin 161.1 134.6 128.0 108.7 — 532.4 
Operating expenses (49.7) (37.6) (23.5) (26.0) — (136.8)

Segment profit 111.4 97.0 104.5 82.7 — 395.6 
Depreciation and amortization (36.8) (39.7) (51.5) (33.4) (1.2) (162.6)

Gross margin $ 74.6 $ 57.3 $ 53.0 $ 49.3 $ (1.2) $ 233.0 

Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023
Total revenues $ 1,988.0 $ 2,927.5 $ 869.9 $ 543.5 $ (1,285.1) $ 5,043.8 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (1,541.3) (2,538.9) (481.6) (258.9) 1,285.1 (3,535.6)

Adjusted gross margin 446.7 388.6 388.3 284.6 — 1,508.2 
Operating expenses (156.2) (100.6) (78.3) (77.4) — (412.5)

Segment profit 290.5 288.0 310.0 207.2 — 1,095.7 
Depreciation and amortization (123.6) (111.5) (163.1) (87.1) (4.2) (489.5)

Gross margin $ 166.9 $ 176.5 $ 146.9 $ 120.1 $ (4.2) $ 606.2 

Permian Louisiana Oklahoma North Texas Corporate Totals
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022
Total revenues $ 3,069.8 $ 4,807.6 $ 1,269.9 $ 794.9 $ (2,450.4) $ 7,491.8 
Cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and
amortization (2,628.0) (4,425.7) (913.4) (514.0) 2,450.4 (6,030.7)

Adjusted gross margin 441.8 381.9 356.5 280.9 — 1,461.1 
Operating expenses (145.3) (105.4) (67.6) (68.3) — (386.6)

Segment profit 296.5 276.5 288.9 212.6 — 1,074.5 
Depreciation and amortization (110.6) (114.6) (154.7) (90.5) (4.1) (474.5)

Gross margin $ 185.9 $ 161.9 $ 134.2 $ 122.1 $ (4.1) $ 600.0 
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Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022 2023 2022
Midstream Volumes:
Consolidated

Gathering and Transportation (MMbtu/d) 7,095,800 7,316,000 7,064,400 6,724,500 
Processing (MMbtu/d) 3,606,900 3,365,100 3,546,700 3,137,400 
Crude Oil Handling (Bbls/d) 216,600 197,700 201,200 200,800 
NGL Fractionation (Gals/d) 7,593,400 7,930,200 7,600,500 7,953,300 
Brine Disposal (Bbls/d) 3,400 3,000 3,000 3,100 

Permian Segment
Gathering and Transportation (MMbtu/d) 1,840,800 1,596,400 1,752,800 1,480,200 
Processing (MMbtu/d) 1,699,700 1,520,800 1,626,500 1,404,100 
Crude Oil Handling (Bbls/d) 176,100 157,700 158,100 161,200 

Louisiana Segment
Gathering and Transportation (MMbtu/d) 2,468,900 2,996,100 2,501,900 2,731,900 
Crude Oil Handling (Bbls/d) 18,600 18,500 17,800 17,400 
NGL Fractionation (Gals/d) 7,593,400 7,930,200 7,600,500 7,953,300 
Brine Disposal (Bbls/d) 3,400 3,000 3,000 3,100 

Oklahoma Segment
Gathering and Transportation (MMbtu/d) 1,223,000 1,036,400 1,218,600 1,017,600 
Processing (MMbtu/d) 1,178,200 1,067,600 1,182,400 1,048,400 
Crude Oil Handling (Bbls/d) 21,900 21,500 25,300 22,200 

North Texas Segment
Gathering and Transportation (MMbtu/d) 1,563,100 1,687,100 1,591,100 1,494,800 
Processing (MMbtu/d) 729,000 776,700 737,800 684,900 
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Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2022

Revenues and Cost of Sales, Exclusive of Operating Expenses and Depreciation and Amortization.

Our consolidated and segment revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, are from natural gas, NGL, crude oil, and
condensate product sales and purchases, midstream services that we perform on those commodities, and derivative activity. Fluctuations in our consolidated and segment
revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, reflect in large part changes in commodity prices and volumes. Our adjusted gross
margin is not directly affected by the commodity price environment because the commodities that we buy and sell are generally based on the same pricing indices. Both
consolidated and segment product sales revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, will fluctuate with market prices;
however, the adjusted gross margin related to those sales and purchases will not necessarily have a corresponding increase or decrease. Additionally, fluctuations in these
measures from changes in commodity prices may be offset by gains or losses from derivative instruments that we use to manage our exposure to commodity price risk
associated with such sales and purchases.

Total revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $917.3 million and $886.4 million, respectively, for the three
months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 due to the following:

• Product sales revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $896.3 million and $886.4 million, respectively,
for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 primarily due to lower commodity prices in 2023.

• Revenues from midstream services increased $21.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022
primarily due to higher processing volumes in 2023. Of these higher volumes in 2023, $5.2 million was related to contributions from acquisitions completed during
2022.

• Derivative losses increased $42.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022 due to $1.4 million of
decreased realized gains and $41.1 million of increased unrealized losses.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses increased $6.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022
primarily due to a $5.4 million increase in compressor rentals, a $1.3 million increase in labor and benefits costs, a $1.2 million increase in materials and supplies expense, a
$0.9 million increase in pipeline integrity compliance costs, a $0.8 million increase in construction fees and services, and a $0.7 million increase in consulting fees and services.
These increases were partially offset by a $2.5 million decrease in utilities expense and a $2.4 million decrease in ad valorem taxes.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased $1.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2022 primarily due to a $6.5 million increase resulting from changes in estimated useful lives, a $3.7 million increase due to additional assets placed in service,
and a $1.1 million increase related to the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in December 2022. These increases were partially offset by a $9.9 million decrease in depreciation
related to assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

Impairments. For the three months ended September 30, 2023, we recognized an impairment expense of $20.7 million due to changes in our future cash flow outlook and
the expected use of certain ORV crude assets in our Louisiana segment.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $30.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $34.5 million
for the three months ended September 30, 2022, a decrease of $4.1 million. The decrease was primarily due to a $5.5 million decrease in unit-based compensation and a $2.6
million decrease in consulting fees and services. The decrease was partially offset by a $3.2 million increase in losses related to an increase in the estimated fair value of the
contingent consideration associated with the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition and the Central Oklahoma Acquisition, in addition to a $1.4 million increase in labor and benefits.
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Interest Expense, Net of Interest Income. Interest expense, net of interest income, was $67.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $60.4
million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $7.5 million. Interest expense, net of interest income, consisted of the following (in millions): 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022
ENLK and ENLC senior notes $ 58.8 $ 51.5 
Revolving Credit Facility 4.0 4.4 
AR Facility 5.2 3.6 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and net discount of senior unsecured notes 1.6 1.1 
Interest rate swaps – realized (1.4) — 
Other (0.3) (0.2)

Interest expense, net of interest income $ 67.9 $ 60.4 

Income (Loss) from Unconsolidated Affiliate Investments. Income from unconsolidated affiliate investments was $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30,
2023 compared to a loss of $1.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, an increase in income of $2.7 million. The increase in income was primarily
attributable to a $1.6 million increase in income related to the Matterhorn JV and a $1.1 million increase related to our GCF investment.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense was $10.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to an income tax expense of $15.2 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2022, a decrease in income tax expense of $4.6 million. The decrease in income tax expense was primarily attributable to the decrease in
income between periods. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 7” for additional information.

Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interest. Net income attributable to non-controlling interest was $36.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023
compared to net income of $35.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $0.5 million. ENLC’s non-controlling interest is comprised of Series B
Preferred Units, Series C Preferred Units, NGP’s 49.9% share of the Delaware Basin JV, and Marathon Petroleum Corporation’s 50% share of the Ascension JV. The increase
in income was primarily due to a $3.3 million increase in income attributable to the Series C Preferred Units and a $0.6 million increase attributable to Marathon Petroleum
Corporation’s 50% share of the Ascension JV. These increases were partially offset by a $3.1 million decrease in income attributable to NGP’s 49.9% share of the Delaware
Basin JV and a $0.3 million decrease attributable to the Series B Preferred Units.

Analysis of Operating Segments

We manage and report our activities primarily according to the geography and nature of activity. We have five reportable segments: Permian segment, Louisiana segment,
Oklahoma segment, North Texas segment, and Corporate segment. We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on segment profit and adjusted gross margin.
The GAAP measure most directly comparable to adjusted gross margin and segment profit is gross margin. We also believe that investors benefit from having access to the
same financial measures that our management uses to evaluate segment results.

See below for our discussion of segment results for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2022.

• Permian Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $302.4 million and $299.0 million, respectively,
resulting in a decrease in adjusted gross margin in the Permian segment of $3.4 million, which was primarily driven by:

• A $7.9 million decrease in adjusted gross margin associated with our Permian gas assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, increased
$0.1 million, which was primarily due to higher volumes from existing customers. Derivative activity associated with our Permian gas assets decreased
adjusted gross margin by $8.0 million, which included $2.9 million from decreased realized losses and $10.9 million from increased unrealized losses.
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• A $4.5 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Permian crude assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, increased
$12.0 million, which was primarily due to higher commodity prices. Derivative activity associated with our Permian crude assets decreased adjusted gross
margin by $7.5 million, which included $8.6 million from increased realized losses and $1.1 million from decreased unrealized losses.

◦ Operating expenses in the Permian segment increased $5.3 million primarily due to a $3.9 million increase in compressor rentals, a $2.1 million increase in
utilities expense, a $1.5 million increase in materials and supplies expense, and a $1.4 million increase in labor and benefits costs. These increases in operating
expenses were principally due to an increase in operating activity. These increases were offset by a $2.2 million decrease in construction fees and services, a
$1.3 million decrease in ad valorem taxes, and a $1.1 million decrease in sales and use tax.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Permian segment increased $5.3 million primarily due to a $3.7 million increase resulting from additional assets placed in
service and a $1.7 million increase related to the equipment transferred to the Phantom processing facility.

• Louisiana Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $680.3 million and $667.8 million, respectively,
resulting in a decrease in adjusted gross margin in the Louisiana segment of $12.5 million, resulting from:

• No change in adjusted gross margin associated with our Louisiana NGL transmission and fractionation assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative
activity, increased $14.0 million, which was primarily due to fluctuations in market prices. Derivative activity associated with our Louisiana NGL
transmission and fractionation assets decreased adjusted gross margin by $14.0 million, which included $5.1 million from decreased realized gains and
$8.9 million from increased unrealized losses.

• A $9.2 million decrease in adjusted gross margin associated with our Louisiana gas assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, decreased
$11.2 million, which was primarily due to lower commodity prices. Derivative activity associated with our Louisiana gas assets increased adjusted gross
margin by $2.0 million, which included $3.1 million from decreased realized losses and $1.1 million from increased unrealized losses.

• A $3.3 million decrease in adjusted gross margin associated with our ORV crude assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, decreased
$2.0 million, which was primarily due to lower compression fee revenue resulting from the sale of several compressor units in December 2022. Derivative
activity associated with our ORV crude assets decreased adjusted gross margin by $1.3 million from increased realized losses.

◦ Operating expenses in the Louisiana segment decreased $2.6 million primarily due to a $4.5 million decrease in utilities expense, partially offset by a $1.5
million increase in construction fees and services.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Louisiana segment decreased $3.4 million primarily due to a $5.8 million decrease resulting from assets reaching the end
of their depreciable lives, partially offset by a $2.5 million increase in depreciation due to changes in estimated useful lives.
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• Oklahoma Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $155.0 million and $158.2 million, respectively,
resulting in an increase in adjusted gross margin in the Oklahoma segment of $3.2 million, resulting from:

• A $2.1 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Oklahoma gas assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, increased
$15.1 million, which was primarily due to additional volumes from the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in December 2022. Derivative activity associated
with our Oklahoma gas assets decreased adjusted gross margin by $13.0 million, which included $0.6 million from increased realized gains and $13.6
million from increased unrealized losses.

• A $1.1 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Oklahoma crude assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity,
increased $1.4 million, which was primarily due to higher volumes from existing customers. Derivative activity associated with our Oklahoma crude assets
decreased adjusted gross margin by $0.3 million from increased realized losses.

◦ Operating expenses in the Oklahoma segment increased $3.1 million primarily due to a $1.4 million increase in compressor rentals and a $1.1 million increase
in ad valorem taxes. These increases in operating expenses were principally due to an increase in operating activity from the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in
December 2022.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Oklahoma segment increased $3.1 million primarily due to a $4.1 million increase resulting from changes in estimated
useful lives and a $1.1 million increase related to the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in December 2022. These increases were partially offset by a $1.7 million
decrease in depreciation related to the transfer of equipment to the Phantom processing facility.

• North Texas Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $90.9 million and $72.7 million, respectively,
resulting in a decrease in adjusted gross margin in the North Texas segment of $18.2 million. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, decreased
$17.8 million, which was primarily due to lower commodity prices. Derivative activity associated with our North Texas segment decreased adjusted gross
margin by $0.4 million, which included $7.3 million from increased realized gains and $7.7 million from increased unrealized losses.

◦ Operating expenses in the North Texas segment increased $0.7 million primarily due to a $1.5 million increase in construction fees and services, a $0.5 million
increase in pipeline integrity compliance costs, a $0.5 million increase in consulting fees and services, and a $0.4 million increase in compressor overhauls.
These increases were partially offset by a $2.1 million decrease in ad valorem taxes.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the North Texas segment decreased $4.1 million primarily due to assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives.

• Corporate Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, each increased $311.3 million. The corporate segment includes
offsetting eliminations related to intercompany revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Corporate segment increased $0.3 million due to additional assets being placed in service.
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2022

Revenues and Cost of Sales, Exclusive of Operating Expenses and Depreciation and Amortization.

Our consolidated and segment revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, are from natural gas, NGL, crude oil, and
condensate product sales and purchases, midstream services that we perform on those commodities, and derivative activity. Fluctuations in our consolidated and segment
revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, reflect in large part changes in commodity prices and volumes. Our adjusted gross
margin is not directly affected by the commodity price environment because the commodities that we buy and sell are generally based on the same pricing indices. Both
consolidated and segment product sales revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, will fluctuate with market prices;
however, the adjusted gross margin related to those sales and purchases will not necessarily have a corresponding increase or decrease. Additionally, fluctuations in these
measures from changes in commodity prices may be offset by gains or losses from derivative instruments that we use to manage our exposure to commodity price risk
associated with such sales and purchases.

Total revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $2,448.0 million and $2,495.1 million, respectively, for the
nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 due to the following:

• Product sales revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $2,595.1 million and $2,495.1 million,
respectively, for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 primarily due to lower commodity prices in 2023.

• Revenues from midstream services increased $139.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022
primarily due to higher processing volumes in 2023. Of these higher volumes in 2023, $33.7 million was related to contributions from acquisitions completed during
2022.

• Derivative gains increased $7.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 due to $64.8 million of
increased realized gains and $57.4 million of increased unrealized losses.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses increased $25.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022
primarily due to a $15.4 million increase in compressor rentals, a $9.0 million increase in materials and supplies expense, a $6.6 million increase in labor and benefits costs, a
$3.5 million increase in utilities expense, and a $2.4 million increase in compressor overhauls. These increases were partially offset by a $11.4 million decrease in construction
fees and services and a $3.5 million decrease in sales and use tax.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased $15.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2022 primarily due to an $18.0 million increase resulting from changes in estimated useful lives, an $8.1 million increase due to additional assets placed in
service, a $5.5 million increase related to the Barnett Shale Acquisition in July 2022, and a $3.1 million increase related to the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in December
2022. These increases were partially offset by a $19.1 million decrease in depreciation related to assets reaching the end of their depreciable lives and a $0.5 million decrease
related to the sale of several compressor units associated with our ORV assets in December 2022.

Impairments. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we recognized an impairment expense of $20.7 million due to changes in our future cash flow outlook and
the expected use of certain ORV crude assets in our Louisiana segment.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $87.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $91.9 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, a decrease of $4.1 million. The decrease was primarily due to an $8.0 million decrease in unit-based compensation and a $2.4
million decrease in consulting fees and services. The decrease was partially offset by a $3.8 million increase in losses related to an increase in the estimated fair value of the
contingent consideration associated with the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition and the Central Oklahoma Acquisition, in addition to a $2.8 million increase in labor and benefits.
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Interest Expense. Interest expense was $205.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $171.0 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2022, an increase of $34.2 million. Interest expense consisted of the following (in millions): 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022
ENLK and ENLC senior notes $ 171.4 $ 152.1 
Revolving Credit Facility 15.8 8.9 
AR Facility 16.9 6.4 
Amortization of debt issuance costs and net discount of senior unsecured notes 4.9 3.7 
Interest rate swaps – realized (3.0) 0.1 
Other (0.8) (0.2)

Interest expense, net of interest income $ 205.2 $ 171.0 

Income (Loss) from Unconsolidated Affiliate Investments. Loss from unconsolidated affiliate investments was $3.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to a loss of $4.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, a decrease in loss of $0.3 million. The decrease in loss was primarily attributable to a $0.8
million decrease in loss related to the Matterhorn JV. This decrease was partially offset by a $0.4 million increase in loss related to the Cedar Cove JV and a $0.1 million
increase in loss related to our GCF investment.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense was $40.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to an income tax expense of $17.1 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2022, an increase in income tax expense of $23.4 million. The increase in income tax expense was primarily attributable to reduced income
tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 due to the changes in the valuation allowance recorded on our deferred tax assets. See “Item 1. Financial Statements
—Note 7” for additional information.

Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interest. Net income attributable to non-controlling interest was $107.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023
compared to net income of $105.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, an increase of $2.7 million. ENLC’s non-controlling interest is comprised of Series B
Preferred Units, Series C Preferred Units, NGP’s 49.9% share of the Delaware Basin JV, and Marathon Petroleum Corporation’s 50% share of the Ascension JV. The increase
in income was primarily due to an $8.4 million increase in income attributable to the Series C Preferred Units. The increase was partially offset by a $3.5 million decrease in
income attributable to NGP’s 49.9% share of the Delaware Basin JV, a $1.7 million decrease attributable to the Series B Preferred Units, and a $0.5 million decrease
attributable to Marathon Petroleum Corporation’s 50% share of the Ascension JV.

Analysis of Operating Segments

We manage and report our activities primarily according to the geography and nature of activity. We have five reportable segments: Permian segment, Louisiana segment,
Oklahoma segment, North Texas segment, and Corporate segment. We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on segment profit and adjusted gross margin.
The GAAP measure most directly comparable to adjusted gross margin and segment profit is gross margin. We also believe that investors benefit from having access to the
same financial measures that our management uses to evaluate segment results.

See below for our discussion of segment results for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022.

• Permian Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $1,081.8 million and $1,086.7 million, respectively,
resulting in an increase in adjusted gross margin in the Permian segment of $4.9 million, which was primarily driven by:

• A $0.5 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Permian gas assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, increased
$1.0 million, which was primarily due to higher volumes from existing customers. Derivative activity associated with our Permian gas assets decreased
adjusted gross margin by $0.5 million, which included $18.2 million from increased realized gains and $18.7 million from increased unrealized losses.

54



Table of Contents

• A $4.4 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Permian crude assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, increased
$13.6 million, which was primarily due to higher commodity prices. Derivative activity associated with our Permian crude assets decreased adjusted gross
margin by $9.2 million, which included $9.9 million from increased realized losses and $0.7 million from increased unrealized gains.

◦ Operating expenses in the Permian segment increased $10.9 million primarily due to a $9.4 million increase in compressor rentals, a $7.4 million increase in
utilities expense, a $3.6 million increase in labor and benefits costs, a $3.6 million increase in materials and supplies expense, and a $2.0 million increase in
compressor overhauls. These increases in operating expenses were principally due to an increase in operating activity. These increases were offset by a $12.8
million decrease in construction fees and services, a $2.2 million decrease in sales and use tax, and a $2.2 million decrease in ad valorem taxes.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Permian segment increased $13.0 million primarily due to a $8.1 million increase resulting from additional assets placed
in service and a $5.0 million increase related to the equipment transferred to the Phantom processing facility.

• Louisiana Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $1,880.1 million and $1,886.8 million, respectively,
resulting in an increase in adjusted gross margin in the Louisiana segment of $6.7 million, resulting from:

• A $10.9 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Louisiana NGL transmission and fractionation assets. Adjusted gross margin,
excluding derivative activity, increased $21.0 million, which was primarily due to fluctuations in market prices. Derivative activity associated with our
Louisiana NGL transmission and fractionation assets decreased adjusted gross margin by $10.1 million, which included $1.4 million from decreased
realized gains and $8.7 million from increased unrealized losses.

• An $8.2 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Louisiana gas assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, increased
$1.6 million, which was primarily due to a settlement payment resulting from a customer account dispute in the amount of $6.8 million. This increase was
partially offset by a $5.2 million decrease primarily due to lower commodity prices. Derivative activity associated with our Louisiana gas assets increased
adjusted gross margin by $6.6 million, which included $4.9 million from decreased realized losses and $1.7 million from increased unrealized gains.

• A $12.4 million decrease in adjusted gross margin associated with our ORV crude assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, decreased
$14.1 million, which was primarily due to lower compression fee revenue resulting from the sale of several compressor units in December 2022.
Derivative activity associated with our ORV crude assets increased adjusted gross margin by $1.7 million from increased realized gains.

◦ Operating expenses in the Louisiana segment decreased $4.8 million primarily due to a $5.6 million decrease in utilities expense, partially offset by a $0.9
million increase in construction fees and services.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Louisiana segment decreased $3.1 million primarily due to a $10.1 million decrease resulting from assets reaching the end
of their depreciable lives and a $0.5 million decrease related to the sale of several compressor units associated with our ORV assets in December 2022. These
decreases were partially offset by a $7.5 million increase in depreciation due to changes in estimated useful lives.
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• Oklahoma Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $400.0 million and $431.8 million, respectively,
resulting in an increase in adjusted gross margin in the Oklahoma segment of $31.8 million, resulting from:

• A $29.3 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Oklahoma gas assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity,
increased $20.0 million, which was primarily due to additional volumes from the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in December 2022. Derivative activity
associated with our Oklahoma gas assets increased adjusted gross margin by $9.3 million, which included $23.4 million from increased realized gains and
$14.1 million from increased unrealized losses.

• A $2.5 million increase in adjusted gross margin associated with our Oklahoma crude assets. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity,
increased $2.2 million, which was primarily due to higher volumes from existing customers. Derivative activity associated with our Oklahoma crude assets
increased adjusted gross margin by $0.3 million from increased realized gains.

◦ Operating expenses in the Oklahoma segment increased $10.7 million primarily due to a $5.4 million increase in compressor rentals, a $3.1 million increase in
ad valorem taxes, a $1.9 million increase in materials and supplies expense, a $1.8 million increase in labor and benefits costs, and a $1.3 million increase in
utilities expense. These increases in operating expenses were principally due to an increase in operating activity from the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in
December 2022. The increase was partially offset by a $2.5 million decrease in construction fees and services and a $0.6 million decrease in compressor
overhauls.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Oklahoma segment increased $8.4 million primarily due to a $10.5 million increase resulting from changes in estimated
useful lives and a $3.1 million increase related to the Central Oklahoma Acquisition in December 2022. These increases were partially offset by a $5.0 million
decrease in depreciation related to the transfer of equipment to the Phantom processing facility.

• North Texas Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased $251.4 million and $255.1 million, respectively,
resulting in an increase in adjusted gross margin in the North Texas segment of $3.7 million. Adjusted gross margin, excluding derivative activity, decreased
$5.6 million, which was primarily due to lower market prices. Derivative activity associated with our North Texas segment increased adjusted gross margin by
$9.3 million, which included $27.6 million from increased realized gains and $18.3 million from increased unrealized losses.

◦ Operating expenses in the North Texas segment increased $9.1 million primarily due to a $2.9 million increase in materials and supplies expense, a $2.8 million
increase in construction fees and services, a $1.4 million increase in labor and benefits costs, a $0.7 million increase in compressor rentals, a $0.7 million
increase in utilities expense, a $0.6 million increase in pipeline integrity compliance costs, and a $0.6 million increase in compressor overhauls. These increases
in operating expenses were principally due to an increase in operating activity from the Barnett Shale Acquisition in July 2022. These increases were partially
offset by a $1.0 million decrease in sales and use tax and a $0.7 million decrease in ad valorem taxes.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the North Texas segment decreased $3.4 million primarily due to a $9.1 million decrease resulting from assets reaching the
end of their depreciable lives, which was partially offset by a $5.5 million increase in depreciation related to the Barnett Shale Acquisition in July 2022.

• Corporate Segment.

◦ Revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, each increased $1,165.3 million. The corporate segment
includes offsetting eliminations related to intercompany revenues and cost of sales, exclusive of operating expenses and depreciation and amortization.

◦ Depreciation and amortization in the Corporate segment increased $0.1 million due to additional assets placed in service.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Information regarding our critical accounting policies is included in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows from Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities was $862.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $825.9
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Operating cash flows before working capital and changes in working capital for the comparative periods were as follows
(in millions): 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2023 2022
Operating cash flows before working capital $ 841.9 $ 825.4 
Changes in working capital 20.1 0.5 

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital increased $16.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2022. The primary contributor to the increase in operating cash flows before working capital is as follows:

• Gross margin, excluding depreciation and amortization, non-cash commodity derivative activity, utility credits redeemed or earned, and unit-based compensation,
increased $48.9 million. The increase in gross margin is due to a $102.6 million increase in adjusted gross margin, excluding non-cash commodity derivative activity,
which was partially offset by a $53.7 million increase in operating expenses, excluding utility credits redeemed or earned and unit-based compensation. For more
information regarding the changes in gross margin for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022, see “Results
of Operations.”

The increase in operating cash flows were partially offset by the following:

• Interest expense, net of interest income, excluding amortization of debt issue costs and net discounts, increased $33.0 million.

• General and administrative expenses, excluding unit-based compensation, increased $4.0 million.

The changes in working capital for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2022 were primarily due to fluctuations
in trade receivable and payable balances due to timing of collection and payments, changes in inventory balances attributable to normal operating fluctuations, and fluctuations
in accrued revenue and accrued cost of sales.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $373.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $547.0 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Our primary investing activities consisted of the following (in millions):

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
 2023 2022
Additions to property and equipment (1) $ (320.9) $ (213.2)
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliate investments (2) (58.4) (46.3)
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (3) — (289.5)

____________________________
(1) The increase in capital expenditures was due to expansion projects to accommodate increased volumes on our systems.
(2) Represents contributions to the Matterhorn JV and GCF. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 10” for more information regarding the contributions to unconsolidated affiliate

investments.
(3) Represents cash paid for the Barnett Shale Acquisition in July 2022.
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $463.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $305.1 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2022. Our primary financing activities consisted of the following (in millions):

 
Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 2023 2022
Net borrowings (repayments) on the AR Facility (1) $ (208.0) $ 150.0 
Net borrowings (repayments) on the Revolving Credit Facility (1) (95.0) 55.0 
Net borrowings on ENLC’s senior unsecured notes (1) 297.0 700.0 
Net repurchases of ENLK’s senior unsecured notes — (738.5)
Payment of installment payable for Amarillo Rattler Acquisition (2) — (10.0)
Payment of inactive easement commitment — (10.0)
Distributions to members (178.6) (167.4)
Distributions to Series B Preferred Unitholders (3) (47.8) (53.1)
Distributions to Series C Preferred Unitholders (3) (26.4) (12.0)
Distributions to joint venture partners (4) (58.0) (50.3)
Payment to redeem mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest (5) (10.5) — 
Redemption of Series B Preferred Units (3) — (50.5)
Repurchase of Series C Preferred Units (3) (3.9) — 
Contributions from non-controlling interests (6) 51.5 14.2 
Common unit repurchases (7) (162.4) (113.2)
Conversion of unit-based awards for common units, net of units withheld for taxes (19.3) (12.5)

____________________________
(1) See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 6” for more information regarding the AR Facility, the Revolving Credit Facility, and the additional sale of ENLC’s 6.50% senior unsecured

notes due 2030 in April 2023.
(2) Consideration for the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition included an installment payable, which was paid on April 30, 2022.
(3) See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 8” for information on distributions to holders of the Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units and information on the partial

redemption of the Series B Preferred Units and the repurchase of the Series C Preferred Units.
(4) Represents distributions to NGP for its ownership in the Delaware Basin JV and distributions to Marathon Petroleum Corporation for its ownership in the Ascension JV.
(5) In January 2023, we settled the redemption of the mandatorily redeemable non-controlling interest in one of our non-wholly owned subsidiaries. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note

2” for more information regarding the redemption.
(6) Represents contributions from NGP to the Delaware Basin JV.
(7) See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 9” for more information regarding our common unit repurchase program.

58



Table of Contents

Capital Requirements

As of September 30, 2023, the following table summarizes our expected remaining capital requirements for 2023 (in millions):

Capital expenditures, net to ENLC (1) $ 103 
Operating expenses associated with the relocation of processing facilities, net to ENLC (2)(3) 12 
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliate investments (4) 17 

Total $ 132 

____________________________
(1) Excludes capital expenditures that are contributed by other entities and relate to the non-controlling interest share of our consolidated entities.
(2) Represents cost incurred to execute discrete, project-based strategic initiatives aimed at realigning available processing capacity from our Oklahoma and North Texas segments to the

Permian segment. These costs are not part of our ongoing operations. These costs exclude amounts that are contributed by other entities and relate to the non-controlling interest share of
our consolidated entities.

(3) Excludes a one-time $8.0 million contribution from an affiliate of NGP in May 2023 in connection with the Delaware Basin JV’s purchase of the Cowtown processing plant.
(4) Includes contributions made to our GCF investment and the Matterhorn JV.

Our primary remaining capital projects for 2023 include the relocation of the Cowtown processing plant, CCS-related initiatives, contributions to unconsolidated affiliate
investments, including the restart of GCF, continued development of our existing systems through well connects, and other low-cost development projects. We expect to fund
our remaining 2023 capital requirements from operating cash flows.

It is possible that not all of our planned projects will be commenced or completed. Our ability to pay distributions to our unitholders, to fund planned capital expenditures,
to make contributions to unconsolidated affiliate investments, and to make acquisitions will depend upon our future operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing
economic conditions in the industry, financial, business, and other factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of September 30, 2023.
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Total Contractual Cash Obligations. A summary of our total contractual cash obligations as of September 30, 2023 is as follows (in millions):
 Payments Due by Period

 Total
Remainder
2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter

ENLC’s & ENLK’s senior
unsecured notes $ 4,309.2 $ — $ 97.9 $ 421.6 $ 491.0 $ — $ 3,298.7 

Revolving Credit Facility (1) 160.0 — — — — 160.0 — 
AR Facility (1) 292.0 — — 292.0 — — — 
Interest payable on fixed long-

term debt obligations (1) 2,395.4 35.8 233.0 222.1 213.3 189.5 1,501.7 
Acquisition contingent

consideration (2) 6.7 — 0.2 1.2 5.0 0.3 — 
Repurchase of ENLC common

units held by GIP (3) 23.0 23.0 — — — — — 
Operating lease obligations 108.3 8.0 23.9 16.6 9.2 8.2 42.4 
Purchase obligations 13.0 13.0 — — — — — 
Pipeline and trucking capacity

and deficiency agreements (4) 941.3 22.3 85.3 113.2 100.1 88.0 532.4 
Total contractual obligations $ 8,248.9 $ 102.1 $ 440.3 $ 1,066.7 $ 818.6 $ 446.0 $ 5,375.2 

____________________________
(1) The interest payable related to the Revolving Credit Facility and the AR Facility is not reflected in the table because such amounts depend on the outstanding balances and interest rates of

the Revolving Credit Facility and the AR Facility, which vary from time to time. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 6” for more information regarding the Revolving Credit Facility
and the AR Facility.

(2) The estimated fair value of the contingent consideration for the Amarillo Rattler Acquisition and the Central Oklahoma Acquisition was calculated in accordance with the fair value
guidance contained in ASC 820. There are a number of assumptions and estimates factored into these fair values and actual contingent consideration payments could differ from these
estimated fair values. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 13” for additional information.

(3) Relates to the repurchase of ENLC common units held by GIP on October 30, 2023. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 9” for more information.
(4) Consists of pipeline capacity payments for firm transportation and deficiency agreements.

The above table does not include any physical or financial contract purchase commitments for natural gas and NGLs due to the nature of both the price and volume
components of such purchases, which vary on a daily or monthly basis. Additionally, we do not have contractual commitments for fixed price and/or fixed quantities of any
material amount that is not already disclosed in the table above.

Our contractual cash obligations for the remainder of 2023 are expected to be funded from cash flows generated from our operations.
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Indebtedness

Revolving Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2023, there were $160.0 million in outstanding borrowings and $29.6 million in outstanding letters of credit under the
Revolving Credit Facility.

AR Facility. As of September 30, 2023, the AR Facility had a borrowing base of $443.4 million and there were $292.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the AR
Facility. In connection with the AR Facility, certain subsidiaries of ENLC sold and contributed, and will continue to sell or contribute, their accounts receivable to the SPV to be
held as collateral for borrowings under the AR Facility. The SPV’s assets are not available to satisfy the obligations of ENLC or any of its affiliates.

Senior Unsecured Notes. As of September 30, 2023, we had $4.3 billion in aggregate principal amount of outstanding unsecured senior notes maturing from 2024 to 2047,
of which $97.9 million matures on April 1, 2024 and is classified as “Current maturities of long-term debt” on the consolidated balance sheet.

Guarantees. The amounts outstanding on our senior unsecured notes and the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed in full by our subsidiary ENLK, including 105% of
any letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. ENLK’s guarantees of these amounts are full, irrevocable, unconditional, and absolute, and cover all
payment obligations arising under the senior unsecured notes and the Revolving Credit Facility. Liabilities under the guarantees rank equally in right of payment with all
existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness of ENLK.

ENLC’s assets consist of all of the outstanding common units of ENLK and all of the membership interests of the General Partner. Other than these equity interests, all of
our assets and operations are held by our non-guarantor operating subsidiaries. ENLK, directly and indirectly, owns all of these non-guarantor operating subsidiaries, which in
some cases are joint ventures that are partially owned by a third party. As a result, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of ENLK are not materially different than the
corresponding amounts presented in our consolidated financial statements.

As of September 30, 2023, ENLC records, on a stand-alone basis, transactions that do not occur at ENLK, which are primarily related to the taxation of ENLC and the
elimination of intercompany borrowings.

See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 6” for more information on our outstanding debt.

Inflation

Inflation in the United States increased significantly in 2022 and has continued to increase at a more modest pace through the third quarter of 2023. See “Item 2.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Recent Developments Affecting Industry Conditions and Our Business—Inflation”
for more information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

We have reviewed recently issued accounting pronouncements that became effective during the three months ended September 30, 2023 and have determined that none
had a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.
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Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Although these statements reflect the current

views, assumptions and expectations of our management, the matters addressed herein involve certain assumptions, risks and uncertainties that could cause actual activities,
performance, outcomes and results to differ materially from those indicated herein. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. All statements,
other than statements of historical fact, included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q constitute forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements
identified by the words “forecast,” “may,” “believe,” “will,” “should,” “plan,” “predict,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “expect,” “continue,” and similar expressions. Such
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about future results and growth of our CCS business, expected financial and operational results associated
with certain projects, acquisitions or growth capital expenditures, timing for completion of construction or expansion projects, results in certain basins, profitability, financial or
leverage metrics, cost savings or operational, environmental and climate change initiatives, our future capital structure and credit ratings, objectives, strategies, expectations,
and intentions, the impact of weather related events on us and our financial results and operations, and other statements that are not historical facts. Factors that could result in
such differences or otherwise materially affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows, include, without limitation, (a) potential conflicts of interest of GIP
with us and the potential for GIP to favor GIP’s own interests to the detriment of our unitholders, (b) GIP’s ability to compete with us and the fact that it is not required to offer
us the opportunity to acquire additional assets or businesses, (c) a default under GIP’s credit facility could result in a change in control of us, could adversely affect the price of
our common units, and could result in a default or prepayment event under our credit facility and certain of our other debt, (d) the dependence on key customers for a substantial
portion of the natural gas and crude that we gather, process, and transport, (e) developments that materially and adversely affect our key customers or other customers, (f)
adverse developments in the midstream business that may reduce our ability to make distributions, (g) competition for crude oil, condensate, natural gas, and NGL supplies and
any decrease in the availability of such commodities, (h) decreases in the volumes that we gather, process, fractionate, or transport, (i) increasing scrutiny and changing
expectations from stakeholders with respect to our environment, social, and governance practices, (j) our ability to receive or renew required permits and other approvals, (k)
increased federal, state, and local legislation, and regulatory initiatives, as well as government reviews relating to hydraulic fracturing resulting in increased costs and reductions
or delays in natural gas production by our customers, (l) climate change legislation and regulatory initiatives resulting in increased operating costs and reduced demand for the
natural gas and NGL services we provide, (m) changes in the availability and cost of capital, (n) volatile prices and market demand for crude oil, condensate, natural gas, and
NGLs that are beyond our control, (o) our debt levels could limit our flexibility and adversely affect our financial health or limit our flexibility to obtain financing and to
pursue other business opportunities, (p) operating hazards, natural disasters, weather-related issues or delays, casualty losses, and other matters beyond our control, (q)
reductions in demand for NGL products by the petrochemical, refining, or other industries or by the fuel markets, (r) impairments to goodwill, long-lived assets and equity
method investments, (s) construction risks in our major development projects, (t) challenges we may face in or in connection with our strategy to enter into new lines of business
related to the energy transition, (u) the impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic (including the impact of any new variants of the virus) and similar pandemics, (v) our
ability to effectively integrate and manage assets we acquire through acquisitions, and (w) the effects of existing and future laws and governmental regulations, including
environmental and climate change requirements and other uncertainties. In addition to the specific uncertainties, factors, and risks discussed above and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the risk factors set forth in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the
Commission on February 15, 2023, may affect our performance and results of operations. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or review any
forward-looking statements or information, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Our primary market risk is the risk related to changes in the prices of natural gas,
NGLs, condensate, and crude oil. In addition, we are also exposed to the risk of changes in interest rates on floating rate debt.

Comprehensive financial reform legislation was signed into law by the President on July 21, 2010. The legislation calls for the CFTC to regulate certain markets for
derivative products, including OTC derivatives. The CFTC has issued several relevant regulations, and other rulemakings are pending at the CFTC, the product of which would
be rules that implement the mandates in the legislation to cause significant portions of derivatives markets to clear through clearinghouses. While some of these rules have been
finalized, some have not, and, as a result, the final form and timing of the implementation of the regulatory regime affecting commodity derivatives remains uncertain.

The legislation and potential new regulations may also require counterparties to our derivative instruments to spin off or result in such counterparties spinning off some of
their derivative activities to separate entities, which may not be as creditworthy as the current counterparties. The legislation and any new regulations could significantly
increase the cost of derivative contracts, materially alter the terms of derivative contracts, reduce the availability of derivatives to protect against risks we encounter, reduce our
ability to monetize or restructure our existing derivative contracts, and increase our exposure to less creditworthy counterparties. If we reduce our use of derivatives as a result
of the legislation and regulations, our results of operations may become more volatile and our cash flows may be less predictable, which could adversely affect our ability to
plan for and fund capital expenditures and to generate sufficient cash flow to pay quarterly distributions at current levels or at all. Our revenues could be adversely affected if a
consequence of the legislation and regulations is to lower commodity prices. Any of these consequences could have a material, adverse effect on us, our financial condition, and
our results of operations.

Commodity Price Risk

We are also subject to direct risks due to fluctuations in commodity prices. While approximately 90% of our adjusted gross margin for the nine months ended
September 30, 2023 was generated from arrangements with fee-based structures with minimal direct commodity price exposure, the remainder is subject to more direct
commodity price exposure. Our exposure to these commodity price fluctuations is primarily in the gas processing component of our business. For more information regarding
our main types of contractual arrangements, see “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.

Our primary commodity risk management objective is to reduce volatility in our cash flows. We maintain a risk management committee, including members of senior
management, which oversees all hedging activity. We enter into hedges for natural gas, crude and condensate, and NGLs using OTC derivative financial instruments with only
certain well-capitalized counterparties, which have been approved in accordance with our commodity risk management policy.

 
We have hedged our exposure to fluctuations in prices for natural gas, NGLs, and crude oil volumes produced for our account. We have tailored our hedges to generally

match the product composition and the delivery points to those of our physical equity volumes. The hedges cover specific products based upon our expected equity
composition.
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Commodity derivatives are used both to manage and hedge price and location risk related to these market exposures and to manage margins on offsetting fixed-price
purchase or sale commitments for physical quantities of NGLs, natural gas, crude, and condensate.

The following table sets forth information related to derivative instruments outstanding at September 30, 2023.

Period Underlying
Notional Volume

(Net Position) Reference Price Price Range

Net Fair Value 
Asset/(Liability) 

(In Millions)
October 2023 - October 2023 Ethane (1.1) MMgals OPIS Mt Belvieu $0.29 - $0.29/Gal $ — 
October 2023 - September 2024 Propane (90.8) MMgals OPIS Mt Belvieu $0.61 - $0.95/Gal 4.4 
October 2023 - September 2024 Normal Butane (20.0) MMgals OPIS Mt Belvieu $0.71 - $0.97/Gal (1.1)
October 2023 - December 2023 Natural Gasoline (1.3) MMgals NYMEX WTI Average $1.49 - $2.16/Gal (0.1)

October 2023 - September 2024
Natural Gasoline &
Condensate 69.9 MMgals

OPIS Mt Belvieu and
NYMEX WTI Average
differential ($0.33) - ($0.24)/Gal (6.0)

October 2023 - January 2028 Natural Gas (10.2) Bbtu NYMEX Henry Hub $2.48 - $6.19/MMbtu 13.6 
October 2023 - December 2024 Natural Gas (1.1) Bbtu Waha basis differential ($3.02) - ($0.22)/MMbtu (3.5)
October 2023 - October 2023 Natural Gas (1.4) Bbtu Henry Hub Gas Daily $2.76 - $2.76/MMbtu — 
October 2023 - October 2023 Natural Gas (0.1) Bbtu NGPL TEXOK Gas Daily $2.29 - $2.29/MMbtu — 
November 2023 - September 2024 Crude & Condensate (0.6) MMbbls NYMEX WTI $69.77 - $94.00/Bbl (2.2)

January 2024 - December 2025 Crude & Condensate (7.2) MMbbls
WTI-Houston and Midland
basis differential $0.70 - $0.90/Bbl 1.6

Total fair value of commodity derivatives $ 6.7 

Another price risk we face is the risk of mismatching volumes of gas bought or sold on a monthly price versus volumes bought or sold on a daily price. We enter each
month with a balanced book of natural gas bought and sold on the same basis. However, it is normal to experience fluctuations in the volumes of natural gas bought or sold
under either basis, which leaves us with short or long positions that must be covered. We use financial swaps to mitigate the exposure at the time it is created to maintain a
balanced position.

 
The use of financial instruments may expose us to the risk of financial loss in certain circumstances, including instances when (1) sales volumes are less than expected

requiring market purchases to meet commitments or (2) counterparties fail to purchase the contracted quantities of natural gas or otherwise fail to perform. To the extent that we
engage in hedging activities, we may be prevented from realizing the benefits of favorable price changes in the physical market. However, we are similarly insulated against
unfavorable changes in such prices.

 
As of September 30, 2023, our outstanding commodity derivative instruments had a net fair value asset of $6.7 million. The aggregate effect of a hypothetical 10% change,

increase or decrease, in gas, crude and condensate, and NGL prices would result in a change of approximately $23.7 million in the net fair value of these contracts as of
September 30, 2023. 
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Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk on the Revolving Credit Facility and the AR Facility. Amounts drawn on the Revolving Credit Facility and the AR Facility bear interest
at rates based on SOFR. At September 30, 2023, we had $160.0 million in outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and $292.0 million in outstanding
borrowings under the AR Facility.

In January 2023, we entered into a $400.0 million interest rate swap to reduce the variability of cash outflows associated with interest payments related to our long-term
debt with variable interest rates. This swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 12” for more information on our outstanding
derivatives.

A 1.0% increase or decrease in interest rates would change our annualized interest expense by approximately $1.6 million and $2.9 million for the Revolving Credit Facility
and the AR Facility, respectively, based on our outstanding borrowings at September 30, 2023. This change in interest expense would be partially offset by a $4.0 million
change in the opposite direction due to our open interest rate swap hedge.

We are not exposed to changes in interest rates with respect to ENLK’s senior unsecured notes due in 2024, 2025, 2026, 2044, 2045, or 2047 or our senior unsecured notes
due in 2028, 2029, and 2030 as these are fixed-rate obligations. As of September 30, 2023, the estimated fair value of the senior unsecured notes was approximately $3,879.2
million, based on the market prices of ENLK’s and our publicly traded debt at September 30, 2023. Market risk is estimated as the potential decrease in fair value of our long-
term debt resulting from a hypothetical increase of 1.0% in interest rates. Such an increase in interest rates would result in an approximate $215.3 million decrease in fair value
of the senior unsecured notes at September 30, 2023. See “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 6” for more information on our outstanding indebtedness.

Prior to December 15, 2022, distributions on ENLK’s Series C Preferred Units were based on a fixed interest rate. Beginning with the interest period which commenced on
December 15, 2022, distributions on ENLK’s Series C Preferred Units were based on a floating rate tied to LIBOR plus a spread of 4.11%. As a result of the floating rate, the
amount paid by ENLK for distributions became more sensitive to changes in interest rates. Beginning with the interest period which commenced on September 15, 2023,
distributions are based on the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR (“Term SOFR”), plus a Term SOFR spread adjustment of 0.26161%, plus a spread of 4.11%. See “Item
1. Financial Statements—Note 8” for more information regarding distributions with respect to the Series C Preferred Units.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management of the Managing Member is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting and for the assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for us. We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Managing Member, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered
by this report pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of
the end of the period covered by this report (September 30, 2023), our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time period specified in the
applicable rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to
allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.

b. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the three months ended September 30, 2023 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various litigation and administrative proceedings arising in the normal course of business. For a discussion of certain litigation and similar proceedings,
please refer to Note 16, “Commitments and Contingencies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
which is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Information about risk factors does not differ materially from that set forth in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022 filed with the Commission on February 15, 2023.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, we re-acquired ENLC common units from certain employees in order to satisfy the employees’ tax liability in
connection with the vesting of unit-based awards and we repurchased common units in open market transactions and from GIP in connection with our common unit repurchase
program.

Period
Total Number of Units

Purchased (1)
Average Price Paid

Per Unit

Total Number of Units Purchased as
Part of Publicly Announced Plans or

Programs (2)

Maximum Dollar Value of Units
that May Yet Be Purchased under
the Plans or Programs (in millions)

(2)
July 1, 2023 to July 31, 2023 3,559,953 $ 10.22 3,486,076 $ 57.6 
August 1, 2023 to August 31, 2023 902,241 11.95 766,898 $ 48.5 
September 1, 2023 to September 30, 2023 763,619 12.59 763,619 $ 38.8 

Total 5,225,813 $ 10.87 5,016,593 

____________________________
(1) The total number of units purchased shown in the table includes 209,220 ENLC common units received by us from employees for the payment of personal income tax withholding on

vesting transactions.
(2) In December 2022, the Board reauthorized our common unit repurchase program for 2023 and set the amount available for repurchases of outstanding common units during 2023 at up to

$200.0 million. Future repurchases under the program may be made from time to time in open market or private transactions and may be made pursuant to a trading plan meeting the
requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act. The repurchases will depend on market conditions and may be discontinued at any time. For more information regarding common
units repurchased from public unitholders and our repurchase of common units held by GIP, see “Item 1. Financial Statements—Note 9.”

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosure Pursuant to Item 1.01 of Form 8-K – Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On October 26, 2023, in connection with the amendment and restatement of the limited partnership agreement of ENLK, as described under “Item 1. Financial Statements
—Note 8,” ENLC and each of Patton BIP HoldCo I LLC, Patton BIP HoldCo II LLC and OCM ENLK Holdings, LLC, the holders of all outstanding Series B Preferred Units as
of the date of such agreement, entered into the Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (the “Amended Registration Rights Agreement”). The Amended
Registration Rights Agreement amended the prior Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2019, to, among other things, (i) extend
indefinitely the right of one or more holders of Registrable Securities (as defined in the Amended Registration Rights Agreement) to require ENLC to prepare and file a shelf
registration statement to permit the public resale of Registrable Securities, provided such requesting holder(s) own $10.0 million or more of Registrable Securities, (ii) permit all
other holders of Registrable Securities to be included in any such shelf registration statement and (iii) require each applicable holder to pay its pro rata share of all registration
and related expenses incurred by ENLC in connection with such a shelf registration, a Piggy Back Registration (as defined in the Amended Registration Rights Agreement) and
an Underwritten Offering (as defined in the Amended Registration Rights Agreement), in each case, subject to a maximum amount of $250,000 for any such single transaction.

The foregoing description of the Amended Registration Rights Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Amended Registration Rights Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 10.1 to this report and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Insider Trading Plans

During the three months ended September 30, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K. Upon her departure from the Company as of August 8, 2023, the Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement
entered into by Alaina K. Brooks was terminated.
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Item 6. Exhibits

The exhibits filed as part of this report are as follows (exhibits incorporated by reference are set forth with the name of the registrant, the type of report and registration
number or last date of the period for which it was filed, and the exhibit number in such filing): 

Number Description
3.1 — Certificate of Formation of EnLink Midstream, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the

Commission on November 20, 2013, file No. 333-192419).
3.2 — Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Formation of EnLink Midstream, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 2 to our

Registration Statement on Form S-4, filed with the Commission on January 21, 2014, file No. 333-192419).
3.3 — Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of EnLink Midstream, LLC, dated as of January 25, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to

our Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 25, 2019, filed with the Commission on January 29, 2019, file No. 001-36336).
3.4 — Certificate of Formation of EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.12 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarterly period ended June 30, 2014, filed with the Commission on August 6, 2014, file No. 001-36336).
3.5 — Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Formation of EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.13 to our Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2014, filed with the Commission on August 6, 2014, file No. 001-36336).
3.6 — Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC, dated as of July 18, 2018 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 17, 2018, filed with the Commission on July 23, 2018, file No. 001-36336).
3.7 — Certificate of Formation of EnLink Midstream GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 to EnLink Midstream Partners, LP’s Registration

Statement on Form S-1, file No. 333-97779).
3.8 — Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Formation of EnLink Midstream GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.12 to EnLink Midstream

Partners, LP’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed with the Commission on March 10, 2014, file No. 333-194465).
3.9 — Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of EnLink Midstream GP, LLC, dated as of July 18, 2018 (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 17, 2018, filed with the Commission on July 23, 2018, file No. 001-36366).
3.10 — Certificate of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to EnLink Midstream Partners, LP’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2012, file No. 333-97779).
3.11 — Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to EnLink

Midstream Partners, LP’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2012, filed with the Commission on August 7, 2012, file No.
000-50067).

3.12 — Second Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to EnLink
Midstream Partners, LP’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 6, 2014, filed with the Commission on March 11, 2014, file No. 001-36340).

3.13 — Third Amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to EnLink Midstream
Partners, LP’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 16, 2017, filed with the Commission on June 19, 2017, file No. 001-36340).

3.14 * — Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, dated as of September 8, 2023.
4.1 — Indenture, dated as of August 31, 2022, by and among EnLink Midstream, LLC, as issuer, EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, as guarantor, and Computershare

Trust Company, N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to EnLink Midstream, LLC’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 31, 2022,
file No. 001-36336).

10.1 * — Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2023, by and among EnLink Midstream, LLC, Patton BIP HoldCo I
LLC, Patton BIP HoldCo II LLC and OCM ENLK Holdings, LLC.

22.1 — Subsidiary Guarantors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 22.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the
Commission on February 15, 2023, file No. 001-36336).

31.1 * — Certification of the Principal Executive Officer.
31.2 * — Certification of the Principal Financial Officer.
32.1 * — Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
101 * — The following financial information from EnLink Midstream, LLC's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, formatted in

iXBRL (Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, (ii) Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity for the
three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, June 30, 2023 and 2022, and March 31, 2023 and 2022, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, and (v) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

104 * — Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline iXBRL and included in Exhibit 101).

____________________________
*    Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.

EnLink Midstream, LLC

By: EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC, its managing member

By: /s/ J. PHILIPP ROSSBACH
J. Philipp Rossbach
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

November 1, 2023
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ELEVENTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP OF ENLINK MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP

THIS ELEVENTH AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP OF ENLINK MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP dated as of
September 8, 2023, is entered into by and among EnLink Midstream GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as the General Partner, together with any other Persons
who become Partners in the Partnership or parties hereto as provided herein. In consideration of the covenants, conditions, and agreements contained herein, the parties hereto
hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1    Definitions.

The following definitions shall be for all purposes, unless otherwise clearly indicated to the contrary, applied to the terms used in this Agreement.

“Additional Limited Partner” means a Person admitted to the Partnership as a Limited Partner pursuant to Section 10.3 and who is shown as such on the books and
records of the Partnership.

“Adjusted Capital Account” of a Partner means the Capital Account maintained for such Partner adjusted as provided herein. The balance of an Adjusted Capital
Account at any time is the balance of the Capital Account at such time (a) increased by any amounts that such Partner is obligated at such time to restore under the standards set
by Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(c) (or is deemed obligated to restore under Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-2(g) and 1.704-2(i)(5)) and (b) decreased by (i)
the amount of losses and deductions that are reasonably expected at such time to be allocated to such Partner in subsequent taxable periods of the Partnership under Sections
704(e)(2) and 706(d) of the Code and Treasury Regulation Section 1.751-1(b)(2)(ii), and (ii) the amount of all distributions that are reasonably expected at such time to be made
to such Partner in subsequent taxable periods to the extent they exceed offsetting increases to such Partner’s Capital Account that are reasonably expected to occur during (or
prior to) the taxable period in which such distributions are reasonably expected to be made (other than increases as a result of a minimum gain chargeback pursuant to Section
6.1(d)(i) or 6.1(d)(ii)). The foregoing definition of Adjusted Capital Account is intended to comply with the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) and
shall be interpreted consistently therewith. The “Adjusted Capital Account” in respect of a General Partner Interest, a Common Unit, a Series B Preferred Unit, a Series C
Preferred Unit, or any other Partnership Interest shall be the amount which the Adjusted Capital Account of a Partner would be if such Partnership Interest were the only interest
in the Partnership held by that Partner from and after the date on which such Partnership Interest was first issued.

“Adjusted Series B Issue Price” means $14.625 per Series B Preferred Unit.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is under
common control with, the Person in question. As used herein, the term “control” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.

“Agreed Allocation” means any allocation, other than a Required Allocation, of an item of income, gain, loss, or deduction pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.1.

“Agreed Value” of any item of property means the fair market value of such item of property as determined by the General Partner using such reasonable method of
valuation as it may adopt. The General Partner shall, in its discretion, use such method as it deems reasonable and appropriate to allocate the aggregate Agreed Value of one or
more properties that are contributed to the Partnership in a single or integrated transaction among each separate property on a basis proportional to the fair market value of each
such item of property.

“Agreement” means this Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, as it may be amended, supplemented,
or restated from time to time.
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“Applicable Period” means, with respect to determining the amount of Available Cash for distribution to (a) the Unitholders, any Quarter, month, or other period, as
applicable, ending prior to the Liquidation Date as determined by the General Partner, provided that, with respect to any distribution made during any such other period, the
Partnership shall make appropriate provision to pay the Series B Quarterly Distribution for the Quarter in which such other period is within, and (b) the holders of Series B
Preferred Units or Series C Preferred Units, any Quarter ending prior to the Liquidation Date.

“Arrears” means that the full cumulative Series C Distributions through the most recent Series C Distribution Payment Date have not been paid on all Outstanding
Series C Preferred Units.

“Assignee” means a Non-citizen Assignee or a Person to whom one or more Limited Partner Interests have been transferred in a manner permitted under this
Agreement and who has executed and delivered a Transfer Application as required by this Agreement, but who has not been admitted as a Substituted Limited Partner.

“Associate” means, when used to indicate a relationship with any Person, (a) any corporation or organization of which such Person is a director, officer or partner or is,
directly or indirectly, the owner of 20% or more of any class of voting stock or other voting interest; (b) any trust or other estate in which such Person has at least a 20%
beneficial interest or as to which such Person serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity; and (c) any relative or spouse of such Person, or any relative of such spouse,
who has the same principal residence as such Person.

“Available Cash” means, with respect to any Applicable Period ending prior to the Liquidation Date:

(a) the sum of (i) all cash and cash equivalents of the Partnership Group on hand at the end of such Applicable Period, and (ii) all additional cash
and cash equivalents of the Partnership Group on hand on the date of determination of Available Cash with respect to such Applicable Period resulting from Working
Capital Borrowings made subsequent to the end of such Applicable Period, less

(b) the amount of any cash reserves that are necessary or appropriate in the reasonable discretion of the General Partner to (i) provide for the
proper conduct of the business of the Partnership Group (including reserves for future capital expenditures and for anticipated future credit needs of the Partnership
Group) subsequent to such Applicable Period, (ii) comply with applicable law or any loan agreement, security agreement, mortgage, debt instrument, or other agreement
or obligation to which any Group Member is a party or by which it is bound or its assets are subject, (iii) provide funds for Series C Distributions, and (iv) provide funds
for further distributions; provided, however, that disbursements made by a Group Member or cash reserves established, increased or reduced after the end of such
Applicable Period but on or before the date of determination of Available Cash with respect to such Applicable Period shall be deemed to have been made, established,
increased, or reduced, for purposes of determining Available Cash, within such Applicable Period if the General Partner so determines.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Available Cash” with respect to the Quarter in which the Liquidation Date occurs and any subsequent Quarter shall equal zero.

“BBA” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.3(a).

“Beneficial Owner” has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3 and Rule 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that, in calculating the beneficial ownership
of any particular “person” (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), such “person” will be deemed to have beneficial ownership of all securities that such
“person” has the right to acquire by conversion or exercise of other securities, whether such right is currently exercisable or is exercisable only after the passage of time. The
terms “Beneficially Owns” and “Beneficially Owned” have a corresponding meaning.

“Business Day” means Monday through Friday of each week, except that a legal holiday recognized as such by the government of the United States of America or the
States of Texas or New York shall not be regarded as a Business Day.
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“Calculation Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting in its capacity as calculation agent for the Series C Preferred Units, and its successors and
assigns or any other calculation agent appointed by the General Partner.

“Capital Account” of a Partner is maintained as provided in Section 5.3. The “Capital Account” in respect of a General Partner Interest, a Common Unit, a Series B
Preferred Unit, a Series C Preferred Unit, or other Partnership Interest is the Capital Account that would be maintained if such Partnership Interest were the only interest in the
Partnership held by a Partner from and after the date on which such Partnership Interest was first issued.

“Capital Contribution” means any cash, cash equivalents or the Net Agreed Value of Contributed Property that a Partner contributes to the Partnership pursuant to this
Agreement or the Contribution Agreements.

“Capital Stock” means: (i) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock; (ii) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations,
rights, or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock; (iii) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership interests (whether general or
limited), or membership interests; and (iv) any other equity interest or participation in an entity that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or
distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.

“Carrying Value” of an item of Partnership property immediately after the Closing Date is the fair market value of such item of Partnership property as determined by
the General Partner using such reasonable method of valuation as it may adopt. For purposes hereof, the Partnership shall be treated as owning directly its share (as determined
by the General Partner) of all property owned by the Operating Partnership or any other Subsidiary that is classified as a partnership or is disregarded for federal income tax
purposes. The Carrying Value of any item of Partnership property shall be adjusted from time to time as provided in Section 5.3(b) and Section 5.3(d). The Carrying Value of an
item of property that is acquired by the Partnership after the Closing Date shall be the amount that would be the adjusted basis for federal income tax purposes of such property
in the hands of the Partnership immediately after its acquisition if the adjusted basis for federal income tax purposes of each asset of the Partnership at that time were equal to its
Carrying Value at that time.

“Cause” means a court of competent jurisdiction has entered a final, non-appealable judgment finding the General Partner liable for actual fraud, gross negligence, or
willful or wanton misconduct in its capacity as a general partner of the Partnership.

“Certificate” means a certificate (i) substantially in the form of Exhibit A to this Agreement, (ii) issued in global form in accordance with the rules and regulations of
the Depositary or (iii) in such other form as may be adopted by the General Partner in its discretion, issued by the Partnership evidencing ownership of one or more Common
Units or a certificate, in such form as may be adopted by the General Partner in its discretion, issued by the Partnership evidencing ownership of one or more other Partnership
Securities.

“Certificate of Limited Partnership” means the Certificate of Limited Partnership of the Partnership filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as
referenced in Section 2.1, as such Certificate of Limited Partnership may be amended, supplemented, or restated from time to time.

“Citizenship Certification” means a properly completed certificate in such form as may be specified by the General Partner by which an Assignee or a Limited Partner
certifies that he (and if he is a nominee holding for the account of another Person, that to the best of his knowledge such other Person) is an Eligible Citizen.

“Closing Contribution Agreement” means that certain Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, among the General Partner,
the Partnership, the Operating Partnership, EnLink Midstream, Inc., and certain other parties, together with the additional conveyance documents and instruments contemplated
or referenced thereunder.

“Closing Date” means the first date on which Common Units are sold by the Partnership to the Underwriters pursuant to the provisions of the Underwriting Agreement.

“Closing Price” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(a).
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“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and in effect from time to time. Any reference herein to a specific section or sections of the Code shall
be deemed to include a reference to any corresponding provision of any successor law.

“Combined Interest” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.3(a).

“Commission” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Common Unit” means a Partnership Security representing a fractional part of the Partnership Interests of all Limited Partners and Assignees, and having the rights and
obligations specified with respect to Common Units in this Agreement. The term “Common Unit” does not include (i) a Series B Preferred Unit or (ii) a Series C Preferred Unit.

“Common Unit Exchange Ratio” means 1.15.

“Conflicts Committee” means a committee of the Board of Directors of the General Partner composed entirely of two or more directors who are not (a) security
holders, officers, or employees of the General Partner, (b) officers, directors, or employees of any Affiliate of the General Partner, or (c) holders of any ownership interest in the
Partnership Group other than Common Units and who also meet the independence standards required of directors who serve on an audit committee of a board of directors
established by the National Securities Exchange on which the Common Units are listed for trading.

“Contributed Property” means each property or other asset, in such form as may be permitted by the Delaware Act, but excluding cash, contributed to the Partnership.

“Contribution Agreements” means, collectively, the First Contribution Agreement, the Closing Contribution Agreement, and the 2013 Contribution Agreement.

“Credit Agreement” means the Credit Agreement dated as of February 20, 2014, among the Partnership, as borrower, the lenders party thereto from time to time, and
Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for the lenders, as such agreement was in effect on the Series B Issuance Date (it being understood that, although the Credit
Agreement has been amended or terminated, or may be amended or terminated at any time by the Partnership in the sole discretion of the General Partner, this Agreement refers
to the definitions of such Credit Agreement as in effect on the Series B Issuance Date).

“Curative Allocation” means any allocation of an item of income, gain, deduction, loss, or credit pursuant to Section 6.1(d)(ix).

“Current Market Price” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(a).

“Delaware Act” means the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, 6 Del C. Section 17-101, et seq., as amended, supplemented, or restated from time to
time, and any successor to such statute.

“Departing Partner” means a former General Partner from and after the effective date of any withdrawal or removal of such former General Partner pursuant to
Section 11.1 or 11.2.

“Depositary” means, with respect to any Units issued in global form, The Depository Trust Company and its successors and permitted assigns.

“Economic Risk of Loss” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.752-2(a).

“Eighth Amended and Restated Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.

“Eligible Citizen” means a Person qualified to own interests in real property in jurisdictions in which any Group Member does business or proposes to do business from
time to time, and whose status as a Limited Partner or Assignee does not or would not subject such Group Member to a significant risk of cancellation or forfeiture of any of its
properties or any interest therein.
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“Eligible Series B Unitholder” means a Series B Unitholder holding a number of Series B Preferred Units with a value that is equal to or more than $200 million
calculated by multiplying the number of Series B Preferred Units being transferred by the Series B Issue Price.

“ENLC” means EnLink Midstream, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and any successors thereto.

“ENLC Common Unit” means a “Common Unit” as such term is defined in the ENLC Operating Agreement.

“ENLC Manager” means EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and the managing member of ENLC, and its successors and
permitted assigns as the managing member of ENLC, as set forth in the ENLC Operating Agreement.

“ENLC Merger Agreement” means the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 21, 2018, among ENLC Manager, ENLC, NOLA Merger Sub, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, the General Partner, and the Partnership.

“ENLC Operating Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of EnLink Midstream, LLC, as it may be amended, supplemented, or
restated from time to time.

“EnLink Midstream, Inc.” means EnLink Midstream, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successors thereto.

“Event of Withdrawal” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.1(a).

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“First Contribution Agreement” means that certain Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement, dated as of November 27, 2002, among the General
Partner, the Partnership, the Operating Partnership, EnLink Midstream, Inc., and certain other parties, together with the additional conveyance documents and instruments
contemplated or referenced thereunder.

“General Partner” means EnLink Midstream GP, LLC and its successors and permitted assigns as general partner of the Partnership.

“General Partner Interest” means the ownership interest of the General Partner in the Partnership (in its capacity as a general partner without reference to any Limited
Partner Interest held by it), which may be evidenced by Partnership Securities or a combination thereof or interest therein, and includes any and all benefits to which the General
Partner is entitled as provided in this Agreement, together with all obligations of the General Partner to comply with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

“GIP Stetson I” means GIP III Stetson I, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and any successors thereto.

“GIP Stetson II” means GIP III Stetson II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and any successors thereto.

“Gross Income Allocation Cap” means an amount of gross income equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of Net Income of the Partnership for the current taxable
period or portion thereof.

“Group” means a Person that with or through any of its Affiliates or Associates has any agreement, arrangement, or understanding for the purpose of acquiring,
holding, voting (except voting pursuant to a revocable proxy or consent given to such Person in response to a proxy or consent solicitation made to 10 or more Persons) or
disposing of any Partnership Securities with any other Person that beneficially owns, or whose Affiliates or Associates beneficially own, directly or indirectly, Partnership
Securities.

“Group Member” means a member of the Partnership Group.

“Imputed Underpayment” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.4(a).
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“Indemnitee” means (a) the General Partner, (b) any Departing Partner, (c) any Person who is or was an Affiliate of the General Partner or any Departing Partner, (d)
any Person who is or was a member, partner, officer, director, employee, agent, fiduciary, or trustee of any Group Member, the General Partner, or any Departing Partner or any
Affiliate of any Group Member, the General Partner or any Departing Partner, and (e) any Person who is or was serving at the request of the General Partner or any Departing
Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner or any Departing Partner as an officer, director, employee, member, partner, agent, fiduciary, or trustee of another Person;
provided, that a Person shall not be an Indemnitee by reason of providing, on a fee-for-services basis, trustee, fiduciary, or custodial services.

“Initial Limited Partners” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 1.1 of the Original Agreement.

“Initial Offering” means the initial offering and sale of Common Units to the public, as described in the Registration Statement.

“Limited Partner” means, unless the context otherwise requires, (a) the Organizational Limited Partner prior to its withdrawal from the Partnership, each Initial
Limited Partner, each Substituted Limited Partner, each Additional Limited Partner, and any Departing Partner upon the change of its status from General Partner to Limited
Partner pursuant to Section 11.3 or (b) solely for purposes of Articles V, VI, VII, and IX, each Assignee; provided, however, that when the term “Limited Partner” is used herein
in the context of any vote or other approval, including without limitation Articles XIII (other than Sections 13.3(b) and (c), 13.4, 13.5, 13.6, 13.8, 13.9, 13.10, 13.11, 13.12(b)
and (c)) and XIV, such term shall not, solely for such purpose, include a Series C Unitholder with respect to its Series C Preferred Units.

“Limited Partner Interest” means the ownership interest of a Limited Partner or Assignee in the Partnership, which may be evidenced by Common Units, Series B
Preferred Units, Series C Preferred Units, or other Partnership Securities or a combination thereof or interest therein, and includes any and all benefits to which such Limited
Partner or Assignee is entitled as provided in this Agreement, together with all obligations of such Limited Partner or Assignee to comply with the terms and provisions of this
Agreement; provided, however, that when the term “Limited Partner Interest” is used herein in the context of any vote or other approval, including without limitation Articles
XIII (other than Sections 13.3(c), 13.4, 13.5, 13.6, 13.8, 13.9, 13.10, 13.11, 13.12(b) and (c)) and XIV, such term shall not, solely for such purpose, include a Series C
Unitholder with respect to its Series C Preferred Units.

“Liquidation Date” means (a) in the case of an event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership of the type described in clauses (a) and (b) of the first sentence of
Section 12.2, the date on which the applicable time period during which the holders of Outstanding Units have the right to elect to reconstitute the Partnership and continue its
business has expired without such an election being made, and (b) in the case of any other event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership, the date on which such event
occurs.

“Liquidator” means one or more Persons selected by the General Partner to perform the functions described in Section 12.3 as liquidating trustee of the Partnership
within the meaning of the Delaware Act.

“London Business Day” means any day on which dealings in deposits in U.S. dollars are transacted in the London interbank market.

“Merger Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 14.1.

“National Securities Exchange” means an exchange registered with the Commission under Section 6(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
supplemented or restated from time to time, and any successor to such statute.

“Net Agreed Value” means (a) in the case of any Contributed Property, the Agreed Value of such property reduced by any liabilities either assumed by the Partnership
upon such contribution or to which such property is subject when contributed and (b) in the case of any property distributed by the Partnership, the Partnership’s Carrying Value
in such property assuming that the adjustment permitted by Section 5.3(d)(ii) is made immediately before the time such property is distributed, reduced by any indebtedness
either assumed by the distributee or to
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which such property is subject at the time of distribution, in either case, as determined under Section 752 of the Code.

“Net Income” for any taxable period of the Partnership means the sum, if positive, of all items of income, gain, loss and deduction that are recognized by the
Partnership during such taxable period and on or before the Liquidation Date. The items included in the calculation of Net Income shall be determined in accordance with
Section 5.3(b) but shall not include any items allocated under Section 6.1(d).

“Net Loss” for any taxable period of the Partnership means the sum, if negative, of all items of income, gain, loss, or deduction that are recognized by the Partnership
during such taxable period of the Partnership and on or before the Liquidation Date. The items included in the calculation of Net Loss shall be determined in accordance with
Section 5.3(b) but shall not include any items allocated under Section 6.1(d).

“Net Termination Gain” means, for any taxable year, the sum, if positive, of all items of income, gain, loss, or deduction recognized by the Partnership (a) after the
Liquidation Date or (b) upon the sale, exchange, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership Group, taken as a whole, in a single transaction or a
series of related transactions (excluding any disposition to a member of the Partnership Group). The items included in the determination of Net Termination Gain shall be
determined in accordance with Section 5.3(b) and shall not include any items of income, gain or loss specially allocated under Section 6.1(d).

“Net Termination Loss” means, for any taxable year, the sum, if negative, of all items of income, gain, loss, or deduction recognized by the Partnership (a) after the
Liquidation Date or (b) upon the sale, exchange, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership Group, taken as a whole, in a single transaction or a
series of related transactions (excluding any disposition to a member of the Partnership Group). The items included in the determination of Net Termination Loss shall be
determined in accordance with Section 5.3(b) and shall not include any items of income, gain or loss specially allocated under Section 6.1(d).

“Non-citizen Assignee” means a Person whom the General Partner has determined in its discretion does not constitute an Eligible Citizen and as to whose Partnership
Interest the General Partner has become the Substituted Limited Partner pursuant to Section 4.9.

“Nonrecourse Deductions” means any and all items of loss, deduction or expenditure (including, without limitation, any expenditure described in Section 705(a)(2)(B)
of the Code) that, in accordance with the principles of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(b), are attributable to a Nonrecourse Liability.

“Nonrecourse Liability” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.752-1(a)(2).

“Notice of Election to Purchase” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(b).

“Notional General Partner Units” means notional units used solely to calculate the General Partner’s Percentage Interest. Notional General Partner Units shall not
constitute “Units” for any purpose of this Agreement. As of January 25, 2019, there are 1,594,974 Notional General Partner Units (resulting in the General Partner’s Percentage
Interest being .449% as of such date). If a Pro Rata distribution or a subdivision or combination of Units is made in accordance with Section 5.6, the number of Notional General
Partner Units shall be proportionally increased or decreased, as applicable, to reflect the maintenance of such Percentage Interest.

“Operating Partnership” means EnLink Midstream Operating, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, and any successors thereto.

“Operating Partnership Agreement” means the Fifth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership, as it may be amended,
supplemented or restated from time to time.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of counsel (who may be regular counsel to the Partnership or the General Partner or any of its Affiliates) acceptable to
the General Partner in its reasonable discretion.

“Organizational Limited Partner” means EnLink Midstream, Inc. in its capacity as the organizational limited partner of the Partnership pursuant to the Original
Agreement.
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“Original Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.

“Outstanding” means, with respect to Partnership Securities, all Partnership Securities that are issued by the Partnership and reflected as outstanding on the
Partnership’s books and records as of the date of determination; provided, however, that if at any time any Person or Group (other than the General Partner or its Affiliates)
beneficially owns 20% or more of any Outstanding Partnership Securities of any class then Outstanding, all Partnership Securities owned by such Person or Group shall not be
voted on any matter and shall not be considered to be Outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of Limited Partners to vote on any matter (unless otherwise required by
law), calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes under this Agreement, except that Common Units so owned shall be
considered to be Outstanding for purposes of Section 11.1(b)(iii) (such Common Units shall not, however, be treated as a separate class of Partnership Securities for purposes of
this Agreement); provided, further, that the foregoing limitation shall not apply (i) to any Person or Group who acquired 20% or more of any Outstanding Partnership Securities
of any class then Outstanding directly from the General Partner or its Affiliates, (ii) to any Person or Group who acquired 20% or more of any Outstanding Partnership
Securities of any class then Outstanding directly or indirectly from a Person or Group described in clause (i) provided that the General Partner shall have notified such Person or
Group in writing that such limitation shall not apply, or (iii) to any Person or Group who acquired 20% or more of any Partnership Securities issued by the Partnership with the
prior approval of the board of directors of the General Partner. For the avoidance of doubt, the board of directors of the General Partner has approved the issuance of the Series
B Preferred Units to the Series B Purchaser pursuant to the Series B Purchase Agreement in accordance with clause (iii) of the immediately preceding sentence, and any Series
B PIK Preferred Units shall be deemed to be approved by the board of directors of the General Partner in accordance with clause (iii) of the immediately preceding sentence,
and the foregoing limitations of the immediately preceding sentence shall not apply to the Series B Purchaser with respect to their ownership (beneficially or of record) of the
Series B Preferred Units or Series B PIK Preferred Units.

“Partner Nonrecourse Debt” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(b)(4).

“Partner Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain” has the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(2).

“Partner Nonrecourse Deductions” means any and all items of loss or deduction determined in accordance with Section 5.3(b) that, in accordance with the principles of
Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i), are attributable to a Partner Nonrecourse Debt.

“Partners” means the General Partner and the Limited Partners.

“Partnership” means EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, a Delaware limited partnership, and any successors thereto.

“Partnership Group” means the Partnership, the Operating Partnership, and any Subsidiary of any such entity, treated as a single consolidated entity.

“Partnership Interest” means an interest in the Partnership, which shall include the General Partner Interest and Limited Partner Interests.

“Partnership Minimum Gain” means that amount determined in accordance with the principles of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(d).

“Partnership Security” means any class or series of equity interest in the Partnership (but excluding any options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to an
equity interest in the Partnership), including, without limitation, Common Units, Series B Preferred Units, and Series C Preferred Units.

“Paying Agent” means the Transfer Agent, acting in its capacity as paying agent for the Series C Preferred Units, and its respective successors and assigns or any other
paying agent appointed by the General Partner; provided, however, that if no Paying Agent is specifically designated for the Series C Preferred Units, the General Partner shall
act in such capacity.
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“Percentage Interest” means as of any date of determination (a) as to the General Partner with respect to its General Partner Interest (in its capacity as General Partner
without reference to any Limited Partner Interests held by it and calculated based upon the number of Notional General Partner Units then deemed held by the General Partner),
and as to any Unitholder or Assignee holding Units, the product obtained by multiplying (x) 100% less the percentage applicable to clause (b) below times (y) the quotient
obtained by dividing (A) the number of Notional General Partner Units deemed held by the General Partner or the number of Units held by such Unitholder or Assignee, as the
case may be, by (B) the sum of the total number of all Outstanding Units and Notional General Partner Units deemed owned by the General Partner, and (b) as to the holders of
additional Partnership Securities issued by the Partnership in accordance with Section 5.4, the number of Units to which such Partnership Securities are equivalent for the
purpose of determining Percentage Interest (and only for such purpose) as determined by the General Partner as a part of such issuance. The Percentage Interest with respect to a
Series B Preferred Unit, and a Series C Preferred Unit shall at all times be zero.

“Person” means an individual or a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization, association, government
agency, or political subdivision thereof or other entity.

“Pro Rata” means (a) when modifying Units or any class thereof, apportioned equally among all designated Units in accordance with their relative Percentage
Interests, (b) when modifying Partners and Assignees, apportioned among all Partners and Assignees in accordance with their relative Percentage Interests, (c) solely when
modifying Series B Unitholders, apportioned equally among all Series B Unitholders in accordance with the relative number or percentage of Series B Preferred Units held by
each such Series B Unitholder, and (d) solely when modifying Series C Unitholders, apportioned equally among all Series C Unitholders in accordance with the relative number
or percentage of Series C Preferred Units held by each such Series C Unitholder.

“Purchase Date” means the date determined by the General Partner as the date for purchase of all Outstanding Units of a certain class (other than Units owned by the
General Partner and its Affiliates) pursuant to Article XV.

“Quarter” means, unless the context requires otherwise, a fiscal quarter of the Partnership.

“Rating Agency” means any nationally recognized statistical rating organization (within the meaning of Section 3(a)(62) of the Exchange Act) that publishes a rating
for the Partnership.

“Recapture Income” means any gain recognized by the Partnership for federal income tax purposes (computed without regard to any adjustment required by Section
734 or Section 743 of the Code) upon the disposition of any property of the Partnership, which gain is characterized as ordinary income for federal income tax purposes because
it represents the recapture of deductions previously taken with respect to such property.

“Record Date” means the date established by the General Partner for determining (a) the identity of the Record Holders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any meeting
of Limited Partners or entitled to vote by ballot or give approval of Partnership action in writing without a meeting or entitled to exercise rights in respect of any lawful action of
Limited Partners or (b) the identity of Record Holders entitled to receive any report or distribution or to participate in any offer.

“Record Holder” means the Person in whose name a Common Unit is registered on the books of the Transfer Agent as of the opening of business on a particular
Business Day, or with respect to other Partnership Securities, the Person in whose name any such other Partnership Security is registered on the books which the General Partner
has caused to be kept as of the opening of business on such Business Day.

“Redeemable Interests” means any Partnership Interests for which a redemption notice has been given, and has not been withdrawn, pursuant to Section 4.10.

“Registration Statement” means the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-97779) as it has been or as it may be amended or supplemented from
time to time, filed by the Partnership with the Commission under the Securities Act to register the offering and sale of the Common Units in the Initial Offering.

“Required Allocations” means (a) any limitation imposed on the allocation of Net Losses or Net Termination Losses under Section 6.1(b) that is identified therein as a
Required Allocation and (b) any allocation of
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an item of income, gain, loss, or deduction pursuant to Section 6.1(d) that is identified therein as a Required Allocation.

“Reuters Page LIBOR01” means the display so designated on the Reuters 3000 Xtra (or such other page as may replace the LIBOR01 page on that service, or such
other service as may be nominated by the British Bankers’ Association for the purpose of displaying London interbank offered rates for U.S. dollar deposits).

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time and any successor to such statute.

“Series B Cash Payment Amount” means an amount per Quarter per Series B Preferred Unit equal to (a) with respect to each Quarter prior to the Series B PIK
Termination Quarter, (i) $0.28125 plus (ii) the Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount and (b) with respect to the Series B PIK Termination Quarter and each subsequent
Quarter, (i) $0.31875 plus (ii) the Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount.

“Series B Change of Control” means the (i) consummation of any transaction or series of related transactions (including, without limitation, any merger, consolidation,
or business combination), the result of which is that any Person or “group” (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), excluding (a) the Series B Purchaser
and its Affiliates and (b) GIP Stetson I, GIP Stetson II, ENLC, the Partnership, or any of their respective Subsidiaries, becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of
more than fifty percent (50%) of the Voting Stock of either the General Partner or the ENLC Manager, measured by voting power rather than number of units, or otherwise
acquires a right to designate members of the board of directors who have a majority of the voting power of such board of directors, in each case, of either the General Partner or
ENLC Manager or (ii) consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any merger, consolidation or business combination) the result of which is that GIP
Stetson I, GIP Stetson II or any of their respective Subsidiaries becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the outstanding
ENLC Common Units. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Series B Change of Control shall not result solely from a sale by GIP Stetson I, GIP Stetson II, or any of their
respective Subsidiaries, directly or indirectly, of the Capital Stock held by any such entity in the Partnership, the General Partner, ENLC, and/or the ENLC Manager, so long as
all previously outstanding ENLC Common Units remain outstanding immediately after such sale.

“Series B Change of Control Exchange Election Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(F).

“Series B Change of Control Units” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(F).

“Series B Deemed ENLC Distribution Amount” means, for each Quarter of the Partnership for which this definition is applicable, the aggregate amount of distributions
in cash paid by ENLC in respect of the corresponding quarter of ENLC (or applicable periods within the quarter to the extent ENLC distributions are not paid quarterly) that are,
or would have been, payable with respect to the applicable Series B Exchange Units if a Series B Preferred Unit had been exchanged at the beginning of such Quarter, using the
number of ENLC Common Unit(s) for which such Series B Preferred Unit would then be exchangeable pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii) as of the date of such determination;
provided, that, for purposes of determining the amount of such distributions, the hypothetical number of ENLC Common Unit(s) for which such Series B Preferred Unit is
exchanged shall be determined by multiplying such Series B Preferred Unit to be exchanged by the Series B Distribution Exchange Rate and not the Series B Exchange Ratio.
To the extent ENLC declares distributions subsequent to the declaration for the comparable ENLK Quarter which would result in a Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount, then
such amount will be payable with respect to the Series B Preferred Units with the next Series B Quarterly Distribution.

“Series B Deemed Votes” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(v)(A).

“Series B Distribution Exchange Rate” means 1.0 until such rate is adjusted as set forth in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(E).

“Series B Distribution Payment Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(ii)(A).

“Series B ENLC Exchange Ratio Distribution Amount” means, for each Quarter of the Partnership for which this definition is applicable, the aggregate amount of
distributions in cash paid by ENLC in respect of the
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corresponding quarter of ENLC (or applicable periods within the quarter to the extent ENLC distributions are not paid quarterly) that are, or would have been, payable with
respect to the applicable Series B Exchange Units if a Series B Preferred Unit had been exchanged at the beginning of such Quarter, using the number of ENLC Common
Unit(s) for which such Series B Preferred Unit would then be exchangeable pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii) as of the date of such determination. For the avoidance of doubt,
for purposes of determining the amount of such distributions, the hypothetical number of ENLC Common Unit(s) for which such Series B Preferred Unit is exchanged shall be
determined by multiplying such Series B Preferred Unit to be exchanged by the Series B Exchange Ratio. To the extent ENLC declares distributions subsequent to the
declaration for the comparable ENLK Quarter which would result in a Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount, then such amount will be payable with respect to the Series B
Preferred Units with the next Series B Quarterly Distribution.

“Series B Excess Cash Payment Amount” means the product of (A) the excess of (i) the Series B PIK Exchange Ratio Payment Amount over (ii) the Series B PIK
Payment Amount multiplied by (B) the Series B Issue Price; provided, however, that if the foregoing clause (A) does not result in any excess, then the “Series B Excess Cash
Payment Amount” shall be $0.

“Series B Exchange Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(D).

“Series B Exchange Election Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C).

“Series B Exchange Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C).

“Series B Exchange Notice Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C).

“Series B Exchange Ratio” means the number of ENLC Common Units issuable upon the exchange of each Series B Preferred Unit (including any accrued and unpaid
Series B PIK Preferred Units), which shall equal the product of (i) the Series B Distribution Exchange Rate at the applicable time, multiplied by (ii) the Common Unit
Exchange Ratio.

“Series B Exchange Unit” means an ENLC Common Unit issued upon the exchange of a Series B Preferred Unit pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii).

“Series B Exchanging Unitholder” means a Person entitled to receive ENLC Common Units or cash equal to the Series B Redemption Amount upon the exchange of
any Series B Preferred Units.

“Series B Forced Exchange Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C).

“Series B Forced Exchange Notice Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C).

“Series B Issuance Date” means January 7, 2016.

“Series B Issue Price” means $15.00 per Series B Preferred Unit.

“Series B Junior Securities” means (i) the Series C Preferred Units and (ii) any other class or series of Partnership Securities that, with respect to distributions on such
Partnership Securities and distributions upon liquidation of the Partnership, ranks junior to the Series B Preferred Units, including but not limited to Common Units, but
excluding any Series B Parity Securities and Series B Senior Securities.

“Series B Liquidation Value” means, with respect to each Series B Preferred Unit Outstanding as of the date of such determination, an amount equal to the sum of (i)
the Series B Issue Price, plus (ii) all Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions and any accrued and unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units, plus (iii) all accrued but unpaid distributions
on such Series B Preferred Unit (including distributions payable in Series B PIK Preferred Units) with respect to the Quarter in which the liquidation occurs.

“Series B Parity Securities” means any class or series of Partnership Interests that, with respect to distributions on such Partnership Interests or distributions upon
liquidation of the Partnership, ranks pari passu with the Series B Preferred Units.
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“Series B PIK Exchange Ratio Payment Amount” means the number of Series B PIK Preferred Units equal to the quotient of (i) the excess (if any) of (a) the Series B
ENLC Exchange Ratio Distribution Amount over (b) $0.28125, divided by (ii) the Series B Issue Price.

“Series B PIK Payment Amount” means the greater of (i) 0.00250 Series B PIK Preferred Units and (ii) the number of Series B PIK Preferred Units equal to the
quotient of (a) the excess (if any) of (x) the Series B Deemed ENLC Distribution Amount over (y) $0.28125, divided by (b) the Series B Issue Price.

“Series B PIK Preferred Payment Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(ii)(B).

“Series B PIK Preferred Units” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(a).

“Series B PIK Termination Notice” means a written notice from the Record Holders of a majority of the Outstanding Series B Preferred Units pursuant to which such
Record Holders elect to terminate the right of all Record Holders of Series B Preferred Units to receive Series B PIK Preferred Units and any Series B PIK Payment Amount.

“Series B PIK Termination Quarter” means the earlier to occur of (i) the Quarter during which the General Partner receives a Series B PIK Termination Notice and (ii)
the Quarter ending on June 30, 2024.

“Series B Preferred Units” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(a).

“Series B Purchase Agreement” means the Convertible Preferred Unit Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2015, by and between the Partnership and the
Series B Purchaser.

“Series B Purchaser” means Enfield Holdings, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and its permitted assigns in accordance with the Series B Purchase Agreement.

“Series B Quarterly Distribution” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(ii)(A).

“Series B Redemption Amount” means cash in an amount equal to the product of (i) the Series B Unit Exchange Amount, multiplied by (ii) the daily volume-weighted
average closing trading price of ENLC Common Units on the National Securities Exchange on which the ENLC Common Units are listed or admitted to trading for the trailing
ten (10) Trading Days ending two (2) Trading Days before the Series B Exchange Notice Date or the Series B Forced Exchange Notice Date, as applicable.

“Series B Senior Securities” means any class or series of Partnership Interests that, with respect to distributions on such Partnership Interests or distributions upon
liquidation of the Partnership, ranks senior to the Series B Preferred Units.

“Series B Unit Exchange Amount” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(viii)(A).

“Series B Unitholder” means a Record Holder of Series B Preferred Units.

“Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.10(b)(ii)(C).

“Series C Base Liquidation Preference” means a liquidation preference for each Series C Preferred Unit initially equal to $1,000 per unit.

“Series C Current Criteria” means the equity credit criteria of a Rating Agency for securities such as the Series C Preferred Units, as such criteria are in effect as of the
Series C Original Issue Date.

“Series C Distribution Payment Date” means (i) during the Series C Fixed Rate Period, the 15th day of each June and December of each year and (ii) during the Series
C Floating Rate Period, the 15th day of March, June, September, and December of each year; provided, however, that if any Series C Distribution Payment Date would
otherwise occur on a day that is not a Business Day, such Series C Distribution Payment Date shall instead be on the immediately succeeding Business Day.
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“Series C Distribution Period” means a period of time from and including the preceding Series C Distribution Payment Date (other than the initial Series C
Distribution Period, which shall commence on and include the Series C Original Issue Date), to, but excluding, the next Series C Distribution Payment Date for such Series C
Distribution Period.

“Series C Distribution Rate” means an annual rate equal to (i) during the Series C Fixed Rate Period, 6.000% of the Series C Liquidation Preference and (ii) during the
Series C Floating Rate Period, a percentage of the Series C Liquidation Preference equal to the sum of (a) the Series C Three-Month LIBOR, as calculated on each applicable
Series C LIBOR Determination Date, and (b) 4.11%.

“Series C Distribution Record Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(b)(ii)(B).

“Series C Distributions” means distributions with respect to Series C Preferred Units pursuant to Section 5.11(b)(ii).

“Series C Fixed Rate Period” means the period from and including the Series C Original Issue Date to, but not including, December 15, 2022.

“Series C Floating Rate Period” means the period from and including December 15, 2022 and thereafter until such time as all of the Outstanding Series C Preferred
Units are redeemed in accordance with Section 5.11(b)(iv).

“Series C Junior Securities” means any class or series of Partnership Securities that, with respect to distributions on such Partnership Securities and distributions upon
liquidation of the Partnership, ranks junior to the Series C Preferred Units, including but not limited to Common Units, but excluding any Series C Parity Securities and Series C
Senior Securities.

“Series C LIBOR Determination Date” means the London Business Day immediately preceding the first day in each relevant Series C Distribution Period.

“Series C Liquidation Preference” means a liquidation preference for each Series C Preferred Unit initially equal to $1,000 per unit (subject to adjustment for any
splits, combinations or similar adjustments to the Series C Preferred Units), which liquidation preference shall be subject to increase by the per Series C Preferred Unit amount
of any accumulated and unpaid Series C Distributions (whether or not such distributions shall have been declared).

“Series C Original Issue Date” means September 21, 2017.

“Series C Parity Securities” means any class or series of Partnership Interests established after the Series C Original Issue Date by the General Partner, the terms of
which class or series expressly provide that it ranks on parity with the Series C Preferred Units as to distributions and amounts payable upon a dissolution or liquidation pursuant
to Article XII.

“Series C Preferred Unit” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(a).

“Series C Rating Event” means a change by any Rating Agency to the Series C Current Criteria, which change results in (i) any shortening of the length of time for
which the Series C Current Criteria are scheduled to be in effect with respect to the Series C Preferred Units or (ii) a lower equity credit being given to the Series C Preferred
Units than the equity credit that would have been assigned to the Series C Preferred Units by such Rating Agency pursuant to its Series C Current Criteria.

“Series C Redemption Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(b)(iv)(A).

“Series C Redemption Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(b)(iv)(B).

“Series C Redemption Price” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(b)(iv)(A).

“Series C Senior Securities” means (a) the Series B Preferred Units and (b) any class or series of Partnership Interests established after the Series C Original Issue Date
by the General Partner, the terms of which
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class or series expressly provide that it ranks senior to the Series C Preferred Units as to distributions and amounts payable upon a dissolution or liquidation pursuant to Article
XII.

“Series C Three-Month LIBOR” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.11(b)(ii)(C).

“Series C Unitholder” means a Record Holder of Series C Preferred Units.

“Special Approval” means approval by a majority of the members of the Conflicts Committee.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person, (a) a corporation of which more than 50% of the voting power of shares entitled (without regard to the occurrence of
any contingency) to vote in the election of directors or other governing body of such corporation is owned, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, by such Person, by
one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, (b) a partnership (whether general or limited) in which such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person is, at the
date of determination, a general or limited partner of such partnership, but only if more than 50% of the partnership interests of such partnership (considering all of the
partnership interests of the partnership as a single class) is owned, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, by such Person, by one or more Subsidiaries of such
Person, or a combination thereof, or (c) any other Person (other than a corporation or a partnership) in which such Person, one or more Subsidiaries of such Person, or a
combination thereof, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, has (i) at least a majority ownership interest or (ii) the power to elect or direct the election of a majority
of the directors or other governing body of such Person.

“Substituted Limited Partner” means a Person who is admitted as a Limited Partner to the Partnership pursuant to Section 10.1 in place of and with all the rights of a
Limited Partner and who is shown as a Limited Partner on the books and records of the Partnership.

“Surviving Business Entity” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 14.2(b).

“Taxable Period of the Partnership” or “taxable period of the Partnership” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5.3(b)(viii).

“Trading Day” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 15.1(a).

“Transfer” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.4(a).

“Transfer Agent” means such bank, trust company or other Person (including the General Partner or one of its Affiliates) as shall be appointed from time to time by
the General Partner to act as registrar and transfer agent for any class of Partnership Securities; provided that if no Transfer Agent is specifically designated for any class of
Partnership Securities, the General Partner shall act in such capacity. The Transfer Agent and registrar for the Series C Preferred Units shall be American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company, LLC, and its successors and assigns, or any other transfer agent and registrar appointed by the General Partner for the Series C Preferred Units.

“Transfer Application” means an application and agreement for transfer of Units in the form set forth on the back of a Certificate or in a form substantially to the same
effect in a separate instrument.

“Underwriter” means each Person named as an underwriter in Schedule I to the Underwriting Agreement who purchases Common Units pursuant thereto.

“Underwriting Agreement” means the Underwriting Agreement dated December 11, 2002 among the Underwriters, the Partnership, and certain other parties,
providing for the purchase of Common Units by such Underwriters.

“Unit” means a Partnership Security that is designated as a “Unit” and shall include Common Units, Series B Preferred Units, and Series C Preferred Units but shall
not include Notional General Partner Units or the General Partner Interest represented thereby.

“Unit Majority” means at least a majority of the Outstanding Units, including the Series B Preferred Units as described in Section 5.10(b)(v)(A) but excluding the
Series C Preferred Units.
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“Unit Split” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.1.

“Unitholders” means the holders of Units.

“Unrealized Gain” of any item of Partnership property at any time means the excess, if any, of (a) the fair market value of such property at such time (prior to any
adjustment to be made pursuant to Section 5.3(d) as of the time) over (b) the Carrying Value of such property as of such time prior to any adjustment to be made pursuant to
Section 5.3(d) as of such time.

“Unrealized Loss” of any item of Partnership property at any time means the excess, if any, of (a) the Carrying Value of such property as of such time (prior to any
adjustment to be made pursuant to Section 5.3(d) as of such time) over (b) the fair market value of such property as of such time.

“U.S. GAAP” means United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles consistently applied.

“Voting Stock” of any specified Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled (without reference to the occurrence of any
contingency) to vote in the election of the directors, managers, or trustees of such Person.

“Withdrawal Opinion of Counsel” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.1(b).

“Working Capital Borrowings” means borrowings used solely for working capital purposes or to pay distributions to Partners made pursuant to a credit facility or other
arrangement to the extent such borrowings are required to be reduced to a relatively small amount each year for an economically meaningful period of time.

“2013 Contribution Agreement” means the Contribution Agreement by and among Devon Energy Corporation, Devon Gas Corporation, Devon Gas Services, L.P.,
Southwestern Gas Pipeline, Inc., the Partnership, and the Operating Partnership, dated as of October 21, 2013.

Section 1.2    Construction.

Unless the context requires otherwise: (a) any pronoun used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the singular
form of nouns, pronouns and verbs shall include the plural and vice versa; (b) references to Articles and Sections refer to Articles and Sections of this Agreement; and (c) the
term “include” or “includes” means includes, without limitation, and “including” means including, without limitation.

ARTICLE II

ORGANIZATION

Section 2.1    Formation.

The General Partner and the Organizational Limited Partner have previously formed the Partnership as a limited partnership pursuant to the provisions of the Delaware
Act. The General Partner and the Limited Partners have previously entered into that certain Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, dated
as of December 17, 2002 (the “Original Agreement”). On March 29, 2004, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership (i) to reflect the various numerical changes resulting from the two-for-one split in Common Units and certain Units
denominated as “Subordinated Units” (the “Unit Split”) declared on February 26, 2004, having a record date of March 16, 2004 and a distribution date of March 29, 2004 (ii)
and make other miscellaneous revisions. The Unit Split was effected in accordance with Section 5.6 of this Agreement, and all such numerical changes are reflected as if the
Unit Split had occurred at the beginning of the Partnership's existence. On June 24, 2005, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Third Amended
and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership (i) to establish the rights and obligations of certain Units denominated as “Senior Subordinated Units” in
connection with the issuance of such Partnership Securities and (ii) to make other
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miscellaneous revisions. On November 1, 2005, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership (i) to establish the rights and obligations of certain Units denominated as “Senior Subordinated Series B Units” in connection with the issuance of such Partnership
Securities and (ii) to make other miscellaneous revisions. On June 29, 2006, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Fifth Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership (i) to establish the rights and obligations of certain Units denominated as “Senior Subordinated Series C Units” in connection with the
issuance of such Partnership Securities and (ii) to make other miscellaneous revisions. On March 23, 2007, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain
Sixth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of December 20, 2007, Amendment No. 2, effective as of January
1, 2007, Amendment No. 3, dated as of January 19, 2010, Amendment No. 4, dated as of September 13, 2012, Amendment No. 5, dated as of February 27, 2014, and
Amendment No. 6, dated as of March 7, 2014, (i) to establish the rights and obligations of certain Units denominated as “Senior Subordinated Series D Units,” “Series A
Convertible Preferred Units” and “Class B Common Units” in connection with the issuance of such Partnership Securities and (ii) to make other miscellaneous revisions. On
July 7, 2014, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership, as amended by Amended
No. 1, dated as of February 17, 2015, Amendment No. 2, dated as of March 16, 2015, and Amendment No. 3, dated as of May 27, 2015 (i) to establish the rights and obligations
of certain Units denominated as “Class C Common Units,” “Class D Common Units” and “Class E Common Units” in connection with the issuance of such Partnership
Securities, (ii) to delete certain provisions that were no longer applicable to the Partnership, and (iii) to make other miscellaneous revisions. On January 7, 2016, the General
Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Eighth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership (the “ Eighth Amended and Restated Agreement”) (i)
to consolidate the previous amendments into one document and (ii) to establish the rights and obligations of the Series B Preferred Units in connection with the issuance of such
Partnership Securities. On September 21, 2017, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Ninth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited
Partnership, as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of December 12, 2017, (i) to establish the rights and obligations of the Series C Preferred Units in connection with the
issuance of such Partnership Securities, (ii) to make certain revisions in response to certain changes to the Code enacted by the BBA relating to partnership audit and adjustment
procedures, and to facilitate the General Partner’s obligations as the “Partnership Representative” under the BBA, (iii) to delete certain provisions that were no longer applicable
to the Partnership, and (iv) to make other miscellaneous revisions. On January 25, 2019, the General Partner and the Limited Partners entered into that certain Tenth Amended
and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership (i) to modify the rights and obligations of the Series B Preferred Units in connection with the transactions contemplated by the
ENLC Merger Agreement, (ii) to delete certain provisions that are no longer applicable to the Partnership as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by
the ENLC Merger Agreement, and (iii) to make other miscellaneous revisions. The purpose of this Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership is (i) to
modify the rights and obligations of the Series B Preferred Units in connection with the qualification of the Series B Preferred Units to be eligible to be deposited through the
Depositary, including the cancellation of the Class C Common Units of ENLC and the receipt of distributions consisting solely of cash in lieu of in-kind distributions of Series B
Preferred Units upon certain events pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(ii) and (ii) to make other miscellaneous revisions. This amendment and restatement shall become effective on the
date of this Agreement. Except as expressly provided to the contrary in this Agreement, the rights, duties (including fiduciary duties), liabilities, and obligations of the Partners
and the administration, dissolution and termination of the Partnership shall be governed by the Delaware Act. All Partnership Interests shall constitute personal property of the
owner thereof for all purposes and a Partner has no interest in specific Partnership property.

Section 2.2    Name.

The name of the Partnership shall be “EnLink Midstream Partners, LP”. The Partnership’s business may be conducted under any other name or names deemed
necessary or appropriate by the General Partner in its sole discretion, including the name of the General Partner. The words “Limited Partnership,” “LP,” “Ltd.,” or similar words
or letters shall be included in the Partnership’s name where necessary for the purpose of complying with the laws of any jurisdiction that so requires. The General Partner in its
discretion may change the name of the Partnership at any time and from time to time and shall notify the Limited Partners of such change in the next regular communication to
the Limited Partners.
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Section 2.3    Registered Office; Registered Agent; Principal Office; Other Offices

Unless and until changed by the General Partner, the registered office of the Partnership in the State of Delaware shall be located at 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington,
Delaware 19801, and the registered agent for service of process on the Partnership in the State of Delaware at such registered office shall be The Corporation Trust Company.
The principal office of the Partnership shall be located at 1722 Routh Street, Suite 1300, Dallas, Texas 75201 or such other place as the General Partner may from time to time
designate by notice to the Limited Partners. The Partnership may maintain offices at such other place or places within or outside the State of Delaware as the General Partner
deems necessary or appropriate. The address of the General Partner shall be 1722 Routh Street, Suite 1300, Dallas, Texas 75201 or such other place as the General Partner may
from time to time designate by notice to the Limited Partners.

Section 2.4    Purpose and Business.

The purpose and nature of the business to be conducted by the Partnership shall be to (a) serve as a partner of the Operating Partnership and, in connection therewith, to
exercise all the rights and powers conferred upon the Partnership as a partner of the Operating Partnership pursuant to the Operating Partnership Agreement or otherwise, (b)
engage directly in, or enter into or form any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other arrangement to engage indirectly in, any business activity
that the Operating Partnership is permitted to engage in by the Operating Partnership Agreement or that its subsidiaries are permitted to engage in by their limited liability
company or partnership agreements and, in connection therewith, to exercise all of the rights and powers conferred upon the Partnership pursuant to the agreements relating to
such business activity, (c) engage directly in, or enter into or form any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other arrangement to engage
indirectly in, any business activity that is approved by the General Partner and which lawfully may be conducted by a limited partnership organized pursuant to the Delaware
Act and, in connection therewith, to exercise all of the rights and powers conferred upon the Partnership pursuant to the agreements relating to such business activity, and (d) do
anything necessary or appropriate to the foregoing, including the making of capital contributions or loans to a Group Member; provided, however, that the General Partner shall
not cause the Partnership to engage, directly or indirectly, in any business activity that the General Partner reasonably determines would cause the Partnership to be treated as an
association taxable as a corporation or otherwise taxable as an entity for federal income tax purposes. The General Partner has no obligation or duty to the Partnership, the
Limited Partners or the Assignees to propose or approve, and in its discretion may decline to propose or approve, the conduct by the Partnership of any business.

Section 2.5    Powers.

The Partnership shall be empowered to do any and all acts and things necessary, appropriate, proper, advisable, incidental to, or convenient for the furtherance and
accomplishment of the purposes and business described in Section 2.4 and for the protection and benefit of the Partnership.

Section 2.6    Power of Attorney.

(a)    Each Limited Partner and each Assignee hereby constitutes and appoints the General Partner and, if a Liquidator shall have been selected pursuant to Section
12.3, the Liquidator (and any successor to the Liquidator by merger, transfer, assignment, election or otherwise) and each of their authorized officers and attorneys-in-fact, as the
case may be, with full power of substitution, as his true and lawful agent and attorney-in-fact, with full power and authority in his name, place and stead, to:

(i)    execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, file, and record in the appropriate public offices (A) all certificates, documents, and other instruments (including
this Agreement and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments or restatements hereof or thereof) that the General Partner or the Liquidator deems
necessary or appropriate to form, qualify, or continue the existence or qualification of the Partnership as a limited partnership (or a partnership in which the limited
partners have limited liability) in the State of Delaware and in all other jurisdictions in which the Partnership may conduct business or own property; (B) all certificates,
documents, and other instruments that the General Partner or the Liquidator deems necessary or appropriate to reflect, in accordance with its terms, any amendment,
change, modification, or restatement of this Agreement; (C) all certificates, documents, and other instruments (including conveyances and a certificate of cancellation)
that the General Partner or the Liquidator deems necessary or appropriate to reflect the dissolution and liquidation of the Partnership pursuant to the terms of
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this Agreement; (D) all certificates, documents, and other instruments relating to the admission, withdrawal, removal, or substitution of any Partner pursuant to, or other
events described in, Article IV, X, XI, or XII; (E) all certificates, documents, and other instruments relating to the determination of the rights, preferences, and privileges
of any class or series of Partnership Securities issued pursuant to Section 5.4; and (F) all certificates, documents and other instruments (including agreements and a
certificate of merger) relating to a merger or consolidation of the Partnership pursuant to Article XIV; and

(ii)    execute, swear to, acknowledge, deliver, file, and record all ballots, consents, approvals, waivers, certificates, documents, and other instruments necessary
or appropriate, in the discretion of the General Partner or the Liquidator, to make, evidence, give, confirm or ratify any vote, consent, approval, agreement, or other
action that is made or given by the Partners hereunder or is consistent with the terms of this Agreement or is necessary or appropriate, in the discretion of the General
Partner or the Liquidator, to effectuate the terms or intent of this Agreement; provided, that when required by Section 13.3 or any other provision of this Agreement that
establishes a percentage of the Limited Partners or of the Limited Partners of any class or series required to take any action, the General Partner and the Liquidator may
exercise the power of attorney made in this Section 2.6(a)(ii) only after the necessary vote, consent, or approval of the Limited Partners or of the Limited Partners of such
class or series, as applicable.

Nothing contained in this Section 2.6(a) shall be construed as authorizing the General Partner to amend this Agreement except in accordance with Article XIII or as may be
otherwise expressly provided for in this Agreement.

(b)    The foregoing power of attorney is hereby declared to be irrevocable and a power coupled with an interest, and it shall survive and, to the maximum extent
permitted by law, not be affected by the subsequent death, incompetency, disability, incapacity, dissolution, bankruptcy, or termination of any Limited Partner or Assignee and
the transfer of all or any portion of such Limited Partner’s or Assignee’s Partnership Interest and shall extend to such Limited Partner’s or Assignee’s heirs, successors, assigns
and personal representatives. Each such Limited Partner or Assignee hereby agrees to be bound by any representation made by the General Partner or the Liquidator acting in
good faith pursuant to such power of attorney; and each such Limited Partner or Assignee, to the maximum extent permitted by law, hereby waives any and all defenses that
may be available to contest, negate or disaffirm the action of the General Partner or the Liquidator taken in good faith under such power of attorney. Each Limited Partner or
Assignee shall execute and deliver to the General Partner or the Liquidator, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the request therefor, such further designation, powers of
attorney and other instruments as the General Partner or the Liquidator deems necessary to effectuate this Agreement and the purposes of the Partnership.

Section 2.7    Term.

The term of the Partnership commenced upon the filing of the Certificate of Limited Partnership in accordance with the Delaware Act and shall continue in existence
until the dissolution of the Partnership in accordance with the provisions of Article XII. The existence of the Partnership as a separate legal entity shall continue until the
cancellation of the Certificate of Limited Partnership as provided in the Delaware Act.

Section 2.8    Title to Partnership Assets.

Title to Partnership assets, whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible, shall be deemed to be owned by the Partnership as an entity, and no
Partner or Assignee, individually or collectively, shall have any ownership interest in such Partnership assets or any portion thereof. Title to any or all of the Partnership assets
may be held in the name of the Partnership, the General Partner, one or more of its Affiliates or one or more nominees, as the General Partner may determine. The General
Partner hereby declares and warrants that any Partnership assets for which record title is held in the name of the General Partner or one or more of its Affiliates or one or more
nominees shall be held by the General Partner or such Affiliate or nominee for the use and benefit of the Partnership in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;
provided, however, that the General Partner shall use reasonable efforts to cause record title to such assets (other than those assets in respect of which the General Partner
determines that the expense and difficulty of conveyancing makes transfer of record title to the Partnership impracticable) to be vested in the Partnership as soon as reasonably
practicable; provided, further, that, prior to the withdrawal or removal of the General Partner or as soon thereafter as practicable, the General Partner shall use reasonable efforts
to effect the transfer of record title to the Partnership and, prior to any such transfer, will provide for the use of such assets in a manner satisfactory to the General Partner. All
Partnership assets shall be recorded as

18



the property of the Partnership in its books and records, irrespective of the name in which record title to such Partnership assets is held.

ARTICLE III

RIGHTS OF LIMITED PARTNERS

Section 3.1    Limitation of Liability.

The Limited Partners and the Assignees shall have no liability under this Agreement except as expressly provided in this Agreement or the Delaware Act.

Section 3.2    Management of Business.

No Limited Partner or Assignee, in its capacity as such, shall participate in the operation, management or control (within the meaning of the Delaware Act) of the
Partnership’s business, transact any business in the Partnership’s name or have the power to sign documents for or otherwise bind the Partnership. Any action taken by any
Affiliate of the General Partner or any officer, director, employee, manager, member, general partner, agent, or trustee of the General Partner or any of its Affiliates, or any
officer, director, employee, manager, member, general partner, agent, or trustee of a Group Member, in its capacity as such, shall not be deemed to be participation in the
control of the business of the Partnership by a limited partner of the Partnership (within the meaning of Section 17-303(a) of the Delaware Act) and shall not affect, impair or
eliminate the limitations on the liability of the Limited Partners or Assignees under this Agreement.

Section 3.3    Outside Activities of the Limited Partners.

Subject to the provisions of Section 7.5, which shall continue to be applicable to the Persons referred to therein, regardless of whether such Persons shall also be
Limited Partners or Assignees, any Limited Partner or Assignee shall be entitled to and may have business interests and engage in business activities in addition to those relating
to the Partnership, including business interests and activities in direct competition with the Partnership Group. Neither the Partnership nor any of the other Partners or Assignees
shall have any rights by virtue of this Agreement in any business ventures of any Limited Partner or Assignee.

Section 3.4    Rights of Limited Partners.

(a)    In addition to other rights provided by this Agreement or by applicable law, and except as limited by Section 3.4(b), each Limited Partner shall have the right, for
a purpose reasonably related to such Limited Partner’s interest as a limited partner in the Partnership, upon reasonable written demand and at such Limited Partner’s own
expense:

(i)    to obtain true and full information regarding the status of the business and financial condition of the Partnership;

(ii)    promptly after becoming available, to obtain a copy of the Partnership’s federal, state and local income tax returns for each year;

(iii)    to have furnished to him a current list of the name and last known business, residence or mailing address of each Partner;

(iv)    to have furnished to him a copy of this Agreement and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments thereto, together with a copy of the
executed copies of all powers of attorney pursuant to which this Agreement, the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all amendments thereto have been executed;

(v)    to obtain true and full information regarding the amount of cash and a description and statement of the Net Agreed Value of any other Capital Contribution
by each Partner and which each Partner has agreed to contribute in the future, and the date on which each became a Partner; and
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(vi)    to obtain such other information regarding the affairs of the Partnership as is just and reasonable.

(b)    The General Partner may keep confidential from the Limited Partners and Assignees, for such period of time as the General Partner deems reasonable, (i) any
information that the General Partner reasonably believes to be in the nature of trade secrets or (ii) other information the disclosure of which the General Partner in good faith
believes (A) is not in the best interests of the Partnership Group, (B) could damage the Partnership Group, or (C) that any Group Member is required by law or by agreement
with any third party to keep confidential (other than agreements with Affiliates of the Partnership the primary purpose of which is to circumvent the obligations set forth in this
Section 3.4).

ARTICLE IV

CERTIFICATES; RECORD HOLDERS; TRANSFER OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS;
REDEMPTION OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

Section 4.1    Certificates.

Upon the Partnership’s issuance of Common Units to any Person, the Partnership may issue one or more Certificates in the name of such Person evidencing the number
of such Units being so issued. In addition, upon the General Partner’s request, the Partnership shall issue to it one or more Certificates in the name of the General Partner
evidencing its interests in the Partnership. Certificates shall be executed on behalf of the Partnership by the Chairman of the Board, President, or any Executive Vice President
or Vice President and the Secretary or any Assistant Secretary of the General Partner. No Common Unit Certificate shall be valid for any purpose until it has been countersigned
by the Transfer Agent; provided, however, that if the General Partner elects to issue Common Units in global form, the Common Unit Certificates shall be valid upon receipt of
a certificate from the Transfer Agent certifying that the Common Units have been duly registered in accordance with the directions of the Partnership and the Underwriters.
Notwithstanding the above provisions, Common Units may be uncertificated. With respect to the issuance of any Series B Preferred Units and Series C Preferred Units, the
Partnership shall issue such Certificates in accordance with Section 5.10(b)(vii) and Section 5.11(b)(i)(B), respectively.

Section 4.2    Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost, or Stolen Certificates.

(a)    If any mutilated Certificate is surrendered to the Transfer Agent, the appropriate officers of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership shall execute, and the
Transfer Agent shall countersign and deliver in exchange therefor, a new Certificate or issue uncertificated Units evidencing the same number and type of Partnership Securities
as the Certificate so surrendered.

(b)    The appropriate officers of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership shall execute and deliver, and the Transfer Agent shall countersign, a new Certificate
in place of any Certificate previously issued or issue uncertificated Units if the Record Holder of the Certificate:

(i)    makes proof by affidavit, in form and substance satisfactory to the General Partner, that a previously issued Certificate has been lost, destroyed or stolen;

(ii)    requests the issuance of a new Certificate or the issuance of uncertificated Units before the General Partner has notice that the Certificate has been
acquired by a purchaser for value in good faith and without notice of an adverse claim;

(iii)    if requested by the General Partner, delivers to the General Partner a bond, in form and substance satisfactory to the General Partner, with surety or
sureties and with fixed or open penalty as the General Partner may reasonably direct, in its sole discretion, to indemnify the Partnership, the Partners, the General Partner
and the Transfer Agent, against any claim that may be made on account of the alleged loss, destruction or theft of the Certificate; and

(iv)    satisfies any other reasonable requirements imposed by the General Partner.
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If a Limited Partner or Assignee fails to notify the General Partner within a reasonable time after he has notice of the loss, destruction or theft of a Certificate, and a
transfer of the Limited Partner Interests represented by the Certificate is registered before the Partnership, the General Partner or the Transfer Agent receives such notification,
the Limited Partner or Assignee shall be precluded from making any claim against the Partnership, the General Partner or the Transfer Agent for such transfer or for a new
Certificate or uncertificated Units.

(c)    As a condition to the issuance of any new Certificate or uncertificated Units under this Section 4.2, the General Partner may require the payment of a sum
sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Transfer Agent)
reasonably connected therewith.

Section 4.3    Record Holders.

The Partnership shall be entitled to recognize the Record Holder as the Partner or Assignee with respect to any Partnership Interest and, accordingly, shall not be bound
to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such Partnership Interest on the part of any other Person, regardless of whether the Partnership shall have actual or
other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by law or any applicable rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which such
Partnership Interests are listed for trading. Without limiting the foregoing, when a Person (such as a broker, dealer, bank, trust company or clearing corporation, or an agent of
any of the foregoing) is acting as nominee, agent or in some other representative capacity for another Person in acquiring and/or holding Partnership Interests, as between the
Partnership on the one hand, and such other Persons on the other, such representative Person (a) shall be the Partner or Assignee (as the case may be) of record and beneficially,
(b) must execute and deliver a Transfer Application, and (c) shall be bound by this Agreement and shall have the rights and obligations of a Partner or Assignee (as the case
may be) hereunder and as, and to the extent, provided for herein.

Section 4.4    Transfer Generally.

(a)    The term “transfer,” when used in this Agreement with respect to a Partnership Interest, shall be deemed to refer to a transaction by which the General Partner
assigns its General Partner Interest to another Person who becomes the general partner of the Partnership, by which the holder of a Limited Partner Interest assigns such Limited
Partner Interest to another Person who is or becomes a Limited Partner or an Assignee, and includes a sale, assignment, gift, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, mortgage,
exchange, or any other disposition by law or otherwise.

(b)    No Partnership Interest shall be transferred, in whole or in part, except in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Article IV. Any transfer or
purported transfer of a Partnership Interest not made in accordance with this Article IV shall be null and void.

(c)    Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent a disposition by any partner or other owner of the General Partner of any or all of the
partnership interests or other ownership interests of the General Partner.

Section 4.5    Registration and Transfer of Limited Partner Interests.

(a)    The General Partner shall keep or cause to be kept on behalf of the Partnership a register in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe and
subject to the provisions of Section 4.5(b), the Partnership will provide for the registration and transfer of Limited Partner Interests. The Transfer Agent is hereby appointed
registrar and transfer agent for the purpose of registering Common Units and transfers of such Common Units as herein provided. The Partnership shall not recognize transfers
of Certificates evidencing Limited Partner Interests or uncertificated Common Units unless such transfers are effected in the manner described in this Section 4.5. Upon
surrender of a Certificate for registration of transfer of any Limited Partner Interests evidenced by a Certificate, and subject to the provisions of Section 4.5(b), the appropriate
officers of the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership shall execute and deliver, and in the case of Common Units, the Transfer Agent shall countersign and deliver, in the
name of the holder or the designated transferee or transferees, as required pursuant to the holder’s instructions, one or more new Certificates, or evidence of the issuance of
uncertificated Common Units, evidencing the same aggregate number and type of Limited Partner Interests as was evidenced by the Certificate so surrendered. Upon receipt of
proper transfer instructions from the registered owner of uncertificated Common Units, such
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uncertificated Common Units shall be cancelled, issuance of new equivalent uncertificated Common Units or Certificates shall be made to the holder of Common Units entitled
thereto and the transaction shall be recorded upon the books of the Partnership.

(b)    Except as otherwise provided in Section 4.9, the Partnership shall not recognize any transfer of Limited Partner Interests evidenced by a Certificate until the
Certificates evidencing such Limited Partner Interests are surrendered for registration of transfer, or any evidence of uncertificated Common Units is surrendered together with
proper transfer instructions, as applicable, and such Certificates or transfer instructions are accompanied by a Transfer Application duly executed by the transferee (or the
transferee’s attorney-in-fact duly authorized in writing). No charge shall be imposed by the General Partner for such transfer; provided, that as a condition to the issuance of any
new Certificate, or issuance of uncertificated Common Units, under this Section 4.5, the General Partner may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other
governmental charge that may be imposed with respect thereto.

(c)    Limited Partner Interests may be transferred only in the manner described in this Section 4.5. The transfer of any Limited Partner Interests and the admission of
any new Limited Partner shall not constitute an amendment to this Agreement.

(d)    Until admitted as a Substituted Limited Partner pursuant to Section 10.1, the Record Holder of a Limited Partner Interest shall be an Assignee in respect of such
Limited Partner Interest. Limited Partners may include custodians, nominees or any other individual or entity in its own or any representative capacity.

(e)    A transferee of a Limited Partner Interest who has completed and delivered a Transfer Application shall be deemed to have (i) requested admission as a
Substituted Limited Partner, (ii) agreed to comply with and be bound by and to have executed this Agreement, (iii) represented and warranted that such transferee has the right,
power and authority and, if an individual, the capacity to enter into this Agreement, (iv) granted the powers of attorney set forth in this Agreement, and (v) given the consents
and approvals and made the waivers contained in this Agreement.

(f)    The General Partner and its Affiliates shall have the right at any time to transfer their Common Units to one or more Persons.

Section 4.6    Transfer of the General Partner’s General Partner Interest.

(a)    Subject to Section 4.6(b) below, the General Partner may transfer all or any of its General Partner Interest without Unitholder approval.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no transfer by the General Partner of all or any part of its General Partner Interest to another Person shall be
permitted unless (i) the transferee agrees to assume the rights and duties of the General Partner under this Agreement and to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement, (ii)
the Partnership receives an Opinion of Counsel that such transfer would not result in the loss of limited liability of any Limited Partner or of any limited partner of the Operating
Partnership or cause the Partnership or the Operating Partnership to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for federal income
tax purposes (to the extent not already so treated or taxed), and (iii) such transferee also agrees to purchase all (or the appropriate portion thereof, if applicable) of the partnership
or membership interest of the General Partner as the general partner or managing member, if any, of each other Group Member. In the case of a transfer pursuant to and in
compliance with this Section 4.6, the transferee or successor (as the case may be) shall, subject to compliance with the terms of Section 10.2, be admitted to the Partnership as
the General Partner immediately prior to the transfer of the Partnership Interest, and the business of the Partnership shall continue without dissolution.

Section 4.7    [Reserved.]

Section 4.8    Restrictions on Transfers.

(a)    Except as provided in Section 4.8(c) below, but notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article IV, no transfer of any Partnership Interests shall be made if
such transfer would (i) violate the then applicable federal or state securities laws or rules and regulations of the Commission, any state securities commission or any
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other governmental authority with jurisdiction over such transfer, (ii) terminate the existence or qualification of the Partnership or the Operating Partnership under the laws of
the jurisdiction of its formation, or (iii) cause the Partnership or the Operating Partnership to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an
entity for federal income tax purposes (to the extent not already so treated or taxed).

(b)    The General Partner may impose restrictions on the transfer of Partnership Interests if a subsequent Opinion of Counsel determines that such restrictions are
necessary to avoid a significant risk of any Group Member becoming taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for federal income tax purposes. The
restrictions may be imposed by making such amendments to this Agreement as the General Partner may determine to be necessary or appropriate to impose such restrictions;
provided, however, that any amendment that the General Partner believes, in the exercise of its reasonable discretion, could result in the delisting or suspension of trading of any
class of Limited Partner Interests on the principal National Securities Exchange on which such class of Limited Partner Interests is then traded must be approved, prior to such
amendment being effected, by the holders of at least a majority of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests of such class.

(c)    Nothing contained in this Article IV, or elsewhere in this Agreement, shall preclude the settlement of any transactions involving Partnership Interests entered into
through the facilities of any National Securities Exchange on which such Partnership Interests are listed for trading.

Section 4.9    Citizenship Certificates; Non-citizen Assignees.

(a)    If any Group Member is or becomes subject to any federal, state, or local law or regulation that, in the reasonable determination of the General Partner, creates a
substantial risk of cancellation or forfeiture of any property in which the Group Member has an interest based on the nationality, citizenship or other related status of a Limited
Partner or Assignee, the General Partner may request any Limited Partner or Assignee to furnish to the General Partner, within thirty (30) days after receipt of such request, an
executed Citizenship Certification or such other information concerning his nationality, citizenship, or other related status (or, if the Limited Partner or Assignee is a nominee
holding for the account of another Person, the nationality, citizenship or other related status of such Person) as the General Partner may request. If a Limited Partner or Assignee
fails to furnish to the General Partner within the aforementioned thirty (30) day period such Citizenship Certification or other requested information or if upon receipt of such
Citizenship Certification or other requested information the General Partner determines, with the advice of counsel, that a Limited Partner or Assignee is not an Eligible Citizen,
the Partnership Interests owned by such Limited Partner or Assignee shall be subject to redemption in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.10. In addition, the General
Partner may require that the status of any such Partner or Assignee be changed to that of a Non-citizen Assignee and, thereupon, the General Partner shall be substituted for
such Non-citizen Assignee as the Limited Partner in respect of his Limited Partner Interests.

(b)    The General Partner shall, in exercising voting rights in respect of Limited Partner Interests held by it on behalf of Non-citizen Assignees, distribute the votes in
the same ratios as the votes of Partners (including without limitation the General Partner) in respect of Limited Partner Interests other than those of Non-citizen Assignees are
cast, either for, against or abstaining as to the matter.

(c)    Upon dissolution of the Partnership, a Non-citizen Assignee shall have no right to receive a distribution in kind pursuant to Section 12.4 but shall be entitled to
the cash equivalent thereof, and the Partnership shall provide cash in exchange for an assignment of the Non-citizen Assignee’s share of the distribution in kind. Such payment
and assignment shall be treated for Partnership purposes as a purchase by the Partnership from the Non-citizen Assignee of his Limited Partner Interest (representing his right to
receive his share of such distribution in kind).

(d)    At any time after he can and does certify that he has become an Eligible Citizen, a Non-citizen Assignee may, upon application to the General Partner, request
admission as a Substituted Limited Partner with respect to any Limited Partner Interests of such Non-citizen Assignee not redeemed pursuant to Section 4.10, and upon his
admission pursuant to Section 10.1, the General Partner shall cease to be deemed to be the Limited Partner in respect of the Non-citizen Assignee’s Limited Partner Interests.
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Section 4.10    Redemption of Partnership Interests of Non-citizen Assignees.

(a)    If at any time a Limited Partner or Assignee fails to furnish a Citizenship Certification or other information requested within the thirty (30) day period specified in
Section 4.9(a), or if upon receipt of such Citizenship Certification or other information the General Partner determines, with the advice of counsel, that a Limited Partner or
Assignee is not an Eligible Citizen, the Partnership may, unless the Limited Partner or Assignee establishes to the satisfaction of the General Partner that such Limited Partner
or Assignee is an Eligible Citizen or has transferred his Partnership Interests to a Person who is an Eligible Citizen and who furnishes a Citizenship Certification to the General
Partner prior to the date fixed for redemption as provided below, redeem the Partnership Interest of such Limited Partner or Assignee as follows:

(i)    The General Partner shall, not later than the 30th day before the date fixed for redemption, give notice of redemption to the Limited Partner or Assignee, at
his last address designated on the records of the Partnership or the Transfer Agent, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid. The notice shall be deemed to have
been given when so mailed. The notice shall specify the Redeemable Interests, the date fixed for redemption, the place of payment, that (if applicable) payment of the
redemption price will be made upon surrender of the Certificate evidencing the Redeemable Interests or, if such Redeemable Interests are uncertificated, upon receipt of
evidence satisfactory to the General Partner of the ownership of the Redeemable Interests, and that on and after the date fixed for redemption no further allocations or
distributions to which the Limited Partner or Assignee would otherwise be entitled in respect of the Redeemable Interests will accrue or be made.

(ii)    The aggregate redemption price for Redeemable Interests shall be an amount equal to the Current Market Price (the date of determination of which shall
be the date fixed for redemption) of Limited Partner Interests of the class to be so redeemed multiplied by the number of Limited Partner Interests of each such class
included among the Redeemable Interests. The redemption price shall be paid, in the discretion of the General Partner, in cash or by delivery of a promissory note of the
Partnership in the principal amount of the redemption price, bearing interest at the rate of 10% annually and payable in three equal annual installments of principal
together with accrued interest, commencing one year after the redemption date.

(iii)    Upon surrender by or on behalf of the Limited Partner or Assignee, at the place specified in the notice of redemption, of (x) if certificated, the Certificate
evidencing the Redeemable Interests, duly endorsed in blank or accompanied by an assignment duly executed in blank, or (y) if uncertificated, upon receipt of evidence
satisfactory to the General Partner of the ownership of the Redeemable Interests, the Limited Partner or Assignee or his duly authorized representative shall be entitled to
receive the payment therefor.

(iv)    After the redemption date, Redeemable Interests shall no longer constitute issued and Outstanding Limited Partner Interests.

(b)    The provisions of this Section 4.10 shall also be applicable to Limited Partner Interests held by a Limited Partner or Assignee as nominee of a Person determined
to be other than an Eligible Citizen.

(c)    Nothing in this Section 4.10 shall prevent the recipient of a notice of redemption from transferring his Limited Partner Interest before the redemption date if such
transfer is otherwise permitted under this Agreement. Upon receipt of notice of such a transfer, the General Partner shall withdraw the notice of redemption, provided the
transferee of such Limited Partner Interest certifies to the satisfaction of the General Partner in a Citizenship Certification delivered in connection with the Transfer Application
that he is an Eligible Citizen. If the transferee fails to make such certification, such redemption shall be effected from the transferee on the original redemption date.

24



ARTICLE V

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND ISSUANCE OF PARTNERSHIP INTERESTS

Section 5.1    [Reserved.]

Section 5.2    Interest and Withdrawal.

No interest shall be paid by the Partnership on Capital Contributions. No Partner or Assignee shall be entitled to the withdrawal or return of its Capital Contribution,
except to the extent, if any, that distributions made pursuant to this Agreement or upon termination of the Partnership may be considered as such by law and then only to the
extent provided for in this Agreement. Except to the extent expressly provided in this Agreement, no Partner or Assignee shall have priority over any other Partner or Assignee
either as to the return of Capital Contributions or as to profits, losses or distributions. Any such return shall be a compromise to which all Partners and Assignees agree within
the meaning of Section 17-502(b) of the Delaware Act.

Section 5.3    Capital Accounts.

(a)    The Partnership shall maintain for each Partner (or a Beneficial Owner of Partnership Interests held by a nominee in any case in which the nominee has furnished
the identity of such owner to the Partnership in accordance with Section 6031(c) of the Code or any other method acceptable to the General Partner) owning a Partnership
Interest a separate Capital Account with respect to such Partnership Interest in accordance with the rules of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv). The Capital Account
of each Partner shall be increased by (i) the amount of cash and the Net Agreed Value of property contributed to the Partnership by such Partner pursuant to this Agreement and
(ii) all items of Partnership income and gain allocated to such Partner pursuant to Section 6.1, and it shall be decreased by (x) the amount of cash or Net Agreed Value of all
distributions of cash or property (other than Series B PIK Preferred Units) made to such Partner pursuant to this Agreement (provided that the Capital Account of a Unitholder
holding Series C Preferred Units shall not be reduced by any Series C Distributions it receives) and (y) all items of Partnership deduction and loss allocated to such Partner
pursuant to Section 6.1. The General Partner may in connection with the issuance of Partnership Interests adjust the balance of the Capital Account of any Partner so as to
preserve the agreed economic relationship between the Partnership Interests that are so issued and the Partnership Interests that were outstanding prior to such issuance;
provided that the economic relationships between the Partnership Interests that were outstanding prior to such issuance are not changed thereby. Any such adjustment shall be
recorded in the records of the Partnership. For the avoidance of doubt, each holder of a Series B Preferred Unit will be treated as a partner in the Partnership. The initial Capital
Account balance in respect of each Series B Preferred Unit issued on the Series B Issuance Date shall be the Adjusted Series B Issue Price, and the initial Capital Account
balance in respect of each Series B PIK Preferred Unit shall be zero. The Capital Account balance of each holder of Series B Preferred Units in respect of its Series B Preferred
Units shall not be increased or decreased as a result of the accrual and accumulation of an unpaid distribution pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(ii)(C) or Section 5.10(b)(ii)(D) in
respect of such Series B Preferred Units except as otherwise provided in this Agreement. The initial Capital Account balance in respect of each Series C Preferred Unit issued
on the Series C Original Issue Date shall be the Series C Liquidation Preference on such date.

(b)    The items of income, gain, loss, or deduction that are recognized by the Partnership for federal income tax purposes during a taxable period of the Partnership
shall be adjusted as is set out in this Section 5.3(b) and shall then be allocated among the Partners as is provided in Section 6.1.

(i)    The Partnership shall be treated as owning directly its share (as determined by the General Partner) of all property owned by the Operating Partnership or
any other Subsidiary that is, in each case, classified as a partnership or is disregarded for federal income tax purposes.

(ii)    All fees and other expenses incurred by the Partnership to promote the sale of (or to sell) a Partnership Interest that cannot either be deducted or amortized
under Section 709 of the Code shall be treated as an item of deduction at the time such fees and other expenses are incurred.

(iii)    The computation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction shall be made without regard to any election under Section 754 of the Code; provided that
if an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Partnership asset is required pursuant to Section 734(b) or 743(b) of the Code, pursuant to
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Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(m), to be taken into account in determining Capital Accounts, the amount of such adjustment shall be treated as an item of
income or deduction, as the case may be, at the time of the adjustment, and the Carrying Value of each Partnership asset in respect of which there was such an adjustment
shall also be adjusted at that time.

(iv)    Any income, gain, deduction, or loss attributable to the taxable disposition of any Partnership property shall be determined as if the adjusted basis of such
property were equal to the Partnership’s Carrying Value for such property as of the date of disposition.

(v)    Any deductions for depreciation, cost recovery, or amortization that are attributable to any Partnership property shall be determined as if the adjusted basis
of such property were equal to the Carrying Value thereof and by using a rate of depreciation, cost recovery or amortization derived from the same method and useful life
(or, if applicable, the remaining useful life) as is applied for federal income tax purposes and appropriately taking into account the length of any short taxable period of
the Partnership; provided, however, that, if the Partnership property has a zero adjusted basis for federal income tax purposes, depreciation, cost recovery, or
amortization deductions shall be determined using any reasonable method that the General Partner may adopt. Any deduction for depreciation, cost recovery, or
amortization in respect of Partnership property that is determined pursuant to this Section 5.3(b) shall reduce the Carrying Value of that Partnership property as of the
end of the taxable period of the Partnership in which such deduction was recognized. Notwithstanding the foregoing portion of this Section 5.3(b)(v), such deductions for
depreciation, cost recovery, or amortization shall be determined with respect to any portion of such Carrying Value with respect to which Treasury Regulation Section
1.704-3(d) remedial allocations are to be made (including reverse section 704(c) allocations that are to be made as Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d) remedial
allocations) pursuant to provisions hereof in accordance with a method that is permitted by such Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d) and that is selected by the
General Partner.

(vi)    If the Partnership’s adjusted basis in property is reduced for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 48(q)(1) or 48(q)(3) of the Code, the amount
of such reduction shall be an additional depreciation or cost recovery deduction in the year such property is placed in service at the time of such reduction and shall be
treated as a reduction in the Carrying Value of such property. Any restoration of such basis pursuant to Section 48(q)(2) of the Code shall be an item of income at the
time of such restoration and shall be treated as an increase in the Carrying Value of such property at the time of such restoration.

(vii)    Any items of gain and loss that are determined pursuant to Section 5.3(d) hereof shall be treated as items of income and deduction, respectively, that are
recognized in the taxable period of the Partnership that ends with the event that causes the determination of such gain or loss. An item of income of the Partnership that is
described in Section 705(a)(1)(B) of the Code (with respect to items of income that are exempt from tax) shall be treated as an item of income for the purpose of this
Section 5.3(b), and an item of expense of the Partnership that is described in Section 705(a)(2)(B) of the Code (with respect to expenditures that are deductible and not
chargeable to capital accounts), shall be treated as an item of deduction for the purpose of this Section 5.3(b).

(viii)    A taxable period of the Partnership includes a taxable year of the Partnership. The portion of a taxable period of the Partnership that ends with the
Closing Date or with an event in respect of which there is an adjustment to Carrying Values pursuant to Section 5.3(d) hereof shall be treated as the end of a taxable
period of the Partnership. The portion of such taxable year of the Partnership that begins immediately thereafter shall be treated as a taxable period for purposes of the
preceding sentence with the result that each taxable year of the Partnership may contain one or more taxable periods of the Partnership. The items of income, gain, loss
and deduction of the Partnership that are recognized for federal, state or local income tax purposes prior to the Closing Date shall not be allocated pursuant to this
Agreement.

(c)    A transferee of a Partnership Interest shall succeed to a pro rata portion of the Capital Account of the transferor relating to the Partnership Interest so transferred.

(d)    (i) In accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f) and Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(s), on an issuance of additional
Partnership Interests for cash or Contributed Property, the issuance of Partnership Interests as consideration for the provision of services or the conversion of the
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General Partner’s Combined Interest to Common Units pursuant to Section 11.3(b), the Capital Account of all Partners and the Carrying Value of each Partnership property
immediately prior to such issuance, or immediately after such conversion, shall be adjusted upward or downward to reflect any Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable
to such Partnership property, as if such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss had been recognized on an actual sale of each such property for an amount equal to its fair market
value immediately prior to such issuance or on the date of such conversion. Any such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss (or items thereof) shall be allocated among the
Unitholders pursuant to Section 6.1(c) in the same manner as any item of gain or loss actually recognized following an event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership
would have been allocated. In determining such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss, the aggregate cash amount and fair market value of all Partnership assets (including cash or
cash equivalents) immediately prior to the issuance of additional Partnership Interests shall be determined by the General Partner using such method of valuation as it may
adopt; provided, however, that the General Partner, in arriving at such valuation, must take fully into account the fair market value of the Partnership Interests of all Partners at
such time. The General Partner shall allocate such aggregate value among the assets of the Partnership (in such manner as it determines) to arrive at a fair market value for
individual properties.

(ii) In accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), immediately prior to any distribution to a Partner (other than a distribution of cash that
is not in redemption or retirement of a Partnership Interest), the General Partner may cause any Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to each Partnership
property to be recognized, and allocated in the same manner as that provided in Section 5.3(d)(i), as if there had been a sale of such property immediately prior to such
distribution in which event the Carrying Value of each Partnership property shall be adjusted as of the beginning of the next taxable period to an amount equal to the fair
market value thereof. In determining such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss, the aggregate cash amount and fair market value of all Partnership assets immediately
prior to a distribution shall (A) in the case of a distribution that is not made pursuant to Section 12.4 be determined and allocated in the same manner as that provided in
Section 5.3(d)(i) or (B) in the case of a liquidating distribution pursuant to Section 12.4, be determined and allocated by the Liquidator using such reasonable method of
valuation as it may adopt.    

Section 5.4    Issuances of Additional Partnership Securities.

(a)    Subject to any approvals required by Section 5.10(b)(vi) or Section 5.11(b)(iii)(C), the Partnership may issue additional Partnership Securities and options, rights,
warrants, and appreciation rights relating to the Partnership Securities for any Partnership purpose at any time and from time to time to such Persons for such consideration and
on such terms and conditions as the General Partner shall determine, all without the approval of any Limited Partners.

(b)    Each additional Partnership Security authorized to be issued by the Partnership pursuant to Section 5.4(a) may be issued in one or more classes, or one or more
series of any such classes, with such designations, preferences, rights, powers, and duties (which may be senior to existing classes and series of Partnership Securities), as shall
be fixed by the General Partner in the exercise of its sole discretion, including (i) the right to share Partnership profits and losses or items thereof; (ii) the right to share in
Partnership distributions (the specification of which may include an amendment of Section 6.1); (iii) the rights upon dissolution and liquidation of the Partnership; (iv) whether,
and the terms and conditions upon which, the Partnership may redeem the Partnership Security; (v) whether such Partnership Security is issued with the privilege of conversion
or exchange and, if so, the terms and conditions of such conversion or exchange; (vi) the terms and conditions upon which each Partnership Security will be issued, evidenced
by certificates and assigned or transferred; (vii) the number of Units to which such Partnership Securities are equivalent for the purpose of determining Percentage Interest (and
only for such purpose); and (viii) the right, if any, of each such Partnership Security to vote on Partnership matters, including matters relating to the relative rights, preferences,
and privileges of such Partnership Security.

(c)    The General Partner is hereby authorized and directed to take all actions that it deems necessary or appropriate in connection with (i) each issuance of Partnership
Securities and options, rights, warrants, and appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities pursuant to this Section 5.4, (ii) the conversion of the General Partner Interest
into Units pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, (iii) the admission of Additional Limited Partners, and (iv) all additional issuances of Partnership Securities. The General
Partner is further authorized and directed to specify the relative rights, powers, and duties of the holders of the Units or other Partnership Securities being so issued. The General
Partner shall do all things necessary to comply with the Delaware Act and is authorized and directed to do all things it deems to be necessary or advisable in connection with any
future issuance of
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Partnership Securities or in connection with the conversion of the General Partner Interest into Units pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including compliance with any
statute, rule, regulation, or guideline of any federal, state, or other governmental agency or any National Securities Exchange on which the Units or other Partnership Securities
are listed for trading.

(d)    No fractional Units shall be issued by the Partnership.

Section 5.5    Limited Preemptive Right.

Except as provided in this Section 5.5, no Person shall have any preemptive, preferential or other similar right with respect to the issuance of any Partnership Security,
whether unissued, held in the treasury or hereafter created. The General Partner shall have the right, which it may from time to time assign in whole or in part to any of its
Affiliates, to purchase Partnership Securities from the Partnership whenever, and on the same terms that, the Partnership issues Partnership Securities to Persons other than the
General Partner and its Affiliates, to the extent necessary to maintain the Percentage Interests of the General Partner and its Affiliates equal to that which existed immediately
prior to the issuance of such Partnership Securities.

Section 5.6    Splits and Combinations.

(a)    Subject to Sections 5.6(d), 6.6, and 6.8 (dealing with adjustments of distribution levels), the Partnership may make a Pro Rata distribution of Partnership
Securities (other than a distribution of Series B Preferred Units or Series C Preferred Units) to all Record Holders or may effect a subdivision or combination of Partnership
Securities so long as, after any such event, each Partner shall have the same Percentage Interest in the Partnership as before such event, and any amounts calculated on a per Unit
basis or stated as a number of Units are proportionately adjusted retroactive to the beginning of the Partnership.

(b)    Whenever such a distribution, subdivision, or combination of Partnership Securities is declared, the General Partner shall select a Record Date as of which the
distribution, subdivision, or combination shall be effective and shall send notice thereof at least twenty (20) days prior to such Record Date to each Record Holder as of a date
not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such notice. The General Partner also may cause a firm of independent public accountants selected by it to calculate the number of
Partnership Securities to be held by each Record Holder after giving effect to such distribution, subdivision, or combination. The General Partner shall be entitled to rely on any
certificate provided by such firm as conclusive evidence of the accuracy of such calculation.

(c)    Promptly following any such distribution, subdivision, or combination, the Partnership may issue Certificates or uncertificated Partnership Securities to the
Record Holders of Partnership Securities as of the applicable Record Date representing the new number of Partnership Securities held by such Record Holders, or the General
Partner may adopt such other procedures as it may deem appropriate to reflect such changes. If any such combination results in a smaller total number of Partnership Securities
Outstanding, the Partnership shall require, as a condition to the delivery to a Record Holder of such new Certificate or uncertificated Partnership Securities, as applicable, the
surrender of any Certificate held by such Record Holder immediately prior to such Record Date.

(d)    The Partnership shall not issue fractional Units upon any distribution, subdivision, or combination of Units. If a distribution, subdivision, or combination of Units
would result in the issuance of fractional Units but for the provisions of Section 5.4(d) and this Section 5.6(d), each fractional Unit shall be rounded to the nearest whole Unit
(and a 0.5 Unit shall be rounded to the next higher Unit).

Section 5.7    Fully Paid and Non-Assessable Nature of Limited Partner Interests.

All Limited Partner Interests issued pursuant to, and in accordance with the requirements of, this Article V shall be fully paid and non-assessable Limited Partner
Interests in the Partnership, except as such non-assessability may be affected by Section 17-607 of the Delaware Act.

Section 5.8    [Reserved].

Section 5.9    [Reserved].
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Section 5.10    Establishment of Series B Preferred Units.

(a)    General. The Partnership has designated and created a series of Units designated as “Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units” and consisting of a total
of 54,439,539 Series B Preferred Units Outstanding as of the date of this Agreement (plus any additional Series B Preferred Units issued in kind as a distribution pursuant to
Section 5.10(b)(ii) (“Series B PIK Preferred Units” and, together with such Series B Preferred Units Outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, the “Series B Preferred
Units”)), having the same rights, preferences, and privileges, and subject to the same duties and obligations, as the Common Units, except as set forth in this Section 5.10 and in
Sections 5.3, 6.9, and 12.4. Other than with respect to the Series B PIK Preferred Units, immediately following the date of this Agreement and thereafter, no additional Series B
Preferred Units shall be designated, created, or issued without the prior written approval of the General Partner and the holders of a majority of the Outstanding Series B
Preferred Units.

(b)    Rights of Series B Preferred Units. The Series B Preferred Units shall have the following rights, preferences, and privileges and shall be subject to the following
duties and obligations:

(i)    Allocations.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 6.1(a), following any allocation made pursuant to Section 6.1(d) and prior to any allocation made
pursuant to any other subsection of Section 6.1, items of Partnership gross income shall be allocated to all Unitholders in respect of Series B Preferred Units,
Pro Rata, until the aggregate of such items allocated to such Unitholders pursuant to this Section 5.10(b)(i) for the current and all previous taxable periods since
the issuance of the Series B Preferred Units is equal to the lesser of (x) the sum of (I) the aggregate amount of cash (but, for the avoidance of doubt, not Series B
PIK Preferred Units) distributed with respect to such Series B Preferred Units for the current and previous taxable periods and (II) aggregate Net Loss allocated
to the Unitholders in respect of Series B Preferred Units pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(iii) for the current and all previous taxable periods or (y) the Gross Income
Allocation Cap.

(ii)    Distributions.

(A)    For each Quarter ending after the date of this Agreement, the holders of the Series B Preferred Units as of an applicable Record Date shall be
entitled to receive cumulative distributions (each, a “Series B Quarterly Distribution”) in the amount set forth in this Section 5.10(b)(ii)(A) in respect of each
Outstanding Series B Preferred Unit. All such distributions shall be paid Quarterly within forty-five (45) days after the end of each Quarter (each such
payment date, a “Series B Distribution Payment Date”). The Series B Quarterly Distribution on each Outstanding Series B Preferred Unit shall be equal to (I)
with respect to each Quarter prior to the Series B PIK Termination Quarter, the sum of (a) the Series B Cash Payment Amount, (b) any accrued Series B
Unpaid Cash Distributions, (c) the Series B PIK Payment Amount, and (d) any accrued and unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units, and (II) with respect to the
Series B PIK Termination Quarter and each subsequent Quarter, the sum of (x) the Series B Cash Payment Amount, (y) any accrued Series B Unpaid Cash
Distributions and (z) any accrued and unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units. The Record Date with respect to each Series B Quarterly Distribution shall be as
of the close of business on the first Business Day of the second month after the end of each Quarter. Unless otherwise expressly provided, references in this
Agreement to Series B Preferred Units shall include all Series B PIK Preferred Units Outstanding as of any date of such determination.

(B)    When any Series B PIK Preferred Units are payable to a Record Holder of Series B Preferred Units pursuant to this Section 5.10, the
Partnership shall issue the Series B PIK Preferred Units to such Record Holder no later than the applicable Series B Distribution Payment Date (the date of
issuance of such Series B PIK Preferred Units, the “Series B PIK Preferred Payment Date”). On each applicable Series B PIK Preferred Payment Date, the
Partnership shall issue to such Series B Unitholder a Certificate or Certificates for the number of Series B PIK Preferred Units to which such Series B
Unitholder shall be entitled on such Series B PIK Preferred Payment Date. If the Partnership fails to pay in full any Series B PIK Preferred
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Units required to be issued pursuant to a Series B Quarterly Distribution when due, then the holders entitled to the unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units shall
be entitled to (I) receive Series B Quarterly Distributions in subsequent Quarters on such unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units, (II) receive the Series B
Liquidation Value in accordance with Section 5.10(b)(iv) in respect of such unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units, and (III) all other rights under this
Agreement as if such unpaid Series B PIK Preferred Units had in fact been distributed on the date due. Fractional Series B PIK Preferred Units shall not be
issued to any person (each fractional Series B PIK Preferred Unit shall be rounded to the nearest whole Series B PIK Preferred Unit (and a 0.5 Series B PIK
Preferred Unit shall be rounded to the next higher Series B PIK Preferred Unit)).

(C)    The Partnership shall be entitled to make cash distributions pursuant to Section 6.4; provided, however, that, if the Partnership fails to pay in full
the Series B Cash Payment Amount of any Series B Quarterly Distribution when due, then from and after the first date of such failure and continuing until
such failure is cured by payment in full in cash of all such cash arrearages with respect to any Series B Quarterly Distribution, (y) the amount of such unpaid
cash distributions unless and until paid (“Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions”) will accrue and accumulate from and including the first day of the Quarter
immediately following the Quarter in respect of which such payment is due until paid in full and (z) the Partnership shall not be permitted to, and shall not,
declare or make any distributions in respect of any Series B Junior Securities.

(D)    The aggregate Series B Cash Payment Amount to be so distributed in respect of the Series B Preferred Units Outstanding as of the Record Date
for a Series B Quarterly Distribution shall be paid out of Available Cash or appropriate provision shall be made therefor prior to making any distribution
pursuant to Section 6.4. To the extent that any portion of a Series B Quarterly Distribution to be paid in cash with respect to any Quarter exceeds the amount of
Available Cash for such Quarter, an amount of cash equal to the Available Cash for such Quarter will be paid to the Series B Unitholders Pro Rata and the
balance of such Series B Quarterly Distribution shall be unpaid and shall constitute an arrearage and shall accrue and accumulate as set forth in Section
5.10(b)(ii)(C).

(E)    Notwithstanding anything in this Section 5.10(b)(ii) to the contrary, with respect to any Series B Preferred Unit that is exchanged for an ENLC
Common Unit, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to a distribution in respect of such Series B Preferred Unit and a distribution in respect of such ENLC
Common Unit with respect to the same period, but shall be entitled only to the distribution to be paid in respect of the Series B Preferred Units or ENLC
Common Units held as of the close of business on the Record Date for the Series B Quarterly Distribution or the record date established by ENLC Manager for
payment of a distribution on the ENLC Common Units pursuant to the ENLC Operating Agreement, as applicable. For the avoidance of doubt, if a Series B
Exchange Date occurs prior to the close of business on a record date established by ENLC Manager for payment of a distribution on the ENLC Common
Units, the applicable holder of Series B Preferred Units shall receive, with respect to any Series B Preferred Units that have been exchanged for ENLC
Common Units, only the distribution in respect of such ENLC Common Units with respect to such period.

(F)    Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, no later than the fifth anniversary of the date on which any Series B Unpaid Cash
Distributions have first accrued, the Partnership shall pay to the Series B Unitholders all Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions that have accrued as of such date.
Following payment in full of all such accrued Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions, the Partnership shall be permitted, subject to continued compliance with
this Section 5.10(b)(ii)(F), to cause Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions to accrue with respect to the Series B Preferred Units.

(G)    Notwithstanding anything in Article VI to the contrary, the holder of the General Partner Interest shall not be entitled to receive distributions or
allocations of income or gain that correspond or relate to amounts distributed or allocated to Unitholders in respect of Series B Preferred Units.
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(iii)    Issuance of the Series B Preferred Units. Prior to the date of this Agreement, the Series B Preferred Units (excluding the Series B PIK Preferred Units)
were issued by the Partnership pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Series B Purchase Agreement.

( i v )    Liquidation Value. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution and winding up of the Partnership under Section 12.4 or a sale, exchange, or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership, either voluntary or involuntary, the Record Holders of the Series B Preferred Units shall be entitled
to receive, out of the assets of the Partnership available for distribution to the Partners or any Assignees, prior and in preference to any distribution of any assets of the
Partnership to the Record Holders of any other class or series of Partnership Interests, the positive value in each such holder’s Capital Account in respect of such Series B
Preferred Units. If in the year of such liquidation and winding up, or sale, exchange, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership, any
such Record Holder’s Capital Account in respect of such Series B Preferred Units is less than the aggregate Series B Liquidation Value of such Series B Preferred Units,
then notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, and prior to any other allocation pursuant to this Agreement for such year and prior to any
distribution pursuant to the preceding sentence, items of gross income and gain shall be allocated to all Unitholders then holding Series B Preferred Units, Pro Rata, until
the Capital Account in respect of each Outstanding Series B Preferred Unit is equal to the Series B Liquidation Value (and no other allocation pursuant to this Agreement
shall reverse the effect of such allocation). If in the year of such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up any such Record Holder’s Capital Account in respect of such
Series B Preferred Units is less than the aggregate Series B Liquidation Value of such Series B Preferred Units after the application of the preceding sentence, then to the
extent permitted by applicable law and notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, items of gross income and gain for any preceding taxable
period(s) with respect to which IRS Form 1065 Schedules K-1 have not been filed by the Partnership shall be reallocated to all Unitholders then holding Series B
Preferred Units, Pro Rata, until the Capital Account in respect of each such Outstanding Series B Preferred Unit after making allocations pursuant to this and the
immediately preceding sentence is equal to the Series B Liquidation Value (and no other allocation pursuant to this Agreement shall reverse the effect of such allocation).
After such allocations have been made to the Outstanding Series B Preferred Units (and then to the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units pursuant to Section 5.11(b)(v),
if applicable), any remaining Net Termination Gain or Net Termination Loss shall be allocated to the Partners pursuant to Section 6.1(c) or Section 6.1(d), as the case
may be. At the time of the dissolution of the Partnership, subject to Section 17-804 of the Delaware Act, the Record Holders of the Series B Preferred Units shall become
entitled to receive any distributions in respect of the Series B Preferred Units that are accrued and unpaid as of the date of such distribution, and shall have the status of,
and shall be entitled to all remedies available to, a creditor of the Partnership, and such entitlement of the Record Holders of the Series B Preferred Units to such accrued
and unpaid distributions shall have priority over any entitlement of any other Partners or Assignees with respect to any distributions by the Partnership to such other
Partners or Assignees; provided, however, that the General Partner, as such, will have no liability for any obligations with respect to such distributions to any Record
Holder(s) of Series B Preferred Units.

(v)    Voting Rights.

(A)    Except as provided in Section 5.10(b)(v)(B) below, the Outstanding Series B Preferred Units shall have voting rights that are identical to the
voting rights of the Common Units and shall vote with the Common Units as a single class, so that each holder of Outstanding Series B Preferred Units will be
entitled to a number of votes equal to the product of (i) the number of Outstanding Series B Preferred Units held by such holder, multiplied by (ii) the Series B
Distribution Exchange Rate (the “Series B Deemed Votes”), on each matter with respect to which each Common Unit is entitled to vote. Each reference in this
Agreement to a vote of Record Holders of Common Units shall be deemed to be a reference to the holders of Common Units and Series B Preferred Units
(based on the number of Series B Deemed Votes), and the definition of “Unit Majority” shall correspondingly be construed to mean at least a majority of the
Common Units and the Series B Preferred Units (based on the number of Series B Deemed Votes), voting together as a single class during any period in which
any Series B Preferred Units are Outstanding.

(B)    Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in addition to all other requirements imposed by Delaware law, and all other voting
rights granted under this Agreement,
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the affirmative vote of the Record Holders of a majority of the Outstanding Series B Preferred Units, voting separately as a class based upon one vote per Series
B Preferred Unit, shall be necessary on any matter that (i) adversely affects any of the rights, preferences, and privileges of the Series B Preferred Units or (ii)
amends or modifies any of the terms of the Series B Preferred Units. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, any action (including any action
by merger, consolidation, or other business combination) shall be deemed to adversely affect the holders of the Series B Preferred Units if such action would:

(1)    reduce the Series B Cash Payment Amount or Series B PIK Payment Amount, change the form of payment of distributions on the
Series B Preferred Units, defer the date from which distributions on the Series B Preferred Units will accrue, cancel accrued and unpaid distributions
on the Series B Preferred Units or any interest accrued thereon (including any accrued Series B Unpaid Cash Distributions or Series B PIK Preferred
Units), or change the seniority rights of the Series B Unitholders as to the payment of distributions in relation to the Unitholders of any other class or
series of Units;

(2)    reduce the amount payable or change the form of payment to the holders of the Series B Preferred Units upon the voluntary or
involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or sale of all or substantially all of the assets, of the Partnership, or change the seniority of the
liquidation preferences of the holders of the Series B Preferred Units in relation to the rights upon liquidation of the holders of any other class or series
of Units;

(3)    make the Series B Preferred Units redeemable, convertible or exchangeable at the option of the Partnership other than as set forth
herein;

(4)    amend or modify any organizational or governing document of any Subsidiary of the Partnership except for amendments or
modifications that the General Partner determines will not materially adversely affect the Partnership’s ability to pay Series B Quarterly Distributions;
or

(5)    result in incurrence by the Partnership and its Subsidiaries of any funded debt if, immediately after the incurrence thereof and giving pro
forma effect to the use of proceeds thereof, the Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of the end of the most recently
ended Quarter for which financial statements are available would exceed (i) 5.50 to 1.00 if such debt is not incurred during an Acquisition Period (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) or (ii) 6.00 to 1.00 if such debt is incurred during an Acquisition Period. For purposes of this Agreement, the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio and components thereof shall be calculated in accordance with the Credit Agreement, including the inclusion of Material
Project EBITDA Adjustments and pro forma concepts to the extent permitted by the Credit Agreement.

(v i )    No Series B Parity Securities or Series B Senior Securities. Other than Series B PIK Preferred Units issued in connection with the Series B Quarterly
Distribution, the Partnership shall not, without the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the Outstanding Series B Preferred Units, issue any Series B Parity
Securities or Series B Senior Securities (or amend the provisions of any class of Partnership Securities to make such class of Partnership Securities a class of Series B
Parity Securities or Series B Senior Securities); provided, however, that the Partnership may, without the affirmative vote of the holders of Outstanding Series B
Preferred Units, create (by reclassification or otherwise) and issue Series B Junior Securities in an unlimited amount.

(vii)    Certificates. The Series B Preferred Units shall be represented by one or more global Certificates registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee,
and no Series B Unitholder shall be entitled to receive a definitive Certificate evidencing its Series B Preferred Units, unless (A) requested by a Series B Unitholder or
beneficial owner and consented to by the General Partner in its sole discretion, (B) otherwise required by law or (C) the Depositary gives notice of its intention to resign
or is no longer
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eligible to act as such with respect to the Series B Preferred Units and the Partnership shall have not selected a substitute Depositary within 60 calendar days thereafter.
So long as the Depositary shall have been appointed and is serving with respect to the Series B Preferred Units, payments, distributions and communications made by the
Partnership to beneficial owners of Series B Preferred Units held by the Depositary shall be made by making payments or distributions to, and communicating with, the
Depositary.

(viii)    Exchange and Redemption.

(A)    At the Option of the Series B Unitholder. The Series B Preferred Units owned by any Series B Unitholder shall be exchangeable, in whole or in
part, at any time and from time to time upon the request of the Series B Unitholder, for either, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Partnership, (i) a number
of ENLC Common Units determined by multiplying the number of Series B Preferred Units that are the subject of the exchange by the Series B Exchange Ratio
(the “Series B Unit Exchange Amount”) or (ii) an amount of cash equal to the Series B Redemption Amount.

(B)    At the Option of the Partnership. The Partnership shall have the option at any time to exchange or redeem all, but not less than all, of the Series B
Preferred Units then Outstanding either, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Partnership, (i) for the Series B Unit Exchange Amount or (ii) for the Series B
Redemption Amount; provided that, in order for the Partnership to exercise such option, the daily volume-weighted average closing trading price of the ENLC
Common Units on the National Securities Exchange on which the ENLC Common Units are then listed or admitted to trading must be greater than the quotient
of (x) one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Series B Issue Price for the trailing thirty (30) Trading Days ending two (2) Trading Days before the date the
Partnership furnishes the Series B Forced Exchange Notice, divided by (y) the Common Unit Exchange Ratio.

( C )    Exchange Notice and Exchange Election Notice. To exchange Series B Preferred Units pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(A), the Series B
Exchanging Unitholder or beneficial owner, as the case may be, shall (i) in the case of a global Certificate of Series B Preferred Units, comply with the
procedures of the Depositary then in effect for converting a beneficial interest in the global Certificate and (ii) in the case of Certificated Series B Preferred
Units, give written notice (a “Series B Exchange Notice”) to the Partnership stating that such Series B Unitholder elects to so exchange Series B Preferred Units
and shall state or include therein with respect to Series B Preferred Units to be exchanged pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(A) the following: (a) the number of
Series B Preferred Units to be exchanged, (b) the Certificate(s) evidencing the Series B Preferred Units to be exchanged and duly endorsed, (c) the name or
names in which such Series B Unitholder wishes the Certificate or Certificates for Series B Exchange Units to be issued, if applicable, and (d) such Series B
Unitholder’s computation of the number of Series B Exchange Units and the applicable Series B Redemption Amount with respect to the Series B Preferred
Units to be exchanged. The date on which (i) any beneficial owner of a global Certificate of Series B Preferred Units complies with the procedures of the
Depositary then in effect for converting a beneficial interest in the global Certificate or (ii) any Series B Exchange Notice is received by the Partnership, in each
case, shall hereinafter be referred to as a “Series B Exchange Notice Date.” Within three (3) Business Days following the Series B Exchange Notice Date, the
Partnership shall deliver to such Series B Exchanging Unitholder a written notice (the “Series B Exchange Election Notice”) stating whether the Partnership will
exchange the applicable Series B Preferred Units for the applicable Series B Unit Exchange Amount or Series B Redemption Amount, in either case, upon the
Series B Exchange Date. To exchange Series B Preferred Units for ENLC Common Units or to redeem Series B Preferred Units for the Series B Redemption
Amount, in either case, pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(B), the Partnership shall comply with the applicable procedures of the Depositary, if any, then in effect
to carry out such exchange or redemption and give written notice (a “Series B Forced Exchange Notice,” and the date such notice is received, a “Series B
Forced Exchange Notice Date”) to each holder of Series B Preferred Units stating (x) that the Partnership elects to force the exchange of such Series B
Preferred Units pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(B) and (y) whether the Partnership will exchange or redeem the applicable Series B Preferred Units for the
applicable Series B Unit Exchange Amount or Series B Redemption Amount, in either case, upon the Series B Exchange Date. In
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addition, if a Series B Exchanging Unitholder does not provide written notice to the Partnership of the name or names in which such Series B Exchanging
Unitholder wishes the Certificate or Certificates for Series B Exchange Units to be issued, if applicable, within seven (7) Business Days after receipt of the
Series B Forced Exchange Notice, then the Certificate or Certificates for Series B Exchange Units, if applicable, shall be issued to the Record Holder of such
Series B Preferred Units.

( D )    Timing; Certificates . If (I) any beneficial owner of a global Certificate of Series B Preferred Units complies with the procedures of the
Depositary then in effect for converting a beneficial interest in the global Certificate or (II) a Series B Exchange Notice is delivered by a Series B Unitholder to
the Partnership, in each case, in accordance with Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C) or a Series B Forced Exchange Notice is delivered by the Partnership to a Series B
Unitholder pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(C), pursuant to the election of the Partnership set forth in the Series B Exchange Election Notice or Series B Forced
Exchange Notice, as applicable, either (i) ENLC shall issue the Series B Exchange Units or (ii) the Partnership shall deliver the Series B Redemption Amount,
in either case, no later than seven (7) Business Days after the Series B Exchange Notice Date or the Series B Forced Exchange Notice Date, as the case may be
(any date of issuance of such ENLC Common Units, a “Series B Exchange Date”). Immediately upon any exchange or redemption of Series B Preferred Units,
all rights of the Series B Exchanging Unitholder in respect thereof shall cease, including, without limitation, any further accrual of distributions. Fractional
ENLC Common Units shall not be issued to any person pursuant to this Section 5.10(b)(viii) (each fractional ENLC Common Unit shall be rounded to the
nearest whole ENLC Common Unit (and a 0.5 ENLC Common Unit shall be rounded to the next higher ENLC Common Unit)).

( E )    Distributions, Combinations, Subdivisions, and Reclassifications. If, after the Series B Issuance Date, ENLC (i) makes a distribution on its
ENLC Common Units payable in ENLC Common Units or another security representing a portion of ENLC’s business, (ii) subdivides or splits its outstanding
ENLC Common Units into a greater number of ENLC Common Units, (iii) combines or reclassifies its ENLC Common Units into a smaller number of ENLC
Common Units, or (iv) issues by reclassification of its ENLC Common Units any membership interests in ENLC (including any reclassification in connection
with a merger, consolidation, or business combination in which ENLC is the surviving Person), in each case other than in connection with a Series B Change of
Control (which shall be governed by Section 5.10(b)(viii)(F)), then the Series B Distribution Exchange Rate in effect at the time of the record date established
by the ENLC Manager for such distribution pursuant to the ENLC Operating Agreement or the effective date of such subdivision, split, combination, or
reclassification shall be proportionately adjusted so that the exchange of the Series B Preferred Units after such time shall entitle each Series B Unitholder to
receive the aggregate number of ENLC Common Units (or any ENLC membership interests into which such ENLC Common Units would have been
combined, consolidated, merged, or reclassified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) above) that such Series B Unitholder would have been entitled to receive if the
Series B Preferred Units had been exchanged for ENLC Common Units immediately prior to such record date or effective date, as the case may be, and in the
case of a merger, consolidation, or business combination in which the Partnership is the surviving Person, in each case other than in connection with a Series B
Change of Control (which shall be governed by Section 5.10(b)(viii)(F)), the Partnership shall provide effective provisions to ensure that the provisions in this
Section 5.10 relating to the Series B Preferred Units shall not be abridged or amended and that the Series B Preferred Units shall thereafter retain the same
powers, preferences, and relative participating, optional, and other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions thereon, that the Series B
Preferred Units had immediately prior to such transaction or event. An adjustment made pursuant to this Section 5.10(b)(viii)(E) shall become effective
immediately after applicable record date in the case of a distribution and shall become effective immediately after the effective date in the case of a subdivision,
combination, reclassification (including any reclassification in connection with a merger, consolidation, or business combination in which the Partnership is the
surviving Person), or split. Such adjustment shall be made successively whenever any event described above shall occur.
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(F)    Series B Change of Control. Immediately prior to a Series B Change of Control, all Series B Preferred Units then outstanding shall be exchanged
or redeemed (as described in this paragraph (F)), as applicable, for either, at the sole and absolute discretion of the Partnership, (1) a number of ENLC Common
Units equal to the greater of (i) the Series B Unit Exchange Amount and (ii) the number of Series B Preferred Units to be exchanged multiplied by the quotient
of (A) an amount equal to the quotient of (x) 140% of the Series B Issue Price divided by (y) the Common Unit Exchange Ratio, divided by (B) the daily
volume-weighted average closing trading price of the ENLC Common Units on the National Securities Exchange on which the ENLC Common Units are listed
or admitted to trading for the trailing thirty (30) Trading Days ending two (2) Trading Days before the date of such exchange (such number of ENLC Common
Units calculated pursuant to this clause (1), the “Series B Change of Control Units”) or (2) cash in an amount equal to (i) the number of Series B Change of
Control Units multiplied by (ii) the daily volume-weighted average closing trading price of ENLC Common Units on the National Securities Exchange on
which the ENLC Common Units are listed or admitted to trading for the trailing ten (10) Trading Days ending two (2) Trading Days before the date of such
redemption. Seven (7) Business Days prior to a Series B Change of Control, the Partnership shall deliver a written notice to each Series B Unitholder (the
“Series B Change of Control Exchange Election Notice”) stating whether the Partnership will exchange all Series B Preferred Units for Series B Change of
Control Units or the cash amount set forth in clause (2) above, in either case, immediately prior to such Series B Change of Control. If a Depositary has been
appointed, the Partnership shall comply with any applicable procedures of the Depositary to carry out the applicable exchange or redemption in connection with
any Series B Change of Control. If the Partnership elects to deliver the Series B Change of Control Units, and a Series B Unitholder does not provide written
notice to the Partnership of the name or names in which such Series B Unitholder wishes the Certificate or Certificates for the Series B Change of Control Units
to be issued within seven (7) Business Days after receipt of the Series B Change of Control Exchange Election Notice, if applicable, then the Certificate or
Certificates for the Series B Change of Control Units of such Series B Unitholder shall be issued to the Record Holder of such Series B Preferred Units, if
applicable. Immediately upon any exchange or redemption of Series B Preferred Units pursuant to this Section 5.10(b)(viii)(F), all rights of the Series B
Exchanging Unitholder in respect thereof shall cease, including, without limitation, any further accrual of distributions. Fractional ENLC Common Units shall
not be issued to any person pursuant to this Section 5.10(b)(viii)(F), if applicable (each fractional ENLC Common Unit shall be rounded to the nearest whole
ENLC Common Unit (and a 0.5 ENLC Common Unit shall be rounded to the next higher ENLC Common Unit)).

(G)    No Adjustments for Certain Items. Notwithstanding any of the other provisions of this Section 5.10(b)(viii), no adjustment shall be made to the
Series B Distribution Exchange Rate pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(E) as a result of any of the following:

(1)    The issuance of Series B PIK Preferred Units or additional Partnership Securities issued in connection with distributions paid in kind;

(2)    the grant of ENLC Common Units or options, warrants, or rights to purchase ENLC Common Units or the issuance of ENLC Common
Units upon the exercise of any such options, warrants, or rights to employees, officers, or directors of ENLC Manager, ENLC, the General Partner, the
Partnership, or the Subsidiaries of ENLC or the Partnership in respect of services provided to or for the benefit of any such entity, under compensation
plans and agreements approved in good faith by the board of directors of ENLC Manager or the General Partner (including any long term incentive
plan), as applicable;

(3)    the issuance of any ENLC Common Units as all or part of the consideration to effect (i) the closing of any acquisition by ENLC, the
Partnership, or any of their respective Subsidiaries of assets or equity interests of a third party in an arm's-length transaction or (ii) the consummation
of a merger, consolidation, or other business combination of ENLC, the Partnership, or any of their respective Subsidiaries with
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another entity in which ENLC, the Partnership or such Subsidiary survives and the ENLC Common Units remain Outstanding to the extent any such
transaction set forth in clause (i) or (ii) above is validly approved by the vote or consent of the board of directors ENLC Manager; or

(4)    the issuance of membership interests in ENLC for which an adjustment is made under another provision of this Section 5.10(b)(viii).

(ix)    Fully Paid and Nonassessable. Any Series B PIK Preferred Units and Series B Exchange Unit(s) delivered pursuant to this Section 5.10 shall be validly
issued, fully paid and nonassessable (except as such nonassessability may be affected by matters described in Sections 17-303, 17-607 and 17-804 of the Delaware Act),
free and clear of any liens, claims, rights, or encumbrances other than those arising under the Delaware Act or this Agreement or created by the holders thereof.

( x )    Transfer of Series B Preferred Units. In connection with the proposed Transfer by an Eligible Series B Unitholder to a prospective transferee, the
Partnership agrees to reasonably assist the relevant Eligible Series B Unitholder (if requested to do so in writing) in responding to reasonable due diligence requests so
long as any information provided to the relevant prospective transferee is made subject to a confidentiality agreement in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Partnership; provided, however, that (i) the Eligible Series B Unitholder shall bear all out-of-pocket, documented, costs and expenses incurred by the Partnership in
connection with the procurement, preparation, and delivery of any due diligence responses, (ii) any such assistance provided by the Partnership and its personnel shall
not unreasonably disrupt or interfere with the normal operation of the business of the Partnership, (iii) the Partnership shall not be obligated to prepare any reports or
materials that it does not already have in its files or its books and records, and (iv) the Partnership shall only be obligated to provide such assistance one time per 365-
day period (it being understood that the limitation in clause (iv) of this Section 5.10(b)(x) applies such that all of the Series B Unitholders in the aggregate can make a
request one time per 365-day period).

Section 5.11    Establishment of Series C Preferred Units.

(a)    General. The Partnership has designated and created a series of Units designated as “6.000% Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual
Preferred Units” (the “Series C Preferred Units”), having the preferences, rights, powers, and duties set forth herein, including this Section 5.11. Each Series C Preferred Unit
shall be identical in all respects to every other Series C Preferred Unit, except as to the respective dates from which the Series C Liquidation Preference shall increase or from
which Series C Distributions may begin accruing, to the extent such dates may differ. The Series C Preferred Units represent perpetual equity interests in the Partnership and
shall not give rise to a claim by the Partnership or a Series C Unitholder for conversion or, except as set forth in Section 5.11(b)(iv), redemption thereof at a particular date.

(b)    Rights of Series C Preferred Units. The Series C Preferred Units shall have the following rights, preferences, and privileges and shall be subject to the following
duties and obligations:

(i)    Series C Preferred Units.

(A)    The authorized number of Series C Preferred Units shall be unlimited. Series C Preferred Units that are purchased or otherwise acquired by the
Partnership shall be cancelled.

(B)    The Series C Preferred Units shall be represented by one or more global Certificates registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee, and
no Series C Unitholder shall be entitled to receive a definitive Certificate evidencing its Series C Preferred Units, unless otherwise required by law or the
Depositary gives notice of its intention to resign or is no longer eligible to act as such with respect to the Series C Preferred Units and the Partnership shall have
not selected a substitute Depositary within sixty (60) calendar days thereafter. So long as the Depositary shall have been appointed and is serving with respect
to the Series C Preferred Units, payments and communications made by the Partnership to Series C Unitholders shall be made by making payments to, and
communicating with, the Depositary.
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(ii)    Distributions.

(A)    Distributions on each Outstanding Series C Preferred Unit shall be cumulative and shall accumulate at the applicable Series C Distribution Rate
from and including the Series C Original Issue Date (or, for any subsequently issued and newly Outstanding Series C Preferred Units, from and including the
Series C Distribution Payment Date immediately preceding the issue date of such Series C Preferred Units) until such time as the Partnership pays the Series C
Distribution or redeems such Series C Preferred Unit in accordance with Section 5.11(b)(iv), whether or not such Series C Distributions shall have been
declared. Series C Unitholders shall be entitled to receive Series C Distributions from time to time out of any assets of the Partnership legally available for the
payment of distributions at the Series C Distribution Rate per Series C Preferred Unit when, as, and, if declared by the General Partner. Series C Distributions,
to the extent declared by the General Partner to be paid by the Partnership in accordance with this Section 5.11(b)(ii), shall be paid, in arrears, on each Series C
Distribution Payment Date; provided, however, that, so long as any Series B Preferred Units are Outstanding, no distribution shall be declared or paid or set
aside for payment on any Series C Preferred Units unless full cumulative distributions in respect of the Outstanding Series B Preferred Units in accordance with
Section 5.10(b)(ii) have been paid through the most recent Series B Distribution Payment Date. Series C Distributions shall accumulate in each Series C
Distribution Period from and including the preceding Series C Distribution Payment Date (other than the initial Series C Distribution Period, which shall
commence on and include the Series C Original Issue Date), to, but not including, the next Series C Distribution Payment Date for such Series C Distribution
Period; provided that distributions shall accrue on accumulated but unpaid Series C Distributions at the Series C Distribution Rate. If any Series C Distribution
Payment Date otherwise would occur on a date that is not a Business Day, declared Series C Distributions shall be paid on the immediately succeeding
Business Day without the accumulation of additional distributions. During the Series C Fixed Rate Period, Series C Distributions shall be payable based on a
360-day year consisting of twelve 30 day months. During the Series C Floating Rate Period, Series C Distributions shall be computed by multiplying the Series
C Distribution Rate by a fraction, the numerator of which will be the actual number of days elapsed during that Series C Distribution Period (determined by
including the first day of such Series C Distribution Period and excluding the last day, which is the Series C Distribution Payment Date), and the denominator
of which will be 360, and by multiplying the result by the aggregate Series C Liquidation Preference of all Outstanding Series C Preferred Units. All Series C
Distributions payable by the Partnership pursuant to this Section 5.11(b)(ii) shall be payable without regard to income of the Partnership and shall be treated for
federal income tax purposes as guaranteed payments for the use of capital under Section 707(c) of the Code. The guaranteed payment with respect to any Series
C Distribution Period shall be for the account of the holders of Series C Preferred Units as of the applicable Series C Distribution Record Date.

(B)    Not later than 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on each Series C Distribution Payment Date, the Partnership shall pay those Series C
Distributions, if any, that shall have been declared by the General Partner to Series C Unitholders on the Record Date for the applicable Series C Distribution.
The Record Date (the “Series C Distribution Record Date”) for the payment of any Series C Distributions shall be as of the close of business on the first
Business Day of the month of the applicable Series C Distribution Payment Date, except that in the case of payments of Series C Distributions in Arrears, the
Series C Distribution Record Date with respect to a Series C Distribution Payment Date shall be such date as may be designated by the General Partner in
accordance with this Section 5.11. So long as any Series C Preferred Units are Outstanding, no distribution shall be declared or paid or set aside for payment on
any Series C Junior Securities (other than a distribution payable solely in Series C Junior Securities) unless full cumulative Series C Distributions have been or
contemporaneously are being paid or set apart for payment on all Outstanding Series C Preferred Units (and distributions on any other Series C Parity
Securities) through the most recent respective Series C Distribution Payment Date (and distribution payment date with respect to such Series C Parity
Securities, if any). Accumulated Series C Distributions in Arrears for any past Series C Distribution Period may be declared by the General Partner and paid on
any date fixed by the General Partner, whether or not a Series C Distribution Payment Date, to Series C Unitholders on the Record Date for such payment,
which may not be less than 10 days
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before such payment date. Subject to the next succeeding sentence, if all accumulated Series C Distributions in Arrears on all Outstanding Series C Preferred
Units and all accumulated distributions in arrears on any Series C Parity Securities shall not have been declared and paid, or if sufficient funds for the payment
thereof shall not have been set apart, payment of accumulated distributions in Arrears on the Series C Preferred Units and accumulated distributions in arrears
on any such Series C Parity Securities shall be made in order of their respective distribution payment dates, commencing with the earliest distribution payment
date. If less than all distributions payable with respect to all Series C Preferred Units and any other Series C Parity Securities are paid, any partial payment shall
be made Pro Rata with respect to the Series C Preferred Units and any such other Series C Parity Securities entitled to a distribution payment at such time in
proportion to the aggregate distribution amounts remaining due in respect of such Series C Preferred Units and such other Series C Parity Securities at such
time. Subject to Sections 12.4 and Section 5.11(b)(v), Series C Unitholders shall not be entitled to any distribution, whether payable in cash, property or
Partnership Securities, in excess of full cumulative Series C Distributions. Except insofar as distributions accrue on the amount of any accumulated and unpaid
Series C Distributions as described in Section 5.11(b)(ii)(A), no interest or sum of money in lieu of interest shall be payable in respect of any distribution
payment which may be in Arrears on the Series C Preferred Units. So long as the Series C Preferred Units are held of record by the Depositary or its nominee,
declared Series C Distributions shall be paid to the Depositary in same-day funds on each Series C Distribution Payment Date or other distribution payment
date in the case of payments for Series C Distributions in Arrears.

(C)    The “Series C Three-Month LIBOR” for each Series C Distribution Period during the Series C Floating Rate Period shall be determined by the
Calculation Agent, as of the applicable Series C LIBOR Determination Date, in accordance with the following provisions:

(1)    The Series C Three-Month LIBOR shall be the rate (expressed as a percentage per year) for deposits in U.S. dollars for a three-month
period commencing on the first day of such Series C Distribution Period that appears on Reuters Page LIBOR01 as of 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the
Series C LIBOR Determination Date.

(2)    If the Series C Three-Month LIBOR cannot be determined as described in Section 5.11(b)(ii)(C)(1), the Partnership shall select four
major banks in the London interbank market and request that the principal London offices of those four selected banks provide their offered quotations
for deposits in U.S. dollars for a period of three months, commencing on the first day of the applicable Series C Distribution Period, to prime banks in
the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the Series C LIBOR Determination Date for such Series C Distribution
Period. Offered quotations must be based on a principal amount equal to an amount that, in the Partnership’s judgment, is representative of a single
transaction in U.S. dollars in the London interbank market at the time. If two or more quotations are provided, the Series C Three-Month LIBOR for
such Series C Distribution Period will be the arithmetic mean of the quotations. If fewer than two quotations are provided, the Series C Three-Month
LIBOR for such Series C Distribution Period will be the arithmetic mean of the rates quoted on the Series C LIBOR Determination Date for such
Series C Distribution Period by three major banks in New York City selected by the Partnership, for loans in U.S. dollars to leading European banks
for a three-month period commencing on the first day of such Series C Distribution Period. The rates quoted must be based on an amount that, in the
Partnership’s judgment, is representative of a single transaction in U.S. dollars in that market at the time. If no quotation is provided as described
above in this Section 5.11(b)(ii)(C)(2), the Calculation Agent, after consulting such sources as it deems comparable to any of the foregoing quotations
or display page, or any such source as it deems reasonable from which to estimate the Series C Three-Month LIBOR Rate, shall determine the Series
C Three-Month LIBOR Rate in its sole discretion.

(3)    All percentages resulting from any of the above calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a
percentage point, with
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five one-millionths of a percentage point rounded upwards (e.g., 9.876545% (or 0.9876545) being rounded to 9.87655% (or .0987655)) and all dollar
amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one-half cent being rounded upwards).

(D)    Unless otherwise determined by the General Partner, Series C Distributions shall be deemed to have been paid out of deductions from Available
Cash with respect to the Quarter ended immediately preceding the Quarter in which the Series C Distribution is made.

(iii)    Voting Rights.

(A)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Series C Preferred Units shall not have any voting rights or rights to consent or
approve any action or matter, except as set forth in Section 13.3(c), this Section 5.11(b)(iii) or as otherwise required by the Delaware Act.

(B)    Without the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units, voting as a separate class,
the General Partner shall not adopt any amendment to this Agreement that would have a material adverse effect on the powers, preferences, duties, or special
rights of the Series C Preferred Units; provided, however, that (i) subject to Section 5.11(b)(iii)C), the issuance of additional Partnership Securities shall not be
deemed to constitute such a material adverse effect for purposes of this Section 5.11(b)(iii)(B) and (ii) for purposes of this Section 5.11(b)(iii)(B), no
amendment of this Agreement in connection with a merger or other transaction in which the Series C Preferred Units remain Outstanding with the terms thereof
materially unchanged in any respect adverse to the Series C Unitholders shall be deemed to materially and adversely affect the powers, preferences, duties, or
special rights of the Series C Preferred Units.

(C)    Without the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units, voting as a class together
with holders of any other Series C Parity Securities upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, the Partnership shall not (x) create or
issue any Series C Parity Securities (including any additional Series C Preferred Units) if the cumulative distributions payable on Outstanding Series C
Preferred Units (or any Series C Parity Securities, if the holders of such Series C Parity Securities vote as a class together with the Series C Unitholders
pursuant to this Section 5.11(b)(iii)(C)) are in Arrears or (y) create or issue any Series C Senior Securities (other than Series B PIK Preferred Units).

(D)    For any matter described in this Section 5.11(b)(iii) in which the Series C Unitholders are entitled to vote as a class (whether separately or
together with the holders of any Series C Parity Securities), such Series C Unitholders shall be entitled to one vote per Series C Preferred Unit. Any Series C
Preferred Units held by the Partnership or any of its Subsidiaries or their controlled Affiliates shall not be entitled to vote.

(E)    Notwithstanding Sections 5.11(b)(iii)(B) and 5.11(b)(iii)(C), no vote of the Series C Unitholders shall be required if, at or prior to the time when
such action is to take effect, provision is made for the redemption of all Series C Preferred Units at the time Outstanding.

(iv)    Optional Redemption; Series C Rating Event.

(A)    The Partnership shall have the right (i) at any time, and from time to time, on or after December 15, 2022 or (ii) at any time within 120 days
after the conclusion of any review or appeal process instituted by the Partnership following the occurrence of a Series C Rating Event, in each case, to redeem
the Series C Preferred Units, which redemption may be in whole or in part (except with respect to a redemption pursuant to clause (ii) of this Section 5.11(b)(iv)
(A) which shall be in whole but not in part), using any source of funds legally available for such purpose. Any such redemption shall occur on a date set by the
General Partner (the “Series C Redemption
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Date”). The Partnership shall effect any such redemption by paying cash for each Series C Preferred Unit to be redeemed equal to 100% (in the case of a
redemption described in clause (i) of this Section 5.11(b)(iv)(A)), or 102% (in the case of a redemption described in clause (ii) of this Section 5.11(b)(iv)(A)),
of the Series C Liquidation Preference for such Series C Preferred Unit on such Series C Redemption Date plus an amount equal to all unpaid Series C
Distributions thereon from the Series C Original Issue Date to, but not including, the Series C Redemption Date (whether or not such distributions shall have
been declared) (the “Series C Redemption Price”). So long as the Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed are held of record by the nominee of the Depositary,
the Series C Redemption Price shall be paid by the Paying Agent to the Depositary on the Series C Redemption Date.

(B)    The Partnership shall give notice of any redemption by mail, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days and not more than 60 days before the
scheduled Series C Redemption Date to the Series C Unitholders (as of 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the Business Day next preceding the day on which
notice is given) of any Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed as such Series C Unitholders’ names appear on the books of the Transfer Agent and at the
address of such Series C Unitholders shown therein. Such notice (the “Series C Redemption Notice”) shall state, as applicable: (1) the Series C Redemption
Date, (2) the number of Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed and, if less than all Outstanding Series C Preferred Units are to be redeemed, the number (and
in the case of Series C Preferred Units in certificated form, the identification) of Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed from such Series C Unitholder, (3) the
Series C Redemption Price, (4) the place where any Series C Preferred Units in certificated form are to be redeemed and shall be presented and surrendered for
payment of the Series C Redemption Price therefor (which shall occur automatically if the Certificate representing such Series C Preferred Units is issued in the
name of the Depositary or its nominee), and (5) that distributions on the Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed shall cease to accumulate from and after such
Series C Redemption Date.

(C)    If the Partnership elects to redeem less than all of the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units, the number of Series C Preferred Units to be
redeemed shall be determined by the General Partner, and such Series C Preferred Units shall be redeemed by such method of selection as the Depositary shall
determine, either Pro Rata or by lot, with adjustments to avoid redemption of fractional Series C Preferred Units. The aggregate Series C Redemption Price for
any such partial redemption of the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units shall be allocated correspondingly among the redeemed Series C Preferred Units. The
Series C Preferred Units not redeemed shall remain Outstanding and entitled to all the rights and preferences provided in this Section 5.11.

(D)    If the Partnership gives or causes to be given a Series C Redemption Notice, the Partnership shall deposit with the Paying Agent funds sufficient
to redeem the Series C Preferred Units as to which such Series C Redemption Notice shall have been given, no later than 10:00 a.m. New York City time on the
Series C Redemption Date, and shall give the Paying Agent irrevocable instructions and authority to pay the Series C Redemption Price to the Series C
Unitholder whose Series C Preferred Units are to be redeemed upon surrender or deemed surrender (which shall occur automatically if the Certificate
representing such Series C Preferred Units is issued in the name of the Depositary or its nominee) of the Certificates therefor as set forth in the Series C
Redemption Notice. If the Series C Redemption Notice shall have been given, from and after the Series C Redemption Date, unless the Partnership defaults in
providing funds sufficient for such redemption at the time and place specified for payment pursuant to the Series C Redemption Notice, all Series C
Distributions on such Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed shall cease to accumulate and all rights of holders of such Series C Preferred Units as Limited
Partners with respect to such Series C Preferred Units to be redeemed shall cease, except the right to receive the Series C Redemption Price, and such Series C
Preferred Units shall not thereafter be transferred on the books of the Transfer Agent or be deemed to be Outstanding for any purpose whatsoever. The Series C
Unitholders shall have no claim to the interest income, if any, earned on such funds deposited with the Paying Agent. Any funds deposited with the Paying
Agent hereunder by the Partnership for any reason, including redemption of Series C Preferred Units, that remain unclaimed or unpaid after one year after the
applicable Series C Redemption Date or other payment date, as applicable, shall be, to the extent permitted by law, repaid to the
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Partnership upon its written request, after which repayment the Series C Unitholders entitled to such redemption or other payment shall have recourse only to
the Partnership. Notwithstanding any Series C Redemption Notice, there shall be no redemption of any Series C Preferred Units called for redemption until
funds sufficient to pay the full Series C Redemption Price of such Series C Preferred Units shall have been deposited by the Partnership with the Paying Agent.

(E)    Any Series C Preferred Units that are redeemed or otherwise acquired by the Partnership shall be cancelled. If only a portion of the Series C
Preferred Units represented by a Certificate shall have been called for redemption, upon surrender of the Certificate to the Paying Agent (which shall occur
automatically if the Certificate representing such Series C Preferred Units is registered in the name of the Depositary or its nominee), the Partnership shall issue
and the Paying Agent shall deliver to the Series C Unitholders a new Certificate (or adjust the applicable book-entry account) representing the number of Series
C Preferred Units represented by the surrendered Certificate that have not been called for redemption.

(F)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.11, in the event that full cumulative distributions on the Series C Preferred Units and
any Series C Parity Securities shall not have been paid or declared and set aside for payment, the Partnership shall not be permitted to repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire, in whole or in part, any Series C Preferred Units or Series C Parity Securities except pursuant to a purchase or exchange offer made on the
same relative terms to all Series C Unitholders and holders of any Series C Parity Securities. Subject to Section 4.10, so long as any Series C Preferred Units are
Outstanding, the Partnership shall not be permitted to redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any Common Units or any other Series C Junior Securities
unless full cumulative distributions on the Series C Preferred Units and any Series C Parity Securities for all prior and the then-ending Series C Distribution
Periods, with respect to the Series C Preferred Units, and all prior and then ending distribution periods, with respect to any such Series C Parity Securities, shall
have been paid or declared and set aside for payment.

(v)    Liquidation Rights.

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, and winding up of the Partnership under Section 12.4 or a sale, exchange, or other disposition of all or substantially all of
the assets of the Partnership, either voluntary or involuntary, the Record Holders of the Series C Preferred Units shall be entitled to receive, out of the assets of the Partnership
available for distribution to the Partners or any Assignees, prior and in preference to any distribution of any assets of the Partnership to the Record Holders of any other class or
series of Partnership Interests other than the Series B Preferred Units, (i) first, any accumulated and unpaid distributions on the Series C Preferred Units (regardless of whether
previously declared) and (ii) then, any positive value in each such holder’s Capital Account in respect of such Series C Preferred Units;  provided, however, that so long as any
Series B Preferred Units are Outstanding, no liquidating distribution shall be paid or set aside for payment on any Series C Preferred Units unless and until the full amount of
the Series B Liquidation Value has been distributed in respect of Outstanding Series B Preferred Units in accordance with Section 5.10(b)(iv). If in the year of such liquidation
and winding up, or sale, exchange, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership, any such Record Holder’s Capital Account in respect of such
Series C Preferred Units is less than the aggregate Series C Base Liquidation Preference of such Series C Preferred Units, then, after the allocations specified in Section 5.10(b)
(iv) have been made, but otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, and prior to any other allocation pursuant to this Agreement for such
year and any distribution pursuant to the preceding sentence, items of gross income and gain shall be allocated to all Unitholders then holding Series C Preferred Units, Pro
Rata, until the Capital Account in respect of each Outstanding Series C Preferred Unit is equal to the Series C Base Liquidation Preference (and no other allocation pursuant to
this Agreement shall reverse the effect of such allocation). If in the year of such liquidation, dissolution, or winding up any such Record Holder’s Capital Account in respect of
such Series C Preferred Units is less than the aggregate Series C Base Liquidation Preference of such Series C Preferred Units after the application of the preceding sentence,
then to the extent permitted by applicable law and after making any allocations required under Section 5.10(b)(iv), but otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in this Agreement, items of gross income and gain for any preceding taxable period(s) with respect to which IRS Form 1065 Schedules K-1 have not been filed by the
Partnership shall be reallocated to all Unitholders then holding Series C Preferred Units, Pro Rata, until the Capital Account in respect of each such Outstanding Series C
Preferred Unit after making allocations pursuant to this and the immediately preceding sentence is equal to the Series C Base
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Liquidation Preference (and no other allocation pursuant to this Agreement shall reverse the effect of such allocation). After such allocations have been made to the Outstanding
Series C Preferred Units, any remaining Net Termination Gain or Net Termination Loss shall be allocated to the Partners pursuant to Section 6.1(c) or Section 6.1(d), as the
case may be. At the time of the dissolution of the Partnership, subject to Section 17-804 of the Delaware Act, the Record Holders of the Series C Preferred Units shall become
entitled to receive any distributions in respect of the Series C Preferred Units that are accrued and unpaid as of the date of such distribution, and shall have the status of, and
shall be entitled to all remedies available to, a creditor of the Partnership, and such entitlement of the Record Holders of the Series C Preferred Units to such accrued and unpaid
distributions shall have priority over any entitlement of any other Partners or Assignees with respect to any distributions by the Partnership to such other Partners or Assignees
except for distributions in respect of Series B Preferred Units pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(iv); provided, however, that the General Partner, as such, will have no liability for any
obligations with respect to such distributions to any Record Holder(s) of Series C Preferred Units.

(vi)    Rank.

The Series C Preferred Units shall each be deemed to rank:

(A)    senior to any Series C Junior Securities;

(B)    on a parity with any Series C Parity Securities;

(C)    junior to (i) the Series B Preferred Units and (ii) any other Series C Senior Securities; and

(D)    junior to all existing and future indebtedness of the Partnership and other liabilities with respect to assets available to satisfy claims against the
Partnership.

(vii)    No Sinking Fund.

The Series C Preferred Units shall not have the benefit of any sinking fund.

(viii)    Record Holders.

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the General Partner, the Partnership, the Transfer Agent, and the Paying Agent may deem and treat any Series C
Unitholder as the true, lawful, and absolute owner of the applicable Series C Preferred Units for all purposes, and neither the General Partner, the Partnership, nor the Transfer
Agent or the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary, except as otherwise provided by law or any applicable rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of
any National Securities Exchange on which the Series C Preferred Units may be listed or admitted to trading, if any.

(ix)    Notices.

All notices or communications in respect of the Series C Preferred Units shall be sufficiently given if given in writing and delivered in person or by first class mail,
postage prepaid, or if given in such other manner as may be permitted in this Section 5.11, this Agreement or by applicable law.

(x)    Other Rights; Fiduciary Duties.

The Series C Preferred Units and the Series C Unitholders shall not have any designations, preferences, rights, powers or duties, other than as set forth in this
Agreement or as provided by applicable law. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any duty existing at law, in equity or otherwise, to the fullest extent
permitted by applicable law, neither the General Partner nor any other Indemnitee shall owe any duties, including fiduciary duties, or have any liabilities to Series C
Unitholders, other than the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
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ARTICLE VI

ALLOCATIONS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

Section 6.1    Allocations for Capital Account Purposes.

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, for purposes of maintaining the balances of Capital Accounts, the Partnership’s items of income, gain, loss and
deduction for a taxable period of the Partnership (such items are computed in accordance with Section 5.3(b)) shall be allocated among the Partners first to the extent provided in
Section 6.1(d) and then the balance of such items shall be aggregated into Net Income, Net Loss, Net Termination Gain and Net Termination Loss, as the case may be, which
shall then be allocated as follows:

(a)    Net Income. Net Income for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be allocated as follows:

(i) First, 100% to the General Partner, until the aggregate Net Income allocated pursuant to this sentence for the current taxable period of the
Partnership and all previous taxable periods of the Partnership is equal to the aggregate Net Loss allocated to the General Partner pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(i) for all
previous taxable periods of the Partnership.

(ii) Second, to all Unitholders holding Series B Preferred Units, in proportion to, and to the extent of the Net Loss allocated to such Unitholders
holding Series B Preferred Units pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(iii) for all previous taxable periods, until the aggregate amount of Net Income allocated to such Unitholders
holding Series B Preferred Units pursuant to this Section 6.1(a)(ii) for the current and all previous taxable periods is equal to the aggregate amount of Net Loss allocated
to such Unitholder holding Series B Preferred Units pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(iii) for all previous taxable periods; provided that in no event shall Net Income be
allocated to any such Unitholder holding Series B Preferred Units to cause its Capital Account in respect of a Series B Preferred Unit to exceed the Series B Liquidation
Value in respect of such Series B Preferred Units.

(iii) Third, to all Unitholders holding Series C Preferred Units, in proportion to, and to the extent of the Net Loss allocated to such Unitholders holding
Series C Preferred Units pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(ii) for all previous taxable periods, until the aggregate amount of Net Income allocated to such Unitholders holding
Series C Preferred Units pursuant to this Section 6.1(a)(iii) for the current and all previous taxable periods is equal to the aggregate amount of Net Loss allocated to such
Unitholder holding Series C Preferred Units pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(ii) for all previous taxable periods; provided that in no event shall Net Income be allocated to any
such Unitholder holding Series C Preferred Units to cause its Capital Account in respect of a Series C Preferred Unit to exceed the Series C Base Liquidation Preference
in respect of such Series C Preferred Units.

(iv) Thereafter, 100% to the General Partner and the Unitholders holding Common Units, in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests.

The items of income, gain, loss and deduction that are included in Net Income for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be allocated in the ratio in which Net Income
for such taxable period is allocated.

(b)    Net Loss. Net Loss for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be allocated as follows:

(i) First, 100% to the General Partner and the Unitholders holding Common Units, in accordance with their respective Percentage Interests; provided,
that Net Loss shall not be allocated pursuant to this sentence to the extent that such allocation would cause any such Unitholder to have a deficit balance in its Adjusted
Capital Account at the end of such taxable period of the Partnership (or increase any existing deficit balance in its Adjusted Capital Account). The limitation on the
allocation of Net Loss that is contained in the preceding sentence is a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).
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(ii)    Second, to all Unitholders holding Series C Preferred Units, in proportion to their respective positive Adjusted Capital Account balances, until
the Adjusted Capital Account in respect of each Series C Preferred Unit then Outstanding has been reduced to zero.

(iii)    Third, to all Unitholders holding Series B Preferred Units, in proportion to their respective positive Adjusted Capital Account balances, until the
Adjusted Capital Account in respect of each Series B Preferred Unit then Outstanding has been reduced to zero.

(iv)    Thereafter, the balance, if any, 100% to the General Partner.

The items of income, gain, loss and deduction that are included in Net Loss for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be allocated in the ratio in which Net Loss for
such taxable period is allocated.

(c)    Net Termination Gains and Losses. Allocations under this Section 6.1(c) shall be made after Capital Account balances have been adjusted by all other allocations
provided under this Section 6.1 for the current and prior taxable periods of the Partnership and for distributions that have been made pursuant to Sections 6.4 and 6.5 but not for
distributions made pursuant to Section 12.4.

(i) Any Net Termination Gain for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be allocated among the Partners in the following manner and the Capital
Accounts of the Partners shall be increased by the amount so allocated in each subclause, before an allocation is made pursuant to the next subclause:

(A)    First, to each Partner having a deficit balance in its Capital Account, in proportion to such deficit balances until each Partner has been allocated
Net Termination Gain equal to any such deficit balance.

(B)    Second, to all Unitholders holding Series B Preferred Units, Pro Rata, until the Capital Account in respect of each Outstanding Series B
Preferred Unit equals the Series B Liquidation Value or, if greater, the amount per Series B Preferred Unit that reflects the value of the ENLC Common Units
into which each such Series B Preferred Unit is exchangeable pursuant to Section 5.10(b)(viii)(A).

(C)    Third, to all Unitholders holding Series C Preferred Units, Pro Rata, until the Capital Account in respect of each Outstanding Series C Preferred
Unit equals the Series C Base Liquidation Preference.

(D)    Thereafter, (x) to the General Partner in accordance with its Percentage Interest and (y) to all Unitholders holding Common Units, Pro Rata, a
percentage equal to 100% less the General Partner’s Percentage Interest.

(ii) Any Net Termination Loss for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be allocated among the Partners in the following manner:

(A)    First, (x) to the General Partner in accordance with its Percentage Interest and (y) to all Unitholders holding Common Units, Pro Rata, a
percentage equal to 100% less the General Partner’s Percentage Interest, until the Capital Account in respect of each Common Unit then Outstanding has been
reduced to zero. The limitation on the allocation of Net Termination Loss that is contained in the preceding sentence is a Required Allocation for purposes of the
allocation of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).

(B)    Second, to all Unitholders holding Series C Preferred Units, in proportion to their Adjusted Capital Account balances, until the Adjusted Capital
Account in respect of each Series C Preferred Unit then Outstanding has been reduced to zero.

(C)    Third, to all Unitholders holding Series B Preferred Units, in proportion to their respective positive Adjusted Capital Account balances, until the
Adjusted Capital Account in respect of each Series B Preferred Unit then Outstanding has been reduced to zero.
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(D)    Thereafter, the balance, if any, 100% to the General Partner.

The items of income, gain, loss and deduction that are included in Net Termination Gain or Net Termination Loss for a taxable period of the Partnership shall be
allocated in the ratio in which Net Termination Gain or Net Termination Loss for such taxable period is allocated.

(d)    Special Allocations. Prior to making any allocation pursuant to another portion of this Section 6.1 for a taxable period of the Partnership, the following allocations
shall be made in the order stated:

(ii) Partnership Minimum Gain Chargeback. If there is a net decrease in Partnership Minimum Gain during the taxable period of the Partnership, each
Partner shall be allocated items of Partnership income and gain for such taxable period (and, if necessary, subsequent taxable periods of the Partnership) in the manner
and amounts provided in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-2(f) or any successor provision. This Section 6.1(d)(i) is intended to comply with the Partnership Minimum
Gain chargeback requirement in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(f) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith. The allocations in this portion of Section 6.1(d)
are a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).

( i i )    Partner Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain Chargeback. If there is a net decrease in Partner Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain during any
taxable period of the Partnership, any Partner with a share of Partner Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain at the beginning of such taxable period shall be allocated items
of Partnership income and gain for such taxable period (and, if necessary, subsequent taxable periods of the Partnership) in the manner and amounts provided in Treasury
Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4) or any successor provision. This Section 6.1(d)(ii) is intended to comply with the Partner Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain chargeback
of items of income and gain requirement in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-2(i)(4) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith. The allocations in this portion of
Section 6.1(d) are a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).

(iii)    [Reserved]

( i v )    Qualified Income Offset. In the event any Partner unexpectedly receives any adjustment, allocation or distribution described in Treasury
Regulation Sections 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5), or (6), items of income and gain shall be allocated to such Partner in an amount and manner sufficient to eliminate, to
the extent required by the Treasury Regulations promulgated under Section 704(b) of the Code, the deficit balance, if any, in its Adjusted Capital Account created by
such adjustment, allocation or distribution as quickly as possible. The allocations in this portion of Section 6.1(d) are a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation
of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).

(v)    Gross Income Allocations. In the event any Partner has a deficit balance in its Capital Account at the end of any taxable period of the Partnership
in excess of the sum of (A) the amount such Partner is required to restore pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and (B) the amount such Partner is deemed
obligated to restore pursuant to Treasury Regulation Sections 1.704-2(g) and 1.704-2(i)(5), such Partner shall be allocated items of income and gain in the amount of
such excess; provided, that an allocation pursuant to this Section 6.1(d)(v) shall be made only if and to the extent that such Partner would have a deficit balance in its
Capital Account as adjusted after all other allocations provided for in this Section 6.1 have been tentatively made as if this Section 6.1(d)(v) were not in this Agreement.
The allocations in this portion of Section 6.1(d) are a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).

(vi)    Nonrecourse Deductions. Nonrecourse Deductions for the taxable period shall be allocated to the Partners in accordance with their respective
Percentage Interests. If the General Partner determines in good faith that the Partnership’s Nonrecourse Deductions must be allocated in a different ratio to satisfy the
safe harbor requirements of the Treasury Regulations promulgated under Section 704(b) of the Code, the General Partner may, upon notice to the other Partners, revise
the prescribed ratio in order
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to satisfy such safe harbor requirements. The allocations in this portion of Section 6.1(d) are a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation of Curative Allocations
in Section 6.1(d).

(vii)    Partner Nonrecourse Deductions. Partner Nonrecourse Deductions for the taxable period shall be allocated 100% to the Partner that bears the
Economic Risk of Loss with respect to the Partner Nonrecourse Debt to which such Partner Nonrecourse Deductions are attributable in accordance with Treasury
Regulation Section 1.704-2(i). If more than one Partner bears the Economic Risk of Loss with respect to a Partner Nonrecourse Debt, such Partner Nonrecourse
Deductions attributable thereto shall be allocated among such Partners in accordance with the manner in which they share such Economic Risk of Loss. The allocations
in this portion of Section 6.1(d) are a Required Allocation for purposes of the allocation of Curative Allocations in Section 6.1(d).

(v i i i )    Nonrecourse Liabilities. The portion of the Nonrecourse Liabilities of the Partnership that are allocable pursuant to Treasury Regulation
Section 1.752-3(a)(3) shall be allocated among the Partners in accordance with their Percentage Interests. The allocations of Nonrecourse Liabilities that may be made
as provided in Treasury Regulation Section 1.752-3(a)(2) are to be made as determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion.

(ix)    Curative Allocation.

(A)    Allocations are to be made pursuant to this Section 6.1(d)(ix)(A) so that the net amount of items of income, gain, loss and deduction allocated to
each Partner pursuant to Section 6.1 (including allocations made pursuant to this Section 6.1(d)(ix)) is equal to the net amount of such items that would have
been allocated to each such Partner under this Section 6.1 if the Required Allocations had not been included in this Section 6.1; provided that Required
Allocations relating to (1) Nonrecourse Deductions shall not be taken into account for purposes of this sentence except to the extent that there has been a
decrease in Partnership Minimum Gain and (2) Partner Nonrecourse Deductions shall not be taken into account for purposes of this sentence except to the
extent that there has been a decrease in Partner Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain and shall then in either case be taken into account only to the extent the
General Partner reasonably determines that such allocations are not likely to be offset by subsequent Required Allocations.

(B)    The General Partner shall have reasonable discretion, with respect to each taxable period of the Partnership, to (1) apply the provisions of
Section 6.1(d)(ix)(A) in whatever order is most likely to minimize the economic distortions that might otherwise result from the Required Allocations and (2)
divide all allocations pursuant to Section 6.1(d)(ix)(A) among the Partners in a manner that is likely to minimize such economic distortions.

(C)    For purposes of identifying the Agreed Allocations, the provisions of this Section 6.1(d)(ix) are a Required Allocation.

(x)    Allocation to Reverse Deemed Capital Contributions. Any items of loss or deduction resulting from or relating to the grant of options to acquire
stock, or the issuance of stock, by EnLink Midstream, Inc., or from the transfer of any other property by the General Partner or EnLink Midstream, Inc., to or for the
benefit of any employee or other service provider of the Partnership, the Operating Partnership, or any of their respective Subsidiaries shall be specially allocated to the
General Partner if and to the extent such grant of options, issuance of stock, or transfer of property was treated under applicable tax law as an actual or deemed capital
contribution by the General Partner which resulted in an increase to the General Partner’s Capital Account.

The items of income, gain, loss and deduction that are included in an aggregate that is allocated pursuant to a provision of this Section 6.1(d) for a taxable period of the
Partnership shall be allocated in the ratio that such aggregate was allocated.
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Section 6.2    Allocations for Tax Purposes.

(a)    Except as otherwise provided in this Section 6.2, each item of income, gain, loss and deduction that is recognized by the Partnership for federal income tax
purposes shall be allocated among the Partners with reference to the allocations of the corresponding items pursuant to Section 6.1.

(b)    The Partnership shall make the allocations that are required by Section 704(c) of the Code with respect to the difference between the fair market value and
adjusted basis for federal income tax purposes of any asset that the Partnership holds on the Closing Date using remedial allocations within the meaning of Treasury Regulation
Section 1.704-3(d) and in respect of the difference between fair market value and adjusted tax basis of such assets the Partnership shall use the recovery periods and
depreciation methods that are used in the calculations that are identified in the records of the Partnership as the basis of the estimates that are reported in the “Material Tax
Consequences-Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership – Ratio of taxable income to distributions” section of the prospectus that is part of the Registration Statement except as
may be provided in the Contribution Agreements. The Partnership shall, at any other time that it acquires property with respect to which it must make allocations for federal
income tax purposes pursuant to Section 704(c) of the Code, make such allocations using remedial allocations within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d) or
any other method selected by the General Partner in its sole discretion. The Partnership shall make any “reverse section 704(c) allocations”, within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.704-3(a)(6), that may be made upon an adjustment in Carrying Values pursuant to Section 5.3(d) or at any other time that the General Partner determines
in its sole discretion that the Partnership should make “reverse section 704(c) allocations” as “remedial allocations” as set out in Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-3(d) or
under any other method that the General Partner determines in its sole discretion that the Partnership should use. The General Partner may cause the Partnership to make
agreements as to the manner in which Section 704(c) allocations shall be made upon the acquisition by the Partnership of property in exchange for a Partnership Interest or
reverse Section 704(c) allocations shall be made with respect to the assets of the Partnership upon the issuance by the Partnership of a Partnership Interest.

(c)    For the proper administration of the Partnership and to facilitate the calculation of the items of income, gain, loss and deduction that are allocated to the Partners
for federal, state or local income tax purposes and to take into account the effect of the Section 754 election that the Partnership is to make, the General Partner shall have sole
discretion (i) to adopt such conventions as it deems appropriate in determining the amount of depreciation, amortization and cost recovery deductions; (ii) to make special
allocations for federal income tax purposes of income (including, without limitation, gross income) or deductions; and (iii) to amend the provisions of this Agreement as
appropriate (x) to reflect the proposal or promulgation of Treasury Regulations under Section 704(b) or Section 704(c) of the Code or (y) otherwise to preserve or achieve
uniformity of the Limited Partner Interests (or any class or classes thereof) or to facilitate the calculation of such adjustments that are required by the Section 754 election from
the information that is known by the Partnership, such as the date of the purchase of a Limited Partner Interest and the amount that is paid therefor.

(d)    The General Partner in its discretion may determine to depreciate or amortize the portion of an adjustment under Section 743(b) of the Code that is attributable to
unrealized appreciation in any Partnership property (to the extent of the unamortized difference between Carrying Value and adjusted basis for federal income tax purposes or if
more than one adjustment to Carrying Value has been made to the extent of any unamortized increment between Carrying Value and the immediately prior Carrying Value)
using a predetermined rate derived from the depreciation or amortization method and useful life applied to the Partnership’s common basis of such property. If the General
Partner determines that such reporting position cannot reasonably be taken, the General Partner may adopt depreciation and amortization conventions under which all
purchasers acquiring Limited Partner Interests in the same month would receive depreciation and amortization deductions, based upon the same applicable rate as if they had
purchased a direct interest in the Partnership’s property. If the General Partner chooses not to utilize such aggregate method, the General Partner may use any other depreciation
and amortization conventions that it determines are appropriate.

(e)    Any gain allocated to a Partner upon the sale or other taxable disposition of any Partnership asset shall, to the extent possible be characterized as Recapture
Income to the same extent as such Partner (or its predecessor in interest) has been allocated any deductions directly or indirectly giving rise to the treatment of such gains as
Recapture Income.
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(f)    All items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit recognized by the Partnership for federal income tax purposes and allocated to the Partners in accordance
with the provisions hereof shall be determined without regard to any election under Section 754 of the Code which may be made by the Partnership; provided, however, that
such allocations, once made, shall be adjusted as necessary or appropriate to take into account those adjustments permitted or required by Sections 734 and 743 of the Code.

(g)    Each item of Partnership income, gain, loss and deduction that is allocated to a Partnership Interest that is transferred during a calendar year shall for federal
income tax purposes, be determined on an annual basis and prorated on a monthly basis and shall be allocated to the Partners as of the first Business Day of each month;
provided, however, that gain or loss on a sale or other disposition of any assets of the Partnership or any other extraordinary item of income or loss realized and recognized other
than in the ordinary course of business, as determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion, shall be allocated to the Partners as of the first Business Day of the month in
which such gain or loss is recognized for federal income tax purposes. The General Partner may revise, alter or otherwise modify such methods of allocation as it determines
necessary or appropriate in its sole discretion, to the extent permitted or required by Section 706 of the Code and the regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder.

Section 6.3    Requirement and Characterization of Distributions; Distributions to Record Holders.

(a)    Available Cash with respect to any Applicable Period may (in the discretion of the General Partner), subject to Section 17-607 of the Delaware Act, be distributed
in accordance with this Article VI by the Partnership to the applicable Partners described in Section 6.4 as of the Record Date selected by the General Partner in its reasonable
discretion. All distributions required to be made under this Agreement shall be made subject to Section 17-607 of the Delaware Act.

(b)    Notwithstanding Section 6.3(a), in the event of the dissolution and liquidation of the Partnership, all receipts received during or after the Quarter in which the
Liquidation Date occurs, other than from borrowings described in (a)(ii) of the definition of Available Cash, shall be applied and distributed solely in accordance with, and
subject to the terms and conditions of, Section 12.4.

(c)    The General Partner shall have the discretion to treat taxes paid by the Partnership on behalf of, or amounts withheld with respect to, all or less than all of the
Partners, as a distribution of Available Cash to such Partners.

(d)    Each distribution in respect of a Partnership Interest shall be paid by the Partnership, directly or through the Transfer Agent or through any other Person or agent,
only to the Record Holder of such Partnership Interest as of the Record Date set for such distribution. Such payment shall constitute full payment and satisfaction of the
Partnership’s liability in respect of such payment, regardless of any claim of any Person who may have an interest in such payment by reason of an assignment or otherwise.

Section 6.4    Distributions of Available Cash.

To the extent Available Cash is distributed pursuant to Section 6.3, such Available Cash shall, subject to Section 17-607 of the Delaware Act, and except as otherwise
required by Section 5.10(b)(ii), Section 5.11(b)(ii), or Section 5.4(b) in respect of additional Partnership Securities issued pursuant thereto, be distributed (a) to the General
Partner in accordance with its Percentage Interest and (b) to all holders of Common Units, Pro Rata, a percentage equal to 100% less the sum of the percentage specified under
subclause (a) of this Section 6.4.

Section 6.5    [Reserved.]

Section 6.6    [Reserved.]

Section 6.7    [Reserved.]

Section 6.8    [Reserved.]

Section 6.9    [Reserved.]
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Section 6.10    Special Provisions Relating to Series C Unitholders.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, the holders of the Series C Preferred Units (i) shall (A) possess the rights and obligations
provided in this Agreement with respect to a Limited Partner pursuant to Article III and Article VII and (B) have a Capital Account as a Partner pursuant to Section 5.3 and all
other provisions related thereto and (ii) shall not (A) be entitled to vote on any matters requiring the approval or vote of the holders of Outstanding Units, except as provided in
Section 5.11(b)(iii) or as required by applicable law, or (B) be entitled to any distributions other than as provided in Section 5.11(b)(ii).

ARTICLE VII

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION OF BUSINESS

Section 7.1    Management.

(a)    The General Partner shall conduct, direct and manage all activities of the Partnership. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, all management
powers over the business and affairs of the Partnership shall be exclusively vested in the General Partner, and no Limited Partner or Assignee shall have any management power
over the business and affairs of the Partnership. In addition to the powers now or hereafter granted a general partner of a limited partnership under applicable law or which are
granted to the General Partner under any other provision of this Agreement, the General Partner, subject to Section 7.3, shall have full power and authority to do all things and
on such terms as it, in its sole discretion, may deem necessary or appropriate to conduct the business of the Partnership, to exercise all powers set forth in Section 2.5 and to
effectuate the purposes set forth in Section 2.4, including the following:

(i)    the making of any expenditures, the lending or borrowing of money, the assumption or guarantee of, or other contracting for, indebtedness and
other liabilities, the issuance of evidences of indebtedness, including indebtedness that is convertible into Partnership Securities, and the incurring of any other
obligations;

(ii)    the making of tax, regulatory, and other filings, or rendering of periodic or other reports to governmental or other agencies having jurisdiction
over the business or assets of the Partnership;

(iii)    the acquisition, disposition, mortgage, pledge, encumbrance, hypothecation, or exchange of any or all of the assets of the Partnership or the
merger or other combination of the Partnership with or into another Person (the matters described in this clause (iii) being subject, however, to any prior approval that
may be required by Section 7.3);

(iv)    the use of the assets of the Partnership (including cash on hand) for any purpose consistent with the terms of this Agreement, including the
financing of the conduct of the operations of the Partnership Group; subject to Section 7.6(a), the lending of funds to other Persons (including other Group Members); the
repayment or guarantee of obligations of the Partnership Group; and the making of capital contributions to any member of the Partnership Group;

(v)    the negotiation, execution and performance of any contracts, conveyances or other instruments (including instruments that limit the liability of
the Partnership under contractual arrangements to all or particular assets of the Partnership, with the other party to the contract to have no recourse against the General
Partner or its assets other than its interest in the Partnership, even if same results in the terms of the transaction being less favorable to the Partnership than would
otherwise be the case);

(vi)    the distribution of Partnership cash;

(vii)    the selection and dismissal of employees (including employees having titles such as “president,” “vice president,” “secretary,” and “treasurer”)
and agents, outside attorneys,
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accountants, consultants, and contractors and the determination of their compensation and other terms of employment or hiring;

(viii)    the maintenance of such insurance for the benefit of the Partnership Group and the Partners as it deems necessary or appropriate;

(ix)    the formation of, or acquisition of an interest in, and the contribution of property and the making of loans to, any further limited or general
partnerships, joint ventures, corporations, limited liability companies or other relationships (including the acquisition of interests in, and the contributions of property to,
any Group Member from time to time) subject to the restrictions set forth in Section 2.4;

(x)    the control of any matters affecting the rights and obligations of the Partnership, including the bringing and defending of actions at law or in
equity and otherwise engaging in the conduct of litigation and the incurring of legal expense and the settlement of claims and litigation;

(xi)    the indemnification of any Person against liabilities and contingencies to the extent permitted by law;

(xii)    the entering into of listing agreements with any National Securities Exchange and the delisting of some or all of the Limited Partner Interests
from, or requesting that trading be suspended on, any such exchange (subject to any prior approval that may be required under Section 4.8);

(xiii)    the purchase, sale or other acquisition or disposition of Partnership Securities, or the issuance of additional options, rights, warrants and
appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities; and

(xiv)    the undertaking of any action in connection with the Partnership’s participation in any Group Member as a member or partner.

(b)    Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Operating Partnership Agreement, the Delaware Act or any applicable law, rule, or regulation, each
of the Partners and the Assignees and each other Person who may acquire an interest in Partnership Securities hereby (i) approves, ratifies and confirms the execution, delivery
and performance by the parties thereto of the Underwriting Agreement, the Contribution Agreements, the Operating Partnership Agreement, any other limited liability company
or partnership agreement of any other Group Member and the other agreements described in or filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement that are related to the transactions
contemplated by the Registration Statement; (ii) agrees that the General Partner (on its own or through any officer) is authorized to execute, deliver and perform the agreements
referred to in clause (i) of this sentence and the other agreements, acts, transactions and matters described in or contemplated by the Registration Statement on behalf of the
Partnership without any further act, approval or vote of the Partners or the Assignees or the other Persons who may acquire an interest in Partnership Securities; and (iii) agrees
that the execution, delivery or performance by the General Partner, any Group Member or any Affiliate of any of them, of this Agreement or any agreement authorized or
permitted under this Agreement (including the exercise by the General Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner of the rights accorded pursuant to Article XV), shall not
constitute a breach by the General Partner of any duty that the General Partner may owe the Partnership or the Limited Partners or any other Persons under this Agreement (or
any other agreements) or of any duty stated or implied by law or equity.

Section 7.2    Certificate of Limited Partnership.

The General Partner has caused the Certificate of Limited Partnership to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as required by the Delaware Act.
The General Partner shall use all reasonable efforts to cause to be filed such other certificates or documents as may be determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion to
be reasonable and necessary or appropriate for the formation, continuation, qualification, and operation of a limited partnership (or a partnership in which the limited partners
have limited liability) in the State of Delaware or any other state in which the Partnership may elect to do business or own property. To the extent that such action is determined
by the General Partner in its sole discretion to be reasonable and necessary or appropriate, the General Partner shall file amendments to and restatements of the Certificate of
Limited Partnership and do all things to
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maintain the Partnership as a limited partnership (or a partnership or other entity in which the limited partners have limited liability) under the laws of the State of Delaware or
of any other state in which the Partnership may elect to do business or own property. Subject to the terms of Section 3.4(a), the General Partner shall not be required, before or
after filing, to deliver or mail a copy of the Certificate of Limited Partnership, any qualification document or any amendment thereto to any Limited Partner.

Section 7.3    Restrictions on the General Partner’s Authority.

(a)    The General Partner may not, without written approval of the specific act by holders of all of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests or by other written
instrument executed and delivered by holders of all of the Outstanding Limited Partner Interests subsequent to the date of this Agreement, take any action in contravention of
this Agreement, including, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, (i) committing any act that would make it impossible to carry on the ordinary business of the
Partnership; (ii) possessing Partnership property, or assigning any rights in specific Partnership property, for other than a Partnership purpose; (iii) admitting a Person as a
Partner; (iv) amending this Agreement in any manner; or (v) transferring its interest as a general partner of the Partnership.

(b)    Except as provided in Articles XII and XIV, the General Partner may not sell, exchange, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the Partnership’s assets
in a single transaction or a series of related transactions (including by way of merger, consolidation or other combination) or approve on behalf of the Partnership the sale,
exchange, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Operating Partnership and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole without the approval of holders of a Unit
Majority; provided, however, that this provision shall not preclude or limit the General Partner’s ability to mortgage, pledge, hypothecate, or grant a security interest in all or
substantially all of the assets of the Partnership or the Operating Partnership or their Subsidiaries and shall not apply to any forced sale of any or all of the assets of the
Partnership or the Operating Partnership or their Subsidiaries pursuant to the foreclosure of, or other realization upon, any such encumbrance. Without the approval of holders
of a Unit Majority, the General Partner shall not, on behalf of the Partnership, (i) consent to any amendment to the Operating Partnership Agreement or, except as expressly
permitted by Section 7.9(d), take any action permitted to be taken by a partner of the Operating Partnership, in either case, that would adversely affect the Limited Partners
(including any particular class of Partnership Interests as compared to any other class of Partnership Interests) in any material respect or (ii) except as permitted under Sections
4.6, 11.1, and 11.2, elect or cause the Partnership to elect a successor general partner of the Partnership.

Section 7.4    Reimbursement of the General Partner.

(a)    Except as provided in this Section 7.4 and elsewhere in this Agreement, the General Partner shall not be compensated for its services as a general partner or
managing member of any Group Member.

(b)    The General Partner shall be reimbursed on a monthly basis, or such other reasonable basis as the General Partner may determine in its sole discretion, for (i) all
direct and indirect expenses it incurs or payments it makes on behalf of the Partnership (including salary, bonus, incentive compensation and other amounts paid to any Person
including Affiliates of the General Partner to perform services for the Partnership or for the General Partner in the discharge of its duties to the Partnership), and (ii) all other
necessary or appropriate expenses allocable to the Partnership or otherwise reasonably incurred by the General Partner in connection with operating the Partnership’s business
(including expenses allocated to the General Partner by its Affiliates). The General Partner shall determine the expenses that are allocable to the Partnership in any reasonable
manner determined by the General Partner in its sole discretion. Reimbursements pursuant to this Section 7.4 shall be in addition to any reimbursement to the General Partner as
a result of indemnification pursuant to Section 7.7.

(c)    The General Partner, in its sole discretion and without the approval of the Limited Partners (who shall have no right to vote in respect thereof), may propose and
adopt on behalf of the Partnership employee benefit plans, employee programs, and employee practices (including plans, programs and practices involving the issuance of
Partnership Securities or options to purchase or rights, warrants, or appreciation rights relating to Partnership Securities), or cause the Partnership to issue Partnership Securities
in connection with, or pursuant to, any employee benefit plan, employee program, or employee practice maintained or sponsored by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates,
in each case for the benefit of employees of the General Partner, any Group Member or any Affiliate, or any of them, in respect of services performed, directly or indirectly, for
the benefit of the Partnership Group. The Partnership agrees to issue and sell to the General Partner or any of its Affiliates any Partnership Securities that the General Partner or
such Affiliates are obligated to provide to any employees pursuant to any such employee benefit
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plans, employee programs or employee practices. Expenses incurred by the General Partner in connection with any such plans, programs, and practices (including the net cost to
the General Partner or such Affiliates of Partnership Securities purchased by the General Partner or such Affiliates from the Partnership to fulfill options or awards under such
plans, programs, and practices) shall be reimbursed in accordance with Section 7.4(b). Any and all obligations of the General Partner under any employee benefit plans,
employee programs or employee practices adopted by the General Partner as permitted by this Section 7.4(c) shall constitute obligations of the General Partner hereunder and
shall be assumed by any successor General Partner approved pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2 or the transferee of or successor to all of the General Partner’s General Partner
Interest pursuant to Section 4.6.

Section 7.5    Outside Activities.

(a)    After the Closing Date, the General Partner, for so long as it is the General Partner of the Partnership (i) agrees that its sole business will be to act as a general
partner or managing member, as the case may be, of the Partnership and any other partnership or limited liability company of which the Partnership or the Operating Partnership
is, directly or indirectly, a partner or member and to undertake activities that are ancillary or related thereto (including being a limited partner in the Partnership) and (ii) shall
not engage in any business or activity or incur any debts or liabilities except in connection with or incidental to (A) its performance as general partner or managing member of
one or more Group Members or as described in or contemplated by the Registration Statement or (B) the acquiring, owning, or disposing of debt or equity securities in any
Group Member.

(b)    Except as specifically restricted by Section 7.5(a), each Indemnitee (other than the General Partner) shall have the right to engage in businesses of every type and
description and other activities for profit and to engage in and possess an interest in other business ventures of any and every type or description, whether in businesses engaged
in or anticipated to be engaged in by any Group Member, independently or with others, including business interests and activities in direct competition with the business and
activities of any Group Member, and none of the same shall constitute a breach of this Agreement or any duty express or implied by law to any Group Member or any Partner or
Assignee. Neither any Group Member, any Limited Partner nor any other Person shall have any rights by virtue of this Agreement, the Operating Partnership Agreement, the
limited liability company or partnership agreements of any other Group Member or the partnership relationship established hereby in any business ventures of any Indemnitee.

(c)    Subject to the terms of Section 7.5(a) and Section 7.5(b), but otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, (i) the engaging in
competitive activities by any Indemnitees (other than the General Partner) in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.5 is hereby approved by the Partnership and all
Partners, (ii) it shall be deemed not to be a breach of the General Partner’s fiduciary duty or any other obligation of any type whatsoever of the General Partner for the
Indemnitees (other than the General Partner) to engage in such business interests and activities in preference to or to the exclusion of the Partnership, and (iii) the General
Partner and the Indemnitees shall have no obligation to present business opportunities to the Partnership.

(d)    The General Partner and any of its Affiliates may acquire Units or other Partnership Securities in addition to those acquired on the Closing Date and, except as
otherwise provided in this Agreement, shall be entitled to exercise all rights of the General Partner or Limited Partner, as applicable, relating to such Units or Partnership
Securities.

(e)    The term “Affiliates” when used in Section 7.5(a) and Section 7.5(d) with respect to the General Partner shall not include any Group Member or any Subsidiary
of the Group Member.

(f)    Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, to the extent that provisions of Sections 7.7, 7.8, 7.9, 7.10, or other Sections of this Agreement
purport or are interpreted to have the effect of restricting the fiduciary duties that might otherwise, as a result of Delaware or other applicable law, be owed by the General
Partner to the Partnership and its Limited Partners, or to constitute a waiver or consent by the Limited Partners to any such restriction, such provisions shall be inapplicable and
have no effect in determining whether the General Partner has complied with its fiduciary duties in connection with determinations made by it under this Section 7.5.
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Section 7.6    Loans from the General Partner; Loans or Contributions from the Partnership; Contracts with Affiliates; Certain Restrictions on the General Partner.

(a)    The General Partner or any of its Affiliates may lend to any Group Member, and any Group Member may borrow from the General Partner or any of its
Affiliates, funds needed or desired by the Group Member for such periods of time and in such amounts as the General Partner may determine; provided, however, that in any
such case the lending party may not charge the borrowing party interest at a rate greater than the rate that would be charged the borrowing party or impose terms less favorable
to the borrowing party than would be charged or imposed on the borrowing party by unrelated lenders on comparable loans made on an arm’s-length basis (without reference to
the lending party’s financial abilities or guarantees). The borrowing party shall reimburse the lending party for any costs (other than any additional interest costs) incurred by the
lending party in connection with the borrowing of such funds. For purposes of this Section 7.6(a) and Section 7.6(b), the term “Group Member” shall include any Affiliate of a
Group Member that is controlled by the Group Member. No Group Member may lend funds to the General Partner or any of its Affiliates (other than another Group Member).

(b)    The Partnership may lend or contribute to any Group Member, and any Group Member may borrow from the Partnership, funds on terms and conditions
established in the sole discretion of the General Partner; provided, however, that the Partnership may not charge the Group Member interest at a rate less than the rate that would
be charged to the Group Member (without reference to the General Partner’s financial abilities or guarantees) by unrelated lenders on comparable loans. The foregoing authority
shall be exercised by the General Partner in its sole discretion and shall not create any right or benefit in favor of any Group Member or any other Person.

(c)    The General Partner may itself, or may enter into an agreement with any of its Affiliates to, render services to a Group Member or to the General Partner in the
discharge of its duties as General Partner of the Partnership. Any services rendered to a Group Member by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates shall be on terms that are
fair and reasonable to the Partnership; provided, however, that the requirements of this Section 7.6(c) shall be deemed satisfied as to (i) any transaction approved by Special
Approval, (ii) any transaction, the terms of which are no less favorable to the Partnership Group than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties,
or (iii) any transaction that, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be particularly favorable or
advantageous to the Partnership Group), is equitable to the Partnership Group. The provisions of Section 7.4 shall apply to the rendering of services described in this Section
7.6(c).

(d)    The Partnership Group may transfer assets to joint ventures, other partnerships, corporations, limited liability companies or other business entities in which it is or
thereby becomes a participant upon such terms and subject to such conditions as are consistent with this Agreement and applicable law.

(e)    Neither the General Partner nor any of its Affiliates shall sell, transfer or convey any property to, or purchase any property from, the Partnership, directly or
indirectly, except pursuant to transactions that are fair and reasonable to the Partnership; provided, however, that the requirements of this Section 7.6(e) shall be deemed to be
satisfied as to (i) the transactions effected pursuant to the Contribution Agreements and any other transactions described in or contemplated by the Registration Statement, (ii)
any transaction approved by Special Approval, (iii) any transaction, the terms of which are no less favorable to the Partnership than those generally being provided to or
available from unrelated third parties, or (iv) any transaction that, taking into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions
that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership), is equitable to the Partnership. With respect to any contribution of assets to the Partnership in exchange
for Partnership Securities, the Conflicts Committee, in determining whether the appropriate number of Partnership Securities are being issued, may take into account, among
other things, the fair market value of the assets, the liquidated and contingent liabilities assumed, the tax basis in the assets, the extent to which tax-only allocations to the
transferor will protect the existing partners of the Partnership against a low tax basis, and such other factors as the Conflicts Committee deems relevant under the circumstances.

(f)    The General Partner and its Affiliates will have no obligation to permit any Group Member to use any facilities or assets of the General Partner and its Affiliates,
except as may be provided in contracts entered into
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from time to time specifically dealing with such use, nor shall there be any obligation on the part of the General Partner or its Affiliates to enter into such contracts.

(g)    Without limitation of Sections 7.6(a) through 7.6(f), and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the existence of the conflicts of interest
described in the Registration Statement are hereby approved by all Partners.

Section 7.7    Indemnification.

(a)    To the fullest extent permitted by law but subject to the limitations expressly provided in this Agreement, all Indemnitees shall be indemnified and held harmless
by the Partnership from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties,
interest, settlements or other amounts arising from any and all claims, demands, actions, suits or proceedings, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, in which
any Indemnitee may be involved, or is threatened to be involved, as a party or otherwise, by reason of its status as an Indemnitee; provided, that in each case the Indemnitee
acted in good faith and in a manner that such Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in, or (in the case of a Person other than the General Partner) not opposed to, the best
interests of the Partnership and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe its conduct was unlawful; provided, further, no indemnification
pursuant to this Section 7.7 shall be available to the General Partner or its Affiliates (other than a Group Member) with respect to its or their obligations incurred pursuant to the
Underwriting Agreement or the Contribution Agreements (other than obligations incurred by the General Partner on behalf of the Partnership). The termination of any action,
suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not create a presumption that the Indemnitee acted in a
manner contrary to that specified above. Any indemnification pursuant to this Section 7.7 shall be made only out of the assets of the Partnership, it being agreed that the
General Partner shall not be personally liable for such indemnification and shall have no obligation to contribute or loan any monies or property to the Partnership to enable it to
effectuate such indemnification.

(b)    To the fullest extent permitted by law, expenses (including legal fees and expenses) incurred by an Indemnitee who is indemnified pursuant to Section 7.7(a) in
defending any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding shall, from time to time, be advanced by the Partnership prior to the final disposition of such claim, demand, action, suit
or proceeding upon receipt by the Partnership of any undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay such amount if it shall be determined that the Indemnitee is not
entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Section 7.7.

(c)    The indemnification provided by this Section 7.7 shall be in addition to any other rights to which an Indemnitee may be entitled under any agreement, pursuant to
any vote of the holders of Outstanding Limited Partner Interests, as a matter of law or otherwise, both as to actions in the Indemnitee’s capacity as an Indemnitee and as to
actions in any other capacity (including any capacity under the Underwriting Agreement), and shall continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to serve in such capacity and
shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors, assigns and administrators of the Indemnitee.

(d)    The Partnership may purchase and maintain (or reimburse the General Partner or its Affiliates for the cost of) insurance, on behalf of the General Partner, its
Affiliates and such other Persons as the General Partner shall determine, against any liability that may be asserted against or expense that may be incurred by such Person in
connection with the Partnership’s activities or such Person’s activities on behalf of the Partnership, regardless of whether the Partnership would have the power to indemnify
such Person against such liability under the provisions of this Agreement.

(e)    For purposes of this Section 7.7, the Partnership shall be deemed to have requested an Indemnitee to serve as fiduciary of an employee benefit plan whenever the
performance by it of its duties to the Partnership also imposes duties on, or otherwise involves services by, it to the plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan; excise taxes
assessed on an Indemnitee with respect to an employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable law shall constitute “fines” within the meaning of Section 7.7(a); and action taken or
omitted by it with respect to any employee benefit plan in the performance of its duties for a purpose reasonably believed by it to be in the interest of the participants
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and beneficiaries of the plan shall be deemed to be for a purpose which is in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Partnership.

(f)    In no event may an Indemnitee subject the Limited Partners to personal liability by reason of the indemnification provisions set forth in this Agreement.

(g)    An Indemnitee shall not be denied indemnification in whole or in part under this Section 7.7 because the Indemnitee had an interest in the transaction with respect
to which the indemnification applies if the transaction was otherwise permitted by the terms of this Agreement.

(h)    The provisions of this Section 7.7 are for the benefit of the Indemnitees, their heirs, successors, assigns and administrators and shall not be deemed to create any
rights for the benefit of any other Persons.

(i)    No amendment, modification, or repeal of this Section 7.7 or any provision hereof shall in any manner terminate, reduce, or impair the right of any past, present or
future Indemnitee to be indemnified by the Partnership, nor the obligations of the Partnership to indemnify any such Indemnitee under and in accordance with the provisions of
this Section 7.7 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification, or repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in
part, prior to such amendment, modification, or repeal, regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

Section 7.8    Liability of Indemnitees.

(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, no Indemnitee shall be liable for monetary damages to the Partnership, the Limited Partners,
the Assignees or any other Persons who have acquired interests in the Partnership Securities, for losses sustained or liabilities incurred as a result of any act or omission if such
Indemnitee acted in good faith.

(b)    Subject to its obligations and duties as General Partner set forth in Section 7.1(a), the General Partner may exercise any of the powers granted to it by this
Agreement and perform any of the duties imposed upon it hereunder either directly or by or through its agents, and the General Partner shall not be responsible for any
misconduct or negligence on the part of any such agent appointed by the General Partner in good faith.

(c)    To the extent that, at law or in equity, an Indemnitee has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating thereto to the Partnership or to the Partners, the
General Partner and any other Indemnitee acting in connection with the Partnership’s business or affairs shall not be liable to the Partnership or to any Partner for its good faith
reliance on the provisions of this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that they restrict or otherwise modify the duties and liabilities of an Indemnitee
otherwise existing at law or in equity, are agreed by the Partners to replace such other duties and liabilities of such Indemnitee.

(d)    Any amendment, modification, or repeal of this Section 7.8 or any provision hereof shall be prospective only and shall not in any way affect the limitations on the
liability to the Partnership, the Limited Partners, the General Partner, and the Partnership’s and General Partner’s directors, officers and employees under this Section 7.8 as in
effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification, or repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such
amendment, modification, or repeal, regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

Section 7.9    Resolution of Conflicts of Interest.

(a)    Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the Operating Partnership Agreement or the limited liability company or partnership agreement of any
other Group Member, whenever a potential conflict of interest exists or arises between the General Partner or any of its Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Partnership, the
Operating Partnership, any other Group Member, any Partner or any Assignee, on the other, any resolution or course of action by the General Partner or its Affiliates in respect
of such conflict of interest shall be permitted and deemed approved by all Partners, and shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement, of the Operating Partnership Agreement,
of any agreement contemplated herein or therein, or of any duty stated or implied by law or equity, if the resolution or course of action is, or by operation of this Agreement is
deemed to be, fair and reasonable to the Partnership. The General Partner shall be authorized but not required in connection with its resolution of such conflict of interest to seek
Special Approval of such resolution. Any conflict of interest and any resolution of such
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conflict of interest shall be conclusively deemed fair and reasonable to the Partnership if such conflict of interest or resolution is (i) approved by Special Approval (as long as the
material facts known to the General Partner or any of its Affiliates regarding any proposed transaction were disclosed to the Conflicts Committee at the time it gave its
approval), (ii) on terms no less favorable to the Partnership than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or (iii) fair to the Partnership, taking
into account the totality of the relationships between the parties involved (including other transactions that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to the Partnership).
The General Partner may also adopt a resolution or course of action that has not received Special Approval. The General Partner (including the Conflicts Committee in
connection with Special Approval) shall be authorized in connection with its determination of what is “fair and reasonable” to the Partnership and in connection with its
resolution of any conflict of interest to consider (A) the relative interests of any party to such conflict, agreement, transaction or situation and the benefits and burdens relating to
such interest; (B) any customary or accepted industry practices and any customary or historical dealings with a particular Person; (C) any applicable generally accepted
accounting practices or principles; and (D) such additional factors as the General Partner (including the Conflicts Committee) determines in its sole discretion to be relevant,
reasonable or appropriate under the circumstances. Nothing contained in this Agreement, however, is intended to nor shall it be construed to require the General Partner
(including the Conflicts Committee) to consider the interests of any Person other than the Partnership. In the absence of bad faith by the General Partner, the resolution, action or
terms so made, taken or provided by the General Partner with respect to such matter shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated herein
or a breach of any standard of care or duty imposed herein or therein or, to the extent permitted by law, under the Delaware Act or any other law, rule or regulation.

(b)    Whenever this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated hereby provides that the General Partner or any of its Affiliates is permitted or required to make
a decision (i) in its “sole discretion” or “discretion,” that it deems “necessary or appropriate” or “necessary or advisable” or under a grant of similar authority or latitude, except
as otherwise provided herein, the General Partner or such Affiliate shall be entitled to consider only such interests and factors as it desires and shall have no duty or obligation to
give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, the Partnership, any other Group Member, any Limited Partner or any Assignee, (ii) it may make such decision in
its sole discretion (regardless of whether there is a reference to “sole discretion” or “discretion”) unless another express standard is provided for, or (iii) in “good faith” or under
another express standard, the General Partner or such Affiliate shall act under such express standard and shall not be subject to any other or different standards imposed by this
Agreement, the Operating Partnership Agreement, the limited liability company or partnership agreement of any other Group Member, any other agreement contemplated
hereby or under the Delaware Act or any other law, rule, or regulation. In addition, any actions taken by the General Partner or such Affiliate consistent with the standards of
“reasonable discretion” set forth in the definition of Available Cash shall not constitute a breach of any duty of the General Partner to the Partnership or the Limited Partners.
The General Partner shall have no duty, express or implied, to sell or otherwise dispose of any asset of the Partnership Group other than in the ordinary course of business. No
borrowing by any Group Member or the approval thereof by the General Partner shall be deemed to constitute a breach of any duty of the General Partner to the Partnership or
the Limited Partners by reason of the fact that the purpose or effect of such borrowing is directly or indirectly to enable distributions to the General Partner or its Affiliates
(including in their capacities as Limited Partners) to exceed the General Partner's Percentage Interest of the total amount distributed to all partners.

(c)    Whenever a particular transaction, arrangement, or resolution of a conflict of interest is required under this Agreement to be “fair and reasonable” to any Person,
the fair and reasonable nature of such transaction, arrangement, or resolution shall be considered in the context of all similar or related transactions.

(d)    The Unitholders hereby authorize the General Partner, on behalf of the Partnership as a partner or member of a Group Member, to approve of actions by the
general partner or managing member of such Group Member similar to those actions permitted to be taken by the General Partner pursuant to this Section 7.9.

Section 7.10    Other Matters Concerning the General Partner.

(a)    The General Partner may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report,
notice, request, consent, order, bond, debenture, or
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other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

(b)    The General Partner may consult with legal counsel, accountants, appraisers, management consultants, investment bankers, and other consultants and advisers
selected by it, and any act taken or omitted to be taken in reliance upon the opinion (including an Opinion of Counsel) of such Persons as to matters that the General Partner
reasonably believes to be within such Person’s professional or expert competence shall be conclusively presumed to have been done or omitted in good faith and in accordance
with such opinion.

(c)    The General Partner shall have the right, in respect of any of its powers or obligations hereunder, to act through any of its duly authorized officers, a duly
appointed attorney or attorneys-in-fact or the duly authorized officers of the Partnership.

(d)    Any standard of care and duty imposed by this Agreement or under the Delaware Act or any applicable law, rule, or regulation shall be modified, waived or
limited, to the extent permitted by law, as required to permit the General Partner to act under this Agreement or any other agreement contemplated by this Agreement and to
make any decision pursuant to the authority prescribed in this Agreement, so long as such action is reasonably believed by the General Partner to be in, or not inconsistent with,
the best interests of the Partnership.

Section 7.11    Purchase or Sale of Partnership Securities.

The General Partner may cause the Partnership to purchase or otherwise acquire Partnership Securities. As long as Partnership Securities are held by any Group
Member, such Partnership Securities shall not be considered Outstanding for any purpose, except as otherwise provided herein. The General Partner or any Affiliate of the
General Partner may also purchase or otherwise acquire and sell or otherwise dispose of Partnership Securities for its own account, subject to the provisions of Articles IV and
X.

Section 7.12    [Reserved].

Section 7.13    Reliance by Third Parties.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any Person dealing with the Partnership shall be entitled to assume that the General Partner and any
officer of the General Partner authorized by the General Partner to act on behalf of and in the name of the Partnership has full power and authority to encumber, sell or otherwise
use in any manner any and all assets of the Partnership and to enter into any authorized contracts on behalf of the Partnership, and such Person shall be entitled to deal with the
General Partner or any such officer as if it were the Partnership’s sole party in interest, both legally and beneficially. Each Limited Partner hereby waives any and all defenses or
other remedies that may be available against such Person to contest, negate or disaffirm any action of the General Partner or any such officer in connection with any such
dealing. In no event shall any Person dealing with the General Partner or any such officer or its representatives be obligated to ascertain that the terms of this Agreement have
been complied with or to inquire into the necessity or expedience of any act or action of the General Partner or any such officer or its representatives. Each and every certificate,
document or other instrument executed on behalf of the Partnership by the General Partner or its representatives shall be conclusive evidence in favor of any and every Person
relying thereon or claiming thereunder that (a) at the time of the execution and delivery of such certificate, document or instrument, this Agreement was in full force and effect,
(b) the Person executing and delivering such certificate, document or instrument was duly authorized and empowered to do so for and on behalf of the Partnership, and (c) such
certificate, document or instrument was duly executed and delivered in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and is binding upon the Partnership.

ARTICLE VIII

BOOKS, RECORDS, ACCOUNTING, AND REPORTS

Section 8.1    Records and Accounting.

The General Partner shall keep or cause to be kept at the principal office of the Partnership appropriate books and records with respect to the Partnership’s business,
including all books and records necessary to provide to the Limited Partners any information required to be provided pursuant to Section 3.4(a). Any books and records
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maintained by or on behalf of the Partnership in the regular course of its business, including the record of the Record Holders and Assignees of Units or other Partnership
Securities, books of account and records of Partnership proceedings, may be kept on, or be in the form of, computer disks, hard drives, punch cards, magnetic tape, photographs,
micrographics, or any other information storage device; provided, that the books and records so maintained are convertible into clearly legible written form within a reasonable
period of time. The books of the Partnership shall be maintained, for financial reporting purposes, on an accrual basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Section 8.2    Fiscal Year.

The fiscal year of the Partnership shall be a fiscal year ending December 31.

Section 8.3    Reports.

(a)    As soon as practicable, but in no event later than 120 days after the close of each fiscal year of the Partnership, the General Partner shall cause to be mailed or
made available to each Record Holder of a Unit as of a date selected by the General Partner in its discretion, an annual report containing financial statements of the Partnership
for such fiscal year of the Partnership, presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, including a balance sheet and statements of operations, Partnership equity, and cash flows,
such statements to be audited by a firm of independent public accountants selected by the General Partner.

(b)    As soon as practicable, but in no event later than ninety (90) days after the close of each Quarter except the last Quarter of each fiscal year, the General Partner
shall cause to be mailed or made available to each Record Holder of a Unit, as of a date selected by the General Partner in its discretion, a report containing unaudited financial
statements of the Partnership and such other information as may be required by applicable law, regulation or rule of any National Securities Exchange on which the Units are
listed for trading, or as the General Partner determines to be necessary or appropriate.

ARTICLE IX

TAX MATTERS
Section 9.1    Tax Returns and Information.

The Partnership shall timely file all returns of the Partnership that are required for federal, state and local income tax purposes on a taxable year ending on December
31 or such other period as may be required by law, as determined by the General Partner in good faith. The tax information reasonably required by Record Holders for federal
and state income tax reporting purposes with respect to a taxable year shall be furnished to them within ninety (90) days of the close of the calendar year in which the
Partnership’s taxable year ends. The classification, realization and recognition of income, gain, losses and deductions and other items shall be on the accrual method of
accounting for federal income tax purposes.

Section 9.2    Tax Elections.

(a)    The Partnership shall make the election under Section 754 of the Code in accordance with applicable regulations thereunder, subject to the reservation of the right
to seek to revoke any such election upon the General Partner’s determination that such revocation is in the best interests of the Limited Partners. Notwithstanding any other
provision herein contained, for the purposes of computing the adjustments under Section 743(b) of the Code, the General Partner shall be authorized (but not required) to adopt
a convention whereby the price paid by a transferee of a Limited Partner Interest will be deemed to be the lowest quoted closing price of the Limited Partner Interests on any
National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests are traded during the calendar
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month in which such transfer is deemed to occur pursuant to Section 6.2(g) without regard to the actual price paid by such transferee.

(b)    The Partnership shall elect to deduct expenses incurred in organizing the Partnership ratably over a sixty-month period as provided in Section 709 of the Code.

(c)    Except as otherwise provided herein, the General Partner shall determine whether the Partnership should make any other elections permitted by the Code.

Section 9.3    Tax Controversies.

(a)    For taxable years beginning on or before December 31, 2017, the General Partner is designated as the “tax matters partner” (as defined in Section 6231(a)(7) of
the Code, prior to amendment by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 (the “BBA”)). For each taxable year beginning after December 31, 2017, the General Partner shall be or
shall designate the “partnership representative” (as defined in Section 6223 of the Code, as amended by the BBA) and any other Persons necessary to conduct proceedings under
Subchapter C of Chapter 63 of the Code (as amended by the BBA) for such year. Any such designated Person or Persons shall serve at the pleasure of, and act at the direction
of, the General Partner. The partnership representative, as directed by the General Partner, shall exercise any and all authority of the “partnership representative” under the Code
(as amended by the BBA), including, without limitation, (i) binding the Partnership and its Partners with respect to actions taken under Subchapter C of Chapter 63 of the Code
(as amended by the BBA) and (ii) determining whether to make any available election under Section 6226 of the Code (as amended by the BBA).

(b)    The General Partner (acting through the partnership representative to the extent permitted by Section 9.3(a)) is authorized and required to act on behalf of and
represent the Partnership (at the Partnership’s expense) in connection with all examinations of the Partnership’s affairs by tax authorities, including resulting administrative and
judicial proceedings, and the General Partner is authorized to expend Partnership funds for professional services and costs associated therewith.

(c)    Each Partner agrees to cooperate with the General Partner (or its designee) and to do or refrain from doing any or all things reasonably requested by the General
Partner (or its designee) in its capacity as the “tax matters partner” or the “partnership representative,” or as a person otherwise authorized and required to act on behalf of and
represent the Partnership pursuant to Section 9.3(b).

(d)    Each Partner agrees that notice of or updates regarding tax controversies shall be deemed conclusively to have been given or made by the General Partner if the
Partnership has either (i) filed the information for which notice is required with the Commission via its Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system and such
information is publicly available on such system or (ii) made the information for which notice is required available on any publicly available website maintained by the
Partnership, whether or not such Partner remains a Partner in the Partnership at the time such information is made publicly available. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, nothing in this provision shall obligate the Partnership Representative to provide notice to the Partners other than as required by the Code.

(e)    The General Partner is authorized to amend the provisions of this Agreement as appropriate to reflect the proposal or promulgation of Treasury Regulations
implementing or interpreting the partnership audit, assessment, and collection rules adopted by the BBA, including any amendments to those rules.

Section 9.4    Withholding.

(a)    If taxes and related interest, penalties, or additions to tax are paid by the Partnership on behalf of all or less than all the Partners or former Partners (including,
without limitation, any payment by the Partnership of an imputed underpayment under Section 6225 of the Code (as amended by the BBA) (an “Imputed Underpayment”)), the
General Partner may treat such payment as a distribution of cash to such Partners, treat such payment as a general expense of the Partnership, or, in the case of an Imputed
Underpayment, require that persons who were Partners of the Partnership in the taxable year to which the payment relates (including former Partners) indemnify the Partnership
upon request for their allocable share of that payment, in each case as determined appropriate under the circumstances by the General Partner. The amount of any such
indemnification obligation of, or deemed distribution of cash to, a Partner or former Partner in respect of an Imputed Underpayment shall be
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reduced to the extent that the Partnership receives a reduction in the amount of the Imputed Underpayment which, in the determination of the General Partner, is attributable to
actions taken by, the tax status or attributes of, or tax information provided by or attributable to, such Partner or former Partner pursuant to or described in Section 6225(c) of
the Code (as amended by the BBA).

(b)    The General Partner is authorized to take any action that it determines in its discretion to be necessary or appropriate to cause the Partnership and other Group
Members to comply with any withholding requirements established under the Code or any other federal, state or local law including, without limitation, pursuant to Sections
1441, 1442, 1445, and 1446 of the Code. To the extent that the Partnership is required or elects to withhold and pay over to any taxing authority any amount resulting from the
allocation or distribution of income to any Partner or Assignee (including, without limitation, by reason of Section 1446 of the Code), the amount withheld may at the discretion
of the General Partner be treated by the Partnership as a distribution of cash pursuant to the then applicable provision of this Agreement in the amount of such withholding from
such Partner.

ARTICLE X
ADMISSION OF PARTNERS

Section 10.1    Admission of Substituted Limited Partner.

By transfer of a Limited Partner Interest in accordance with Article IV, the transferor shall be deemed to have given the transferee the right to seek admission as a
Substituted Limited Partner subject to the conditions of, and in the manner permitted under, this Agreement. A transferor of a Certificate representing a Limited Partner Interest
or of uncertificated Limited Partner Interests shall, however, only have the authority to convey to a purchaser or other transferee who does not execute and deliver a Transfer
Application (a) the right to negotiate such Certificate or uncertificated Limited Partner Interests to a purchaser or other transferee and (b) the right to transfer the right to request
admission as a Substituted Limited Partner to such purchaser or other transferee in respect of the transferred Limited Partner Interests. Each transferee of a Limited Partner
Interest (including any nominee holder or an agent acquiring such Limited Partner Interest for the account of another Person) who executes and delivers a Transfer Application
shall, by virtue of such execution and delivery, be an Assignee and be deemed to have applied to become a Substituted Limited Partner with respect to the Limited Partner
Interests so transferred to such Person. Such Assignee shall become a Substituted Limited Partner (x) at such time as the General Partner consents thereto, which consent may
be given or withheld in the General Partner’s discretion, and (y) when any such admission is shown on the books and records of the Partnership. If such consent is withheld,
such transferee shall be an Assignee. An Assignee shall have an interest in the Partnership equivalent to that of a Limited Partner with respect to allocations and distributions,
including liquidating distributions, of the Partnership. With respect to voting rights attributable to Limited Partner Interests that are held by Assignees, the General Partner shall
be deemed to be the Limited Partner with respect thereto and shall, in exercising the voting rights in respect of such Limited Partner Interests on any matter, vote such Limited
Partner Interests at the written direction of the Assignee who is the Record Holder of such Limited Partner Interests. If no such written direction is received, such Limited
Partner Interests will not be voted. An Assignee shall have no other rights of a Limited Partner.

Section 10.2    Admission of Successor General Partner.

A successor General Partner approved pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2 or the transferee of or successor to all of the General Partner Interest pursuant to Section 4.6
who is proposed to be admitted as a successor General Partner shall be admitted to the Partnership as the General Partner, effective immediately prior to the withdrawal or
removal of the predecessor or transferring General Partner, pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2 or the transfer of the General Partner Interest pursuant to Section 4.6; provided,
however, that no such successor shall be admitted to the Partnership until compliance with the terms of Section 4.6 has occurred and such successor has executed and delivered
such other documents or instruments as may be required to effect such admission. Any such successor shall, subject to the terms hereof, carry on the business of the members of
the Partnership Group without dissolution.
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Section 10.3    Admission of Additional Limited Partners.

(a)    A Person (other than the General Partner, an Initial Limited Partner or a Substituted Limited Partner) who makes a Capital Contribution to the Partnership in
accordance with this Agreement shall be admitted to the Partnership as an Additional Limited Partner only upon furnishing to the General Partner

(i)    evidence of acceptance in form satisfactory to the General Partner of all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the power of attorney
granted in Section 2.6, and

(ii)    such other documents or instruments as may be required in the discretion of the General Partner to effect such Person’s admission as an Additional
Limited Partner.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 10.3, no Person shall be admitted as an Additional Limited Partner without the consent of the General
Partner, which consent may be given or withheld in the General Partner’s discretion. The admission of any Person as an Additional Limited Partner shall become effective on
the date upon which the name of such Person is recorded as such in the books and records of the Partnership, following the consent of the General Partner to such admission.

Section 10.4    Amendment of Agreement and Certificate of Limited Partnership.

To effect the admission to the Partnership of any Partner, the General Partner shall take all steps necessary and appropriate under the Delaware Act to amend the
records of the Partnership to reflect such admission and, if necessary, to prepare as soon as practicable an amendment to this Agreement and, if required by law, the General
Partner shall prepare and file an amendment to the Certificate of Limited Partnership, and the General Partner may for this purpose, among others, exercise the power of
attorney granted pursuant to Section 2.6.

ARTICLE XI
WITHDRAWAL OR REMOVAL OF PARTNERS

Section 11.1    Withdrawal of the General Partner.

(a)    The General Partner shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Partnership upon the occurrence of any one of the following events (each such event herein
referred to as an “Event of Withdrawal”);

(i)    The General Partner voluntarily withdraws from the Partnership by giving written notice to the other Partners;

(ii)    The General Partner transfers all of its rights as General Partner pursuant to Section 4.6;

(iii)    The General Partner is removed pursuant to Section 11.2;

(iv)    The General Partner (A) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors; (B) files a voluntary bankruptcy petition for relief under Chapter 7 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code; (C) files a petition or answer seeking for itself a liquidation, dissolution or similar relief (but not a reorganization) under any
law; (D) files an answer or other pleading admitting or failing to contest the material allegations of a petition filed against the General Partner in a proceeding of
the type described in clauses (A)-(C) of this Section 11.1(a)(iv); or (E) seeks, consents to or acquiesces in the appointment of a trustee (but not a debtor-in-
possession), receiver or liquidator of the General Partner or of all or any substantial part of its properties;

(v)    A final and non-appealable order of relief under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code is entered by a court with appropriate jurisdiction
pursuant to a voluntary or involuntary petition by or against the General Partner; or

(vi)    (A) in the event the General Partner is a corporation, a certificate of dissolution or its equivalent is filed for the General Partner, or ninety (90) days expire
after the date of notice to the
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General Partner of revocation of its charter without a reinstatement of its charter, under the laws of its state of incorporation; (B) in the event the General
Partner is a partnership or a limited liability company, the dissolution and commencement of winding up of the General Partner; (C) in the event the General
Partner is acting in such capacity by virtue of being a trustee of a trust, the termination of the trust; (D) in the event the General Partner is a natural person, his
death or adjudication of incompetency; and (E) otherwise in the event of the termination of the General Partner.

If an Event of Withdrawal specified in Section 11.1(a)(iv), (v) or (vi)(A), (B), (C), or (E) occurs, the withdrawing General Partner shall give notice to the Limited Partners
within thirty (30) days after such occurrence. The Partners hereby agree that only the Events of Withdrawal described in this Section 11.1 shall result in the withdrawal of the
General Partner from the Partnership.

(a)    Withdrawal of the General Partner from the Partnership upon the occurrence of an Event of Withdrawal shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement under the
following circumstances: (i) the General Partner voluntarily withdraws by giving at least 90 days’ advance notice to the Unitholders, such withdrawal to take effect on the date
specified in such notice; (ii) at any time that the General Partner ceases to be the General Partner pursuant to Section 11.1(a)(ii) or is removed pursuant to Section 11.2; or (iii)
notwithstanding clause (i) of this sentence, at any time that the General Partner voluntarily withdraws by giving at least 90 days’ advance notice of its intention to withdraw to
the Limited Partners, such withdrawal to take effect on the date specified in the notice, if at the time such notice is given one Person and its Affiliates (other than the General
Partner and its Affiliates) own beneficially or of record or control at least 50% of the Outstanding Units. The withdrawal of the General Partner from the Partnership upon the
occurrence of an Event of Withdrawal shall also constitute the withdrawal of the General Partner as general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other
Group Members. If the General Partner gives a notice of withdrawal pursuant to Section 11.1(a)(i), the holders of a Unit Majority, may, prior to the effective date of such
withdrawal, elect a successor General Partner. The Person so elected as successor General Partner shall automatically become the successor general partner or managing
member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members of which the General Partner is a general partner or a managing member. If, prior to the effective date of the
General Partner’s withdrawal, a successor is not selected by the Unitholders as provided herein or the Partnership does not receive an Opinion of Counsel (“Withdrawal Opinion
of Counsel”) that such withdrawal (following the selection of the successor General Partner) would not result in the loss of the limited liability of any Limited Partner or any
Group Member or cause any Group Member to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for federal income tax purposes (to the
extent not previously treated as such), the Partnership shall be dissolved in accordance with Section 12.1. Any successor General Partner elected in accordance with the terms of
this Section 11.1 shall be subject to the provisions of Section 10.2.

Section 11.2    Removal of the General Partner.

(a)    The General Partner may be removed if such removal is approved by the Unitholders holding at least 66⅔% of the Outstanding Units (including Units held by
the General Partner and its Affiliates). Any such action by such holders for removal of the General Partner must also provide for the election of a successor General Partner by
the Unitholders holding a majority of the outstanding Common Units voting as a class (including Units held by the General Partner and its Affiliates). Such removal shall be
effective immediately following the admission of a successor General Partner pursuant to Section 10.2. The removal of the General Partner shall also automatically constitute
the removal of the General Partner as general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members of which the General Partner is a general
partner or a managing member. If a Person is elected as a successor General Partner in accordance with the terms of this Section 11.2, such Person shall, upon admission
pursuant to Section 10.2, automatically become a successor general partner or managing member, to the extent applicable, of the other Group Members of which the General
Partner is a general partner or a managing member. The right of the holders of Outstanding Units to remove the General Partner shall not exist or be exercised unless the
Partnership has received an opinion opining as to the matters covered by a Withdrawal Opinion of Counsel. Any successor General Partner elected in accordance with the terms
of this Section 11.2 shall be subject to the provisions of Section 10.2.
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Section 11.3    Interest of Departing Partner and Successor General Partner.

(a)    In the event of (i) withdrawal of the General Partner under circumstances where such withdrawal does not violate this Agreement or (ii) removal of the General
Partner by the holders of Outstanding Units under circumstances where Cause does not exist, if the successor General Partner is elected in accordance with the terms of Section
11.1 or 11.2, the Departing Partner shall have the option, exercisable prior to the effective date of the departure of such Departing Partner, to require its successor to purchase its
General Partner Interest and its general partner interest (or equivalent interest), if any, in the other Group Members (collectively, the “ Combined Interest”) in exchange for an
amount in cash equal to the fair market value of such Combined Interest, such amount to be determined and payable as of the effective date of its departure. If the General
Partner is removed by the Unitholders under circumstances where Cause exists or if the General Partner withdraws under circumstances where such withdrawal violates this
Agreement, and if a successor General Partner is elected in accordance with the terms of Section 11.1 or 11.2, such successor shall have the option, exercisable prior to the
effective date of the departure of such Departing Partner, to purchase the Combined Interest for such fair market value of such Combined Interest of the Departing Partner. In
either event, the Departing Partner shall be entitled to receive all reimbursements due such Departing Partner pursuant to Section 7.4, including any employee-related liabilities
(including severance liabilities), incurred in connection with the termination of any employees employed by the Departing Partner for the benefit of the Partnership or the other
Group Members.

For purposes of this Section 11.3(a), the fair market value of the Departing Partner’s Combined Interest shall be determined by agreement between the Departing
Partner and its successor or, failing agreement within thirty (30) days after the effective date of such Departing Partner’s departure, by an independent investment banking firm
or other independent expert selected by the Departing Partner and its successor, which, in turn, may rely on other experts, and the determination of which shall be conclusive as
to such matter. If such parties cannot agree upon one independent investment banking firm or other independent expert within forty-five (45) days after the effective date of
such departure, then the Departing Partner shall designate an independent investment banking firm or other independent expert, the Departing Partner’s successor shall
designate an independent investment banking firm or other independent expert, and such firms or experts shall mutually select a third independent investment banking firm or
independent expert, which third independent investment banking firm or other independent expert shall determine the fair market value of the Combined Interest of the
Departing Partner. In making its determination, such third independent investment banking firm or other independent expert may consider the then current trading price of Units
on any National Securities Exchange on which Units are then listed, the value of the Partnership’s assets, the rights and obligations of the Departing Partner and other factors it
may deem relevant.

(b)    If the Combined Interest is not purchased in the manner set forth in Section 11.3(a), the Departing Partner (or its transferee) shall become a Limited Partner and
its Combined Interest shall be converted into Common Units pursuant to a valuation made by an investment banking firm or other independent expert selected pursuant to
Section 11.3(a), without reduction in such Partnership Interest (but subject to proportionate dilution by reason of the admission of its successor). Any successor General Partner
shall indemnify the Departing Partner (or its transferee) as to all debts and liabilities of the Partnership arising on or after the date on which the Departing Partner (or its
transferee) becomes a Limited Partner. For purposes of this Agreement, conversion of the Combined Interest of the Departing Partner to Common Units will be characterized as
if the Departing Partner (or its transferee) contributed its Combined Interest to the Partnership in exchange for the newly issued Common Units.

(c)    If a successor General Partner is elected in accordance with the terms of Section 11.1 or 11.2 and the option described in Section 11.3(a) is not exercised by the
party entitled to do so, the successor General Partner shall, at the effective date of its admission to the Partnership, contribute to the Partnership cash in the amount equal to the
product of (x) the quotient obtained by dividing (A) the Percentage Interest of the General Partner Interest of the Departing Partner by (B) a percentage equal to 100% less the
Percentage Interest of the General Partner Interest of the Departing Partner and (y) the Net Agreed Value of the Partnership’s assets on such date. In such event, such successor
General Partner shall, subject to the following sentence, be entitled to its Percentage Interest of all Partnership allocations and distributions to which the Departing Partner was
entitled. In addition, the successor General Partner shall cause this Agreement to be amended to reflect that, from and after the date of such successor General Partner’s
admission, the successor General Partner’s interest in all Partnership distributions and allocations shall be its Percentage Interest.
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Section 11.4    Withdrawal of Limited Partners.

No Limited Partner shall have any right to withdraw from the Partnership; provided, however, that when a transferee of a Limited Partner’s Limited Partner Interest
becomes a Record Holder of the Limited Partner Interest so transferred, such transferring Limited Partner shall cease to be a Limited Partner with respect to the Limited Partner
Interest so transferred.

ARTICLE XII

DISSOLUTION AND LIQUIDATION

Section 12.1    Dissolution.

The Partnership shall not be dissolved by the admission of Substituted Limited Partners or Additional Limited Partners or by the admission of a successor General
Partner in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Upon the removal or withdrawal of the General Partner, if a successor General Partner is elected pursuant to Section
11.1 or 11.2, the Partnership shall not be dissolved and such successor General Partner shall continue the business of the Partnership. The Partnership shall dissolve, and (subject
to Section 12.2) its affairs shall be wound up, upon:

(a)    an Event of Withdrawal of the General Partner as provided in Section 11.1(a) (other than Section 11.1(a)(ii)), unless a successor is elected and an Opinion of
Counsel is received as provided in Section 11.1(b) or 11.2 and such successor is admitted to the Partnership pursuant to Section 10.2;

(b)    an election to dissolve the Partnership by the General Partner that is approved by the holders of a Unit Majority;

(c)    the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of the Partnership pursuant to the provisions of the Delaware Act; or

(d)    the sale of all or substantially all of the assets and properties of the Partnership Group.

Section 12.2    Continuation of the Business of the Partnership After Dissolution.

Upon (a) dissolution of the Partnership following an Event of Withdrawal caused by the withdrawal or removal of the General Partner as provided in Section 11.1(a)(i)
or (iii) and the failure of the Partners to select a successor to such Departing Partner pursuant to Section 11.1 or 11.2, then within ninety (90) days thereafter, or (b) dissolution of
the Partnership upon an event constituting an Event of Withdrawal as defined in Section 11.1(a)(iv), (v) or (vi), then, to the maximum extent permitted by law, within 180 days
thereafter, the holders of a Unit Majority may elect to reconstitute the Partnership and continue its business on the same terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement by
forming a new limited partnership on terms identical to those set forth in this Agreement and having as the successor General partner a Person approved by the holders of a Unit
Majority. Unless such an election is made within the applicable time period as set forth above, the Partnership shall conduct only activities necessary to wind up its affairs. If
such an election is so made, then:

(i)    the reconstituted Partnership shall continue unless earlier dissolved in accordance with this Article XII;

(ii)    if the successor General Partner is not the former General Partner, then the interest of the former General Partner shall be treated in the manner
provided in Section 11.3; and

(iii)    all necessary steps shall be taken to cancel this Agreement and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and to enter into and, as necessary, to file a
new partnership agreement and certificate of limited partnership, and the successor General Partner may for this purpose exercise the powers of attorney
granted the General Partner pursuant to Section 2.6; provided, that the right of the holders of a Unit Majority to approve a successor General Partner and to
reconstitute and to continue the business of the Partnership shall not exist and may not be exercised unless the Partnership has received an Opinion of Counsel
that (x) the exercise of the right would not result in the loss of limited liability of any Limited Partner and (y) neither the Partnership, the
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reconstituted limited partnership nor the Operating Partnership or any other Group Member would be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or
otherwise be taxable as an entity for federal income tax purposes upon the exercise of such right to continue.

Section 12.3    Liquidator.

Upon dissolution of the Partnership, unless the Partnership is continued under an election to reconstitute and continue the Partnership pursuant to Section 12.2, the
General Partner shall select one or more Persons to act as Liquidator. The Liquidator (if other than the General Partner) shall be entitled to receive such compensation for its
services as may be approved by holders of at least a majority of the Outstanding Common Units voting as a single class. The Liquidator (if other than the General Partner) shall
agree not to resign at any time without fifteen (15) days’ prior notice and may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by notice of removal approved by holders of at
least a majority of the Outstanding Common Units voting as a single class. Upon dissolution, removal or resignation of the Liquidator, a successor and substitute Liquidator
(who shall have and succeed to all rights, powers, and duties of the original Liquidator) shall within thirty (30) days thereafter be approved by holders of at least a majority of
the Outstanding Common Units voting as a single class. The right to approve a successor or substitute Liquidator in the manner provided herein shall be deemed to refer also to
any such successor or substitute Liquidator approved in the manner herein provided. Except as expressly provided in this Article XII, the Liquidator approved in the manner
provided herein shall have and may exercise, without further authorization or consent of any of the parties hereto, all of the powers conferred upon the General Partner under
the terms of this Agreement (but subject to all of the applicable limitations, contractual and otherwise, upon the exercise of such powers, other than the limitation on sale set
forth in Section 7.3(b)) to the extent necessary or desirable in the good faith judgment of the Liquidator to carry out the duties and functions of the Liquidator hereunder for and
during such period of time as shall be reasonably required in the good faith judgment of the Liquidator to complete the winding up and liquidation of the Partnership as provided
for herein.

Section 12.4    Liquidation.

The Liquidator shall proceed to dispose of the assets of the Partnership, discharge its liabilities, and otherwise wind up its affairs in such manner and over such period
as the Liquidator determines to be in the best interest of the Partners, subject to Section 17-804 of the Delaware Act and the following:

(a)    The assets may be disposed of by public or private sale or by distribution in kind to one or more Partners on such terms as the Liquidator and such Partner or
Partners may agree. If any property is distributed in kind, the Partner receiving the property shall be deemed for purposes of Section 12.4(c) to have received cash equal to its
fair market value; and contemporaneously therewith, appropriate cash distributions must be made to the other Partners. The Liquidator may, in its absolute discretion, defer
liquidation or distribution of the Partnership’s assets for a reasonable time if it determines that an immediate sale or distribution of all or some of the Partnership’s assets would
be impractical or would cause undue loss to the Partners. The Liquidator may, in its absolute discretion, distribute the Partnership’s assets, in whole or in part, in kind if it
determines that a sale would be impractical or would cause undue loss to the Partners.

(b)    Liabilities of the Partnership include amounts owed to the Liquidator as compensation for serving in such capacity (subject to the terms of Section 12.3) and
amounts to Partners otherwise than in respect of their distribution rights under Article VI. With respect to any liability that is contingent, conditional or unmatured or is
otherwise not yet due and payable, the Liquidator shall either settle such claim for such amount as it thinks appropriate or establish a reserve of cash or other assets to provide
for its payment. When paid, any unused portion of the reserve shall be distributed as additional liquidation proceeds.

(c)    All property and all cash in excess of that required to discharge liabilities as provided in Section 12.4(b) and that required to satisfy liquidation preferences of the
Series B Preferred Units provided for under Section 5.10(b)(iv) and the Series C Liquidation Preference provided for under Section 5.11(b)(v) shall be distributed to the Partners
in accordance with, and to the extent of, the positive balances in their respective Capital Accounts, as determined after taking into account all Capital Account adjustments
(other than those made by reason of distributions pursuant to this Section 12.4(c)) for the taxable year of the Partnership during which the liquidation of the Partnership occurs
(with such date of occurrence being determined pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section
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1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(g)), and such distribution shall be made by the end of such taxable year (or, if later, within ninety (90) days after said date of such occurrence).

Section 12.5    Cancellation of Certificate of Limited Partnership.

Upon the completion of the distribution of Partnership cash and property as provided in Section 12.4 in connection with the liquidation of the Partnership, the
Partnership shall be terminated and the Certificate of Limited Partnership and all qualifications of the Partnership as a foreign limited partnership in jurisdictions other than the
State of Delaware shall be canceled and such other actions as may be necessary to terminate the Partnership shall be taken.

Section 12.6    Return of Contributions.

The General Partner shall not be personally liable for, and shall have no obligation to contribute or loan any monies or property to the Partnership to enable it to
effectuate, the return of the Capital Contributions of the Limited Partners or Unitholders, or any portion thereof, it being expressly understood that any such return shall be made
solely from Partnership assets.

Section 12.7    Waiver of Partition.

To the maximum extent permitted by law, each Partner hereby waives any right to partition of the Partnership property.

Section 12.8    Capital Account Restoration.

No Limited Partner shall have any obligation to restore any negative balance in its Capital Account upon liquidation of the Partnership. The General Partner shall be
obligated to restore any negative balance in its Capital Account upon liquidation of its interest in the Partnership by the end of the taxable year of the Partnership during which
such liquidation occurs, or, if later, within ninety (90) days after the date of such liquidation.

ARTICLE XIII

AMENDMENT OF PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT; MEETINGS; RECORD DATE

Section 13.1    Amendment to be Adopted Solely by the General Partner.

Each Partner agrees that the General Partner, without the approval of any Partner or Assignee, may amend any provision of this Agreement and execute, swear to,
acknowledge, deliver, file and record whatever documents may be required in connection therewith, to reflect:

(a)    a change in the name of the Partnership, the location of the principal place of business of the Partnership, the registered agent of the Partnership or the registered
office of the Partnership;

(b)    admission, substitution, withdrawal or removal of Partners in accordance with this Agreement;

(c)    a change that, in the sole discretion of the General Partner, is necessary or advisable to qualify or continue the qualification of the Partnership as a limited
partnership or a partnership in which the Limited Partners have limited liability under the laws of any state or to ensure that the Group Members will not be treated as
associations taxable as corporations or otherwise taxed as entities for federal income tax purposes;

(d)    subject to Section 5.11(b)(iii), a change that, in the discretion of the General Partner, (i) does not adversely affect the Limited Partners (including any particular
class of Partnership Interests as compared to other classes of Partnership Interests) in any material respect, (ii) is necessary or advisable to (A) satisfy any requirements,
conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, ruling or regulation of any federal or state agency or judicial authority or contained in any federal or state
statute (including the Delaware Act) or (B) facilitate the trading of the Units (including the division of any class or classes of Outstanding Units into different classes to facilitate
uniformity of tax consequences within such classes of Units) or comply with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which the
Units are or will be listed for trading, compliance
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with any of which the General Partner determines in its discretion to be in the best interests of the Partnership and the Limited Partners, (iii) is necessary or advisable in
connection with action taken by the General Partner pursuant to Section 5.5 or (iv) is required to effect the intent expressed in the Registration Statement or the intent of the
provisions of this Agreement or is otherwise contemplated by this Agreement;

(e)    a change in the fiscal year or taxable year of the Partnership and any changes that, in the discretion of the General Partner, are necessary or advisable as a result of
a change in the fiscal year or taxable year of the Partnership including, if the General Partner shall so determine, a change in the definition of “Quarter” and the dates on which
distributions are to be made by the Partnership;

(f)    an amendment that is necessary, in the Opinion of Counsel, to prevent the Partnership, or the General Partner or its directors, officers, trustees, or agents from in
any manner being subjected to the provisions of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, or “plan asset”
regulations adopted under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, regardless of whether such are substantially similar to plan asset regulations
currently applied or proposed by the United States Department of Labor;

(g)    subject to Sections 5.10(b)(v) and 5.11(b)(iii), an amendment that, in the discretion of the General Partner, is necessary or advisable in connection with the
authorization of issuance of any class or series of Partnership Securities pursuant to Section 5.4;

(h)    any amendment expressly permitted in this Agreement to be made by the General Partner acting alone;

(i)    an amendment effected, necessitated or contemplated by a Merger Agreement approved in accordance with Section 14.3;

(j)    an amendment that, in the discretion of the General Partner, is necessary or advisable to reflect, account for and deal with appropriately the formation by the
Partnership of, or investment by the Partnership in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or other entity, in connection with the conduct by the
Partnership of activities permitted by the terms of Section 2.4;

(k)    a merger or conveyance pursuant to Section 14.3(d); or

(l)    any other amendments substantially similar to the foregoing.

Section 13.2    Amendment Procedures.

Except as provided in Sections 5.11(b)(iii), 13.1, and 13.3, all amendments to this Agreement shall be made in accordance with the following requirements.
Amendments to this Agreement may be proposed only by or with the consent of the General Partner which consent may be given or withheld in its sole discretion. A proposed
amendment shall be effective upon its approval by the holders of a Unit Majority, unless a greater or different percentage is required under this Agreement or by Delaware law.
Each proposed amendment that requires the approval of the holders of a specified percentage of Outstanding Units shall be set forth in a writing that contains the text of the
proposed amendment. If such an amendment is proposed, the General Partner shall seek the written approval of the requisite percentage of Outstanding Units or call a meeting
of the Unitholders to consider and vote on such proposed amendment. The General Partner shall notify all Record Holders upon final adoption of any such proposed
amendments.

Section 13.3    Amendment Requirements.

(a)    Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 13.1 and 13.2, no provision of this Agreement that establishes a percentage of Outstanding Units (including Units
deemed owned by the General Partner) required to take any action shall be amended, altered, changed, repealed, or rescinded in any respect that would have the effect of
reducing such voting percentage unless such amendment is approved by the written consent or the affirmative
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vote of holders of Outstanding Units whose aggregate Outstanding Units constitute not less than the voting requirement sought to be reduced.

(b)    Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 13.1 and 13.2, no amendment to this Agreement may (i) enlarge the obligations of any Limited Partner without its
consent, unless such shall be deemed to have occurred as a result of an amendment approved pursuant to Section 13.3(c), (ii) enlarge the obligations of, restrict in any way any
action by or rights of, or reduce in any way the amounts distributable, reimbursable or otherwise payable to, the General Partner or any of its Affiliates without its consent,
which consent may be given or withheld in its sole discretion, (iii) change Section 12.1(b), or (iv) change the term of the Partnership or, except as set forth in Section 12.1(b),
give any Person the right to dissolve the Partnership.

(c)    Except as provided in Section 14.3, and without limitation of the General Partner’s authority to adopt amendments to this Agreement without the approval of any
Partners or Assignees as contemplated in Section 13.1, any amendment that would have a material adverse effect on the rights or preferences of any class of Partnership
Interests in relation to other classes of Partnership Interests must be approved by the holders of not less than a majority of the Outstanding Partnership Interests of the class
affected.

(d)    Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, except for amendments pursuant to Section 13.1 and except as otherwise provided by Section 14.3(b), no
amendments shall become effective without the approval of the holders of at least 90% of the Outstanding Units voting as a single class unless the Partnership obtains an
Opinion of Counsel to the effect that such amendment will not affect the limited liability of any Limited Partner under applicable law.

(e)    Except as provided in Section 13.1, this Section 13.3 shall only be amended with the approval of the holders of at least 90% of the Outstanding Units.

Section 13.4    Special Meetings.

All acts of Limited Partners to be taken pursuant to this Agreement shall be taken in the manner provided in this Article XIII. Special meetings of the Limited Partners
may be called by the General Partner or by Limited Partners owning 20% or more of the Outstanding Units of the class or classes for which a meeting is proposed. Limited
Partners shall call a special meeting by delivering to the General Partner one or more requests in writing stating that the signing Limited Partners wish to call a special meeting
and indicating the general or specific purposes for which the special meeting is to be called. Within sixty (60) days after receipt of such a call from Limited Partners or within
such greater time as may be reasonably necessary for the Partnership to comply with any statutes, rules, regulations, listing agreements or similar requirements governing the
holding of a meeting or the solicitation of proxies for use at such a meeting, the General Partner shall send a notice of the meeting to the Limited Partners either directly or
indirectly through the Transfer Agent. A meeting shall be held at a time and place determined by the General Partner on a date not less than ten (10) days nor more than sixty
(60) days after the mailing of notice of the meeting. Limited Partners shall not vote on matters that would cause the Limited Partners to be deemed to be taking part in the
management and control of the business and affairs of the Partnership so as to jeopardize the Limited Partners’ limited liability under the Delaware Act or the law of any other
state in which the Partnership is qualified to do business.

Section 13.5    Notice of a Meeting.

Notice of a meeting called pursuant to Section 13.4 shall be given to the Record Holders of the class or classes of Units for which a meeting is proposed in writing by
mail or other means of written communication in accordance with Section 16.1. The notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time when deposited in the mail or sent by
other means of written communication.

Section 13.6    Record Date.

For purposes of determining the Limited Partners entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of the Limited Partners or to give approvals without a meeting as provided
in Section 13.11 the General Partner may set a Record Date, which shall not be less than 10 nor more than sixty (60) days before (a) the date of the meeting (unless such
requirement conflicts with any rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which the Units are listed for trading, in which case the rule,
regulation, guideline or requirement of such exchange
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shall govern) or (b) in the event that approvals are sought without a meeting, the date by which Limited Partners are requested in writing by the General Partner to give such
approvals.

Section 13.7    Adjournment.

When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting and a new Record Date need not be fixed, if the time and
place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken, unless such adjournment shall be for more than forty-five (45) days. At the adjourned meeting,
the Partnership may transact any business that might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more than forty-five (45) days or if a new Record
Date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in accordance with this Article XIII.

Section 13.8    Waiver of Notice; Approval of Meeting; Approval of Minutes.

The transactions of any meeting of Limited Partners, however called and noticed, and whenever held, shall be as valid as if it had occurred at a meeting duly held after
regular call and notice, if a quorum is present either in person or by proxy, and if, either before or after the meeting, Limited Partners representing such quorum who were
present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote, sign a written waiver of notice or an approval of the holding of the meeting or an approval of the minutes thereof. All waivers
and approvals shall be filed with the Partnership records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting. Attendance of a Limited Partner at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of
notice of the meeting, except when the Limited Partner does not approve, at the beginning of the meeting, of the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully
called or convened; and except that attendance at a meeting is not a waiver of any right to disapprove the consideration of matters required to be included in the notice of the
meeting, but not so included, if the disapproval is expressly made at the meeting.

Section 13.9    Quorum.

The holders of a majority of the Outstanding Units of the class or classes for which a meeting has been called (including Outstanding Units deemed owned by the
General Partner) represented in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of Limited Partners of such class or classes unless any such action by the Limited
Partners requires approval by holders of a greater percentage of such Units, in which case the quorum shall be such greater percentage. At any meeting of the Limited Partners
duly called and held in accordance with this Agreement at which a quorum is present, the act of Limited Partners holding Outstanding Units that in the aggregate represent a
majority of the Outstanding Units entitled to vote and be present in person or by proxy at such meeting shall be deemed to constitute the act of all Limited Partners, unless a
greater or different percentage is required with respect to such action under the provisions of this Agreement, in which case the act of the Limited Partners holding Outstanding
Units that in the aggregate represent at least such greater or different percentage shall be required. The Limited Partners present at a duly called or held meeting at which a
quorum is present may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Limited Partners to leave less than a quorum, if any action
taken (other than adjournment) is approved by the required percentage of Outstanding Units specified in this Agreement (including Outstanding Units deemed owned by the
General Partner). In the absence of a quorum any meeting of Limited Partners may be adjourned from time to time by the affirmative vote of holders of at least a majority of the
Outstanding Units entitled to vote at such meeting (including Outstanding Units deemed owned by the General Partner) represented either in person or by proxy, but no other
business may be transacted, except as provided in Section 13.7.

Section 13.10    Conduct of a Meeting.

The General Partner shall have full power and authority concerning the manner of conducting any meeting of the Limited Partners or solicitation of approvals in
writing, including the determination of Persons entitled to vote, the existence of a quorum, the satisfaction of the requirements of Section 13.4, the conduct of voting, the validity
and effect of any proxies and the determination of any controversies, votes or challenges arising in connection with or during the meeting or voting. The General Partner shall
designate a Person to serve as chairman of any meeting and shall further designate a Person to take the minutes of any meeting. All minutes shall be kept with the records of the
Partnership maintained by the General Partner. The General Partner may make such other regulations consistent with applicable law and this Agreement as it may deem
advisable concerning the conduct of any meeting of the Limited Partners or solicitation of approvals in writing, including regulations in regard to the
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appointment of proxies, the appointment and duties of inspectors of votes and approvals, the submission and examination of proxies and other evidence of the right to vote, and
the revocation of approvals in writing.

Section 13.11    Action Without a Meeting.

If authorized by the General Partner, any action that may be taken at a meeting of the Limited Partners may be taken without a meeting if an approval in writing setting
forth the action so taken is signed by Limited Partners owning not less than the minimum percentage of the Outstanding Units (including Units deemed owned by the General
Partner) that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all the Limited Partners were present and voted (unless such provision conflicts with any
rule, regulation, guideline or requirement of any National Securities Exchange on which the Units are listed for trading, in which case the rule, regulation, guideline or
requirement of such exchange shall govern). Prompt notice of the taking of action without a meeting shall be given to the Limited Partners who have not approved in writing.
The General Partner may specify that any written ballot submitted to Limited Partners for the purpose of taking any action without a meeting shall be returned to the Partnership
within the time period, which shall be not less than twenty (20) days, specified by the General Partner. If a ballot returned to the Partnership does not vote all of the Units held
by the Limited Partners, the Partnership shall be deemed to have failed to receive a ballot for the Units that were not voted. If approval of the taking of any action by the Limited
Partners is solicited by any Person other than by or on behalf of the General Partner, the written approvals shall have no force and effect unless and until (a) they are deposited
with the Partnership in care of the General Partner, (b) approvals sufficient to take the action proposed are dated as of a date not more than ninety (90) days prior to the date
sufficient approvals are deposited with the Partnership, and (c) an Opinion of Counsel is delivered to the General Partner to the effect that the exercise of such right and the
action proposed to be taken with respect to any particular matter (i) will not cause the Limited Partners to be deemed to be taking part in the management and control of the
business and affairs of the Partnership so as to jeopardize the Limited Partners’ limited liability, and (ii) is otherwise permissible under the state statutes then governing the
rights, duties and liabilities of the Partnership and the Partners.

Section 13.12    Voting and Other Rights.

(a)    Only those Record Holders of the Units on the Record Date set pursuant to Section 13.6 (and also subject to the limitations contained in the definition of
“Outstanding”) shall be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, a meeting of Limited Partners or to act with respect to matters as to which the holders of the Outstanding Units have
the right to vote or to act. All references in this Agreement to votes of, or other acts that may be taken by, the Outstanding Units shall be deemed to be references to the votes or
acts of the Record Holders of such Outstanding Units.

(b)    Only those Record Holders of the Series C Preferred Units on the Record Date set pursuant to Section 13.6 (and subject to the limitations contained in the
definition of “Outstanding” and the limitations set forth in Section 5.11(b)(iii)) shall be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, a meeting of Limited Partners holding Series C
Preferred Units or to act with respect to matters as to which the holders of the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units have the right to vote or to act. All references in this
Agreement to votes of, or other acts that may be taken by, the Outstanding Series C Preferred Units shall be deemed to be references to the votes or acts of the Record Holders
of such Outstanding Series C Preferred Units.

(c)    With respect to Units that are held for a Person’s account by another Person (such as a broker, dealer, bank, trust company or clearing corporation, or an agent of
any of the foregoing), in whose name such Units are registered, such other Person shall, in exercising the voting rights in respect of such Units on any matter, and unless the
arrangement between such Persons provides otherwise, vote such Units in favor of, and at the direction of, the Person who is the beneficial owner, and the Partnership shall be
entitled to assume it is so acting without further inquiry. The provisions of this Section 13.12(c) (as well as all other provisions of this Agreement) are subject to the provisions
of Section 4.3.
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ARTICLE XIV

MERGER

Section 14.1    Authority.

The Partnership may merge or consolidate with one or more corporations, limited liability companies, business trusts or associations, real estate investment trusts,
common law trusts or unincorporated businesses, including a general partnership or limited partnership, formed under the laws of the State of Delaware or any other state of the
United States of America, pursuant to a written agreement of merger or consolidation (“Merger Agreement”) in accordance with this Article XIV.

Section 14.2    Procedure for Merger or Consolidation.

Merger or consolidation of the Partnership pursuant to this Article XIV requires the prior approval of the General Partner. If the General Partner shall determine, in the
exercise of its discretion, to consent to the merger or consolidation, the General Partner shall approve the Merger Agreement, which shall set forth:

(a)    the names and jurisdictions of formation or organization of each of the business entities proposing to merge or consolidate;

(b)    the name and jurisdiction of formation or organization of the business entity that is to survive the proposed merger or consolidation (the “Surviving Business
Entity”);

(c)    the terms and conditions of the proposed merger or consolidation;

(d)    the manner and basis of exchanging or converting the equity securities of each constituent business entity for, or into, cash, property or general or limited partner
interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity; and (i) if any general or limited partner interests, securities or rights of any constituent business entity
are not to be exchanged or converted solely for, or into, cash, property or general or limited partner interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity,
the cash, property or general or limited partner interests, rights, securities or obligations of any limited partnership, corporation, trust or other entity (other than the Surviving
Business Entity) which the holders of such general or limited partner interests, securities or rights are to receive in exchange for, or upon conversion of their general or limited
partner interests, securities or rights, and (ii) in the case of securities represented by certificates, upon the surrender of such certificates, which cash, property or general or
limited partner interests, rights, securities or obligations of the Surviving Business Entity or any general or limited partnership, corporation, trust or other entity (other than the
Surviving Business Entity), or evidences thereof, are to be delivered;

(e)    a statement of any changes in the constituent documents or the adoption of new constituent documents (the articles or certificate of incorporation, articles of trust,
declaration of trust, certificate or agreement of limited partnership or other similar charter or governing document) of the Surviving Business Entity to be effected by such
merger or consolidation;

(f)    the effective time of the merger, which may be the date of the filing of the certificate of merger pursuant to Section 14.4 or a later date specified in or determinable
in accordance with the Merger Agreement (provided, that if the effective time of the merger is to be later than the date of the filing of the certificate of merger, the effective time
shall be fixed no later than the time of the filing of the certificate of merger and stated therein); and

(g)    such other provisions with respect to the proposed merger or consolidation as are deemed necessary or appropriate by the General Partner.

Section 14.3    Approval by Limited Partners of Merger or Consolidation.

(a)    Except as provided in Section 14.3(d), the General Partner, upon its approval of the Merger Agreement, shall direct that the Merger Agreement be submitted to a
vote of Limited Partners, whether at a special meeting or by written consent, in either case in accordance with the requirements of Article XIII. A copy or a
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summary of the Merger Agreement shall be included in or enclosed with the notice of a special meeting or the written consent.

(b)    Except as provided in Section 14.3(d), the Merger Agreement shall be approved upon receiving the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of a Unit Majority
unless the Merger Agreement contains any provision that, if contained in an amendment to this Agreement, the provisions of this Agreement or the Delaware Act would require
for its approval the vote or consent of a greater percentage of the Outstanding Units or of any class of Limited Partners, in which case such greater percentage vote or consent
shall be required for approval of the Merger Agreement.

(c)    Except as provided in Section 14.3(d), after such approval by vote or consent of the Limited Partners, and at any time prior to the filing of the certificate of merger
pursuant to Section 14.4, the merger or consolidation may be abandoned pursuant to provisions therefor, if any, set forth in the Merger Agreement.

(d)    Notwithstanding anything else contained in this Article XIV or in this Agreement, the General Partner is permitted, in its discretion, without Limited Partner
approval, to merge the Partnership or any Group Member into, or convey all of the Partnership’s assets to, another limited liability entity which shall be newly formed and shall
have no assets, liabilities or operations at the time of such Merger other than those it receives from the Partnership or other Group Member if (i) the General Partner has
received an Opinion of Counsel that the merger or conveyance, as the case may be, would not result in the loss of the limited liability of any Limited Partner or any Group
Member or cause the Partnership or any Group Member to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise to be taxed as an entity for federal income tax
purposes (to the extent not previously treated as such), (ii) the sole purpose of such merger or conveyance is to effect a mere change in the legal form of the Partnership into
another limited liability entity, and (iii) the governing instruments of the new entity provide the Limited Partners and the General Partner with the same rights and obligations as
are herein contained.

Section 14.4    Certificate of Merger.

Upon the required approval by the General Partner and the Unitholders of a Merger Agreement, a certificate of merger shall be executed and filed with the Secretary of
State of the State of Delaware in conformity with the requirements of the Delaware Act.
Section 14.5    Effect of Merger.

(a)    At the effective time of the certificate of merger:

(i)    all of the rights, privileges, and powers of each of the business entities that has merged or consolidated, and all property, real, personal and mixed,
and all debts due to any of those business entities and all other things and causes of action belonging to each of those business entities, shall be vested in the
Surviving Business Entity and after the merger or consolidation shall be the property of the Surviving Business Entity to the extent they were of each
constituent business entity;

(ii)    the title to any real property vested by deed or otherwise in any of those constituent business entities shall not revert and is not in any way
impaired because of the merger or consolidation;

(iii)    all rights of creditors and all liens on or security interests in property of any of those constituent business entities shall be preserved unimpaired;
and

(iv)    all debts, liabilities and duties of those constituent business entities shall attach to the Surviving Business Entity and may be enforced against it
to the same extent as if the debts, liabilities and duties had been incurred or contracted by it.

(b)    A merger or consolidation effected pursuant to this Article shall not be deemed to result in a transfer or assignment of assets or liabilities from one entity to
another.

72



ARTICLE XV

RIGHT TO ACQUIRE LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS

Section 15.1    Right to Acquire Limited Partner Interests.

(a)    Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if at any time more than 80% of the total Limited Partner Interests of any class then Outstanding is held
by the General Partner and its Affiliates, the General Partner shall then have the right, which right it may assign and transfer in whole or in part to the Partnership or any
Affiliate of the General Partner, exercisable in its sole discretion, to purchase all, but not less than all, of such Limited Partner Interests of such class then Outstanding held by
Persons other than the General Partner and its Affiliates, at the greater of (x) the Current Market Price as of the date three (3) days prior to the date that the notice described in
Section 15.1(b) is mailed and (y) the highest price paid by the General Partner or any of its Affiliates for any such Limited Partner Interest of such class purchased during the
90-day period preceding the date that the notice described in Section 15.1(b) is mailed. As used in this Agreement, (i) “Current Market Price” as of any date of any class of
Limited Partner Interests means the average of the daily Closing Prices (as hereinafter defined) per Limited Partner Interest of such class for the twenty (20) consecutive
Trading Days (as hereinafter defined) immediately prior to such date; (ii) “Closing Price” for any day means the last sale price on such day, regular way, or in case no such sale
takes place on such day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on such day, regular way, in either case as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting
system with respect to securities listed or admitted for trading on the principal National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests of such class are listed or
admitted to trading or, if such Limited Partner Interests of such class are not listed or admitted to trading on any National Securities Exchange, the last quoted price on such day
or, if not so quoted, the average of the high bid and low asked prices on such day in the over-the-counter market, as reported by such other system then in use, or, if on any such
day such Limited Partner Interests of such class are not quoted by any such organization, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on such day as furnished by a
professional market maker making a market in such Limited Partner Interests of such class selected by the General Partner, or if on any such day no market maker is making a
market in such Limited Partner Interests of such class, the fair value of such Limited Partner Interests on such day as determined reasonably and in good faith by the General
Partner; and (iii) “Trading Day” means a day on which the principal National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests of any class are listed or admitted to
trading is open for the transaction of business or, if Limited Partner Interests of a class are not listed or admitted to trading on any National Securities Exchange, a day on which
banking institutions in New York City generally are open.

(b)    If the General Partner, any Affiliate of the General Partner or the Partnership elects to exercise the right to purchase Limited Partner Interests granted pursuant to
Section 15.1(a), the General Partner shall deliver to the Transfer Agent notice of such election to purchase (the “Notice of Election to Purchase”) and shall cause the Transfer
Agent to mail a copy of such Notice of Election to Purchase to the Record Holders of Limited Partner Interests of such class (as of a Record Date selected by the General
Partner) at least ten (10), but not more than sixty (60), days prior to the Purchase Date. Such Notice of Election to Purchase shall also be published for a period of at least three
(3) consecutive days in at least two daily newspapers of general circulation printed in the English language and published in the Borough of Manhattan, New York. The Notice
of Election to Purchase shall specify the Purchase Date and the price (determined in accordance with Section 15.1(a)) at which Limited Partner Interests will be purchased and
state that the General Partner, its Affiliate or the Partnership, as the case may be, elects to purchase such Limited Partner Interests, upon surrender of Certificates representing
such Limited Partner Interests or uncertificated Limited Partner Interests, as applicable, in exchange for payment, at such office or offices of the Transfer Agent as the Transfer
Agent may specify, or as may be required by any National Securities Exchange on which such Limited Partner Interests are listed or admitted to trading. Any such Notice of
Election to Purchase mailed to a Record Holder of Limited Partner Interests at his address as reflected in the records of the Transfer Agent shall be conclusively presumed to
have been given regardless of whether the owner receives such notice. On or prior to the Purchase Date, the General Partner, its Affiliate or the Partnership, as the case may be,
shall deposit with the Transfer Agent cash in an amount sufficient to pay the aggregate purchase price of all of such Limited Partner Interests to be purchased in accordance with
this Section 15.1. If the Notice of Election to Purchase shall have been duly given as aforesaid at least ten (10) days prior to the Purchase Date, and if on or prior to the Purchase
Date the deposit described in the preceding sentence has been made for the benefit of the holders of Limited Partner Interests subject to purchase as provided herein, then from
and after the Purchase Date, notwithstanding that any Certificate or uncertificated Limited Partner Interests shall not have been surrendered for purchase, all rights of the
holders of such Limited Partner Interests (including any rights pursuant to Articles IV, V, VI, and XII) shall
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thereupon cease, except the right to receive the purchase price (determined in accordance with Section 15.1(a)) for Limited Partner Interests therefor, without interest, upon
surrender to the Transfer Agent of the Certificates representing such Limited Partner Interests or uncertificated Limited Partner Interests, as applicable, and such Limited Partner
Interests shall thereupon be deemed to be transferred to the General Partner, its Affiliate or the Partnership, as the case may be, on the record books of the Transfer Agent and
the Partnership, and the General Partner or any Affiliate of the General Partner, or the Partnership, as the case may be, shall be deemed to be the owner of all such Limited
Partner Interests from and after the Purchase Date and shall have all rights as the owner of such Limited Partner Interests (including all rights as owner of such Limited Partner
Interests pursuant to Articles IV, V, VI, and XII).

(c)    At any time from and after the Purchase Date, a holder of an Outstanding Limited Partner Interest subject to purchase as provided in this Section 15.1 may
surrender his Certificate evidencing such Limited Partner Interest or uncertificated Limited Partner Interests, as applicable, to the Transfer Agent in exchange for payment of the
amount described in Section 15.1(a), therefor, without interest thereon.

ARTICLE XVI

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 16.1    Addresses and Notices.

Except as otherwise provided in Section 5.11(ix) with respect to the Series C Preferred Units, any notice, demand, request, report, or proxy materials required or
permitted to be given or made to a Partner or Assignee under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given or made when delivered in person or when sent by
first class United States mail or by other means of written communication to the Partner or Assignee at the address described below. Any notice, payment or report to be given
or made to a Partner or Assignee hereunder shall be deemed conclusively to have been given or made, and the obligation to give such notice or report or to make such payment
shall be deemed conclusively to have been fully satisfied, upon sending of such notice, payment or report to the Record Holder of such Partnership Securities at his address as
shown on the records of the Transfer Agent or as otherwise shown on the records of the Partnership, regardless of any claim of any Person who may have an interest in such
Partnership Securities by reason of any assignment or otherwise. An affidavit or certificate of making of any notice, payment or report in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 16.1 executed by the General Partner, the Transfer Agent or the mailing organization shall be prima facie evidence of the giving or making of such notice, payment or
report. If any notice, payment or report addressed to a Record Holder at the address of such Record Holder appearing on the books and records of the Transfer Agent or the
Partnership is returned by the United States Postal Service marked to indicate that the United States Postal Service is unable to deliver it, such notice, payment or report and any
subsequent notices, payments and reports shall be deemed to have been duly given or made without further mailing (until such time as such Record Holder or another Person
notifies the Transfer Agent or the Partnership of a change in his address) if they are available for the Partner or Assignee at the principal office of the Partnership for a period of
one year from the date of the giving or making of such notice, payment or report to the other Partners and Assignees. Any notice to the Partnership shall be deemed given if
received by the General Partner at the principal office of the Partnership designated pursuant to Section 2.3. The General Partner may rely and shall be protected in relying on
any notice or other document from a Partner, Assignee or other Person if believed by it to be genuine.

Section 16.2    Further Action.

The parties shall execute and deliver all documents, provide all information and take or refrain from taking action as may be necessary or appropriate to achieve the
purposes of this Agreement.

Section 16.3    Binding Effect.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, legal representatives, and
permitted assigns.
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Section 16.4    Integration.

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement among the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings pertaining thereto.

Section 16.5    Creditors.

None of the provisions of this Agreement shall be for the benefit of, or shall be enforceable by, any creditor of the Partnership.

Section 16.6    Waiver.

No failure by any party to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant, duty, agreement or condition of this Agreement or to exercise any right or remedy
consequent upon a breach thereof shall constitute waiver of any such breach of any other covenant, duty, agreement or condition.

Section 16.7    Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of which together shall constitute an agreement binding on all the parties hereto, notwithstanding that all such
parties are not signatories to the original or the same counterpart. Each party shall become bound by this Agreement immediately upon affixing its signature hereto or, in the
case of a Person acquiring a Unit, upon accepting the certificate evidencing such Unit or executing and delivering a Transfer Application as herein described, independently of
the signature of any other party.

Section 16.8    Applicable Law.

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the principles of conflicts of law.

Section 16.9    Invalidity of Provisions.

If any provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions
contained herein shall not be affected thereby.

Section 16.10    Consent of Partners.

Each Partner hereby expressly consents and agrees that, whenever in this Agreement it is specified that an action may be taken upon the affirmative vote or consent of
less than all of the Partners, such action may be so taken upon the concurrence of less than all of the Partners and each Partner shall be bound by the results of such action.

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

GENERAL PARTNER:
ENLINK MIDSTREAM GP, LLC

By: /s/ BENJAMIN D. LAMB
Name: Benjamin D. Lamb
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

[Eleventh Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP]



LIMITED PARTNERS:
All Limited Partners now and hereafter admitted as Limited Partners of the Partnership, pursuant to powers of
attorney now and hereafter executed in favor of, and granted and delivered to the General Partner.

By: EnLink Midstream GP, LLC
General Partner, as attorney-in-fact for the Limited Partners pursuant to the Powers of Attorney granted
pursuant to Section 2.6.

By: /s/ BENJAMIN D. LAMB
Name: Benjamin D. Lamb
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

[Eleventh Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP]



EXHIBIT A
to the Eleventh Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of

EnLink Midstream Partners, LP
Certificate Evidencing Common Units

Representing Limited Partner Interests in
EnLink Midstream Partners, LP

No. __________              __________ Common Units

In accordance with Section 4.1 of the Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, as amended,
supplemented or restated from time to time (the “Partnership Agreement”), EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Partnership”), hereby certifies
that ___________________ (the “Holder”) is the registered owner of Common Units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership (the “Common Units”) transferable
on the books of the Partnership, in person or by duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of this Certificate properly endorsed and accompanied by a properly executed
application for transfer of the Common Units represented by this Certificate. The rights, preferences and limitations of the Common Units are set forth in, and this Certificate
and the Common Units represented hereby are issued and shall in all respects be subject to the terms and provisions of, the Partnership Agreement. Copies of the Partnership
Agreement are on file at, and will be furnished without charge on delivery of written request to the Partnership at, the principal office of the Partnership located at 1722 Routh
Street, Suite 1300, Dallas, Texas 75201. Capitalized terms used herein but not defined shall have the meanings given them in the Partnership Agreement.

The Holder, by accepting this Certificate, is deemed to have (i) requested admission as, and agreed to become, a Limited Partner and to have agreed to comply with
and be bound by and to have executed the Partnership Agreement, (ii) represented and warranted that the Holder has all right, power and authority and, if an individual, the
capacity necessary to enter into the Partnership Agreement, (iii) granted the powers of attorney provided for in the Partnership Agreement, and (iv) made the waivers and given
the consents and approvals contained in the Partnership Agreement.

This Certificate shall not be valid for any purpose unless it has been countersigned and registered by the Transfer Agent and Registrar.



Dated:_______________________________ EnLink Midstream Partners, LP

Countersigned and Registered by:         By:     EnLink Midstream GP, LLC,
         its General Partner

        By:
as Transfer Agent and Registrar         Name:
By:         By:
Authorized Signature         Secretary



[Reverse of Certificate]

ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this Certificate, shall be construed as follows according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM -     as tenants in common     UNIF GIFT/TRANSFERS MIN ACT
TEN ENT -     as tenants by the entireties     __________ Custodian _________
        (Cust) (Minor)
JT TEN -     as joint tenants with right of     under Uniform Gifts/Transfers to CD
    survivorship and not as     Minors Act (State)
    tenants in common

Additional abbreviations, though not in the above list, may also be used.

ASSIGNMENT OF COMMON UNITS
in

ENLINK MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, __________ hereby assigns, conveys, sells and transfers unto
(Please print or typewrite name          (Please insert Social Security or other
and address of Assignee)         identifying number of Assignee)

__________ Common Units representing limited partner interests evidenced by this Certificate, subject to the Partnership Agreement, and does hereby irrevocably constitute
and appoint __________ as its attorney-in-fact with full power of substitution to transfer the same on the books of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP.

Date:

NOTE: The signature to any endorsement hereon must correspond with the
name as written upon the face of this Certificate in every particular, without
alteration, enlargement or change.

THE SIGNATURE(S) MUST BE GUARANTEED
BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS,
STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS
AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN AN
APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION
PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-15

(Signature)

(Signature)



No transfer of the Common Units evidenced hereby will be registered on the books of the Partnership, unless the Certificate evidencing the Common Units to be
transferred is surrendered for registration or transfer and an Application for Transfer of Common Units has been executed by a transferee either (a) on the form set forth below
or (b) on a separate application that the Partnership will furnish on request without charge. A transferor of the Common Units shall have no duty to the transferee with respect to
execution of the transfer application in order for such transferee to obtain registration of the transfer of the Common Units.



APPLICATION FOR TRANSFER OF COMMON UNITS

The undersigned (“Assignee”) hereby applies for transfer to the name of the Assignee of the Common Units evidenced hereby.

The Assignee (a) requests admission as a Substituted Limited Partner and agrees to comply with and be bound by, and hereby executes, the Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of EnLink Midstream Partners, LP (the “Partnership”), as amended, supplemented or restated to the date hereof (the “Partnership
Agreement”), (b) represents and warrants that the Assignee has all right, power and authority and, if an individual, the capacity necessary to enter into the Partnership
Agreement, (c) appoints the General Partner of the Partnership and, if a Liquidator shall be appointed, the Liquidator of the Partnership as the Assignee’s attorney-in-fact to
execute, swear to, acknowledge and file any document, including, without limitation, the Partnership Agreement and any amendment thereto and the Certificate of Limited
Partnership of the Partnership and any amendment thereto, necessary or appropriate for the Assignee’s admission as a Substituted Limited Partner and as a party to the
Partnership Agreement, (d) gives the powers of attorney provided for in the Partnership Agreement, and (e) makes the waivers and gives the consents and approvals contained in
the Partnership Agreement. Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Partnership Agreement.

Date:

Social Security or other identifying number Signature of Assignee

Purchase Price including commissions, if any Name and Address of Assignee

Type of Entity (check one):

☐ Individual ☐ Partnership ☐ Corporation
☐ Trust ☐ Other (specify)

Nationality (check one):
☐    U.S. Citizen, Resident or Domestic Entity
☐    Foreign Corporation ☐    Non-resident Alien

If the U.S. Citizen, Resident or Domestic Entity box is checked, the following certification must be completed.

Under Section 1445(e) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Partnership must withhold tax with respect to certain transfers of property
if a holder of an interest in the Partnership is a foreign person. To inform the Partnership that no withholding is required with respect to the undersigned interestholder’s interest
in it, the undersigned hereby certifies the following (or, if applicable, certifies the following on behalf of the interestholder).



Complete Either A or B:

A. Individual Interestholder

1. I am not a non-resident alien for purposes of U.S. income taxation.
2. My U.S. taxpayer identification number (Social Security Number) is __________.
3. My home address is
.

B. Partnership, Corporation or Other Interestholder
1. ________________ is not a foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust (Name of Interestholder) or foreign estate (as those terms are defined in the Code

and Treasury Regulations).
2. The interestholder’s U.S. employer identification number is ___________.
3. The interestholder’s office address and place of incorporation (if applicable) is ___________.

The interestholder agrees to notify the Partnership within sixty (60) days of the date the interestholder becomes a foreign person.

The interestholder understands that this certificate may be disclosed to the Internal Revenue Service by the Partnership and that any false statement contained herein
could be punishable by fine, imprisonment or both.

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have examined this certification and to the best of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete and, if
applicable, I further declare that I have authority to sign this document on behalf of:

________________________________
Name of Interestholder

________________________________
Signature and Date

________________________________
Title (if applicable)

Note: If the Assignee is a broker, dealer, bank, trust company, clearing corporation, other nominee holder or an agent of any of the foregoing, and is holding for the
account of any other person, this application should be completed by an officer thereof or, in the case of a broker or dealer, by a registered representative who is a member of a
registered national securities exchange or a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., or, in the case of any other nominee holder, a person performing a
similar function. If the Assignee is a broker, dealer, bank, trust company, clearing corporation, other nominee owner or an agent of any of the foregoing, the above certification
as to any person for whom the Assignee will hold the Common Units shall be made to the best of the Assignee’s knowledge.
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is made and entered into as of October 26, 2023, by
and among ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Company”), PATTON BIP HOLDCO I LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Patton I”), PATTON BIP HOLDCO II LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Patton II”), and OCM ENLK HOLDINGS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“OCM” and collectively with Patton I and Patton II, the “Purchasers”).

WHEREAS, on January 25, 2019, the Company and EnField Holdings, L.P. entered into that certain Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (the “Prior
Registration Rights Agreement”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to certain joinders entered into on August 4, 2021, each of the Purchasers became a party to the Prior Registration Rights Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Holders of a majority of the outstanding Registrable Securities have approved this amendment and restatement of the Prior
Registration Rights Agreement pursuant to Section 3.13 of the Prior Registration Rights Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth herein and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged by each party hereto, the parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1    Definitions. The terms set forth below are used herein as so defined:

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, such Person. As used herein, the term “control” (including, with correlative meanings, “controlling,” “controlled by,” and “under common control with”)
means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting
securities, by contract, or otherwise.

“Agreement” has the meaning specified therefor in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, any federal legal holiday or day on which banking institutions in the State of New York or the State of
Texas are authorized or required by law or other governmental action to close.

“Commission” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Common Units” means the common units representing limited liability company interests in the Company and having the rights and obligations specified in the
Company Operating Agreement.

“Company” has the meaning specified therefor in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Company Operating Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of the Company, dated as of January 25, 2019, as it may be
amended from time to time.

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company.

“Effective Date” means the date of effectiveness of any Registration Statement.

“Effectiveness Period” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.1(a).
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“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.

“Filing Date” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.1(a).

“General Partner” has the meaning specified therefor in the Recital to this Agreement.

“Holder” means the holder of any Registrable Securities, including through the facilities of DTC.

“Holder Underwriter Registration Statement” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.4(q).

“Included Registrable Securities” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.2(a).

“Joinder” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.10.

“Liquidated Damages” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.1(b).

“Liquidated Damages Multiplier” means the product of (i) the Unit Price and (ii) the number of Registrable Securities then held by the applicable Holder and included
on the applicable Registration Statement.

“Losses” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.8(a).

“Managing Member” has the meaning specified therefor in the Recital to this Agreement.

“Managing Underwriter” means, with respect to any Underwritten Offering, the book running lead manager of such Underwritten Offering.

“NYSE” means the New York Stock Exchange.

“Other Holder” has the meaning specified in Section 2.2(b).

“Partnership” means EnLink Midstream Partners, LP, a Delaware limited partnership.

“Partnership Agreement” means the Eleventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership, dated as of September 8, 2023, as it may be
amended from time to time.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, company, voluntary association, partnership, joint venture, trust, limited liability company, unincorporated organization,
government, or any agency, instrumentality, or political subdivision thereof, or any other form of entity.

“Piggyback Notice” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.2(a).

“Piggyback Opt-Out Notice” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.2(a).

“Piggyback Registration” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.2(a).

“Purchaser Units” means the Series B Preferred Units held by the Purchasers as of the date hereof.

“Purchasers” has the meaning specified therefor in the introductory paragraph of this Agreement.

“Registration” means any registration pursuant to this Agreement, including pursuant to a Registration Statement or a Piggyback Registration.

“Registrable Securities” means the Common Units issuable upon exchange of the Purchaser Units and any Series B Preferred PIK Units (as defined in the Partnership
Agreement) issued to the Purchasers after the date hereof, all of which are subject to the rights provided herein until such time as such securities cease to be Registrable
Securities pursuant to Section 1.2.
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“Registration Expenses” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.7(a).

“Registration Statement” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.1(a).

“Restructuring Agreement” has the meaning specified therefor in the Recital to this Agreement.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time, and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder.

“Selling Expenses” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.7(a).

“Selling Holder” means a Holder who is selling Registrable Securities pursuant to a registration statement.

“Selling Holder Indemnified Persons” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.8(a).

“Series B Preferred Units” means the Series B Cumulative Convertible Preferred Units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership and having the rights
and obligations specified in the Partnership Agreement.

“Target Effective Date” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.1(b).

“Underwritten Offering” means an offering (including an offering pursuant to a Registration Statement) in which Common Units are sold to an underwriter on a firm
commitment basis for reoffering to the public or an offering that is a “bought deal” with one or more investment banks.

“Unit Price” means $15.00 per unit.

“WKSI” means a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in the rules and regulations of the Commission).

Section 1.2    Registrable Securities. Any Registrable Security will cease to be a Registrable Security upon the earliest to occur of the following: (a) when a registration
statement covering such Registrable Security becomes or has been declared effective by the Commission and such Registrable Security has been sold or disposed of pursuant to
such effective registration statement, (b) when such Registrable Security has been disposed of (excluding transfers or assignments by a Holder to an Affiliate or to another
Holder or any of its Affiliates or to any assignee or transferee to whom the rights under this Agreement have been transferred pursuant to Section 2.10) pursuant to any section
of Rule 144 (or any similar provision then in effect) under the Securities Act, (c) when such Registrable Security is held by the Company or one of its direct or indirect
subsidiaries, and (d) when such Registrable Security has been sold or disposed of in a private transaction in which the transferor’s rights under this Agreement are not assigned
to the transferee of such securities pursuant to Section 2.10.

ARTICLE II
REGISTRATION RIGHTS

Section 2.1    Shelf Registration.

( a )    Shelf Registration. As soon as practicable following receipt of a written request from one or more Holders owning an aggregate of $10.0 million or more of
Registrable Securities, calculated by multiplying the Unit Price by the number of Registrable Securities held by such Holder(s), the Company shall prepare and file an initial
registration statement under the Securities Act to permit the public resale of all Registrable Securities as permitted by Rule 415 (or any similar provision adopted by the
Commission then in effect) of the Securities Act (a “Registration Statement”); provided, however, that if the Company is then eligible, it shall file such initial registration
statement on Form S-3. If the Company is not a WKSI, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause such initial Registration Statement to become
effective no later than 180 days after the date of filing of such Registration Statement (the “Filing Date”). The Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause
such initial Registration Statement filed pursuant to this Section 2.l(a) to be continuously effective under the Securities Act until the earliest to occur of the following: (i) all
Registrable Securities covered by the Registration Statement have been distributed in the manner set forth and as contemplated in such Registration
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Statement and (ii) there are no longer any Registrable Securities outstanding (in each case of clause (i) or (ii), the “Effectiveness Period”). In addition, as soon as practicable
following receipt of written notice from one or more Holders owning $10.0 million or more of Registrable Securities, calculated on the basis of the Unit Price, requesting the
filing of an additional Registration Statement (which notice may not be given any earlier than 60 days prior to the second anniversary of the Effective Date of the initial or any
additional Registration Statement filed pursuant to this Section 2.1(a)), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to prepare and file each such additional
Registration Statement under the Securities Act covering the Registrable Securities; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to prepare and file more than
four (4) Registration Statements (excluding any Registration Statement under which any Selling Holders are prohibited from selling their Registrable Securities as a result of a
suspension in excess of the periods permitted by Section 2.1(d)(1)). The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause any such additional Registration
Statement to become effective no later than 180 days after the Filing Date. The Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause any such additional Registration
Statement filed pursuant to this Section 2.1(a) to be continuously effective under the Securities Act for the applicable Effectiveness Period. At least 10 days prior to the
anticipated Filing Date, (A) the Company shall deliver a written notice to all Holders of Registrable Securities, assuming all Purchaser Units and Series B Preferred PIK Units
then held by such Holders had been exchanged for Registrable Securities in accordance with the Partnership Agreement, regarding the proposed Registration Statement and (B)
include in such Registration Statement any Holder who requests to be named therein by written notice to the Company within five (5) Business Days after the Company’s
delivery of the written notice contemplated by the foregoing clause (A). A Registration Statement filed pursuant to this Section 2.l(a) shall be on such appropriate registration
form of the Commission as shall be selected by the Company. A Registration Statement when declared effective (including the documents incorporated therein by reference)
will comply as to form in all material respects with all applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and will not contain an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading (and, in the case of any prospectus contained in such
Registration Statement, in the light of the circumstances under which a statement is made). As soon as practicable following the date that a Registration Statement becomes
effective, but in any event within three (3) Business Days of such date, the Company shall provide the Holders with written notice of the effectiveness of a Registration
Statement.

(b)    Failure to Become Effective. If a Registration Statement required by Section 2.1(a) does not become or is not declared effective within 180 days after the Filing
Date (the “Target Effective Date”), then each Holder who has requested to be named in such Registration Statement pursuant to Section 2.1(a) shall be entitled to a payment
(with respect to each of the Holder’s Registrable Securities which are included in such Registration Statement), as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, (i) for each non-
overlapping 30 day period for the first 60 days following the Target Effective Date, an amount equal to 0.25% of the Liquidated Damages Multiplier, which shall accrue daily,
and (ii) for each non-overlapping 30 day period beginning on the 61st day following the Target Effective Date, an amount equal to the amount set forth in clause (i) plus an
additional 0.25% of the Liquidated Damages Multiplier for each subsequent 60 days (i.e., 0.5% for 61-120 days, 0.75% for 121-180 days, and 1.0% thereafter), which shall
accrue daily, up to a maximum amount equal to 1.0% of the Liquidated Damages Multiplier per non-overlapping 30 day period (the “Liquidated Damages”), until such time as
such Registration Statement is declared or becomes effective or there are no longer any Registrable Securities outstanding. The Liquidated Damages shall be payable within 10
Business Days after the end of each such 30 day period in immediately available funds to the account or accounts specified by the applicable Holders. Any amount of
Liquidated Damages shall be prorated for any period of less than 30 days accruing during any period for which a Holder is entitled to Liquidated Damages hereunder.

(c)    Waiver of Liquidated Damages. If the Company is unable to cause a Registration Statement to become effective on or before the Target Effective Date as a result
of an acquisition, merger, reorganization, disposition, or other similar transaction, then the Company may request a waiver of the Liquidated Damages, which may be granted
by the consent of the Holders of a majority of the outstanding Registrable Securities that have been included on such Registration Statement, in their sole discretion, and which
such waiver shall apply to all the Holders of Registrable Securities included on such Registration Statement.

(d)    Delay Rights.

(1)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company may, upon written notice to any Selling Holder whose Registrable Securities are
included in a Registration Statement, suspend such Selling Holder’s use of any prospectus which is a part of such Registration Statement (in
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which event the Selling Holder shall discontinue sales of the Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement) if (i) the Company is pursuing an
acquisition, merger, reorganization, disposition, or other similar transaction and the Company determines in good faith that the Company’s ability to pursue or
consummate such a transaction would be materially and adversely affected by any required disclosure of such transaction in such Registration Statement or (ii) the
Company has experienced some other material non-public event, the disclosure of which at such time, in the good faith judgment of the Company, would materially and
adversely affect the Company; provided, however, that in no event shall the Selling Holders be suspended from selling Registrable Securities pursuant to such
Registration Statement for a period that exceeds an aggregate of 60 days in any 180-day period or 90 days in any 365-day period. Upon disclosure of such information or
the termination of the condition described above, the Company shall provide prompt notice to the Selling Holders whose Registrable Securities are included in such
Registration Statement, and shall promptly terminate any suspension of sales it has put into effect and shall take such other actions necessary or appropriate to permit
registered sales of Registrable Securities as contemplated in this Agreement.

(2)    If the Selling Holders are prohibited from selling their Registrable Securities under a Registration Statement as a result of a suspension pursuant to the
immediately preceding paragraph in excess of the periods permitted therein, then, until the suspension is lifted, but not including any day on which a suspension is lifted,
the Company shall be prohibited from engaging in registered sales of Common Units or other equity securities representing interests in the Company under any
registration statement other than any registration statement on Form S-8 on file with the Commission prior to the date of commencement of such suspension.

Section 2.2    Piggyback Registration.

(a)    Participation. If at any time the Company proposes to file (i) a Registration Statement (other than a Registration Statement contemplated by Section 2.1(a)) or (ii)
a prospectus supplement to an effective “automatic” registration statement, so long as the Company is a WKSI at such time or, whether or not the Company is a WKSI, so long
as the Registrable Securities were previously included in the underlying shelf Registration Statement or are included on an effective Registration Statement, or in any case in
which Holders may participate in such offering without the filing of a post-effective amendment, in each case, for the sale of Common Units in an Underwritten Offering for its
own account and/or another Person, other than (a) a registration relating solely to employee benefit plans, (b) a registration relating solely to a Rule 145 transaction, or (c) a
registration on any registration form which does not permit secondary sales, then the Company shall give not less than three (3) Business Days’ notice (the “Piggyback Notice”)
of such proposed Underwritten Offering to each Holder (together with its Affiliates) owning more than $75 million of Common Units, calculated on the basis of the Unit Price,
and such Piggyback Notice shall offer such Holder the opportunity to include in such Underwritten Offering such number of Registrable Securities (the “Included Registrable
Securities”) as such Holder may request in writing (a “Piggyback Registration”); provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to offer such opportunity (aa) to
such Holders if the Holders, together with their Affiliates, do not offer a minimum of $37.5 million of Registrable Securities, in the aggregate (determined by multiplying the
number of Registrable Securities owned by the average of the closing price on the NYSE for the Common Units for the 10 trading days preceding the date of such notice), or
(bb) to such Holders if and to the extent that the Company has been advised by the Managing Underwriter that the inclusion of Registrable Securities for sale for the benefit of
such Holders will have an adverse effect on the price, timing, or distribution of the Common Units in such Underwritten Offering, then the amount of Registrable Securities to
be offered for the accounts of Holders shall be determined based on the provisions of Section 2.2(b). Each Piggyback Notice shall be provided to Holders on a Business Day
pursuant to Section 3.1. Each such Holder will have two (2) Business Days (or one (1) Business Day in connection with any overnight or bought Underwritten Offering) after
such Piggyback Notice has been delivered to request in writing the inclusion of Registrable Securities in the Underwritten Offering. If no request for inclusion from a Holder is
received within the specified time, such Holder shall have no further right to participate in such Underwritten Offering. If, at any time after giving written notice of its intention
to undertake an Underwritten Offering and prior to the closing of such Underwritten Offering, the Company shall determine for any reason not to undertake or to delay such
Underwritten Offering, the Company may, at its election, give written notice of such determination to the Selling Holders and, (AA) in the case of a determination not to
undertake such Underwritten Offering, shall be relieved of its obligation to sell any Included Registrable Securities in connection with such terminated Underwritten Offering,
and (BB) in the case of a determination to delay such Underwritten Offering, shall be permitted to delay offering any Included Registrable Securities for the same period as the
delay in the Underwritten Offering. Any Selling Holder shall have the right to

5



withdraw such Selling Holder’s request for inclusion of such Selling Holder’s Registrable Securities in such Underwritten Offering by giving written notice to the Company of
such withdrawal at least one (1) Business Day prior to the time of pricing of such Underwritten Offering. Any Holder may deliver written notice (a “Piggyback Opt-Out
Notice”) to the Company requesting that such Holder not receive notice from the Company of any proposed Underwritten Offering; provided, however, that such Holder may
later revoke any such Piggyback Opt-Out Notice in writing. Following receipt of a Piggyback Opt-Out Notice from a Holder (unless subsequently revoked), the Company shall
not be required to deliver any notice to such Holder pursuant to this Section 2.2(a) and such Holder shall no longer be entitled to participate in Underwritten Offerings by the
Company pursuant to this Section 2.2(a), unless such Piggyback Opt-Out Notice is revoked by such Holder.

( b )    Priority of Piggyback Registration. If the Managing Underwriter or Underwriters of any proposed Underwritten Offering advise the Company that the total
amount of Registrable Securities that the Selling Holders and any other Persons intend to include in such offering exceeds the number that can be sold in such offering without
being likely to have an adverse effect on the price, timing or distribution of the Common Units offered or the market for the Common Units, then the Common Units to be
included in such Underwritten Offering shall include the number of Registrable Securities that such Managing Underwriter or Underwriters advise the Company can be sold
without having such adverse effect, with such number to be allocated (i) first, to the Company and (ii) second, pro rata among the Selling Holders and any other Persons who
have been or are granted registration rights on or after the date of this Agreement (the “Other Holders”) who have requested participation in the Piggyback Registration (based,
for each such Selling Holder or Other Holder, on the percentage derived by dividing (A) the number of Common Units proposed to be sold by such Selling Holder or such Other
Holder in such offering by (B) the aggregate number of Common Units proposed to be sold by all Selling Holders and all Other Holders in the Piggyback Registration.)

Section 2.3    Underwritten Offering.
.
( a )    S-3 Registration. In the event that a Selling Holder (together with any Affiliates that are Selling Holders) elects to dispose of Registrable Securities under a

Registration Statement pursuant to an Underwritten Offering and reasonably expects gross proceeds of at least $50 million from such Underwritten Offering, the Company
shall, at the request of such Selling Holder, enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with the Managing Underwriter or Underwriters selected by the Company,
which shall include, among other provisions, indemnities to the effect and to the extent provided in Section 2.8, and shall take all such other reasonable actions as are requested
by the Managing Underwriter in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to
facilitate or participate in, including entering into any underwriting agreement, more than four (4) Underwritten Offerings pursuant to this Section 2.3.

(b)    General Procedures. In connection with any Underwritten Offering contemplated by Section 2.3(a), the underwriting agreement into which each Selling Holder
and the Company shall enter shall contain such representations, covenants, indemnities (subject to Section 2.8) and other rights and obligations as are customary in underwriting
agreements for firm commitment offerings of equity securities. No Selling Holder may participate in such Underwritten Offering unless such Selling Holder agrees to sell its
Registrable Securities on the basis provided in such underwriting agreement and completes and executes all questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities and other documents
reasonably required under the terms of such underwriting agreement. No Selling Holder shall be required to make any representations or warranties to or agreements with the
Company or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Selling Holder’s authority to enter into such underwriting agreement and to
sell, and its ownership of, the securities being registered on its behalf, its intended method of distribution and any other representation required by law. If any Selling Holder
disapproves of the terms of an Underwritten Offering contemplated by this Section 2.3, such Selling Holder may elect to withdraw therefrom by notice to the Company and the
Managing Underwriter; provided, however, that such withdrawal must be made at least one (1) Business Day prior to the time of pricing of such Underwritten Offering to be
effective. No such withdrawal or abandonment shall affect the Company’s obligation to pay Registration Expenses.

Section 2.4    Sale Procedures.    In connection with its obligations under this Article II, the Company will, as expeditiously as possible:

(a)    prepare and file with the Commission such amendments and supplements to a Registration Statement and the prospectus used in connection therewith as may be
necessary to keep such Registration Statement
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effective for the Effectiveness Period and as may be necessary to comply with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all Registrable Securities
covered by such Registration Statement;

(b)    if a prospectus supplement will be used in connection with the marketing of an Underwritten Offering under a Registration Statement and the Managing
Underwriter at any time shall notify the Company in writing that, in the sole judgment of such Managing Underwriter, inclusion of detailed information to be used in such
prospectus supplement is of material importance to the success of such Underwritten Offering, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to include such
information in such prospectus supplement;

(c)    furnish to each Selling Holder (i) as far in advance as reasonably practicable before filing a Registration Statement or any other registration statement
contemplated by this Agreement or any supplement or amendment thereto, upon request, copies of reasonably complete drafts of all such documents proposed to be filed
(including exhibits and each document incorporated by reference therein to the extent then required by the rules and regulations of the Commission), and provide each such
Selling Holder the opportunity to object to any information pertaining to such Selling Holder and its plan of distribution that is contained therein and make the corrections
reasonably requested by such Selling Holder with respect to such information prior to filing such Registration Statement or such other registration statement and the prospectus
included therein or any supplement or amendment thereto, and (ii) such number of copies of such Registration Statement or such other registration statement and the prospectus
included therein and any supplements and amendments thereto as such Persons may reasonably request in order to facilitate the public sale or other disposition of the
Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement or other registration statement;

(d)    if applicable, use its commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify the Registrable Securities covered by any Registration Statement or any other
registration statement contemplated by this Agreement under the securities or blue sky laws of such jurisdictions as the Selling Holders or, in the case of an Underwritten
Offering, the Managing Underwriter, shall reasonably request; provided, however, that the Company will not be required to qualify generally to transact business in any
jurisdiction where it is not then required to so qualify or to take any action that would subject it to general service of process in any such jurisdiction where it is not then so
subject;

(e)    promptly notify each Selling Holder, at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is required to be delivered by any of them under the Securities Act, of (i) the
filing of a Registration Statement or any other registration statement contemplated by this Agreement or any prospectus or prospectus supplement to be used in connection
therewith, or any amendment or supplement thereto, and, with respect to a Registration Statement or any other registration statement or any post-effective amendment thereto,
when the same has become effective; and (ii) the receipt of any written comments from the Commission with respect to any filing referred to in clause (i) and any written
request by the Commission for amendments or supplements to any such Registration Statement or any other registration statement or any prospectus or prospectus supplement
thereto;

(f)    immediately notify each Selling Holder, at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is required to be delivered by any of them under the Securities Act, of (i)
the happening of any event as a result of which the prospectus or prospectus supplement contained in a Registration Statement or any other registration statement contemplated
by this Agreement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein not misleading (in the case of any prospectus contained therein, in the light of the circumstances under which a statement is made); (ii) the issuance or
express threat of issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of a Registration Statement or any other registration statement contemplated by this
Agreement, or the initiation of any proceedings for that purpose; or (iii) the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of any
Registrable Securities for sale under the applicable securities or blue sky laws of any jurisdiction. Following the provision of such notice, the Company agrees to, as promptly as
practicable, amend or supplement the prospectus or prospectus supplement or take other appropriate action so that the prospectus or prospectus supplement does not include an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading in the light of the
circumstances then existing and to take such other action as is reasonably necessary to remove a stop order, suspension, threat thereof or proceedings related thereto;

(g)    upon request and subject to appropriate confidentiality obligations, furnish to each Selling Holder copies of any and all transmittal letters or other correspondence
with the Commission or any other governmental
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agency or self-regulatory body or other body having jurisdiction (including any domestic or foreign securities exchange) relating to such offering of Registrable Securities;

(h)    in the case of an Underwritten Offering, furnish, or cause to be furnished, upon request, (i) an opinion of counsel for the Company addressed to the underwriters,
dated the date of the closing under the applicable underwriting agreement and (ii) a “comfort” letter addressed to the underwriters, dated the pricing date of such Underwritten
Offering and a letter of like kind dated the date of the closing under the applicable underwriting agreement, in each case, signed by the independent public accountants who
have certified the Company’s financial statements included or incorporated by reference into the applicable registration statement, and each of the opinion and the “comfort”
letter shall be in customary form and covering substantially the same matters with respect to such registration statement (and the prospectus and any prospectus supplement) as
have been customarily covered in opinions of issuer’s counsel and in accountants’ letters delivered to the underwriters in Underwritten Offerings of securities by the Company
and such other matters as such underwriters may reasonably request;

(i)    otherwise use its commercially reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the Commission, and make available to its security
holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement, which earnings statement covering the period of at least 12 months, but not more than 18 months, beginning
with the first full calendar month after the effective date of such registration statement, shall satisfy the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and Rule 158
promulgated thereunder;

(j)    make available to the appropriate representatives of the Managing Underwriter and Selling Holders during normal business hours access to such information and
Partnership personnel as is reasonable and customary to enable such parties to establish a due diligence defense under the Securities Act; provided, however, that the Company
need not disclose any non-public information to any such representative unless and until such representative has entered into a confidentiality agreement with the Company;

(k)    use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause all Registrable Securities registered pursuant to this Agreement to be listed on each securities exchange or
nationally recognized quotation system on which similar securities issued by the Company are then listed;

(l)    use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause Registrable Securities to be registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities as
may be necessary by virtue of the business and operations of the Company to enable the Selling Holders to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities;

(m)    provide a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities covered by any Registration Statement not later than the Effective Date of such Registration
Statement;

(n)    enter into customary agreements and take such other actions as are reasonably requested by the Selling Holders or the underwriters, if any, in order to expedite or
facilitate the disposition of Registrable Securities (including, making appropriate officers of the Managing Member available to participate in any “road show” presentations
before analysts, and other customary marketing activities (including one-on-one meetings with prospective purchasers of the Registrable Securities)); provided, however, that in
the event the Company, using commercially reasonable efforts, is unable to make such appropriate officers of the Managing Member available to participate in connection with
any “road show” presentations and other customary marketing activities (whether in person or otherwise), the Company shall make such appropriate officers available to
participate via conference call or other means of communication;

(o)    if reasonably requested by a Selling Holder, (i) incorporate in a prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment such information as such Selling Holder
reasonably requests to be included therein relating to the sale and distribution of Registrable Securities, including information with respect to the number of Registrable
Securities being offered or sold, the purchase price being paid therefor and any other terms of the offering of the Registrable Securities to be sold in such offering; and (ii) make
all required filings of such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment after being notified of the matters to be incorporated in such prospectus supplement or post-
effective amendment;

(p)    if reasonably required by the Company’s transfer agent, the Company shall promptly deliver any authorizations, certificates and directions required by the
transfer agent which authorize and direct the transfer agent
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to transfer such Registrable Securities without legend upon sale by the Holder of such Registrable Securities under the Registration Statement; and

(q)    if any Holder could reasonably be deemed to be an “underwriter,” as defined in Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, in connection with the Registration
Statement and any amendment or supplement thereof (a “Holder Underwriter Registration Statement”), then the Company will reasonably cooperate with such Holder in
allowing such Holder to conduct customary “underwriter’s due diligence” with respect to the Company and satisfy its obligations in respect thereof. In addition, at any Holder’s
request, the Company will furnish to such Holder, on the date of the effectiveness of the Holder Underwriter Registration Statement and thereafter from time to time on such
dates as such Holder may reasonably request (provided that such request shall not be more frequently than on an annual basis unless such Holder is offering Registrable
Securities pursuant to a Holder Underwriter Registration Statement), (i) a “comfort” letter, dated such date, from the Company’s independent certified public accountants in
form and substance as is customarily given by independent certified public accountants to underwriters in an underwritten public offering, addressed to such Holder, (ii) an
opinion, dated as of such date, of counsel representing the Company for purposes of the Holder Underwriter Registration Statement, in form, scope and substance as is
customarily given in an underwritten public offering, including standard “10b-5” negative assurance for such offering, addressed to such Holder and (iii) a standard officer’s
certificate from the chief executive officer or chief financial officer, or other officers serving such functions, of the managing member of the Company addressed to the Holder.
The Company will also permit legal counsel to such Holder to review and comment upon any such Holder Underwriter Registration Statement at least five (5) Business Days
prior to its filing with the Commission and all amendments and supplements to any such Holder Underwriter Registration Statement with a reasonable number of days prior to
their filing with the Commission and not file any Holder Underwriter Registration Statement or amendment or supplement thereto in a form to which such Holder’s legal
counsel reasonably objects. Each Selling Holder, upon receipt of notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in subsection (f) of this Section
2.4, shall forthwith discontinue offers and sales of the Registrable Securities until such Selling Holder’s receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus
contemplated by subsection (f) of this Section 2.4 or until it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of the prospectus may be resumed and has received copies of any
additional or supplemental filings incorporated by reference in the prospectus, and, if so directed by the Company, such Selling Holder will, or will request the managing
underwriter or underwriters, if any, to deliver to the Company (at the Company’s expense) all copies in their possession or control, other than permanent file copies then in such
Selling Holder’s possession, of the prospectus covering such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.4, the Company will not name a Holder as an underwriter (as defined in Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities
Act) in any Registration Statement or Holder Underwriter Registration Statement, as applicable, without such Holder’s consent. If the staff of the Commission requires the
Company to name any Holder as an underwriter (as defined in Section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act), and such Holder does not consent thereto, then such Holder’s Registrable
Securities shall not be included on the applicable Registration Statement, such Holder shall no longer be entitled to receive Liquidated Damages under this Agreement with
respect to such Holder’s Registrable Securities, and the Company shall have no further obligations hereunder with respect to Registrable Securities held by such Holder, unless
such Holder has not had an opportunity to conduct customary underwriter’s due diligence as set forth in subsection (q) of this Section 2.4 with respect to the Company at the
time such Holder’s consent is sought.

Each Selling Holder, upon receipt of notice from the Company of the happening of any event of the kind described in subsection (f) of this Section 2.4, shall forthwith
discontinue offers and sales of the Registrable Securities by means of a prospectus or prospectus supplement until such Selling Holder’s receipt of the copies of the
supplemented or amended prospectus contemplated by subsection (f) of this Section 2.4 or until it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of the prospectus may be
resumed and has received copies of any additional or supplemental filings incorporated by reference in the prospectus, and, if so directed by the Company, such Selling Holder
will, or will request the Managing Underwriter or Managing Underwriters, if any, to deliver to the Company (at the Company’s expense) all copies in their possession or control,
other than permanent file copies then in such Selling Holder’s possession, of the prospectus covering such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice.

If reasonably requested by a Selling Holder, the Company shall: (i) as soon as practicable incorporate in a prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment such
information as such Selling Holder reasonably requests to be included therein relating to the sale and distribution of Registrable Securities, including information with respect
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to the number of Registrable Securities being offered or sold, the purchase price being paid therefor and any other terms of the offering of the Registrable Securities to be sold in
such offering and (ii) as soon as practicable make all required filings of such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment after being notified of the matters to be
incorporated in such prospectus supplement or post-effective amendment.

Section 2.5    Cooperation by Holders.    The Company shall have no obligation to include Registrable Securities of a Holder in a Registration Statement or in an
Underwritten Offering pursuant to Section 2.2(a) who has failed to timely furnish such information that the Company determines, after consultation with its counsel, is
reasonably required in order for any registration statement or prospectus supplement, as applicable, to comply with the Securities Act.

Section 2.6    Restrictions on Public Sale by Holders of Registrable Securities.    Each Holder of Registrable Securities included in a Registration Statement agrees to
enter into a customary letter agreement with underwriters providing that such Holder will not effect any public sale or distribution of Registrable Securities during the 30
calendar day period beginning on the date of a prospectus or prospectus supplement filed with the Commission with respect to the pricing of any Underwritten Offering;
provided, however, that (i) the duration of the foregoing restrictions shall be no longer than the duration of the shortest restriction generally imposed by the underwriters on the
Company or the officers, directors or any other Affiliate of the Company on whom a restriction is imposed and (ii) the restrictions set forth in this Section 2.6 shall not apply to
any Registrable Securities that are included in such Underwritten Offering by such Holder. In addition, this Section 2.6 shall not apply to any Holder that is not entitled to
participate in such Underwritten Offering, whether because such Holder delivered a Piggyback Opt-Out Notice prior to receiving notice of the Underwritten Offering, because
such Holder (together with its Affiliates) holds less than $75 million of the Common Units, calculated on the basis of the Unit Price, or because the Registrable Securities of
such Holder have become eligible for resale pursuant to any section of Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or any similar provision then in effect) without any restriction.

Section 2.7    Expenses.
.
(a)    Certain Definitions. “Registration Expenses” means all expenses incident to the Company’s performance under or compliance with this Agreement to effect the

registration of Registrable Securities on a Registration Statement pursuant to Section 2.1, a Piggyback Registration pursuant to Section 2.2, or an Underwritten Offering
pursuant to Section 2.3, and the disposition of such Registrable Securities, including, without limitation, all registration, filing, securities exchange listing and NYSE fees, all
registration, filing, qualification and other fees and expenses of complying with securities or blue sky laws, fees of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, fees of transfer
agents and registrars, all word processing, duplicating and printing expenses, and the fees and disbursements of counsel and independent public accountants for the Company,
including the expenses of any special audits or “cold comfort” letters required by or incident to such performance and compliance. “Selling Expenses” means all underwriting
fees, discounts and selling commissions and transfer taxes allocable to the sale of the Registrable Securities.

( b )    Expenses. Each Holder included in the applicable Registration Statement or Underwritten Offering shall promptly reimburse the Company for such Selling
Holder’s pro rata share (based on the number of Registrable Securities held by such Selling Holder compared to all Registrable Securities included in the applicable Registration
Statement or Underwritten Offering) of all reasonable and documented Registration Expenses, as determined in good faith by the Company in connection with a shelf
Registration, a Piggyback Registration, or an Underwritten Offering, whether or not any sale is made pursuant to such shelf Registration, Piggyback Registration, or
Underwritten Offering; provided, however, that the Holders’ obligation to reimburse Registration Expenses under this Agreement shall not exceed $250,000 (in the aggregate
for all such Holders) for any single shelf Registration, Piggy Pack Registration or Underwritten Offering. Each Selling Holder shall pay its pro rata share of all Selling Expenses
in connection with any sale of its Registrable Securities hereunder. In addition, except as otherwise provided in Section 2.8, the Company shall not be responsible for
professional fees (including legal fees) incurred by Holders in connection with the exercise of such Holders’ rights hereunder.

Section 2.8    Indemnification.

(a)    By the Company. In the event of a registration of any Registrable Securities under the Securities Act pursuant to this Agreement, the Company will indemnify and
hold harmless each Selling Holder thereunder, its
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directors, officers, managers, partners, employees and agents and each Person, if any, who controls such Selling Holder within the meaning of the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act, and its directors, officers, managers, partners, employees or agents (collectively, the “ Selling Holder Indemnified Persons”), against any losses, claims, damages,
expenses or liabilities (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses) (collectively, “ Losses”), joint or several, to which such Selling Holder Indemnified Person may
become subject under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or otherwise, insofar as such Losses (or actions or proceedings, whether commenced or threatened, in respect
thereof) arise out of or are based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of any material fact (in the case of any prospectus, in light of the circumstances under
which such statement is made) contained in (which, for the avoidance of doubt, includes documents incorporated by reference in) the applicable Registration Statement or other
registration statement contemplated by this Agreement, any preliminary prospectus, prospectus supplement or final prospectus contained therein, or any amendment or
supplement thereof, or any free writing prospectus relating thereto, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to
be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of a prospectus, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, and will
reimburse each such Selling Holder Indemnified Person for any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with investigating, defending or resolving
any such Loss or actions or proceedings; provided, however, that the Company will not be liable in any such case if and to the extent that any such Loss arises out of or is based
upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission so made in conformity with information furnished by such Selling Holder Indemnified
Person in writing specifically for use in the applicable Registration Statement or other registration statement, or prospectus supplement, as applicable. Such indemnity shall
remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of such Selling Holder Indemnified Person, and shall survive the transfer of such securities
by such Selling Holder.

(b)    By Each Selling Holder. Each Selling Holder agrees severally and not jointly to indemnify and hold harmless the Company, the Managing Member, the Managing
Member’s directors, officers, employees and agents and each Person, who, directly or indirectly, controls the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act or of the
Exchange Act to the same extent as the foregoing indemnity from the Company to the Selling Holders, but only with respect to information regarding such Selling Holder
furnished in writing by or on behalf of such Selling Holder expressly for inclusion in a Registration Statement or any other registration statement contemplated by this
Agreement, any preliminary prospectus, prospectus supplement or final prospectus contained therein, or any amendment or supplement thereto or any free writing prospectus
relating thereto; provided, however, that the liability of each Selling Holder shall not be greater in amount than the dollar amount of the proceeds (net of any Selling Expenses)
received by such Selling Holder from the sale of the Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification.

(c)    Notice. Promptly after receipt by an indemnified party hereunder of notice of the commencement of any action, such indemnified party shall, if a claim in respect
thereof is to be made against the indemnifying party hereunder, notify the indemnifying party in writing thereof, but the omission to so notify the indemnifying party shall not
relieve it from any liability that it may have to any indemnified party other than under this Section 2.8(c) except to the extent that the indemnifying party is materially
prejudiced by such failure. In any action brought against any indemnified party, it shall notify the indemnifying party of the commencement thereof. The indemnifying party
shall be entitled to participate in and, to the extent it shall wish, to assume and undertake the defense thereof with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified party and,
after notice from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to assume and undertake the defense thereof, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to
such indemnified party under this Section 2.8 for any legal expenses subsequently incurred by such indemnified party in connection with the defense thereof other than
reasonable costs of investigation and of liaison with counsel so selected; provided, however, that, (i) if the indemnifying party has failed to assume the defense or employ
counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party or (ii) if the defendants in any such action include both the indemnified party and the indemnifying party and counsel to
the indemnified party shall have concluded that there may be reasonable defenses available to the indemnified party that are different from or additional to those available to the
indemnifying party, or if the interests of the indemnified party reasonably may be deemed to conflict with the interests of the indemnifying party, then the indemnified party
shall have the right to select a separate counsel and to assume such legal defense and otherwise to participate in the defense of such action, with the reasonable expenses and
fees of such separate counsel and other reasonable expenses related to such participation to be reimbursed by the indemnifying party as incurred. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Agreement, no indemnifying party shall settle any action brought against any indemnified party with respect to which such indemnified party may be entitled
to indemnification hereunder without the consent
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of the indemnified party, unless the settlement thereof imposes no liability or obligation on, includes a complete and unconditional release from liability of, and does not
contain any admission of wrongdoing by, the indemnified party.

(d)    Contribution. If the indemnification provided for in this Section 2.8 is held by a court or government agency of competent jurisdiction to be unavailable to any
indemnified party or is insufficient to hold them harmless in respect of any Losses, then each such indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying such indemnified party, shall
contribute to the amount paid or payable by such indemnified party as a result of such Losses in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying
party, on the one hand, and of the indemnified party, on the other hand, in connection with the statements or omissions that resulted in such Losses, as well as any other relevant
equitable considerations; provided, however, that in no event shall any Selling Holder be required to contribute an aggregate amount in excess of the dollar amount of proceeds
(net of Selling Expenses) received by such Selling Holder from the sale of Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification. The relative fault of the indemnifying party,
on the one hand, and the indemnified party, on the other, shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material
fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact has been made by, or relates to, information supplied by such party, and the parties’ relative intent, knowledge,
access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contributions pursuant
to this paragraph were to be determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to herein.
The amount paid by an indemnified party as a result of the Losses referred to in the first sentence of this paragraph shall be deemed to include any legal and other expenses
reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating, defending or resolving any Loss that is the subject of this paragraph. No person guilty of
fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who is not guilty of such fraudulent
misrepresentation.

(e)    Other Indemnification. The provisions of this Section 2.8 shall be in addition to any other rights to indemnification or contribution that an indemnified party may
have pursuant to law, equity, contract or otherwise.

Section 2.9    Rule 144 Reporting.    With a view to making available the benefits of certain rules and regulations of the Commission that may permit the sale of the
Registrable Securities to the public without registration, the Company agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to:

(a)    make and keep public information regarding the Company available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or any
similar provision then in effect), at all times from and after the date hereof;

(b)    file with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other documents required of the Company under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act at all times
from and after the date hereof; and

(c)    so long as a Holder owns any Registrable Securities, furnish (i) to the extent accurate, forthwith upon request, a written statement of the Company that it has
complied with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act (or any similar provision then in effect) and (ii) unless otherwise available via the Commission’s
EDGAR filing system, to such Holder forthwith upon request a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents so
filed as such Holder may reasonably request in availing itself of any rule or regulation of the Commission allowing such Holder to sell any such securities without registration.

Section 2.10    Transfer or Assignment of Registration Rights.    The rights to cause the Company to register Registrable Securities under this Article II may be
transferred or assigned by each Holder to one or more transferees or assignees of Registrable Securities or securities convertible into Registrable Securities; provided, however,
that prior to exercising the rights granted under this Agreement or being entitled to receive any notices contemplated hereunder, (a) the Company is given written notice, stating
the name and address of each such transferee or assignee and identifying the securities with respect to which such registration rights have been transferred or assigned and (b)
each such transferee or assignee assumes in writing (a “Joinder”) responsibility for its obligations as a Holder under this Agreement.
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Section 2.11    Limitation on Subsequent Registration Rights.    From and after the date hereof, the Company shall not, without the prior written consent of the Holders
of a majority of the outstanding Registrable Securities or securities convertible into Registrable Securities, as applicable, enter into any agreement with any current or future
holder of any securities of the Company that would allow such current or future holder to require the Company to include securities in any registration statement filed by the
Company on a basis other than pari passu with, or expressly subordinate to, the piggyback rights of the Holders of Registrable Securities hereunder.

Section 2.12    Amendment and Restatement.    The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Agreement amends and restates in its entirety the Prior Registration
Rights Agreement, which, as of the date hereof, shall be of no further force or effect.

ARTICLE III
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 3.1    Communications.        All notices and demands provided for hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by registered or certified mail, return receipt
requested, telecopy, air courier guaranteeing overnight delivery, personal delivery or email to the following addresses:

(a) if to the Purchasers:

Patton BIP HoldCo I LLC
Patton BIP HoldCo II LLC
c/o Brookfield Asset Management Inc.
Brookfield Place
250 Vesey Street
New York, New York 10281
Attention: Matthew Grimes
Email: Matthew.Grimes@brookfield.com

OCM ENLK Holdings, LLC
c/o Oaktree Opportunities Fund Xb Holdings (Delaware), L.P.
c/o Oaktree Opportunities Fund XI Holdings (Delaware), L.P.
333 S. Grand Avenue, 28th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90071
Attention: William Sharp Email: WSharp@oaktreecapital.com
with a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to:
Kirkland & Ellis LLP
609 Main Street
Houston, Texas 77002
Attention: Matthew R. Pacey; Bryan D. Flannery
Facsimile: (713) 836-3601 Email: matt.pacey@kirkland.com; bryan.flannery@kirkland.com

(b) if to the Company:

EnLink Midstream, LLC
1722 Routh Street, Suite 1300
Dallas, Texas 75201
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile: (214) 721-9299 Email: legal@enlink.com
with a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to:
Baker Botts L.L.P.
2001 Ross Avenue
Dallas, Texas 75201-2980
Attention: Preston Bernhisel
Facsimile: (214) 661-4783
Email: Preston.Bernhisel@bakerbotts.com
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or to such other address as the Company or the Purchasers may designate to each other in writing from time to time or, if to a transferee or assignee of the Purchasers or any
transferee or assignee thereof, to such transferee or assignee at (a) the contact information provided pursuant to Section 2.10 or (b) if no contact information or insufficient
contact information is provided by such transferee or assignee, through the facilities of DTC. All notices and communications shall be deemed to have been duly given: (i) at
the time delivered by hand, if personally delivered, (ii) upon actual receipt if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or regular mail, if mailed, (iii) upon
actual receipt of the facsimile or email copy, if sent via facsimile or email, (iv) upon actual receipt when delivered to an air courier guaranteeing overnight delivery, and (v)
upon distribution of a notice by DTC pursuant to its customary procedures when delivered through the facilities of DTC.

Section 3.2    Successors and Assigns.    This Agreement shall be binding upon the Company, the Purchasers and their respective successors and permitted assigns,
including subsequent Holders of Registrable Securities to the extent permitted herein, including Section 2.10, without regard for whether such Person shall have executed a
Joinder, and Holders of any Registered Securities shall be deemed to be third party beneficiaries under this Agreement; provided, however, that no such Holder shall be
permitted to exercise any rights under this Agreement or entitled to receive any notices contemplated hereunder unless and until such Holder executes a Joinder. Except as
expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement shall not be construed so as to confer any right or benefit upon any Person other than the parties to this Agreement, their
respective successors and permitted assigns and all subsequent Holders of Registrable Securities to the extent permitted herein, including Section 2.10.

Section 3.3    Assignment of Rights.    Except as provided in Section 2.10 or Section 3.2 hereto, neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, benefits or obligations
hereunder may be assigned or transferred, by operation of law or otherwise, by any party hereto without the prior written consent of the other party.

Section 3.4    Recapitalization, Exchanges, Etc. Affecting Units.     The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the full extent set forth herein with respect to any
and all units of the Company or any successor or assign of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) that may be issued in respect of, in
exchange for or in substitution of, the Registrable Securities, and shall be appropriately adjusted for combinations, unit splits, recapitalizations, pro rata distributions of units
and the like occurring after the date of this Agreement.

Section 3.5    Aggregation of Registrable Securities.    All Registrable Securities held or acquired by Persons who are Affiliates of one another shall be aggregated
together for the purpose of determining the availability of any rights under this Agreement.

Section 3.6    Specific Performance.    Damages in the event of breach of this Agreement by a party hereto may be difficult, if not impossible, to ascertain, and it is
therefore agreed that each such Person, in addition to and without limiting any other remedy or right it may have, will have the right to seek an injunction or other equitable
relief in any court of competent jurisdiction, enjoining any such breach, and enforcing specifically the terms and provisions hereof, and each of the parties hereto hereby waives
any and all defenses it may have on the ground of lack of jurisdiction or competence of the court to grant such an injunction or other equitable relief. The existence of this right
will not preclude any such Person from pursuing any other rights and remedies at law or in equity that such Person may have.

Section 3.7    Counterparts.    This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which counterparts, when so executed and delivered, shall be
deemed to be an original and all of which counterparts, taken together, shall constitute but one and the same agreement.

Section 3.8    Headings.    The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not limit or otherwise affect the meaning hereof.

Section 3.9    Governing Law, Submission to Jurisdiction.    This Agreement and all claims or causes of action (whether in contract or tort) that may be based upon,
arise out of or relate to this Agreement or the negotiation, execution, termination, performance or nonperformance of this Agreement (including any claim or cause of action
based upon, arising out of or related to any representation or warranty made in or in connection with this Agreement or as an inducement to enter into this Agreement) will be
construed in accordance with and governed
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by the laws of the State of New York without regard to principles of conflicts of laws that might otherwise require the application of the laws of any other jurisdiction. Any
action against any party relating to the foregoing shall be brought in any federal or state court of competent jurisdiction located within the State of New York, and the parties
hereto hereby irrevocably submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of any federal or state court located within the State of New York over any such action. The parties hereby
irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such dispute brought in
such court or any defense of inconvenient forum for the maintenance of such dispute. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a judgment in any such dispute may be enforced in
other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law.

Section 3.10    Waiver of Jury Trial.    Each party to this Agreement irrevocably waives the right to a trial by jury in connection with any matter arising out of this
Agreement to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

Section 3.11    Severability of Provisions.    If any provision in this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, not binding, or unenforceable, such provision shall be fully
severable and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid, not binding, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof, and the
remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect, shall be construed so as to give effect to the original intent of the parties as closely as possible.

Section 3.12    Entire Agreement.    This Agreement, the Company Operating Agreement, and the Restructuring Agreement (collectively, the “ Transaction
Documents”) are intended by the parties as a final expression of their agreement and are intended to be a complete and exclusive statement of the agreement and understanding
of the parties hereto, in respect of the subject matter contained herein and therein. There are no, and neither the Company nor the Purchasers have relied upon, restrictions,
promises, warranties, or undertakings, other than those set forth or referred to herein or in the other Transaction Documents with respect to the rights and obligations of the
Company, the Purchasers, or any of their respective Affiliates hereunder or thereunder, and each of the Company and the Purchasers expressly disclaim that it is owed any
duties or is entitled to any remedies not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in the other Transaction Documents. This Agreement supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.

Section 3.13    Amendment.    This Agreement may be amended only by means of a written amendment signed by the Company and the Holders of a majority of the
then outstanding Registrable Securities; provided, however, that no such amendment shall adversely affect the rights of any Holder hereunder without the consent of such
Holder. Any amendment, supplement or modification of or to any provision of this Agreement, any waiver of any provision of this Agreement, and any consent to any departure
by the Company or any Purchaser from the terms of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which such
amendment, supplement, modification, waiver or consent has been made or given.

Section 3.14    No Presumption.    This Agreement has been reviewed and negotiated by sophisticated parties with access to legal counsel and shall not be construed
against the drafter.

Section 3.15    Obligations Limited to Parties to Agreement.    Each of the parties hereto covenants, agrees and acknowledges that, other than as set forth herein, no
Person other than the Purchasers, the Selling Holders, their respective permitted assignees and the Company shall have any obligation hereunder and that, notwithstanding that
one or more of such Persons may be a corporation, partnership or limited liability company, no recourse under this Agreement or under any documents or instruments delivered
in connection herewith shall be had against any former, current or future director, officer, employee, agent, general or limited partner, manager, member, stockholder or
Affiliate of any of such Persons or their respective permitted assignees, or any former, current or future director, officer, employee, agent, general or limited partner, manager,
member, stockholder or Affiliate of any of the foregoing, whether by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding, or by virtue of any applicable
law, it being expressly agreed and acknowledged that no personal liability whatsoever shall attach to, be imposed on or otherwise be incurred by any former, current or future
director, officer, employee, agent, general or limited partner, manager, member, stockholder or Affiliate of any of such Persons or any of their respective assignees, or any
former, current or future director, officer, employee, agent, general or limited partner, manager, member, stockholder or Affiliate of any of the foregoing, as such, for any
obligations of such Persons or
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their respective permitted assignees under this Agreement or any documents or instruments delivered in connection herewith or for any claim based on, in respect of or by
reason of such obligation or its creation, except, in each case, for any assignee of any Purchaser or a Selling Holder hereunder.

Section 3.16    Interpretation.    Article, Section, and Schedule references herein refer to articles and sections of, or schedules to, this Agreement, unless otherwise
specified. All references to instruments, documents, contracts, and agreements are references to such instruments, documents, contracts, and agreements as the same may be
amended, supplemented, and otherwise modified from time to time, unless otherwise specified. The word “including” shall mean “including but not limited to.” Any reference
in this Agreement to $ shall mean U.S. dollars. When calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is to be done or step taken pursuant
to this Agreement, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-Business Day, the period in question
shall end on the next succeeding Business Day. Any words imparting the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa. Words such as “herein,” “hereinafter,”
“hereof” and “hereunder” refer to this Agreement as a whole and not merely to a subdivision of this Agreement in which such words appear, unless the context otherwise
requires. Whenever any determination, consent, or approval is to be made or given by any Purchaser under this Agreement, such action shall be in such Purchaser’s sole
discretion unless otherwise specified.

[Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

COMPANY

ENLINK MIDSTREAM, LLC
By: EnLink Midstream GP, LLC,

its general partner

By: /s/ BENJAMIN D. LAMB
Name: Benjamin D. Lamb
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (ENLC)]
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PURCHASERS

PATTON BIP HOLDCO I LLC
By: Brookfield Infrastructure LLC, its sole member
By: /s/ FRED DAY
Name: Fred Day
Title: President

PATTON BIP HOLDCO II LLC
By: Patton Holding Company LLC, its sole member
By: /s/ FRED DAY
Name: Fred Day
Title: President

OCM ENLK HOLDINGS, LLC
By: Oaktree Fund GP, LLC, its manager
By: Oaktree Fund GP I, L.P., its managing member

By: /s/ JORDAN MIKES
Name: Jordan Mikes
Title: Authorized Signatory

By: /s/ HENRY ORREN
Name: Henry Orren
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (ENLC)]

18



ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

PARTNERSHIP

ENLINK MIDSTREAM PARTNERS, LP

By: EnLink Midstream GP, LLC,
its general partner

By: /s/ BENJAMIN D. LAMB
Name: Benjamin D. Lamb
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (ENLC)]
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jesse Arenivas, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of EnLink Midstream, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 1, 2023 /s/ JESSE ARENIVAS
Jesse Arenivas
Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Benjamin D. Lamb, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of EnLink Midstream, LLC;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: November 1, 2023 /s/ BENJAMIN D. LAMB
Benjamin D. Lamb
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of EnLink Midstream, LLC (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q of the Registrant for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned, Jesse Arenivas, Chief Executive Officer of EnLink Midstream
Manager, LLC, and Benjamin D. Lamb, Chief Financial Officer of EnLink Midstream Manager, LLC, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

Date: November 1, 2023 /s/ JESSE ARENIVAS
Jesse Arenivas
Chief Executive Officer

Date: November 1, 2023 /s/ BENJAMIN D. LAMB
Benjamin D. Lamb
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Registrant and will be retained by the Registrant and furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the Report.


